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CASES

ARGUED AND DETERMINED IN THE

COURT OF APPEALS

OoFr

NorTH CAROLINA
AT
RALEIGH

JEFFREY EUGENE BEAL, EmpLoYEE, AND LAWRENCE CRAIGE, GUARDIAN OF THE ESTATE
oF JEFFREY EUGENE BEAL, PLAINTIFFS
V.

COASTAL CARRIERS, INC., (ALLEGED) EMPLOYER, AND ZURICH AMERICAN
INSURANCE COMPANY, (ALLEGED CARRIER); DEFENDANTS; AND THE WAREHOUSING
COMPANY, LLC, (ALLeGED) EmpLOYER AND KEY RISK INSURANCE COMPANY,
(ALLEGED) CARRIER, DEFENDANTS

No. COA16-420
Filed 20 December 2016

1. Workers’ Compensation—jurisdiction—last act—phone con-
versation with worker physically present in North Carolina

The Industrial Commission had jurisdiction over plaintiff’s
workers’ compensation claim. The last act making the employment
arrangement between plaintiff and The Warehousing Company,
LLC (TWC) “a binding obligation” was plaintiff’s agreement dur-
ing his telephone conversation to work on the Florida project for
TWC. Because plaintiff was physically present in North Carolina
during this conversation, the contract of employment was made in
North Carolina.

2. Workers’ Compensation—base of operation—principal
employment

The Industrial Commission erred in a workers’ compensation

case by determining that Key Risk’s policy provided coverage for

plaintiff’s workplace accident. Throughout plaintiff’s employment

with The Warehousing Company, LLC, his “base of operation” was

Florida. Accordingly, he was neither “principally employed” in
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South Carolina nor was South Carolina the state where his employ-
ment was located.

Appeal by defendant-appellant Key Risk Insurance Company from
opinion and award entered 15 December 2015 by the North Carolina
Industrial Commission. Heard in the Court of Appeals 5 October 2016.

Stiles, Byrum & Horne, L.L.P, by Henry C. Byrum, Jr., and B.
Jeanette Byrum, for defendants-appellees Coastal Carriers, Inc.
and Zurich American Insurance Company.

Hedrick Gardner Kincheloe & Garofalo, LLP, by Erica B. Lewis,
Shelley W. Coleman, and M. Duane Jones, for defendant-appellant
Key Risk Insurance Company.

DAVIS, Judge.

This workers’ compensation insurance coverage dispute arises from
a workplace accident that occurred in Florida and injured an employee
who lived in North Carolina and had been lent to an employer based
in South Carolina. Key Risk Insurance Company (“Key Risk”) appeals
from an opinion and award of the North Carolina Industrial Commission
ordering Key Risk to (1) pay temporary total disability compensation
to Jeffrey Eugene Beal (“Plaintiff”) pursuant to the North Carolina
Workers’ Compensation Act; and (2) pay all indemnity benefits owed on
Plaintiff’s claim. After careful review, we reverse and remand.

Factual Background

The facts giving rise to this case involve two furniture moving and
installation companies — Coastal Carriers, Inc. (“Coastal”) and The
Warehousing Company, LLC (“TWC”). On 20 July 2010, TWC — a com-
pany based in South Carolina — entered into an agreement with Winter
Park Construction Company (“Winter Park™) to provide furniture, fix-
tures, and electronics installation services at Plantation Beach Club
Condominiums in Stuart, Florida (the “Florida Project”). Because TWC
did not have enough manpower to perform the job, TWC’s owner, Sidney
Baird, contacted Gordon Ray — Baird’s longtime friend who was the
president of Coastal — to see about the possibility of TWC hiring four of
Coastal’s employees to temporarily work for TWC on the Florida Project.

In 2010, Plaintiff was working for Coastal, which was based in North
Carolina. At a safety meeting of Coastal employees, Ray shared with
them the information regarding the Florida Project. Upon learning of
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the employment opportunity from Ray, Plaintiff and three other Coastal
employees — Michael Porter, Anthony Brown, and Randy Wallace —
contacted Baird to inform him of their interest in working on the Florida
Project. Baird offered each of the four employees the job — which they
each accepted — and told all of them that upon completion of the job,
they would be paid by TWC.

Plaintiff worked on the Florida Project under the on-site supervi-
sion of his fellow Coastal employee, Porter, and a TWC employee named
David Fleener. Baird kept in contact with Porter and Fleener on a daily
basis from his home in South Carolina.

On 26 September 2010, while working at the Florida job site, Plaintiff
was injured when he fell while lifting furniture to the second floor of the
building where the TWC crew was working. As a result of the fall, he
sustained multiple injuries.

On 22 October 2010, Plaintiff filed a Form 18 “Notice of Accident”
with the Industrial Commission, seeking compensation for his inju-
ries from Coastal’'s workers’ compensation insurance carrier, Zurich
American Insurance Company (“Zurich”), due to his need for medical
care for which TWC’s insurance carrier, Key Risk, had refused to pay.
Zurich paid Plaintiff’s medical compensation of $350,799.25 and disabil-
ity compensation of $44,068.85.

On 16 September 2011, Coastal filed a motion to add TWC as a
defendant to Plaintiff’s workers’ compensation action. The motion was
granted on 27 October 2011. On 2 January 2013, Coastal filed a Form 33
“Request That Claim be Assigned for Hearing” requesting that “[TWC]
and its workers’ compensation carrier [Key Risk] pay benefits pursu-
ant to the North Carolina Workers’ Compensation Act.” On 25 February
2013, Key Risk filed a Form 33R “Response to Request That Claim Be
Assigned for Hearing” contending that Key Risk was not a party and
“would be prejudiced if added into this claim as a party” more than two
years after it was removed from a hearing docket.

On 9 July 2013, a hearing was held before Deputy Commissioner
Melanie Wade Goodwin. Deputy Commissioner Goodwin issued an
opinion and award providing that Coastal, Zurich, and TWC were jointly
liable for indemnity and medical benefits paid by Zurich and ordering
that Key Risk be dismissed with prejudice as a party-defendant in the
matter. Coastal and Zurich filed a notice of appeal from the deputy com-
missioner’s dismissal of Key Risk on 18 June 2014.
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On 15 December 2015, the Full Commission issued an opinion and
award containing the following pertinent findings of fact:

1. On September 26, 2010, Jeffrey Eugene Beal (here-
inafter, “Jeffrey Beal” or “Mr. Beal” or “Plaintiff’) was
injured when he fell approximately 10-20 feet from a piece
of equipment called a lull which was being used to lift
furniture to the second floor of the building where The
Warehousing Company, LLC (hereinafter, “TWC”) crew
was working. As a result of his fall, Mr. Beal sustained
multiple injuries, including fractures of the left sphenoid
wing, left lateral orbital wall, left maxillary sinus, and left
zygomatic arch; a comminuted right distal radius and ulna
fracture; a left elbow comminuted intra-articular olecra-
non fracture; multiple left rib fractures; a ruptured spleen
and a mild subarachnoid hemorrhage.

2. On October 22, 2010, Jeffrey Beal filed a Form 18
Notice of Accident with the North Carolina Industrial
Commission seeking compensation for his injuries. The
named Defendant was Coastal Carriers, Inc. (hereinaf-
ter, “Coastal”). Plaintiff’s claim was accepted and paid by
Coastal and Zurich American Insurance Company (herein-
after “Zurich”) due to the emergent need for medical care
which Key Risk Insurance Company (hereinafter, “Key
Risk”), the workers’ compensation carrier for TWC, would
not address.

5. On September 16, 2011, Defendant Coastal filed a
Motion to Add Party-Defendant, seeking to add TWC,
as a party Defendant. This Motion was granted by the
Executive Secretary on October 27, 2011.

6. On September 26, 2010, Gordon Wayne Ray, Jr. (here-
inafter Mr. Ray) was the President of Coastal, which was
located in Wilmington, North Carolina. Coastal was a mover
of household goods regulated by state and federal tariffs.

7. On September 26, 2010, Sidney “Skip” Baird (herein-
after, “Mr. Baird”) was the owner of TWC located at 122
Watergate Drive, Myrtle Beach, South Carolina. TWC’s
business included the warehousing of and the installation
of furniture, fixtures, and electronics at resort properties,
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installing furniture, fixtures, and electronics which was
commercial work which was not regulated by state and
federal tariffs.

11. On July 20, 2010, TWC (through Mr. Baird) entered into
a “Subcontract Agreement” with Winter Park Construction
Company (hereinafter; “Winter Park”) to provide furniture,
fixture and electronics installation services at Plantation
Beach Club Condominiums in Stuart, Florida. This con-
tract was negotiated entirely by Mr. Baird on behalf of
TWC and did not involve Mr. Ray or Coastal in any way.

12. Under the terms of the contract, TWC had eight days
to complete the installation of furniture, fixtures and elec-
tronics in thirty-two units. At the time in question, TWC
had multiple projects underway in various parts of the
United States and did not have the manpower to complete
all of these jobs. Mr. Baird’s situation was further com-
plicated by the fact that he was awaiting the birth of his
daughter, which required him to remain in Myrtle Beach,
South Carolina. Mr. Baird contacted Mr. Ray indicating he
was “in a jam” and that he wanted to hire four of Mr. Ray’s
employees to work for TWC on a Florida job where all of
the furniture, fixture and electronics installation had to be
completed in eight days.

13. Sometime prior to September 19, 2010, Mr. Ray
announced at a safety meeting of Coastal employees that
Mr. Baird wanted to hire workers for a Florida project and
since the work for his company was in a slow period, he
instructed any of his interested workers to contact Mr.
Baird directly. Mr. Ray did not select or designate any of
his workers for the Florida job. His workers were free to
accept or reject the offer of employment.

15. Following this meeting, which occurred in North
Carolina, four Coastal employees -- Michael Porter,
Anthony Brown, Randy Wallace and Jeffrey Beal --
arranged with Mr. Baird to go to Florida to work for TWC.
Prior to these workers leaving North Carolina, Mr. Baird
spoke by telephone with each of these four men - Michael
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Porter, Anthony Brown, Randy Wallace and Jeffrey Beal
-- to give a “pep talk[”] and discuss payment or wages at
the completion of the job in Florida. Mr. Baird informed
them they would be paid by TWC. Each one of these four
men accepted Mr. Baird’s offer of employment while still
in North Carolina.

16. Plaintiff testified that he agreed to work the Florida job
while he was in North Carolina.

17. The four individuals who agreed to work on the
Florida project did not have reliable transportation. When
informed of their transportation problems, Mr. Ray loaned
the men a Coastal sales van to drive and gave them a gas
card to purchase fuel. He expected to be reimbursed by
TWC for these expenses.

19. When the four individuals hired by TWC -- Michael
Porter, Anthony Brown, Randy Wallace and Jeffrey Beal
- arrived in Florida, they went to a motel room that was
paid for by Mr. Baird. Mr. Porter supervised the work for
the first couple of days until David Fleener, an employee
of TWC arrived on the site. Mr. Fleener then instructed
the workers on what to do. Mr. Baird communicated with
TWC workers multiple times on a daily basis while they
were in Florida and personally supervised them through
Michael Porter and David Fleener. This included setting
working hours and monitoring progress on the job. Mr.
Ray never supervised the work of the TWC crew.

20. Prior to September 26, 2010, Mr. Ray had a conference
in West Palm Beach and he decided to stop by the Florida
jobsite for a visit on his way to the conference. During the
period of about thirty minutes when he was at the site,
he cautioned the TWC workers to “be careful” but did not
offer supervision or instruct them on their work. While Mr.
Ray was present, he was approached by Mr. Porter about
loaning Mr. Brown, Mr. Wallace, Mr. Beal and him money
for food. Mr. Baird had promised to send the TWC crew
money, but had failed to do so. Mr. Ray loaned each man
$100.00 out of his personal funds.
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21. When TWC’s project in Florida was completed, Mr.
Baird paid Michael Porter, Anthony Brown, Randy Wallace
and Jeffrey Beal for the work they did for TWC in Florida.
These workers (other than Plaintiff) collected their money
in Myrtle Beach, South Carolina. The offices for TWC
remained in Myrtle Beach, South Carolina the entire time
the company was in existence.

22. Plaintiff was performing the work of TWC when his
accident occurred.

23. Anthony Brown gave a statement under oath on
February 17, 2012, which was included in the record,
stating he was one of four individuals who traveled from
North Carolina to Florida to work for TWC and was work-
ing on the project for a man named “Skip.” Mr. Porter
was the contact person with Mr. Baird, and the two were
constantly talking. Mr. Brown considered himself to be
an employee of TWC. When the job was completed, the
TWC employees drove to Mr. Baird’s apartment in Myrtle
Beach, South Carolina where they collected their checks
for the project.

24. Plaintiff testified by deposition on October 9, 2012 in a
civil action he filed in Florida as a result of the September
26, 2010 accident. Plaintiff testified that he received
$100.00 from Mr. Ray so he would have food when Mr.
Ray visited the Florida jobsite with his wife and took a
“tour through the motel.” Plaintiff testified that he took
orders from Michael Porter on the job and that Mr. Porter
kept his hours. He was paid by Skip Baird for the work he
performed in Florida. Mr. Ray never directed his work on
the project.

26. Based upon a preponderance of the evidence in view
of the entire record, the Full Commission finds that Jeffrey
Beal was not an independent contractor for TWC. He was
expressly hired pursuant to an oral contract to leave North
Carolina and go to work in Florida for a job that was to be
completed in eight days. He did not possess any special
skills in performing the type of work done by TWC. He
did not have control over any aspects of the work that he



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

BEAL v. COASTAL CARRIERS, INC.
[251 N.C. App. 1 (2016)]

performed for TWC. Mr. Beal obtained his work directions
from persons designated by Mr. Baird to be onsite supervi-
sors. He had no power to hire or fire anyone. The work he
did was part of the trade or business of TWC. He was paid
wages and trip expenses by TWC.

27. Based upon a preponderance of the evidence in view
of the entire record, the Full Commission finds that Jeffrey
Beal was an employee of TWC at the time of his injury. Mr.
Baird, owner of TWC, expressly made a contract of hire
with Plaintiff. The work Mr. Beal did for TWC was entirely
the work of Mr. Baird and TWC and benefitted TWC and
not Coastal. Mr. Baird and TWC had the right, and did in
fact, control the details of the work done by Mr. Beal dur-
ing the period he worked for TWC, including the date of
his injury by accident. During the period Mr. Beal was
hired to work for TWC, he did not do any work for Coastal
and the work that he did for TWC was not part of the trade
or business of Coastal. Mr. Beal and Mr. Baird on behalf
of TWC agreed upon the employment terms. Coastal was
not involved in the employment contract agreement, Mr.
Ray did not assign employees to TWC; he only announced
the availability of a temporary job with TWC and left the
decision of whether to seek the job entirely up to any of
his interested employees.

32. The Full Commission finds that both Coastal and TWC
are liable for all of the compensable consequences of
Plaintiff’s September 26, 2010 injury by accident in pro-
portion to the wage liability of each employer.

33. At the time of Plaintiff’s injury on September 26, 2010,
TWC was insured by Key Risk. There is a dispute, how-
ever, over whether the policy of insurance between Key
Risk and TWC covered Plaintiff’s claim herein.

34. Mr. Baird arranged workers’ compensation insur-
ance for the Florida project on behalf of TWC through
Associated Insurors (hereinafter “Associated”) in Myrtle
Beach, South Carolina. In doing so, he explained to the
agent the nature of his business and that TWC worked out-
side South Carolina. At the time of Plaintiff’s injury, TWC
had more projects outside South Carolina than within



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

BEAL v. COASTAL CARRIERS, INC.
[251 N.C. App. 1 (2016)]

the State. It was Mr. Baird’s understanding that TWC had
workers’ compensation coverage for each jobsite, includ-
ing the jobsite in Florida where Plaintiff was injured.

35. As part of its Subcontract Agreement with Winter
Park for the project in Stuart, Florida, TWC had to pro-
vide proof of workers’ compensation insurance. Mr. Baird
arranged for his insurance agent (Associated) to contact
Winter Park to verify the required coverage. After that con-
tact occurred, Associated sent Winter Park a certificate of
insurance verifying workers’ compensation insurance for
TWC. The “Certificate Holder” was listed as Winter Park
Construction, 221 Circle Drive, Maitland, Florida. After that
contact occurred, Winter Park sent TWC the Subcontract
Agreement to execute, and TWC went to work.

61. Key Risk contends that the language of TWC’s insur-
ance policy provides for workers’ compensation insurance
coverage in South Carolina only, with additional coverage
only if Plaintiff was hired in South Carolina or principally
employed in South Carolina.

62. Based upon a preponderance of the evidence of record,
the Full Commission finds that Plaintiff’s employment was
located in South Carolina because it is the only state in
which he had any “base of operation.” The only place of
business ever maintained by TWC was located in Myrtle
Beach, South Carolina. Plaintiff was hired from TWC’s
office in Myrtle Beach, South Carolina. Mr. Baird provided
work assignments to the employees, including Plaintiff,
working on the Winter Park project from his place of
business in South Carolina and Plaintiff was paid out
of South Carolina for the work he performed in Florida.
The other three lent employees from Coastal -- Michael
Porter, Anthony Brown and Randy Wallace -- traveled to
Myrtle Beach, South Carolina to receive payment from
TWC for the work they performed (along with Plaintiff) in
Stuart, Florida upon completion of the job.

63. Based upon a preponderance of the evidence in view
of the entire record, the Full Commission finds that
Plaintiff’s claim for compensation is covered under the
Key Risk policy issued to TWC.
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64. Coastal and TWC are jointly liable for medical pay-
ments made consequent of Plaintiff’s September 26, 2010
injury. Since Coastal had no “wage liability” to Plaintiff for
the Florida project, TWC owes all of Plaintiff’s indemnity
compensation. As a result of Plaintiff’s injuries, Zurich
has paid as carrier for Coastal, medical compensation
in the amount of $350,799.25 and indemnity compensa-
tion in the amount of $44,068.85. TWC'’s carrier, Key Risk,
has paid nothing. TWC and Key Risk are obligated to
reimburse Zurich for TWC’s and Key Risk’s (50%) share
of the joint amount of the medical compensation due as
a result of Plaintiff’s claim. TWC and Key Risk are obli-
gated to reimburse Zurich for all the indemnity compensa-
tion due Plaintiff that Zurich has paid. Since the matter in
controversy before the Full Commission is between the
Defendants, the amount of Plaintiff’s average weekly wage
is not being determined.

Based on these findings of fact, the Commission made the following
pertinent conclusions of law:

1. On September 26, 2010, Plaintiff, Jeffrey Beal, sus-
tained a compensable injury by accident due to a fall
which arose out of and in the course of his employment
with TWC and involved the interruption of his work rou-
tine and the introduction thereby of unusual conditions
likely to result in unexpected consequences. N.C. Gen.
Stat. §§ 97-2(5); 97-2(6).

2. At the time of Plaintiff’s injury on September 26, 2010,
four employees, Michael Porter, Anthony Brown, Randy
Wallace and Plaintiff, were employees of TWC who had
been lent by Coastal to TWC. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 97-2; S.C.
Code Ann. § 42-1-360(2).

3. The Full Commission concludes that the North
Carolina Industrial Commission has jurisdiction over
Plaintiff’s claim. . . .

6. The Full Commission concludes that Plaintiff was an
employee of TWC, not an independent contractor, at the
time of his injury on September 26, 2010. . . .
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9. The Full Commission concludes, based upon a prepon-
derance of the evidence of record, that the employment
relationship Plaintiff had with TWC met all three of the
conditions to establish a “special employer” relationship
. ... The preponderance of the evidence of record estab-
lishes that Plaintiff made a contract of hire with TWC;
the work Plaintiff was doing for TWC on the Florida proj-
ect was work involving furniture, fixture and electronics
installations that TWC subcontracted with Winter Park to
perform and was different from the type of work Plaintiff
did for Coastal, a household moving company; Coastal
had no part in negotiating the subcontract agreement that
TWC made with Winter Park and there was no agreement
between TWC and Coastal for Coastal to share the prof-
its from the project; the work being done by Plaintiff was
essentially that of TWC, the special employer; and TWC,
the special employer, had the right to control, and did con-
trol, the details of the work that Plaintiff did on the Florida
project. Anderson v. Demolition Dynamics, Inc., 136 N.C.
App. 603, 607, 525 S.E.2d 471, 473 (2000).

10. The Full Commission concludes that Coastal remained
Plaintiff’s general employer while he was working for
TWC since the preponderance of the evidence and the rea-
sonable inferences therefrom, indicate that Coastal was
the general employer of Plaintiff while he was working
for TWC, as Plaintiff and the three other workers Coastal
lent to TWC had an expectation of returning to work with
Coastal when the job with TWC was completed. Therefore,
the legal presumption that the general employment with
Coastal continued is not rebutted by a “clear demonstra-
tion.” Collins v. James Paul Edwards, Inc.,21 N.C. App. 455,
204 S.E.2d 873 (1974); Anderson v. Demolition Dynamics,
Inc., 136 N.C. App. 603, 607, 525 S.E.2d 471, 473 (2000).

11. Based upon a preponderance of the evidence of
record, the Full Commission concludes that Plaintiff was
lent by Coastal to TWC and that at the time of his injury
on September 26, 2010, he was jointly employed by both
TWC and Coastal and both employers are jointly liable
for Plaintiff’s injuries. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 97-51; Collins

11
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v. James Paul Edwards, Inc., 21 N.C. App. 455, 204 S.E.2d
873 (1974); Anderson v. Demolition Dynamsics, Inc., 136
N.C. App. 603, 607, 525 S.E.2d 471, 473 (2000).

14. The Commission has the inherent power in this
case to order TWC and Key Risk to reimburse Coastal
and Zurich for benefits paid or to be paid on Plaintiff[’]s
claim. . ..

17. Key Risk further contends that Key Risk’s obliga-
tion under a policy must be defined by the terms of the
policy itself and that in construing policy language, basic
contract rules apply. If the terms of a contract are unam-
biguous, the contract must be enforced. South Carolina
Ins. Co. v. White, 301 S.C. 133, 390 S.E.2d 471 (1990). Key
Risk argues that coverage cannot be extended to Plaintiff
under the “Other State Insurance” portion of the policy
because Plaintiff’s claim does not meet the following con-
ditions of the policy: “The employee claiming benefits was
either hired under a contract of employment made in a
state listed in Item 3.A. of the Information Page or was, at
the time of the injury, principally employed in a state listed
in Item 3.A. of the Information Page. . ..”

18. It is undisputed that the substantive law of South
Carolina applies to this case. . . .

21. Coastal relies on the provisions of S.C. Code Ann.
§ 42-[1]5-10, which state: “Any employee covered by the
provisions of this Title is authorized to file his claim under
the laws of the state where he is hired, the state where he
is injured, or the state where his employment is located.[”]
S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-10 does not specifically use the
term “principally employed,” and instead refers to where
an employee’s employment is “located.” S.C. Code Ann.
§ 42-15-10.

22. Key Risk contends, however, that Plaintiff must first
show that his claim comes under the jurisdiction of the
South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Act before South
Carolina statutory law can be applied to Plaintiff’s claim.
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23. The Full Commission concludes that South Carolina
could have exercised jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s claim
had he chosen to file his claim in South Carolina because
South Carolina is the state where Plaintiff’s employment
was located. To determine where a worker’s employment is
located, South Carolina follows the “base of operation
rule.” Hill v. Fagle Motor Lines, 373 S.C. 422, 429-30,
645 S.E.2d 424, 427 (2007) (quoting Holman v. Bulldog
Trucking Co., 311 S.C. 341, 346, 428 S.E.2d 889, 892 (1993)).
Under this rule, “the worker’s employment is located at
the employer’s place of business to which he reports, from
which he receives his work assignments, and from which
he starts his road trips, regardless of where the work is
performed.” Id. at 373 S.C. [sic] at 429, 373 S.E.2d at 432.
Where the work is performed is irrelevant on the issue of
where an employee’s employment is located. Id. In the
present case, the only place of business ever maintained
by TWC was located in Myrtle Beach, South Carolina.
Plaintiff was hired from TWC’s office in Myrtle Beach,
South Carolina. Mr. Baird (TWC) provided detailed and
specific work assignments to the employees, including
Plaintiff, working on the Winter Park project from his
place of business in South Carolina and Plaintiff was
paid out of South Carolina for the work he performed in
Florida. The other three lent employees from Coastal -
Michael Porter, Anthony Brown and Randy Wallace - trav-
eled to Myrtle Beach, South Carolina to receive payment
from TWC for the work they performed in Stuart, Florida
upon completion of the job. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-10;
Hill v. Eagle Motor Lines, 373 S.C. 422, 429-30, 645 S.E.2d
424, 4277 (2007). The Court of Appeals of South Carolina in
Voss v. Ramco, Inc., 325 S.C. 560, 482 S.E.2d 582 (1997),
held that the legislature did not intend to exclude all tran-
sient employment that did not fit neatly within the base
of operations test set out in Holman. Id. The concept of
“base of operation” rule presupposes that all employees
have a fixed base of operation [to] which jurisdiction over
a workers’ compensation claim will attach. Id. The Court
of Appeals in Voss ultimately held that South Carolina was
the state where the employee’s employment was located,
given the amount of control exerted over the employee by
his employer, who operated out of South Carolina, even
though the employee received his daily assignments from

13
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wherever his employer was located that day and he started
his road trips from wherever the group was located, but
never from South Carolina. Voss v. Ramco, Inc., 325 S.C.
560, 482 S.E.2d 582 (1997). The Supreme Court of South
Carolina agreeing with the Court of Appeals’ analysis in
Voss, held in Oxendine v. Davis, 373 S.C. 438, 646 S.E.2d
143 (2007), that the base of operations rule is to “deter-
mine the location of nomadic employment based on the
employer’s place of business,” and used other factors out-
side of those defined in Holman, such as the employee
reporting to the employer’s business in South Carolina to
be paid, to determine the employee’s location of employ-
ment. Id. The Supreme Court in Oxendine ultimately
held that an employer’s base of operations was in South
Carolina when the employer clearly operated his business
in South Carolina. Id. at 445, [646] S.E.2d at 150. Thus, even
if the facts of the present case do [not] have all of the fac-
tors under the base of operations test set out in Holman,
following the analysis of Oxendine and Voss, Plaintiff’s
employment would still be located in South Carolina,
given the amount of the control exerted over Plaintiff by
Mr. Baird (TWC), who clearly operated his business out
of South Carolina. Oxendine v. Davis, 373 S.C. 438, 646
S.E.2d 143 (2007); Voss v. Ramco, Inc., 325 S.C. 560, 482
S.E.2d 582 (1997).

24. Applying the applicable provisions of the South
Carolina law to the current claim, the Full Commission
finds that the Key Risk policy provided coverage for
Plaintiff’s claim filed in North Carolina. Pursuant to S.C.
Code Ann. § 42-5-60, “Every policy for the insurance of
the compensation provided in this Title or against liabil-
ity therefore shall be deemed to be made subject to provi-
sions of this Title . . . .” Therefore, the statutory provisions
of the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Code are
a required part of the Key Risk policy for workers’ com-
pensation insurance issued to TWC. Also, S.C. Code Ann.
§ 42-5-70 provides that jurisdiction of the insured for the
purpose of this Title shall be jurisdiction of the insurer
and S.C. Code Ann. § 42-5-60 requires that the Key Risk
policy conform to South Carolina law. These statutory
requirements are reflected in the language of the Key Risk
workers’ compensation insurance policy issued to TWC.
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The policy states, “Jurisdiction over you is jurisdiction
over us for purposes of workers’ compensation law. We
are bound by decisions against you under the law, subject
to the provisions of this policy that are not in conflict with
the law.” The policy also provided that, “Terms of this
insurance that conflict with the workers’ compensation
law are changed by this statement to conform to that law.”
S.C. Code Ann. § 42-5-70. Key Risk, in issuing its workers’
compensation policies, has submitted to the jurisdiction
of South Carolina and its statutory provisions governing
workers’ compensation claims. Based upon the “base of
operation” analysis above, the employment for the other
three lent employees from Coastal was also located in
South Carolina. Therefore, TWC had four or more employ-
ees in South Carolina for the purposes of jurisdiction
under South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Act. S.C.
Code Ann. § 42-1-360(2).

25. The Full Commission concludes that the preponder-
ance of the evidence of record establishes that South
Carolina has jurisdiction over TWC, the insured, and that
the workers’ compensation insurance policy issued by
Key Risk to TWC covered Plaintiff’s injury, requiring Key
Risk to reimburse Coastal and Zurich pursuant to N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 97-86.1(d). . . .

Key Risk filed written notice of appeal from the Commission’s 15
December 2015 Opinion and Award.!

Analysis

Appellate review of an opinion and award of the Industrial
Commission is “limited to consideration of whether competent evidence
supports the Commission’s findings of fact and whether the findings sup-
port the Commission’s conclusions of law.” Philbeck v. Univ. of Mich.,
235 N.C. App. 124, 127, 761 S.E.2d 668, 671 (2014) (citation and quotation
marks omitted). “The findings of fact made by the Commission are con-
clusive on appeal if supported by competent evidence even if there is
also evidence that would support a contrary finding. The Commission’s
conclusions of law, however, are reviewed de novo.” Morgan v. Morgan
Motor Co. of Albemarle, 231 N.C. App. 377, 380, 752 S.E.2d 677, 680

1. The appellees in this appeal are Coastal and Zurich. At times in this opinion, we
refer to them jointly as “Coastal.”
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(2013) (internal citations omitted), aff’d per curiam, 368 N.C. 69, 772
S.E.2d 238 (2015).

[1] Before addressing Key Risk’s arguments, we must first determine
whether the Commission had jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s workers’ com-
pensation claim. North Carolina’s Workers’ Compensation Act provides,
in pertinent part, as follows:

Where an accident happens while the employee is
employed elsewhere than in this State and the accident
is one which would entitle him or his dependents or next
of kin to compensation if it had happened in this State,
then the employee or his dependents or next of kin shall be
entitled to compensation (2) if the contract of employment
was made in this Stale, (ii) if the employer’s principal
place of business is in this State, or (iii) if the employee’s
principal place of employment is within this State; pro-
vided, however, that if an employee or his dependents or
next of kin shall receive compensation or damages under
the laws of any other state nothing herein contained shall
be construed so as to permit a total compensation for the
same injury greater than is provided for in this Article.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 97-36 (2015) (emphasis added).

In order to determine where a contract of employment was made, we
apply the “last act” test. Murray v. Ahlstrom Indus. Holdings, Inc., 131
N.C. App. 294, 296, 506 S.E.2d 724, 726 (1998). “For a contract to be made
in North Carolina, the final act necessary to make it a binding obligation
must be done here.” Id. (citation, quotation marks, and brackets omitted).

Here, the Commission found that the last act making the employ-
ment arrangement between Plaintiff and TWC “a binding obligation”
was Plaintiff’s agreement during his telephone conversation with Baird
to work on the Florida Project for TWC. Because Plaintiff was physi-
cally present in North Carolina during this conversation, the contract of
employment was made in North Carolina.

“To be entitled to maintain a proceeding for workers’ compensation,
the claimant must be, in fact and in law, an employee of the party from
whom compensation is claimed.” Youngblood v. N. State Ford Truck
Sales, 321 N.C. 380, 383, 364 S.E.2d 433, 437 (1988) (citations omitted).
If no employer-employee relationship exists, the Commission lacks
jurisdiction to hear the claim. See Lucas v. Li’l Gen. Stores, 289 N.C.
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212, 218, 221 S.E.2d 257, 261 (1976) (citations omitted). “The issue of
whether the employer-employee relationship exists is a jurisdictional
one.” Youngblood, 321 N.C. at 383, 364 S.E.2d at 437.

Here, the parties do not contest the Commission’s finding that an
employer-employee relationship existed between Plaintiff and TWC at
the time of the 26 September 2010 accident. The record establishes
that — as the Commission found — TWC was a “special employer,”
Plaintiff was a “borrowed employee,” and Coastal remained Plaintiff’s
“general employer.”

“The North Carolina Supreme Court has determined that the
Industrial Commission has jurisdiction to . . . hear and determine ques-
tions of fact and law respecting the existence of insurance coverage and
liability of the insurance carrier.” Smith v. First Choice Servs., 158 N.C.
App. 244, 248, 580 S.E.2d 743, 747 (2003) (citation and quotation marks
omitted); see also Harrison v. Tobacco Transp., Inc., 139 N.C. App.
561, 564-65, 533 S.E.2d 871, 873-74 (2000) (determining that Industrial
Commission had jurisdiction to determine whether Kentucky’s workers’
compensation statutes expanded insurance policy’s coverage so as to
provide benefits to employee of Kentucky employer).

[2] Having determined that the Commission had jurisdiction to hear this
matter, we next turn to Key Risk’s argument that its policy does not pro-
vide coverage for Plaintiff’s injuries. Specifically, Key Risk argues that (1)
Plaintiff was not “principally employed” in South Carolina, and therefore,
no coverage for his injuries exists under the terms of the policy it issued
to TWC; and (2) South Carolina’s Workers’ Compensation Act does not
require that such coverage be provided under Key Risk’s policy.

The Information Page of Key Risk’s policy states, in pertinent part,
as follows:

3.A. Workers’ Compensation Insurance: Part One of the
policy applies to the Workers’ Compensation Law of
the states listed here:

SC

C. Other States Insurance: Part Three of the policy applies
to the states, if any, listed here:

[none listed]
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The policy also contained a Residual Market Limited Other States
Insurance Endorsement (the “Endorsement”), the relevant language of
which provides as follows:

“Part Three-Other States Insurance” of the policy is
replaced by the following:

PART THREE OTHER STATE INSURANCE
A. How This Insurance Applies:

1. We will pay promptly when due the benefits required
of you by the workers’ compensation law of any state not
listed in Item 3.A. of the Information Page if all of the fol-
lowing conditions are met:

a. The employee claiming benefits was either hired under a
contract of employment made in a state listed in Item 3.A.
of the Information Page or was, at the time of injury,
principally employed in a state listed in Item 3.A. of the
Information Pagel.]

IMPORTANT NOTICE!

If you hire any employees outside those states listed in
Item 3.A. on the Information Page or begin operations
in any such state, you should do whatever may be required
under that state’s law, as this endorsement does not sat-
isfy the requirements of that state’s workers’ compensa-
tion law.

(Emphasis added.)

Thus, when the Endorsement is read in conjunction with Item 3.A.
of the Information Page, the policy provides that Key Risk will pay
benefits required by the workers’ compensation law of a state other
than South Carolina only if the employee claiming benefits was either
(1) hired under a contract of employment made in South Carolina; or
(2) principally employed in South Carolina at the time of injury. Neither
party contends that Plaintiff was hired under a contract of employment
made in South Carolina. However, the parties disagree as to whether
Plaintiff was “principally employed” in South Carolina at the time of
his injury.

Key Risk contends that Plaintiff was principally employed in Florida
— rather than South Carolina — because his work on the project took
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place exclusively in Florida. Coastal, conversely, contends that South
Carolina was the state in which Plaintiff was principally employed
because TWC was based in South Carolina and exercised control from
South Carolina over the Florida Project.

“With insurance contracts the principle of lex loci contractus man-
dates that the substantive law of the state where the last act to make
a binding contract occurred, usually delivery of the policy, controls
the interpretation of the contract.” Harrison, 139 N.C. App. at 565, 533
S.E.2d at 874 (citation and quotation marks omitted). Here, Baird, a
resident of South Carolina, sought workers’ compensation coverage for
TWC, a South Carolina business, through an agent in South Carolina.
He received coverage through a policy issued by Key Risk, and the pol-
icy was delivered to him at his South Carolina address. Thus, the last
act to make a binding insurance contract between Key Risk and TWC
occurred in South Carolina. As such, the Commission correctly deter-
mined that South Carolina’s substantive law governs the interpretation
of Key Risk’s policy.

Under South Carolina law,

[ilnsurance policies are subject to the general rules of con-
tract construction. This Court must give policy language
its plain, ordinary, and popular meaning. When a contract
is unambiguous, clear, and explicit, it must be construed
according to the terms the parties have used.

B.L.G. Enters. v. First Fin. Ins. Co., 334 S.C. 529, 535, 514 S.E.2d 327,
330 (1999) (internal citations omitted).

In the present case, the Commission held — and the parties agree —
that the term “principally employed” in the Endorsement cannot be read
in isolation but instead must be construed in conjunction with South
Carolina’s Workers’ Compensation Act. See S.C. Code Ann. § 42-5-60
(2015) (“Every policy for the insurance of the compensation provided in
this title or against liability therefor shall be deemed to be made subject
to provisions of this title. No corporation, association, or organization
shall enter into any such policy of insurance unless its form shall have
been approved by the Director of the Department of Insurance.”).

Coastal argues that § 42-15-10 of South Carolina’s Workers’
Compensation Act “extended jurisdiction over South Carolina employ-
ers beyond state lines by specifically authorizing employees to assert
claims against employers domiciled in South Carolina in any state where
the employee was hired, injured or his employment was located.” Even
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assuming arqguendo that this is correct, however, we conclude that the
Commission erred in determining that Key Risk’s policy provided cover-
age for Plaintiff’s accident.

S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-10 states as follows:

Any employee covered by the provisions of this title is
authorized to file his claim under the laws of the state
where he is hired, the state where he is injured, or the
state where his employment is located. If an employee
shall receive compensation or damages under the laws
of any other state, nothing contained in this section shall
be construed to permit a total compensation for the same
injury greater than that provided in this title.

S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-10 (2015) (emphasis added).

Based on this statute, Coastal contends that the phrase “principally
employed” as used in Key Risk’s policy must be interpreted as having
the same meaning as the phrase “where . . . employment is located” as
contained in the statute. For this reason, Coastal asserts that it is appro-
priate to examine South Carolina caselaw interpreting this language
in § 42-15-10.

In determining where a worker’s employment is located for purposes
of § 42-15-10, South Carolina courts apply the “base of operation” rule,
a doctrine originating from the decision by the South Carolina Court of
Appeals in Holman v. Bulldog Trucking Co., 311 S.C. 341, 428 S.E.2d 889
(Ct. App. 1993). Under this rule, “the worker’s employment is located
at the employer’s place of business to which he reports, from which he
receives his work assignments and from which he starts his road trips,
regardless of where the work is performed.” Id. at 346, 428 S.E.2d at 892.
South Carolina’s appellate courts have made clear that “the location of
employment can only be in one state.” Voss v. Ramco, Inc., 325 S.C. 560,
572, 482 S.E.2d 582, 588 (Ct. App. 1997).

In the present case, the Commission made the following finding of
fact, which Key Risk challenges in this appeal:

62. Based upon a preponderance of the evidence of record,
the Full Commission finds that Plaintiff’s employment was
located in South Carolina because it is the only state in
which he had any “base of operation.” The only place of
business ever maintained by TWC was located in Myrtle
Beach, South Carolina. Plaintiff was hired from TWC'’s
office in Myrtle Beach, South Carolina. Mr. Baird provided
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work assignments to the employees, including Plaintiff,
working on the Winter Park project from his place of
business in South Carolina and Plaintiff was paid out
of South Carolina for the work he performed in Florida.
The other three lent employees from Coastal -- Michael
Porter, Anthony Brown and Randy Wallace -- traveled to
Myrtle Beach, South Carolina to receive payment from
TWC for the work they performed (along with Plaintiff) in
Stuart, Florida upon completion of the job.

The Commission then purported to apply the principles set forth
in Holman and Voss as well as in two other South Carolina cases —
Oxendine v. Davis, 373 S.C. 438, 646 S.E.2d 143 (2007), and Hill v. Eagle
Motor Lines, 373 S.C. 422, 645 S.E.2d 424 (2007). Because of the signifi-
cant amount of attention that the Commission and the parties give these
four cases, we address each of them in turn.

In Holman, the employee, a truck driver, lived in South Carolina, but
he would report to Georgia for his assignments. Holman, 311 S.C. at 343,
428 S.E.2d at 891. While driving his truck in Georgia, the employee was
killed in an accident on the highway. The employee’s mother filed for
benefits under South Carolina’s Workers’ Compensation Act. Her claim
was denied, and she appealed the decision to the South Carolina Court
of Appeals. Id. at 344, 428 S.E.2d at 891.

The court held that in order to determine whether the truck driver’s
employment was located in South Carolina for purposes of § 42-15-10,
an application of the “base of operation” test was required. Id. at 346,
428 S.E.2d at 892. In applying this test, the court relied on the fact that
although the employee lived in South Carolina, he had reported to
Georgia for duty, picked up and returned his company truck in Georgia,
received his work assignments from Georgia, and made calls to his
employer in Georgia. Therefore, the court concluded that his “base of
operation” was in Georgia, meaning that his “employment was located”
in Georgia for purposes of § 42-15-10 such that his workers’ compensa-
tion claim had been correctly denied. Id. at 346-47, 428 S.E.2d at 893.

In Voss, the South Carolina Court of Appeals revisited this issue.
In that case, a company called Ramco, Inc. that manufactured small
industrial equipment was located in South Carolina. Voss, 325 S.C. at
563, 482 S.E.2d at 583. Another company, NATCO, which sold Ramco’s
equipment, was also located in South Carolina. Id. NATCO’s owner hired
the plaintiff — who lived in Texas — to sell Ramco’s equipment across the
country. The plaintiff would travel from city to city selling Ramco
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equipment by the truckload. Id. at 563, 482 S.E.2d at 583-84. The agree-
ment between Ramco and NATCO provided that Ramco would deliver
its equipment to the city in which the group of salesmen — including the
plaintiff — were selling the equipment, and NATCO’s owner would then
supervise the sales team in each city to which the team traveled. Id.

The plaintiff was injured selling Ramco equipment while in the state
of Washington. Id. at 570, 482 S.E.2d at 587. During the time in which he
worked for Ramco, he never sold equipment in South Carolina and made
only one trip to South Carolina to pick up equipment. Id. at 565, 482
S.E.2d at 584. He filed a workers’ compensation claim in South Carolina,
but Ramco denied the claim, asserting that the South Carolina Workers’
Compensation Commission lacked subject matter jurisdiction over the
plaintiff’s claim. Id. at 563, 482 S.E.2d at 583. The commission ruled in
favor of the plaintiff, and its decision was ultimately affirmed by the cir-
cuit court. Ramco appealed to the South Carolina Court of Appeals. Id.

The court invoked the “base of operation” test set out in Holman to
determine whether South Carolina had jurisdiction over the plaintiff’s
claim, noting that “all types of transient employment . . . do not fit neatly
within the employment ritual of the employee truck driver in [Holman].”
Id. at 571, 482 S.E.2d at 588. The court observed that a traveling sales-
man would not have the same work routine as a truck driver, stating
the following:

[I]t was not this Court’s intention [in Holman] to hold that
a class of transient employees could never have a “base of
operation” and therefore be limited under section 42-15-10
to the benefits available in two states (the state where the
employee [was] hired and the state where the employee
was injured), while other transient employees could
choose the most advantageous of three states.

Id.

The court reiterated its previous statement in Holman that “the
location of employment can only be in one state” and that, logically,
“the location of employment must be in some state.” Id. at 572, 482
S.E.2d at 588. The court proceeded to hold that although the plaintiff
lived in Texas and was injured in Washington, his employment was
located in South Carolina. Id. The court ruled that regardless of the fact
that the plaintiff received work assignments from a supervisor who was
often physically present in multiple states, the plaintiff’s employer
was Ramco, and Ramco was permanently located in South Carolina. Id.
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The court reasoned that

although Voss started his road trips from wherever the
group was located, but never from South Carolina, he
nevertheless is principally employed in South Carolina
because it is the only state in which he has any “base of
operation.” . . . [A]s a practical matter, South Carolina is
the state where Voss was employed, given the amount
of control exerted over Voss by [his employers], both of
whom operated out of South Carolina.

1d.

In 2007, the Supreme Court of South Carolina issued two decisions
applying the “base of operation” test. In Oxendine, the plaintiff was a
construction worker living in North Carolina who did seasonal work for
a construction company that was based in South Carolina. Oxendine,
373 S.C. at 440, 646 S.E.2d at 144. His employer hired him to work at a
jobsite in North Carolina on a project that lasted for six weeks. The plain-
tiff had previously performed work for the employer in South Carolina
and had regularly traveled to South Carolina to receive his payment. Id.

During the six-week period prior to his injury, the plaintiff worked
solely at the jobsite in North Carolina. Id. At one point, the plaintiff vis-
ited his employer’s home in South Carolina for social purposes and fixed
the employer’s water pump — a task for which he was not paid. Id. He
also traveled to the employer’s home in South Carolina to receive pay-
ment at least once during the time he worked on the North Carolina
project. Id.

The plaintiff was injured in an accident while working on the
North Carolina jobsite. Id. He filed a workers’ compensation claim
in North Carolina, which was denied. Id. He then filed a claim under
South Carolina’s Workers’ Compensation Act, and the South Carolina
Workers’ Compensation Commission determined that it had jurisdiction
over the plaintiff’s claim. Id. at 440-41, 646 S.E.2d at 144. The employer
ultimately appealed to the Supreme Court of South Carolina. Id.

The court held that South Carolina was the plaintiff’s “base of opera-
tion.” Id. at 445, 646 S.E.2d at 146. In making this determination, the
court relied on multiple factors, noting that while none was “individually
determinative, they all lend support to the conclusion|[.]” Id. at 444, 646
S.E.2d at 146.
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(1) Respondent regularly worked for Employer in South
Carolina during warm months for a number of years; (2)
Respondent went to Employer’s home/office in South
Carolina on occasions to be paid, including at least once
during the last interval of his work; (3) Respondent often
met co-workers at the place of employment to go to jobs;
and (4) Respondent performed work at Employer’s home
immediately before his injury.

1d.
The court then stated the following:

In reaching this conclusion, we look not only at
Respondent’s six-week employment term, but also at his
broad employment history with Employer. Respondent’s
regular and recurring employment with Employer for sev-
eral years prior to his injury was nearly entirely based in
South Carolina. The fact that Respondent was working
in North Carolina on this particular occasion does not
transport the Employer’s base of operations from South
Carolina to North Carolina.

1d.

The court further noted that “[t]his conclusion is underscored by
the amount of control exerted over Respondent by Employer who was
located in South Carolina.” Id. In explaining its ruling, the court clarified
the principles it drew from Holman and Voss:

Appellants also argue that if the base of operations rule
applies, the relevant base of operation was North Carolina
because it is the employee’s base, and not the employer’s
base, that should be considered. Appellants’ reasoning
directly contradicts both Voss and Holman|,] cases which
apply the base of operations rule to determine the location
of nomadic employment based on the employer’s place of
business, “regardless of where work is performed.”

Id. at 445, 646 S.E.2d at 146.

Hill concerned a plaintiff truck driver who lived in South Carolina
and was injured while driving through Virginia. H2ll, 373 S.C. at 427, 645
S.E.2d at 426. The plaintiff’s employer was based in Alabama. After his
accident, the plaintiff successfully filed a claim under South Carolina’s
Workers’ Compensation Act. His employer appealed the decision in
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favor of the plaintiff to the Supreme Court of South Carolina. Id. at
427-28, 645 S.E.2d at 426.

Because the plaintiff had been hired in South Carolina, the court
held that South Carolina had jurisdiction over the plaintiff’s claim. Id. at
430, 645 S.E.2d at 428. However, the court also ruled that in addition to
being the state where the plaintiff was hired, South Carolina was like-
wise the state where plaintiff’s employment was “located” for purposes
of § 42-15-10. The court determined that the plaintiff’s “base of opera-
tion” was in South Carolina because the plaintiff began his road trips
from South Carolina, kept his truck at his South Carolina home on the
weekends, and received his paycheck at his home in South Carolina.
Id. at 432-33, 645 S.E.2d at 429. The court further noted that although
the plaintiff called the Alabama office at the end of each delivery to find
out where to pick up his next load, he was not required to report to
the Alabama office for duty or return to Alabama after completing his
assignments. Id. at 432, 645 S.E.2d at 429. Nor was the plaintiff’s truck
licensed in Alabama. Id.

Holman, Voss, Oxendine, and Hill demonstrate the fact-specific
nature of the “base of operation” test’s application and the difficulty
of determining where a worker’s employment is “located” when his
employment is nomadic in nature. In such cases, the employee works on
multiple jobs for a particular employer in more than one state, making it
difficult to pinpoint one specific state as the location of his employment.

In the present case, conversely, Plaintiff’s employment was not
nomadic. He worked at one location for his employer during the entire
period of his employment. He had no prior history of working on jobs —
in South Carolina, Florida, or anywhere else — for TWC, and the record
is devoid of any indication that he was likely to work on future projects
for TWC. He was not a traveling salesman or a truck driver whose job
duties for his employer required him to travel to multiple states. Nor
was he akin to the worker in Oxendine who performed multiple jobs for
his employer in one state prior to being dispatched by the employer to
perform a job in another state.

Instead, Plaintiff was a lent employee who was hired by TWC to
perform one specific job in one specific place. TWC required that
he perform all of his work in Florida, and he lived in Florida for the
entire duration of the job, commuting from a motel in Florida to
the Florida jobsite throughout the duration of his employment with
TWC. Plaintiff reported to work each day in Florida and received assign-
ments from on-site supervisors in Florida.
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Standing in stark contrast to his numerous connections with Florida
during his employment with TWC is the utter lack of contacts Plaintiff
had with South Carolina. Plaintiff never reported to South Carolina for
duty either before the project began or after it was completed. Indeed,
the record is devoid of any indication that Plaintiff visited South Carolina
for any purpose — except when he drove through that state as a matter
of geographical necessity between North Carolina and Florida.

For these reasons, the present case requires nothing more than a
commonsense application of the “base of operation” test to conclude
that Plaintiff’'s employment with TWC was “located” in Florida. The
courts in Holman, Voss, Oxendine, and Hill were required to balance
competing factors in applying this test given that each of those cases
involved employees who performed work for a single employer in mul-
tiple states. The facts of this case simply do not require us to do so here.

We are unpersuaded by Coastal’s argument that Plaintiff’s job assign-
ments actually came from Baird in South Carolina. The record shows
only two instances of direct contact between Baird and Plaintiff — the
telephone call during which Baird offered him the job and a subsequent
call in which he gave Plaintiff a “pep talk.” Both of these telephone calls
occurred while Plaintiff was still in North Carolina and before he had
left the state to start work on the Florida Project.

Plaintiff had on-site supervisors at the Florida jobsite — initially
Porter and later Fleener — who gave him his work assignments and
instructions for the work to be performed. The record clearly indi-
cates that these supervisors were both in Florida when they instructed
Plaintiff as to his duties on the Florida Project. While Coastal argues
that these on-site supervisors were relaying orders that had been given
to them by Baird from South Carolina, we do not believe that any such
indirect control over Plaintiff’s work by Baird serves as a sufficient sub-
stitute for direct connections between Plaintiff and South Carolina given
the circumstances of Plaintiff’'s employment with TWC.

Therefore, we conclude that throughout Plaintiff’s employment
with TWC, his “base of operation” was Florida. Accordingly, he was nei-
ther “principally employed” (for purposes of the Endorsement) in South
Carolina nor was South Carolina the state “where his employment [was]
located” (for purposes of § 42-15-10). Thus, the Commission erred in
determining that Key Risk’s policy provided coverage for Plaintiff’s
workplace accident.?

2. On appeal, Key Risk also raises as an alternative argument that the Commission
erred in ordering Key Risk to pay all indemnity benefits owed on Plaintiff’s claim as a
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Conclusion

For the reasons stated above, we reverse the Commission’s Opinion
and Award to the extent it determined that Key Risk’s policy provides
any coverage for the 26 September 2010 accident and remand this mat-
ter for further proceedings not inconsistent with this opinion.

REVERSED AND REMANDED.
Judges INMAN and ENOCHS concur.

BRADLEY WOODCRAFT, INC., PLAINTIFF
V.
CHRISTINE BODDEN a/k/A CHRISTINE DRYFUS, DEFENDANT

No. COA16-692
Filed 20 December 2016

1. Fraud—directed verdict—misapprehension of law

The trial court erred by entering a directed verdict against defen-
dant on the fraud claim. The trial court operated under a misappre-
hension of the law as it applied to fraud claims, which are brought
by a plaintiff where a valid contract exists between the litigants. A
new trial was ordered on all issues.

2. Evidence—expert witness—qualifications—weight of testimony
—cabinets

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in qualifying Haddock
as an expert witness on cabinetry. Any lingering questions or con-
troversy concerning the quality of the expert’s conclusions went to
the weight of the testimony rather than its admissibility.

Appeal by defendant from judgment entered 4 February 2016 by
Judge G. Bryan Collins, Jr. in Wake County Superior Court. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 28 November 2016.

result of his injury based on the theory that “the proportion of the responsibility of
[Plaintiff’s] wages [was] equal between Coastal and [TWC].” However, in light of our hold-
ing that Key Risk’s policy does not provide any coverage regarding Plaintiff’s accident, we
need not address this issue.
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John M. Kirby for defendant-appellant.

Morningstar Law Group, by Shannon R. Joseph, for plaintiff-
appellee.

ENOCHS, Judge.

Christine Bodden a/k/a Christine Dryfus (“Defendant”) appeals from
the trial court’s judgment against her, and the trial court’s order award-
ing costs to Bradley Woodcraft, Inc. (“Plaintiff”). On appeal, she con-
tends that the trial court erred in (1) entering a directed verdict against
her as to her fraud claim; (2) entering a directed verdict against her as
to her unfair and deceptive trade practices claim; (3) entering judgment
where the verdicts were inconsistent; (4) admitting the testimony of a
purported expert witness; (5) awarding costs to Plaintiff; and (6) deny-
ing her motion for costs. After careful review, we reverse the trial court’s
judgment and order and remand for a new trial on all issues.

Factual Background

In 2013, Defendant and her husband, Chris Dryfus (“Chris”), bought
a house in Raleigh, North Carolina. The house was approximately
20 years old and Defendant and Chris decided to renovate certain parts
of it.

Toward this end, in July 2013, Defendant contacted Plaintiff, a
contracting company which is owned and operated by Joey Bradley
(“Bradley”), and employed it to build custom archways and to do select
trim work around the house. Bradley represented to Defendant that he
was qualified to carry out these projects. Shortly after beginning his
work at Defendant’s and Chirs’ home, Bradley submitted a proposal
to Defendant for additional renovations in her kitchen that he claimed
he could perform as well — including installing new cabinetry and an
island cabinet. Defendant agreed to this proposal.

As work on the home renovations progressed, Defendant became
dissatisfied with Plaintiff’s work, believing that it did not conform to the
specifications they had agreed to. As a result, Defendant communicated
to Bradley on multiple occasions that the renovations were not being
done correctly and were unacceptable. Specifically, Defendant informed
Bradley, among other deficiencies in Plaintiff’s work, that the island was
not plumb, the ends of the cabinets were unfinished, the hutches for
the archways were not flush with the wall, the quality of the cabinets
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was poor, the refrigerator was not plumb, and the dishwasher open-
ing was too large.

In late June 2014, Defendant and Bradley met to discuss the progress
of the various renovation projects. During this meeting, Defendant made
the final two agreed to payments for Plaintiff’s work with her American
Express card in the amounts of $19,000.00 and $7,000.00 respectively.
Defendant believed that at the time she made these payments it was
understood that Plaintiff would complete its work on her home to the
agreed upon specifications and correct any errors in the work that had
already been done. Bradley, conversely, had a different recollection of
this meeting believing that he and Defendant had resolved that all of the
renovations were complete and satisfactory and that no further work
was necessary.

Thereafter, Bradley did not perform any further work on Defendant’s
house and did not return her phone calls or respond to other attempts
by her to contact him. Defendant, believing that Plaintiff had breached
their agreement by failing to finish the agreed to renovation projects,
contacted American Express and disputed the $26,000.00 in payments
she had made to Plaintiff. American Express ultimately reversed the
charges based upon Defendant’s representations.

On 14 November 2014, Plaintiff filed a complaint in Wake County
Superior Court alleging causes of action for breach of implied and
express contract against Defendant seeking to recover the $26,000.00
amount that Defendant had American Express reverse, plus interest,
as well as court costs. On 20 January 2015, Defendant filed an answer,
motion to dismiss Plaintiff’s breach of implied contract claim, and coun-
terclaims for (1) breach of contract; (2) fraudulent misrepresentation;
(3) negligent misrepresentation; (4) wrongful interference with contrac-
tual rights; (5) wrongful interference with prospective contract; and (6)
unfair and deceptive trade practices.

On 13 August 2015, Plaintiff filed a motion for summary judgment
on all of Defendant’s counterclaims except for her claim for breach of
contract. A hearing on Plaintiff’s motion for summary judgment and
Defendant’s motion to dismiss was held on 7 December 2015 before the
Honorable G. Bryan Collins, Jr. in Wake County Superior Court. That
same day, Judge Collins entered an order denying Defendant’s motion
to dismiss.

On 11 December 2015, Judge Collins entered an order granting
Plaintiff’s motion for summary judgment as to Defendant’s wrongful
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interference with contract rights counterclaim and wrongful interfer-
ence with prospective contract counterclaim. Judge Collins denied
Plaintiff’s motion, however, as to Defendant’s fraudulent misrepresen-
tation, negligent misrepresentation, and unfair and deceptive trade
practices counterclaims.

A trial was subsequently held before Judge Collins in Wake County
Superior Court from 4 January 2016 through 8 January 2016. At trial,
Plaintiff moved for a directed verdict on Defendant’s fraud, negligent
misrepresentation, and unfair and deceptive trade practices claims on
the theory that because a valid contract was in effect between the par-
ties, the economic loss rule limited Defendant’s possible remedies to
those arising under the law of contract. After hearing the arguments
of the parties, the trial court ultimately granted Plaintiff’s motion and
directed verdict in its favor on these claims.

Defendant presented evidence at trial tending to establish that
Bradley fraudulently represented to her that he was a licensed general
contractor when he was not in order to induce Defendant to hire him to
perform the renovations to her home. She also stated that Bradley billed
her for items which were never delivered and promised that he would
complete the work when he had no intention of doing so.

At the conclusion of trial, the jury found Defendant had breached
her contract with Plaintiff and determined that she was liable to Plaintiff
for $26,000.00. The jury also found Plaintiff had breached the contract as
well, however, and awarded Defendant $19,400.00.

On 19 January 2016, Defendant filed a motion for reconsideration
and for a new trial pursuant to Rules 54(b), 59, and 60 of the North
Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. Defendant additionally filed a motion
for judgment notwithstanding the verdict pursuant to Rule 50. That same
day, Plaintiff filed a motion for costs and attorneys’ fees. Defendant, in
turn, filed her own motion for costs on 1 February 2016.

The trial court entered judgment on 4 February 2016 offsetting the
two verdicts resulting in a net judgment against Defendant in the amount
of $6,600.00. The trial court also entered an order on 22 February 2016
(1) granting Plaintiff’s motion for costs and awarding costs to Plaintiff
in the amount of $4,599.87; (2) denying Plaintiff’s motion for attorneys’
fees; (3) denying Defendant’s motion for reconsideration and for a new
trial; (4) denying Defendant’s motion for judgment notwithstanding the
verdict; and (5) denying Defendant’s motion for costs. Defendant filed
notice of appeal of the trial court’s judgment and 22 February 2016 order
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on 7 March 2016. Plaintiff also filed notice of appeal of the trial court’s
judgment and 22 February 2016 order, but subsequently withdrew its
appeal on 17 June 2016.

Analysis
I.  Economic Loss Doctrine

[1] Defendant first argues on appeal that the trial court erred in enter-
ing a directed verdict against her as to her claim for fraud. Specifically,
she contends that the trial court incorrectly applied the economic loss
doctrine in directing its verdict on this issue. We agree.

When considering a motion for a directed verdict, a
trial court must view the evidence in the light most favor-
able to the non-moving party, giving that party the benefit
of every reasonable inference arising from the evidence.
Any conflicts and inconsistencies in the evidence must be
resolved in favor of the non-moving party. If there is more
than a scintilla of evidence supporting each element of
the non-moving party’s claim, the motion for a directed
verdict should be denied.

Mazxwell v. Michael P. Doyle, Inc., 164 N.C. App. 319, 322, 595 S.E.2d 759,
761 (2004) (internal citations omitted). “[T]his Court must determine
whether plaintiff’s evidence, when considered in the light most favorable
to plaintiff, was legally sufficient to withstand defendants’ motion for a
directed verdict as to plaintiff’s claims. The motion for directed verdict
should be denied if there is more than a scintilla of evidence supporting
each element of plaintiff’s claim.” Merrick v. Peterson, 143 N.C. App.
656, 661, 548 S.E.2d 171, 175 (2001). Also, “[b]ecause the trial court’s rul-
ing on a motion for a directed verdict addressing the sufficiency of the
evidence presents a question of law, it is reviewed de novo.” Maxwell,
164 N.C. App. at 323, 595 S.E.2d at 761.

Furthermore, it is well settled that “[r]eversal is warranted where a
trial court acts under a misapprehension of the law. Our Supreme Court
has held that ‘where it appears that the judge below has ruled upon [a]
matter before him upon a misapprehension of the law, the cause will
be remanded to the Superior Court for further hearing in the true legal
light.” ” In re M.K. (I), __ N.C. App. __, __, 773 S.E.2d 535, 541 (2015)
(quoting Capps v. Lynch, 2563 N.C. 18, 22, 116 S.E.2d 137, 141 (1960)); see
also Free Spirit Aviation, Inc. v. Rutherford Airport Auth., 206 N.C.
App. 192, 204, 696 S.E.2d 559, 567 (2010) (“When the trial court exercises
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its discretion under a misapprehension of the law, it is appropriate to
remand for reconsideration in light of the correct law.”). Consequently,
in the present case, the dispositive question before us is whether the
trial court correctly interpreted and applied the economic loss rule in
granting Plaintiff’s motion for a directed verdict on Defendant’s coun-
terclaim for fraud.

Simply stated, the economic loss rule prohibits
recovery for purely economic loss in tort, as such claims
are instead governed by contract law. . . . Thus, the rule
encourages contracting parties to allocate risks for eco-
nomic loss themselves, because the promisee has the
best opportunity to bargain for coverage of that risk or
of faulty workmanship by the promisor. For that reason,
a tort action does not lie against a party to a contract who
simply fails to properly perform the terms of the contract,
even if that failure to perform was due to the negligent or
intentional conduct of that party, when the injury result-
ing from the breach is damage to the subject matter of
the contract. It is the law of contract and not the law
of negligence which defines the obligations and reme-
dies of the parties in such a situation.

Lord v. Customized Consulting Spectalty, Inc., 182 N.C. App. 635, 639,
643 S.E.2d 28, 30-31 (2007) (citation and alteration omitted).

The economic loss rule was first recognized by our Supreme Court
in N.C. State Ports Authority v. Lloyd A. Fry Roofing Co., 294 N.C. 73,
240 S.E.2d 345 (1978). In that case, the plaintiff entered into a contract
with a general contractor to construct two buildings. The general con-
tractor was negligent in his construction of the buildings’ roofs, how-
ever, and, as a result, they ultimately leaked causing significant damage
to the structures. The plaintiff brought suit against the general contrac-
tor for breach of contract and for negligence. Id. at 81, 250 S.E.2d at 350.

Our Supreme Court held that the plaintiff was barred from bring-
ing a negligence action against the general contractor pursuant to the
economic loss rule given that the existence of the contract between
the parties limited the plaintiff’s remedies to those arising under the law
of contract. Id. at 81-82, 250 S.E.2d at 350-51.

Significantly, however, Ports Authority and its progeny — despite
the use of the broad term “tort” in Ports Authority’s discussion of the
economic loss rule — have been limited in their application to merely
barring negligence claims. Indeed,
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[s]ince Ports Authority was decided, our appellate courts
have applied the economic loss rule on a number of occa-
sions to reject analogous negligence claims. See Williams,
213 N.C. App. at 6, 714 S.E.2d at 441-42 (economic loss
rule precluded negligence claim by homeowners against
builder where construction contract set forth available
remedies and Ports Authority exceptions were inappli-
cable); Land v. Tall House Bldg. Co., 165 N.C. App. 880,
882-83, 602 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2004) (economic loss rule barred
negligence action by homeowners against contractor
based on existence of construction contract between the
parties); Kaleel Builders, Inc. v. Ashby, 161 N.C. App. 34,
42 587 S.E.2d 470,476 (2003) (“In accord with the Supreme
Court’s and our analysis in prior cases, we acknowledge
no negligence claim where all rights and remedies have
been set forth in the contractual relationship.”), disc.
review denied, 358 N.C. 235, 595 S.E.2d 152 (2004).

Beaufort Builders, Inc. v. White Plains Church Ministries, Inc., __
N.C. App. __, _, 783 S.E.2d 35, 40-41 (2016) (emphasis added).

Significantly, the case relied upon by the trial court and Plaintiff,
Kaleel Builders, Inc. v. Ashby, 161 N.C. App. 34, 42, 587 S.E.2d 470,
476 (2003), is such a case where the plaintiff brought a negligence
action where a valid contract existed between it and a general contrac-
tor. Applying the economic loss rule, this Court, in accord with Ports
Authority, determined that no cause of action in negligence could lie
and the plaintiff’s remedies instead were limited to those arising under
the law of contract. Id. at 44, 587 S.E.2d at 477. Critically, however,
Kaleel Builders, Inc. did not contemplate a claim for fraud.

This is significant in light of this court’s holding in Jones v. Harrelson
& Smith Contr’rs, LLC, 194 N.C. App. 203, 670 S.E.2d 242 (2008), aff’d
per curtam, 363 N.C. 371, 677 S.E.2d 453 (2009). In Jones, among other
claims, the plaintiff brought a fraud claim against the defendant home
mover where a contract existed between the parties. Id. at 214-15, 670
S.E.2d at 250. After initially denying the defendant’s motion for a directed
verdict, the trial court subsequently granted the defendant’s motion for
judgment notwithstanding the verdict on the plaintiff’s fraud claim. Id.
at 214, 670 S.E.2d at 250.

This Court stated on appeal the following:

According to [the defendant], [the plaintiff] was . . . limited
to suing for breach of contract. [The defendant], however,
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cites no authority supporting its assumption that a plain-
tiff cannot sue for fraud if she has a breach of contract
claim. The law is, in fact, to the contrary: a plaintiff may
assert both claims, although she may be required to elect
between her remedies prior to obtaining a verdict.

Id. at 215, 670 S.E.2d at 250.
In the present case, the trial court stated the following:

THE COURT: All right. I understand your arguments,
they’re very well-made, they're - but Kaleel disagrees with
you. The North Carolina Court of Appeals and the Kaleel
decision is (inaudible) So, a tort action and all these other
things that you've planned are tort action does not lie
against the party to a contract who simply fails to properly
perform the terms of the contract, even if that failure to
properly perform was intentional when the injury result-
ing from the breach is damage to the subject matter of
the contract.

In light of this colloquy, we are convinced that the trial court operated
under a misapprehension of the law as it applies to fraud claims which
are brought by a plaintiff where a valid contract exists between the liti-
gants. Such claims are, in fact, allowable as has been clearly established
by Jones.

Moreover, as noted above, Ports Authorily and analogous cases
applying the economic loss rule are limited in scope to claims for neg-
ligence and have never applied the doctrine to claims for fraud brought
contemporaneously with claims for breach of contract. Therefore,
we hold that Jones, Ports Authority, and Kaleel Builders, Inc. are in
accord and establish that while claims for negligence are barred by the
economic loss rule where a valid contract exists between the litigants,
claims for fraud are not so barred and, indeed, “[t]he law is, in fact, to
the contrary: a plaintiff may assert both claims[.]” Jones, 194 N.C. App.
at 215, 670 S.E.2d at 250.

Consequently, the trial court erred in entering a directed verdict
against Defendant on her counterclaim for fraud. As a result, we must
reverse the trial court’s entry of directed verdict as to this cause of action.

Moreover, because Defendant’s fraud counterclaim is factually
interwoven with her remaining counterclaims and directly touches and
concerns Plaintiff’s overall liability, our reversal of the trial court’s entry
of directed verdict as to this counterclaim directly impacts the jury’s
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verdict in its entirety to the extent that we cannot narrowly remand for
anew trial on Defendant’s fraud counterclaim alone, but rather are com-
pelled to remand for a new trial on all issues. It is well settled that “[i]n
ordering a new trial, it is within the discretion of this Court whether to
grant a new trial on all issues.” Cicogna v. Holder, 345 N.C. 488, 490, 480
S.E.2d 636, 637 (1997); see also Mesimer v. Stancil, 45 N.C. App. 533,
535, 263 S.E.2d 32, 33 (1980) (“In our discretion, we order a new trial on
all issues.”).

We have consistently maintained that

[a] partial new trial should be ordered when the error is
confined to one issue, which is entirely separable from the
others and it is perfectly clear that there is no danger of
complication. . .. Where it appears that the verdict was the
result of a compromise, such error taints the entire verdict
and requires a new trial as to all of the issues in the case.
... anew trial as to damages alone should not be granted
where there is ground for a strong suspicion that the jury
awarded inadequate damages to the plaintiff as a result of
a compromise involving the question of liability.

Hous., Inc. v. Weaver, 305 N.C. 428, 442-43, 290 S.E.2d 642, 650-51
(1982) (internal citations, quotation marks, and brackets omitted); see
Robertson v. Stanley, 285 N.C. 561, 569, 206 S.E.2d 190, 196 (1974) (“In
our opinion, the issues of negligence, contributory negligence, and dam-
ages are so inextricably interwoven that a new trial on all issues is nec-
essary.”); Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Godwin Bldg. Supply Co., 292 N.C. 557,
566, 234 S.E.2d 605, 610 (1977) (“[W]e find that on the present record the
question of damages on defendant’s counterclaim is so intertwined with
the issue of liability that to grant a new trial on the issue of damages only
might well result in confusion and uncertainty and in injustice to one
or both of the parties. For these reasons and to insure that all the facts
bearing on the issue of damages are fully developed and the issue itself
more clearly presented, we are constrained to award a new trial on the
entire counterclaim.”); Handex of Carolinas, Inc. v. Cnty. of Haywood,
168 N.C. App. 1, 20, 607 S.E.2d 25, 37 (2005) (“In light of the single-figure
jury verdict, we cannot determine whether the jury awarded damages
pursuant to any of the four claims properly submitted to the jury, and
we are therefore constrained to grant a new trial to determine both the
question of liability and damages as to these four claims.”).

Because we cannot say that had Defendant’s fraud counterclaim
been submitted to the jury the result as to liability or the amount of
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damages awarded would have been the same, we are compelled to
order a new trial on all issues. In addition, in light of our disposition on
this issue, we do not reach Defendant’s remaining issues on appeal. See
Roberts v. Edwards, 48 N.C. App. 714, 719, 269 S.E.2d 745, 748 (1980)
(“In light of our disposition of this case, it is not necessary to consider
the remaining assignments of error. Although the error in excluding the
witnesses’ testimony relates to the damages issue, in our discretion, we
order a new trial on all the issues.”); see also Hobson Const. Co. v. Great
Am. Ins. Co., 71 N.C. App. 586, 591, 322 S.E.2d 632, 635 (1984) (“Our res-
olution of the first assignment of error disposes of the appeal and makes
it unnecessary to consider appellants’ remaining assignments of error.”).

II. Expert Opinion Testimony

[2] While, for the reasons stated above, we grant Defendant a new
trial on all issues, thereby foreclosing the need to discuss the remain-
ing issues brought on appeal, we nevertheless elect to address, in our
discretion, the issue of whether Shane Haddock was properly qualified
as an expert witness in cabinetry given the potential likelihood that this
issue may again arise below.

Rule 702(a) of the North Carolina Rules of Evidence provides that

(a) If scientific, technical or other specialized knowledge
will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to
determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert
by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education,
may testify thereto in the form of an opinion, or otherwise,
if all of the following apply:

(1) The testimony is based upon sufficient facts
or data.

(2) The testimony is the product of reliable principles
and methods.

(3) The witness has applied the principles and meth-
ods reliably to the facts of the case.

It is well settled that “[t]he trial court has broad discretion in the
determination and admission of expert testimony. The decision to qualify
a witness as an expert is ordinarily within the exclusive province of the
trial judge or hearing officer.” Stark v. N.C. Dep’t of Env’t & Nat. Res.,
Div. of Land Res., 224 N.C. App. 491, 498-99, 736 S.E.2d 553, 559 (2012)
(internal citations and quotation marks omitted). Moreover, “ ‘[a] finding
by the trial court that the witness is qualified will not be reversed unless
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there was no competent evidence to support it or the court abused its
discretion.’ ” Id. at 499, 736 S.E.2d at 559 (quoting State v. Love, 100 N.C.
App. 226, 232, 395 S.E.2d 429, 433 (1990)).

Here, Plaintiff tendered Haddock as an expert witness in cabinetry
who testified as follows:

Q. Mr. Haddock, please introduce yourself to the jury.

A. I'm Shane Haddock, uh, I've been doing cabinets
for 17 years.

Q. What do you currently do?

A. I'm still doing cabinets, but, uh, at the time, when-
ever I was asked, I was with Knowles Cabinets, outside
president of operation. First of last year, I left and went
with, uh, Reward Builders and we started our own line
of cabinets.

Q. You said you've got 17 years of experience doing
cabinets?

A. Yes, sir.
Q. Um, was — who was that for?
A. That was for Knowles Cabinets.

Q. Uh, and what type of cabinets did you, um, work
with?

A. We did custom cabinets, which were called
European Cabinets. You have (inaudible) frame cabinets
and you have European Cabinets and we opted to build
the European Cabinets.

Q. Do you have any special, uh, training outside of on
the job training, um, for those — for working with cabinets?

A. Outside training meaning what?
Q. Uh, college courses, anything like that?

A. Well, I mean, we went — I went to school to learn
how to run all the equipment that we had, but as far as
training, no. It’s pretty much you — you learn as you go.

Haddock then went on to testify that he personally examined Plaintiff’s
cabinetry work at Defendant’s home and evaluated whether the work
had been performed adequately.
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As our Supreme Court has recently maintained,

[e]xpertise can come from practical experience as much
as from academic training. Whatever the source of the wit-
ness’s knowledge, the question remains the same: Does the
witness have enough expertise to be in a better position
than the trier of fact to have an opinion on the subject?
The rule does not mandate that the witness always have a
particular degree or certification, or practice a particular
profession. . . . As is true with respect to other aspects of
Rule 702(a), the trial court has the discretion to determine
whether the witness is sufficiently qualified to testify in
that field.

State v. McGrady, 368 N.C. 880, 889-90, 787 S.E.2d 1, 9 (2016) (internal
citations omitted).

In Kenney v. Medlin Const. & Realty Co., 68 N.C. App. 339, 315
S.E.2d 311 (1984), this Court addressed the qualifications of a witness as
an expert in residential construction. In determining that the witness
was properly qualified as an expert we stated the following: “We find no
abuse of discretion in the trial court determination that Jones, who had
been involved in building more than 200 residences, including eight to
twelve in plaintiff’s subdivision, was an expert, better qualified than the
jury to form an opinion as to the quality of workmanship and damage
resulting from the construction of plaintiff’s house. That Jones was not
a licensed contractor does not render his opinion testimony inadmis-
sible.” Id. at 342-43, 315 S.E.2d at 314.

In light of the above cited authority, we are satisfied that there was
competent evidence in the present case, based upon his testimony, that
Haddock possessed the requisite level of experience and expertise to
testify as an expert witness in cabinetry. While Haddock did testify
that he was “not really going to say there are any standards” regard-
ing the cabinet industry in Wake County, he went on to clarify that
he was not aware of any licensure requirements to perform cabinetry
work. Additionally, he provided a follow-up response to the question of
whether there were industry standards for cabinetry in Wake County as
to the “accepted practice of the way people would build custom cabi-
nets,” however, his answer was inaudible and was consequently not
transcribed by the court reporter. In any event, these statements are
more properly characterized as speaking not to Haddock’s qualifications
as an expert, but rather as to his credibility — which is appropriately
attacked not through seeking exclusion by the trial court, but rather by
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means of cross-examination by opposing counsel. See State v. Turbyfill,
__N.C. App. __, __, 776 S.E.2d 249, 258 (“ ‘[O]nce the trial court makes a
preliminary determination that the scientific or technical area underly-
ing a qualified expert’s opinion is sufficiently reliable (and, of course,
relevant), any lingering questions or controversy concerning the quality
of the expert’s conclusions go to the weight of the testimony rather than
its admissibility.” ” (quoting State v. Taylor, 165 N.C. App. 750, 756, 600
S.E.2d 483, 488 (2004))), disc. review denied, 368 N.C. 603, 780 S.E.2d 560
(2015); see also Hairston v. Alexander Tank & Equip. Co., 310 N.C. 227,
244, 311 S.E.2d 559, 571 (1984) (“It is the function of cross-examination
to expose any weaknesses in [expert witness] testimony[.]”).

Consequently, we find that the trial court did not abuse its discretion
in qualifying Haddock as an expert witness on cabinetry. See Stark, 224
N.C. App. at 499, 736 S.E.2d at 559 (“ ‘A finding by the trial court that the
witness is qualified will not be reversed unless there was no competent
evidence to support it or the court abused its discretion.” ” (quoting State
v. Love, 100 N.C. App. 226, 232, 395 S.E.2d 429, 433 (1990))).

Conclusion

For the reasons stated above, the judgment and 22 February 2016
order of the trial court are reversed, and we remand for a new trial on
all issues.

NEW TRIAL.

Chief Judge McGEE and Judge BRYANT concur.
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MOLLY PAIGE CORBETT, PLAINTIFF
V.
TRACEY LYNCH, DEFENDANT

No. COA16-221
Filed 20 December 2016

Guardian and Ward—Chapter 35A guardianship proceeding—dis-
missal of child custody action—mootness

The trial court did not err by dismissing plaintiff stepmother’s
custody petition in this action due to the award of guardianship
of the children to decedent father’s sister. The appointment of a
general guardian by the clerk of superior court in the Chapter 35A
guardianship proceeding rendered stepmother’s Chapter 50 custody
action moot.

Appeal by Plaintiff from order entered 2 November 2015 by Judge
April C. Wood in Davidson County District Court. Heard in the Court of
Appeals 6 September 2016.

Black, Slaughter & Black, PA., by Carole R. Albright and T. Keith
Black, for the Plaintiff-Appellant.

Allman Spry Davis Leggett & Crumpler, PA., by Kim R. Bonuomo
and Bennett D. Rainey, for the Defendant-Appellee.

DILLON, Judge.

Plaintiff Molly Paige Corbett (“Stepmother”) commenced this
action in district court seeking custody of her stepchildren, “Max” and
“Allison,”! who had been orphaned after the recent death of Stepmother’s
husband, their father, Jason Corbett.2 On appeal, Plaintiff challenges the
district court’s order dismissing her custody petition in this action due
to the award of guardianship of the children to Mr. Corbett’s sister,
Defendant Tracey Lynch (“Aunt”), in a separate superior court proceed-
ing. We affirm.

1. Pseudonyms.

2. Stepmother was indicted for second-degree murder and voluntary manslaughter
in connection with Mr. Corbett’s death. At the time of this appeal, she is still awaiting trial.
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I. Background

Max and Allison spent their early years living with their biological
parents in Ireland, where they are citizens. In 2006, their biological
mother passed away. In 2008, Stepmother traveled from the United
States to Ireland to serve as the children’s au pair. In 2011, Mr. Corbett
and Stepmother moved to the United States with the children. Shortly
thereafter, Mr. Corbett and Stepmother were married. However, despite
Stepmother’s desire to adopt Max and Allison, Mr. Corbett did not
consent to a stepparent adoption. In 2015, Mr. Corbett died, leaving Max
and Allison orphaned. In his will, Mr. Corbett named Aunt and Aunt’s
husband as testamentary guardians for both minor children.

On 4 August 2015, Stepmother filed a petition for guardianship and
a petition for stepparent adoption in superior court.

The following day, on 5 August 2015, Stepmother filed this action
in district court for custody of the children, pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 50-13.5. Stepmother obtained an ex parte order for temporary emer-
gency custody pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 50-13.5(d)(3), based on her
allegation that Aunt was coming to the United States to take the children
back to Ireland with her.

On 7 August 2015, Aunt filed (1) applications for guardianship of the
children in the proceeding before the clerk of superior court and (2) an
answer, motions to dismiss, and a counterclaim for child custody in this
district court action.

On 17 August 2015, the clerk of superior court awarded guardianship
of Max and Allison to Aunt and her husband.? Following a hearing in this
district court action, the district court dismissed Stepmother’s custody
complaint based on the clerk’s prior award of guardianship. Stepmother
timely appealed the district court’s dismissal of her custody action.

II. Analysis

On appeal, Stepmother argues that the district court erred in granting
Aunt’s motion to dismiss her Chapter 50 custody action, contending that
the district court did, in fact, have subject matter jurisdiction. The reso-
Iution of this matter requires this Court to consider the jurisdictional
relationship between Chapter 35A guardianship proceedings before a
clerk of superior court and a Chapter 50 custody action before a district

3. The guardianship orders entered by the clerk of court were subsequently affirmed
by Superior Court Judge Theodore S. Royster on 10 February 2016.



42 IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

CORBETT v. LYNCH
[251 N.C. App. 40 (2016)]

court judge. We conclude that the appointment of a general guardian by
the clerk of superior court in the Chapter 35A guardianship proceed-
ing rendered Stepmother’s Chapter 50 custody action moot. Therefore,
we affirm the district court’s order dismissing Stepmother’s Chapter 50
custody petition.

Our guardianship statutes, codified in Chapter 35A, allow “any
person or corporation, including any State or local human services
agency|[,]” to file an application with the clerk of superior court
“for the appointment of a guardian of the person or general guardian for
any minor who [does not have a] natural guardian.” N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 35A-1221 (2015) (emphasis added).? In such proceeding, the clerk con-
ducts a hearing to determine whether the appointment of a guardian is
required, and, if so, considers the child’s best interest in determining
who the guardian(s) should be. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 35A-1223. An award of
general guardianship entitles the guardian to custody of the child. N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 35A-1241(a)(1).

Chapter 50, on the other hand, provides the district court with juris-
diction to enter orders providing for the custody of a minor child. N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 50-13.5(c)(2) (2015). Any “parent, relative, or other person,
agency, organization or institution claiming the right to custody of a
minor child may institute an action or proceeding for the custody of
such child.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 50-13.1. Chapter 50 custody actions gener-
ally involve a dispute between two parents or between the parent(s)
and a non-parent. In certain emergency situations, the district court is
authorized to enter a temporary child custody order ex parte, for exam-
ple, when “there is a substantial risk that the child may be abducted or
removed from the State of North Carolina for the purpose of evading the
jurisdiction of North Carolina courts.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 50-13.5(d)(3).

Our Supreme Court has stated that parents, as “natural guardians,”
have a “constitutionally-protected paramount right [] to custody, care,
and control of their children.” Petersen v. Rogers, 337 N.C. 397, 406,
445 S.E.2d 901, 906 (1994). And if a person is appointed as the “general

4. North Carolina has long recognized that a child’s biological mother and father are
the “natural guardians” of the child. See Bright v. Wilson, 1 N.C. 251, 252 (1800); Buchanan
v. Buchanan, 207 N.C. App. 112, 119, 698 S.E.2d 485, 489 (2010). Adoptive parents, too, are
“natural guardians” as they have the same rights to the adopted child as to any child born
to them. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 48-1-106(c).

5. A general guardian is defined as a guardian of both the ward’s person and the
ward’s estate. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 35A-1202(7).
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guardian” or as “guardian of the person” of a minor child, that guardian-
ship necessarily includes physical custody of the minor. See N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 35A-1202(10) (“ ‘Guardian of the person’ means a guardian appointed
. .. for the purpose of performing duties relating to the . . . custody . . .
of a ward.”). This relationship between guardianship and custody was
articulated by the Supreme Court of Rhode Island as follows:

Permanent custody, so called, with its attendant responsi-
bilities, is an incident of guardianship and parents are the
natural guardians of their children. . . . Where, as here, a
child has been orphaned, the appointment of a guardian
supersedes that of a custodian since the latter is contained
within the former.

Petition of Loudin, 101 R.1. 35, 38-39, 219 A.2d 915, 917-18 (1966) (inter-
nal citations omitted).

Our General Assembly has generally followed the logic articulated
in Loudin in crafting our custody and guardianship laws. Indeed, our
statutes provide for an override of a Chapter 50 custody determina-
tion by the appointment of a general guardian or guardian of the per-
son: Chapter 35A allows for an eligible party to obtain guardianship of a
minor child with no living parents even if the issue of the child’s custody
has already been resolved by the district court in a Chapter 50 custody
proceeding. Chapter 35A provides that an applicant for guardianship is
to include “a copy of any . . . custody order” for the clerk’s consideration
in making a decision regarding guardianship of the child. N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 35A-1221(4).

Following appointment of a guardian, Chapter 35A provides that
“[t]he clerk shall retain jurisdiction . . . in order to assure compliance
with the clerk’s orders and those of the superior court.” N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 35A-1203(b). In addition, the clerk retains jurisdiction to “determine
disputes between guardians.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 35A-1203(c). Indeed, we
have held that in the context of a dispute over the custody of an incom-
petent adult child, “the district court obtains jurisdiction . . . to deter-
mine custody only when the disabled adult child at issue has not been
declared incompetent and had a guardian appointed.” McKoy v. McKoy,
202 N.C. App. 509, 515, 689 S.E.2d 590, 594 (2010). In McKoy, we also
held that “the clerk of superior court is the proper forum for determining
custody disputes regarding a person previously adjudicated an incompe-
tent adult and who has been provided a guardian under Chapter 35A.”
Id. at 513, 689 S.E.2d at 593.
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Thus, in the present case, the clerk properly exercised jurisdic-
tion under Chapter 35A to consider the application for guardianship of
Max and Allison, as the children had no natural guardian. The clerk’s
jurisdiction was not divested by the ex parte temporary custody order
already entered by the district court because Chapter 35A contemplates
the clerk giving due consideration of custody awards entered by other
courts. See N.C. Gen. Stat. § 35A-1221(4) (providing that an application
for guardianship is to include a copy of any order awarding custody).
Accordingly, the clerk had jurisdiction to appoint Aunt and her husband
as general guardians for Max and Allison, an incident of which is physical
custody of the children. Thus, any modification of the clerk’s guardian-
ship arrangement, including modification of custody, would “require[]
filing a motion . . . with the clerk under Chapter 35A rather than filing an
action for custody action in district court under Chapter 50.” McKoy, 202
N.C. App. at 511, 689 S.E.2d at 592.

Further, we note that once the clerk of superior court entered the
order awarding general guardianship of Max and Allison to Aunt and her
husband, the Chapter 50 custody action became moot. A final determi-
nation by the district court in Stepmother’s Chapter 50 custody action
would have no practical effect on the controversy regarding custody of
the minor children, as custody was decided as part of the guardianship
proceeding. Roberts v. Madison Cnty. Realtors Ass’n, Inc., 344 N.C. 394,
398-99, 474 S.E.2d 783, 787 (1996) (“A case is ‘moot’ when a determi-
nation is sought on a matter which, when rendered, cannot have any
practical effect on the existing controversy.”). The “proper procedure
for a court to take upon a determination that a case has become moot is
dismissal of the action][.]” Id.

Accordingly, we conclude that the district court properly dismissed
Stepmother’s Chapter 50 custody action.

Our holding today, however, does not affect any jurisdiction the dis-
trict court may have to issue ex parte orders under Chapter 50 for tem-
porary custody arrangements where the conditions of N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 50-13.5(d)(2)-(3) are met.6

AFFIRMED.

Judges BRYANT and STEPHENS concur.

6. We note that Chapter 35A does provide the clerk with authority to enter a
temporary, ex parte custody order when “an emergency exists which threatens [either]
the physical well-being of the ward or constitutes a risk of substantial injury to the ward’s
estate.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 35A-1207.
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DR. ROBERT CORWIN AS TRUSTEE FOR THE BEATRICE CORWIN LIVING
IRREVOCABLE TRUST, oN BEHALF OF A CLASS OF THOSE SIMILARLY SITUATED, PLAINTIFF
V.

BRITISH AMERICAN TOBACCO PLC; REYNOLDS AMERICAN, INC.; SUSAN M.
CAMERON; JOHN P. DALY; NEIL R. WITHINGTON; LUC JOBIN; SIR NICHOLAS
SCHEELE; MARTIN D. FEINSTEIN; RONALD S. ROLFE; RICHARD E. THORNBURGH;
HOLLY K. KOEPPEL; NANA MENSAH; LIONEL L. NOWELL III; JOHN J. ZILLMER; anDp
THOMAS C. WAJNERT, DEFENDANTS

No. COA15-1334
Filed 20 December 2016

1. Corporations—minority shareholder exercising actual con-
trol—controlling shareholder—fiduciary duty
The trial court erred by dismissing plaintiff’s claim against
defendant British American pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6). The amended
complaint alleged facts sufficient, if proven true, to allow for the
reasonable inference that defendant exercised actual control over
the transaction and breached its fiduciary duty to the other share-
holders. A minority shareholder exercising actual control over a
corporation may be deemed a “controlling shareholder” with a con-
comitant fiduciary duty to the other shareholders.

2. Jurisdiction—standing—shareholder—derivative action—
special duty

Plaintiff had standing to bring a direct claim against defendant
British American. Although the general rule in North Carolina is that
a shareholder may not bring suit against third parties except in a
derivative action on behalf of the corporation, there are two excep-
tions to this rule including: (1) defendant owed plaintiff a special duty
or (2) plaintiff suffered an injury separate and distinct from other
shareholders. The amended complaint included allegations sufficient
to support the conclusion that defendant owed a fiduciary duty.

3. Jurisdiction—standing—breach of fiduciary duty—aiding and
abetting

The trial court did not err by dismissing plaintiff’s claim against
defendant board of directors for breach of fiduciary duty. Plaintiff
did not have standing because plaintiff failed to allege facts nec-
essary to establish either exception to the general rule requiring
actions against the directors to be brought derivatively.
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Conspiracy—aiding and abetting—lack of standing—breach
of fiduciary duty

The trial court did not err by dismissing plaintiff’s claim of aid-
ing and abetting a breach of fiduciary duty with respect to defendant
Reynolds. Plaintiff lacked standing to bring the underlying breach of
fiduciary duty claim against defendant board of directors.

Appeal by Plaintiff from Order and Opinion entered 6 August 2015

by Chief Special Superior Court Judge for Complex Business Cases
James L. Gale in Guilford County Superior Court. Heard in the Court of
Appeals 27 April 2016.

Mullins Duncan Harrvell & Russell PLLC, by Alan W. Duncan and
Stephen M. Russell, Jr.; and Block & Leviton LLP, by Jason M.
Leviton, pro hac vice, for Plaintiff-Appellant.

Robinson & Lawing, LLP, by H. Brent Helms; and Cravath, Swaine
& Moore LLP, by Gary A. Bornstein, pro hac vice, for Defendant-
Appellee British American Tobacco p.l.c.

Womble Carlyle Sandridge & Rice, LLP, by Ronald R. Davis,
W. Andrew Copenhaver, and James A. Dean; and Jones Day,
by Robert C. Micheletto, pro hac vice, for Defendant-Appellees,
Reynolds American, Inc., Susan M. Cameron, John P. Daly, Sir
Nicholas Scheele, Martin D. Feinstein, Ronald S. Rolfe, and Neil
R. Withington.

Moore & Van Allen PLLC, by James P. McLoughlin, Jr., Mark A.
Nebrig, and Johnathan M. Watkins, for Defendant-Appellees, Luc
Jobin, Holly K. Koeppel, Nana Mensah, Lionel L. Nowell, Richard
E. Thornburgh, Thomas C. Wagnert, and John J. Zillmer.

INMAN, Judge.

In this case of first impression, reviewing the sufficiency of the

pleadings to state a claim for relief, we hold that a minority shareholder
which owns shares eight times greater than any other shareholder, is the
sole source of equity financing for a transformative corporate transac-
tion, has a contractual right to prohibit the issuance of shares and the
sale of intellectual property necessary for the transaction, and which
pledges support for the transaction contingent on terms more favor-
able to it than to other shareholders may owe a fiduciary duty to other
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shareholders who claim they were harmed by the transaction. We also
hold that claims for diminished share value and diluted voting power, as
alleged in this case, cannot be the basis for a direct claim against a board
of directors.

Dr. Robert Corwin (“Plaintiff”), acting as trustee for the Beatrice
Corwin Living Irrevocable Trust, on behalf of a Class of Shareholders
so similarly situated, appeals from an Order and Opinion in favor
of Defendants—British American Tobacco PLC (“Defendant-
Shareholder” or “BAT” or “British American”) and Reynolds American,
Inc. (“Defendant-Corporation” or “RAI” or “Reynolds”) and Susan M.
Cameron, John P. Daly, Neil R. Withington, Luc Jobin, Sir Nicholas
Scheele, Martin D. Feinstein, Ronald S. Rolfe, Richard E. Thornburgh,
Holly K. Koeppel, Nana Mensah, Lionel L. Nowell III, John J. Zillmer, and
Thomas C. Wajnert (collectively “Defendant-Directors” or “Reynolds
Board of Directors”) dismissing Plaintiff’s claims for breach of a fidu-
ciary duty and aiding and abetting a breach of fiduciary duty.

This appeal presents three issues: (1) whether a minority share-
holder may be a controlling shareholder, and thus, owe a fiduciary duty
to other shareholders; (2) whether a shareholder is permitted to bring
a direct suit against a board of directors for the loss of value and voting
power of the shareholder’s shares; and (3) whether a shareholder may
bring a claim for aiding and abetting a breach of fiduciary duty against a
corporation based on the actions of the corporation’s board of directors.
After careful review, we hold that a minority shareholder may in certain
circumstances control a corporation, and thus, owe the other sharehold-
ers a fiduciary duty. We also hold that Plaintiff does not have standing
to bring a direct suit against the corporation’s board of directors for
his shares’ loss of value and voting power alone. Finally, we hold that
without an underlying claim against the board of directors for a breach
of fiduciary duty, Plaintiff cannot assert a claim of aiding and abetting
for breach of a fiduciary duty against the corporation. Accordingly, we
reverse and remand the trial court’s order in part and affirm the trial
court’s order in part.

Factual and Procedural History

This dispute arises out of a merger (the “Transaction”) between
Reynolds and Lorillard, Inc. (“Lorillard”), funded in part by an equity
financing share purchase by Defendant-Corporation’s largest share-
holder, British American. The following facts are alleged in Plaintiff’s
Amended Complaint and are accepted as true for purposes of our review.
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In 2004, R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Company acquired British American’s
U.S. subsidiary, Brown & Williamson, and formed a successor entity,
Reynolds American Inc., in which British American took a forty-two
percent stake. In connection with this acquisition, British American
and Reynolds adopted a Governance Agreement (the “Governance
Agreement”) on 30 July 2004. The Governance Agreement included a
standstill provision (“the Standstill provision”), which prevented British
American from increasing its percentage ownership in Reynolds for
ten years, until 30 July 2014. The Governance Agreement also limited
British American’s ability to control Reynolds by: (1) permitting British
American to designate no more than five of the thirteen board mem-
bers of Reynolds, (2) requiring British American to vote its shares in
favor of any board candidates selected by a Corporate Governance and
Nominating Committee, comprised solely of non-British American des-
ignees, and (3) requiring non-British American designees to approve
of any entrance into a contract between British American and Reynolds
or any of their subsidiaries. The Governance Agreement also pro-
vided contractual rights to British American, including granting British
American the right to prohibit the sale or transfer of certain intellectual
property, veto amendments to the Articles of Incorporation and By-laws
and adoptions of any takeover defenses, and approve the issuance of
equity securities in an amount of five percent or more of the voting power
of outstanding shares. The Governance Agreement terminates when
British American’s ownership share in Reynolds reaches one-hundred
percent, drops below fifteen percent, or if a third party acquires a major-
ity stake in Reynolds.

In or around September 2012, the Reynolds board of directors,
together with Reynolds senior management, began contemplating a
merger with Lorillard as a means of alternative strategic growth. Before
approaching Lorillard, the president and chief executive officer and a
director of Reynolds met with representatives of British American to
discuss, among other things, the potential merger. On 15 November
2012, Reynolds formally expressed to Lorillard its interest in a merger,
and negotiations ensued.

Throughout the negotiations process, British American insisted that
it would support the Transaction only on terms that would allow it to
maintain its forty-two percent ownership in Reynolds. British American
also insisted—and Reynolds agreed—that neither British American nor
Reynolds would seek to amend the Governance Agreement in connec-
tion with the Transaction. The Standstill provision in the Governance
Agreement was scheduled to expire on 30 July 2014; without changing
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that provision or extending the expiration date, Reynolds ultimately
could not prevent British American from taking control of Reynolds
through the purchase of the remaining fifty-eight percent of Reynolds’s
outstanding shares.

In February 2014, Lorillard expressed concerns over the proposed
terms of the Transaction and sought an additional ownership percentage
for the Lorillard shareholders following the merger. Reynolds directors
not designated by British American (the “Other Directors”) expressed
that any additional equity provided to Lorillard should come from a
reduction of British American’s ownership as opposed to a reduction of
the non-British American shareholders’ ownership. However, the Other
Directors acknowledged that British American’s ownership share would
not be decreased without British American’s consent.

By March 2014, the Lorillard Board of Directors determined the
proposed terms did not reflect a “merger-of-equals,” decided not to pro-
ceed with the Transaction, and terminated the related discussions with
Reynolds. Reynolds senior management then explored the possibility
of acquiring Lorillard at a premium. With British American as the equity
financing source, Reynolds and Lorillard reopened negotiations for
the Transaction.

In July 2014, the Reynolds Board of Directors unanimously approved
the Transaction. Lorillard’s shares were to be purchased for a price per
share of $50.50 in cash, plus 0.2909 shares of Reynolds stock. The cash
portion of the Transaction was financed by the sale of Reynolds stock to
British American at a price of $60.16 per share for a total of approximately
$4.7 billion. This price was $3.02 less than the fair market value of the
shares on the date of approval by the Reynolds Board of Directors. This
sale assured that British American would maintain its forty-two percent
ownership share in the remaining company following the Transaction.

When the Transaction closed in June 2015, Reynolds stock was pub-
licly trading at $72 per share, or $11.84 greater per share than the price
British American paid for its additional stock as part of the Transaction.
The post-closing value constituted a profit of approximately $920 million
for British American, a profit no other shareholder enjoyed.

Plaintiff filed suit in August 2014 in Guilford County Superior Court,
just after the Reynolds Board of Directors approved the Transaction.
The case was assigned to the North Carolina Business Court (“trial
court”) with Chief Special Superior Court Judge for Complex Business
Cases James L. Gale presiding. Following Reynolds’s filing of a Form S-4
(the “Proxy Statement”) with the Securities and Exchange Commission
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describing the Transaction, Plaintiff filed its First Amended Class Action
Complaint (“Amended Complaint”), which is the operative pleading at
issue on appeal.

The Amended Complaint alleged two theories seeking relief,
“Fairness Claims” and “Disclosure Claims.” The Fairness Claims alleged
that British American and Defendant-Directors breached their fiduciary
duties to the Public Shareholders, and the Disclosure Claims alleged
that Defendant-Directors breached their duties of candor by failing to
disclose certain material facts in the Proxy Statement. The Fairness
Claims also included an aiding and abetting a breach of fiduciary duty
claim against Reynolds for the actions of Defendant-Directors.

In December 2014, Defendants moved to dismiss the case pursuant
to Rule 12(b)(6) of the North Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. The par-
ties settled the Disclosure Claims in a Memorandum of Understanding
filed in January 2015. However, the Fairness Claims remained pending.

Following a hearing, in an Order and Opinion entered 6 August 2015,
the trial court dismissed Plaintiff’s Fairness Claims. The trial court held
that (1) the Amended Complaint did not sufficiently plead facts necessary
to establish British American as a controlling shareholder, and conse-
quently did not sufficiently plead that British American owed a fiduciary
duty to the other shareholders; (2) regardless of whether Plaintiff had
standing to bring a direct suit against Defendant-Directors, Plaintiff’s
Amended Complaint failed to overcome the Business Judgment Rule
and therefore the claim against Defendant-Directors did not survive; and
(3) because the underlying fiduciary duty claims had been dismissed, the
aiding and abetting claim against Reynolds necessarily failed.

Plaintiff timely appealed.
Analysis

Plaintiff contends that the trial court erred in granting Defendants’
motions to dismiss under Rules 12(b)(1) and 12(b)(6) for lack of stand-
ing and failure to state a claim upon which relief may be granted. After
careful examination of the Amended Complaint and documents incor-
porated therein, we reverse the trial court’s order dismissing Plaintiff’s
claim against British American and affirm the trial court’s dismissal of
Plaintiff’s remaining claims.

A. Standard of Review

The standard of review of an order granting a 12(b)(6)
motion is whether the complaint states a claim for which
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relief can be granted under some legal theory when the
complaint is liberally construed and all the allegations
included therein are taken as true. On a motion to dismiss,
the complaint’s material factual allegations are taken as
true. Legal conclusions, however, are not entitled to a pre-
sumption of validity. Dismissal is proper when one of the
following three conditions is satisfied: (1) the complaint on
its face reveals that no law supports the plaintiff’s claim; (2)
the complaint on its face reveals the absence of facts suf-
ficient to make a good claim; or (3) the complaint discloses
some fact that necessarily defeats the plaintiff’s claim.

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Corneal, 238 N.C. App. 192, 195, 767 S.E.2d
374, 377 (2014) (quoting Guyton v. FM Lending Servs., Inc., 199 N.C.
App. 30, 33, 681 S.E.2d 465, 469 (2009)). We review the pleadings de novo
to determine whether Plaintiff has stated a claim for which relief can
be granted. Burgin v. Owen, 181 N.C. App. 511, 512, 640 S.E.2d 427, 429
(2007) (citation omitted).

Included in the pleadings reviewed for purposes of deciding a
motion to dismiss are documents attached to and incorporated by refer-
ence in the plaintiff’s complaint. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 10(c) (2015)
(“A copy of any written instrument which is an exhibit to a pleading is
a part thereof for all purposes.”). In this case, incorporated documents
include the Governance Agreement and the Proxy Statement. Central to
the parties’ dispute is the interpretation of these documents.

B. Minority Shareholder Liability
1. Controlling Shareholder

[1] Plaintiff’s claim raises an issue of first impression in North Carolina:
whether and under what circumstances a minority shareholder can be
classified as a “controlling shareholder” owing a fiduciary duty to other
shareholders.] We hold that a minority shareholder exercising actual
control over a corporation may be deemed a “controlling shareholder”
with a concomitant fiduciary duty to the other shareholders.

In North Carolina, an individual shareholder generally does not
owe a fiduciary duty to the corporation or to the other shareholders.
Freesev. Smith, 110 N.C. App. 28, 37, 428 S.E.2d 841, 847 (1993) (citation

1. Neither party challenges the application of North Carolina law.
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omitted). “An exception to this rule is that a controlling shareholder
owes a fiduciary duty to minority shareholders.” Kaplan v. O.K. Techs.,
LLC, 196 N.C. App. 469, 473, 675 S.E.2d 133, 137 (2009) (citation omit-
ted) (comparing members of a limited liability company to shareholders
of a corporation); Freese, 110 N.C. App. at 37, 428 S.E.2d at 847 (“[I]t is
well established that a controlling shareholder owes a fiduciary duty to
minority shareholders.”).

North Carolina courts have held that shareholders owning a control-
ling number of shares in a corporation owe a special duty to other share-
holders in the same corporation. In Gaines v. Long Mfg. Co., 234 N.C.
340, 67 S.E.2d 350 (1951), the North Carolina Supreme Court upheld a
minority shareholder’s ability to sue majority shareholders for breach
of a fiduciary duty arising from a disputed corporate transaction. The
court explained:

The holders of the majority of the stock of a corporation
have the power, by the election of directors and by the vote
of their stock, to do everything that the corporation can
do. Their power to . . . direct the action of the corporation
places them in its shoes and constitutes them the actual, if
not the technical, trustees for the holders of the minority
of the stock. . . . It is the fact of control of the common
property held and exercised, and not the particular means
by which or manner in which the control is exercised, that
creates the fiduciary obligation on the part of the majority
stockholders in a corporation for the minority holders.

Gaines, 234 N.C. at 344-45, 67 S.E.2d at 353-54 (first alteration in origi-
nal) (quoting Am. Jur., Corporations, sections 422 and 423, pp 474-76)
(emphasis added).

Gaines relied on a North Carolina Supreme Court decision hold-
ing: “ ‘the directors of these corporate bodies are to be considered and
dealt with as trustees in respect to their corporate management, and []
this same principle has been applied to a majority, or other controlling
number, of stockholders in reference to the rights of the minority . . .
when they are as a body in the exercise of this control, in the manage-
ment and direction of corporate affairs . ... ” Id. at 345, 67 S.E.2d at 353
(emphasis added) (quoting White v. Kincaid, 149 N.C. 415, 63 S.E. 109,
111 (1908)). The Court in White reasoned that a fiduciary duty arises
when a “controlling number of stockholders are exercising their author-
ity in dictating the action of the directors, thereby causing a breach of
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fiduciary duty.” White, 149 N.C. at 420, 63 S.E.2d at 111 (internal quota-
tion marks omitted).2

Our courts have not previously classified a numerical minority
shareholder, acting alone in either a closely held or publicly traded
company, as a “controlling shareholder” for the purpose of imposing
a fiduciary duty. However, this Court has held that individual minority
shareholders working in concert as a majority to exercise control over
a corporation to the detriment of the other shareholders could be held
liable as fiduciaries. Loy v. Lorm Corp., 52 N.C. App. 428, 278 S.E.2d 897
(1981). In Loy, this Court held the trial court erred in directing a verdict
for the defendants—three shareholders with an aggregate seventy-five
percent interest in a corporation—who were sued by the fourth share-
holder after transferring corporate assets to another corporation owned
solely by the defendants themselves. Id. at 435, 278 S.E.2d at 902-03. The
court in Loy looked beyond the percentage of shares owned by each of
the three defendants to consider the control each of them derived from
their concerted action. Id.

No North Carolina appellate court decision or statute has deter-
mined if and when a single minority shareholder can become a “control-
ling shareholder” with an accompanying fiduciary duty. So we consider
other authorities.

North Carolina courts often look to Delaware courts for guidance
regarding unsettled business law issues. Energy Investors Fund, L.P.
v. Metric Constructors, Inc., 351 N.C. 331, 334, 525 S.E.2d 441, 443 (2000)
(following Delaware courts’ proposition “that shareholders and lim-
ited partners hold similar positions within their respective entities[]”);
FEhrenhaus v. Baker, 216 N.C. App. 59, 88, 717 S.E.2d 9, 28 (2011) (find-
ing “the Delaware courts’ articulation of the non-disclosure principle
persuasive[,]” and adopting this articulated principle in North Carolina).

Delaware decisional law allows a minority shareholder who exer-
cises actual control over a corporation or a corporation’s affairs to be
classified as a “controlling shareholder.” However, this law includes the
rebuttable presumption that a minority shareholder does not control

2. Before it was incorporated in Gaines, the holding in White was dicta, because the
court in White, reviewing an order restraining the dissolution of the defendant corpora-
tion, concluded that the plaintiff had failed to produce evidence sufficient to support his
claim. White, 149 N.C. at 422-23, 63 S.E. at 111.
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a corporation or a challenged corporate transaction. “[A] shareholder
who owns less than [fifty percent] of a corporation’s outstanding stocks
does not, without more, become a controlling shareholder of that cor-
poration, with a concomitant fiduciary status.” Citron v. Fairchild
Camera and Instrument Corp., 569 A.2d 53, 70 (Del. 1989) (first altera-
tion in original) (emphasis added) (internal quotation marks and cita-
tions omitted). It therefore becomes necessary for the plaintiff to “allege
domination by a minority shareholder through actual control of corpo-
rate conduct.” Id.; see also Kahn v. Lynch Commc’n Systems, Inc., 638
A.2d 1110, 1115 (Del. 1994) (holding that a minority shareholder with an
approximate forty-three percent interest in a company exercised con-
trol sufficient to impose a fiduciary duty).

When determining if a shareholder has exercised control over a
corporation, our courts and Delaware courts have considered, among
other things, the shareholder’s percentage of voting shares, the relation-
ship between the shareholder and the corporation, the shareholder’s
ability to appoint directors, and the shareholder’s ability to affect the
outcome of particular transactions. See, e.g., Kaplan, 196 N.C. App. at
473, 675 S.E.2d at 137; Kahn, 638 A.2d at 1113-15; and Williams v. Cox
Commcens, Inc., 2006 Del. Ch. LEXIS 111 *1, *22 (Del. Ch. June 5,
2006). The plaintiff in Kahn appealed from a final judgment in which
the Delaware Chancery Court concluded a minority shareholder owed
a fiduciary duty to the plaintiff, but that the evidence did not demon-
strate that the defendant breached this duty. Kahn, 638 A.2d at 1111-12.
The Delaware Supreme Court, affirming the Chancery Court, held that
a minority shareholder whose designated director told the other board
members that “[yJou must listen to us. We are 43 percent owner. You
have to do what we tell you[,]” and persuaded the board members to
abandon their opposing votes in a “watershed vote,” was a controlling
shareholder who owed a fiduciary duty to the other shareholders. Id. at
1114 (first alteration in original).

A review of secondary authorities supports treating a minority
shareholder as a “controlling shareholder” under certain circumstances.
Black’s Law Dictionary defines a controlling shareholder as “[a] share-
holder who can influence the corporation’s activities because the
shareholder either owns a majority of outstanding shares or owns a
smaller percentage but a significant number of the remaining shares
are widely distributed among many others.” Black’s Law Dictionary
1586 (10th ed. 2014) (emphasis added). The American Law Institute, in
its Principles of Corporate Governance, applies the following definition:
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(a) A “controlling shareholder” means a person
[§ 1.28] who, either alone or pursuant to an arrangement
or understanding with one or more persons:

(1) Owns and has the power to vote more than
50 percent of the outstanding voting equity securities
[§ 1.40] of a corporation; or

(2) Otherwise exercises a controlling influence
over the management or policies of the corporation
or the transaction or conduct in question by virtue
of the person’s position as a shareholder.

(b) A person who, either alone or pursuant to an
arrangement or understanding with one or more other
persons, owns or has the power to vote more than
25 percent of the outstanding voting equity securities of
a corporation is presumed to exercise a controlling influ-
ence over the management or policies of the corporation,
unless some other person, either alone or pursuant to an
arrangement or understanding with one or more other
persons, owns or has the power to vote a greater percent-
age of the voting equity securities. A person who does not,
either alone or pursuant to an arrangement with one or
more other persons, own or have the power to vote more
than 25 percent of the outstanding voting equity securities
of a corporation is not presumed to be in control of the
corporation by virtue solely of ownership of or power to
vote voting equity securities.

American Law Institute, Principles of Corporate Governance § 1.10
(1994) (emphasis added). We note that the American Law Institute
applies the presumption of control at a lower threshold, .e., when a
shareholder owns twenty-five percent of the corporation. Id. This is
in contrast to our precedents and the decisions by Delaware courts in
which control is presumed only where the shareholder holds a numeri-
cal majority interest.

Defendants argue that Gaines and our other precedents support the
bright line rule that a “controlling shareholder” must have a numeri-
cal majority of the outstanding shares. However, these decisions
hold only that a majority shareholder is presumed to be a “control-
ling shareholder.” See Gaines, 234 N.C. at 344-45, 67 S.E.2d at 353-54;
Kaplan, 196 N.C. App. at 473-74, 675 S.E.2d at 137. We find persuasive



56 IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

CORWIN v. BRITISH AM. TOBACCO PLC
[251 N.C. App. 45 (2016)]

Delaware’s rule that a minority shareholder exercising actual control
over a corporation or a corporation’s affairs may be classified as a
“controlling shareholder.”

At the pleading stage, we must accept as true all of Plaintiff’s allega-
tions without regard to whether Plaintiff can produce evidence to sup-
port those allegations. But we begin with the general presumption that a
minority shareholder is not in control of a corporation’s conduct. Cirton,
569 A.2d at 70; see Kaplan, 196 N.C. App. at 473-74, 675 S.E.2d at 137,
Freese, 110 N.C. App. at 37-38, 428 S.E.2d at 847-48. This presumption
may be rebutted if a plaintiff alleges facts from which it is reasonable
to infer that a minority shareholder exercised actual control over the
corporation’s actions. Kahn, 638 A.2d at 1113-14; see Gaines, 234 N.C. at
344-45, 67 S.E.2d at 353-64; White, 149 N.C. at 420, 63 S.E.2d at 111.

When tested by a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), a
plaintiff’s complaint for a claim based upon shareholder liability must
allege specific facts demonstrating or allowing for the reasonable infer-
ence of actual control by that shareholder. “The bare conclusory alle-
gation that a minority stockholder possessed control is insufficient.
Rather, the Complaint must contain well-pled facts allowing for a rea-
sonable inference that the minority stockholder ‘exercised actual domi-
nation and control over . . . [the] directors.” ” In re Morton’s Restaurant
Grp., Inc., 74 A.3d 656, 664-65 (Del. Ch. 2013) (alterations in original)
(citations omitted).

Plaintiff argues that the Amended Complaint is not subject to dis-
missal because it alleges a “nexus of facts” that allows for a reason-
able inference of corporate control by British American. Plaintiff relies
on Williams v. Cox Commece’ns, Inc., 2006 Del. Ch. LEXIS 111 *1, *22
(Del. Ch. June 5, 2006), an unpublished decision by the Chancery Court
of Delaware, to support the “nexus of facts” standard. The court in
Williams noted that with respect to claims alleging wrongful control
by corporate shareholders, the line between whether certain actions
amount to influence or control “is highly contextualized and is difficult
to resolve based solely on the complaints[,]” and that while “[n]o single
allegation in [the] plaintiff’s complaint is sufficient on its own . . . [t]he
complaint succeeds because it pleads a nexus of facts all suggesting that
the [defendants] were in a controlling position and that they exploited
that control for their own benefit.” Id. at *23-24. This Court and the
North Carolina Supreme Court routinely dismiss the precedential value
of unpublished decisions. But absent any North Carolina precedent on
the issue, we find the analysis in Williams helpful. We likewise agree
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that a complaint alleging minority shareholder liability should survive
a 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss if it pleads a “nexus of facts” allowing for a
reasonable inference that the minority shareholder exercised actual
control over material corporate affairs.

2. Sufficiency of the Pleadings

After careful review of the Amended Complaint and all inferences
that may be drawn from its allegations, we hold that Plaintiff has pleaded
facts sufficient to allow for a reasonable inference that British American
exercised actual control over the Transaction and thus owed a fiduciary
duty to Plaintiff.

To plead most civil claims in North Carolina, a complaint must con-
tain “[a] short and plain statement of the claim sufficiently particular to
give the court and the parties notice of the transactions, occurrences,
or series of transactions or occurrences, intended to be proved showing
that the pleader is entitled to relief[.]” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 8(a)(1)
(2015). “Thus, a complaint is sufficient where no insurmountable bar
to recovery appears on the face of the complaint and the complaint’s
allegations give adequate notice of the nature and extent of the claim.”
Pastva v. Naegele Outdoor Advers., Inc., 121 N.C. App. 656, 659, 468
S.E.2d 491, 493 (1996) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

The purpose behind this pleading standard, generally referred to
as notice pleading, “is to resolve controversies on the merits, after an
opportunity for discovery, instead of resolving them based on the tech-
nicalities of pleadings.” Ellison v. Ramos, 130 N.C. App. 389, 395, 502
S.E.2d 891, 895 (1998) (citation omitted). Therefore, “[p]leadings must
be liberally construed to do substantial justice, and must be fatally defec-
tive before they may be rejected as insufficient.” Fournier v. Haywood
Cnty. Hosp., 95 N.C. App. 652, 654, 383 S.E.2d 227, 228-29 (1989) (citing
Smith v. N.C. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co., 84 N.C. App. 120, 123, 351
S.E.2d 774, 776 (1987)).

The North Carolina legislature has designated several matters in
which heightened pleading requirements must be met. N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 1A-1, Rule 9 (2015). These matters include, among others, claims
asserting capacity, fraud, duress, mistake, and libel and slander. Id. For
these delineated situations, the legislature sought to provide guidance in
areas “which have traditionally caused trouble when no codified direc-
tive existed.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 9 N.C. cmt. (2015). Absent a
specific designation by statute or precedent, we see no reason to adopt
a stricter pleading standard for suits against minority shareholders for a
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breach of a fiduciary duty. North Carolina’s pleading standard requires
a plaintiff to plead facts sufficient to overcome the presumption that a
minority shareholder is not in control of a corporation’s conduct. A com-
plaint against a minority shareholder must therefore allege facts from
which a trier of fact could reasonably infer that the minority shareholder
exercised actual control over the corporation.

To survive a 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, a complaint for breach of
fiduciary duty claim must allege, in addition to the existence of a fidu-
ciary relationship, a breach of that duty. Toomer v. Branch Banking
& Trust Co., 171 N.C. App. 58, 70, 614 S.E.2d 328, 337 (2005) (internal
quotation marks and citations omitted) (“To state a claim for breach of
fiduciary duty, a plaintiff must allege that a fiduciary relationship existed
and that the fiduciary failed to act in good faith and with due regard to
[the] [plaintiff’s] interests.”) (second alteration in original).

a. Limitations Preventing British American from
Controlling Reynolds

Defendants argue that Plaintiff’'s Amended Complaint disclosed
facts that necessarily defeated his claim—the limitations on British
American’s control of Reynolds contained within the Governance
Agreement. The Governance Agreement provides, inter alia:

e British American has the right to designate only five of the thir-
teen directors on the Reynolds Board of Directors, with the number
of directors designated by British American decreasing incremen-
tally if British American’s ownership drops below certain thresholds.
Additionally, three of the directors designated by British American
must be independent as defined by the rules of the New York
Stock Exchange.

e With respect to the eight directors which it cannot designate,
British American must vote all of its shares in favor of any Board
of Director candidates selected by a committee comprised solely of
directors not designated by British American.

* A majority of the directors not designated by British American must
approve Reynolds’s entrance into any contract involving Reynolds
and its subsidiaries and British American and its subsidiaries.

e The Standstill provision prevented British American from purchas-
ing additional shares in Reynolds until 30 July 2014.
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b. Circumstances Allowing British American to
Control Reynolds

Plaintiff asserts that events and circumstances surrounding the
Transaction, including those described in the Proxy Statement, allowed
British American to exercise actual control over the Transaction not-
withstanding the terms of the Governance Agreement. Plaintiff cites the
following allegations to support this assertion: (1) British American’s
outsized shareholding constituted a de facto veto power over any mat-
ter put to a shareholder vote—British American owned a forty-two per-
cent stake of the voting shares, while the next largest block was five
percent; (2) the Governance Agreement’s granting to British American
“veto power,” in the form of contractual rights to prohibit the issuance
of shares and the divestment of intellectual property necessary for
the Transaction; (3) deal terms allowing British American to profit at the
expense of—and to the exclusion of—the non-British American share-
holders; and (4) the failure by the Other Directors to counter British
American’s control over the Transaction.

Our review has identified the following specific facts alleged or con-
tained in the Governance Agreement or Proxy Statement from which
a reasonable trier of fact could infer that British American exercised
actual control over Reynolds with respect to the Transaction:

e In late 2012, the Reynolds Board of Directors considered a merger
with Lorillard. Representatives of British American “expressed their
support, on behalf of BAT as an RAI shareholder, for approaching
Lorillard with an indication of interest.”

e With the support of British American, Reynolds approached
Lorillard and discussions between the two corporations ensued.

e In January 2013, British American’s representatives reiterated,
in discussions with the Reynolds Board of Directors, British
American’s support for the Transaction conditioned upon deal
terms including British American maintaining its forty-two percent
ownership of the surviving company following the merger.

BAT’s representatives also stated that decisions as to
whether and how to pursue a business combination
between RAI and Lorillard were to be made by the RAI
board of directors, but that BAT, in its capacity as a
substantial financing source and holder of contractual
approval rights, would cooperate with combining the
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companies only on transactional terms and with an execu-
tion strategy of which it approved.

Negotiations between Reynolds, Lorillard, and British American
continued throughout the following months. Included among the
negotiated terms was, “at the insistence of BAT, that neither BAT
nor RAI would seek any changes in the governance agreement in
connection with the possible acquisition of Lorillard.”

On 18 January 2014, the Reynolds Board of Directors met with,
among others, representatives of Lazard, Reynold’s financial advi-
sors. “A representative of Lazard . . . introduce[ed] an alternative
approach [to the Transaction] in which cash available as consid-
eration would be distributed on a pro rata basis to Lorillard share-
holders and to RAI shareholders other than BAT.” The Lazard
representatives also reported on discussions between

[Reynolds] management and Lazard, on the one hand, and
BAT and its financial advisors, on the other, during which
the parties discussed potential solutions that would be
in the best interests of RAI shareholders other than BAT and
continue to meet the objectives of both Lorillard and BAT.
These discussions included the possibility that BAT and/or
RAI shareholders other than BAT could have decreased
post-closing ownership interest in the combined company.

Following this meeting, the Other Directors discussed with
Reynolds’s outside legal advisors their fiduciary duties.

The Other Directors reached a consensus “that RAI shareholders
other than BAT should receive at least 30% of the equity owner-
ship of the combined company and receive a pro rata portion of the
cash distribution.” The Other Directors also discussed the need to
engage independent legal counsel.

During a meeting on 12 February 2014 between the Other Directors
and legal and financial advisers for Reynolds as well as independent
counsel for the Other Directors, “[t]here was extensive discussion
regarding the consideration to be received by RAI shareholders
other than BAT and BAT’s willingness to move from its initial posi-
tion regarding post-transaction equity ownership.”

On 18 February 2014, the Reynolds Board of Directors discussed
a counter-proposal by Lorillard seeking a higher percentage of
post-transaction ownership. “The Other Directors considered the
impact of increased ownership for Lorillard shareholders on RAI
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shareholders other than BAT[,]” and “expressed their preference
that any additional equity to Lorillard shareholders come from
decreased ownership by BAT.”

By 20 February 2014, British American indicated, consistent with
its earlier position that it “was not prepared to extend the standstill
covenant in the governance agreement in connection with the pro-
posed business combination transaction . . ..”

On 13 March 2014, the Lorillard Board of Directors, fearing the
Transaction was not a “merger-of-equals,” determined not to pro-
ceed and terminated discussions.

Reynolds’s senior management then considered acquiring Lorillard
at a premium—:¢.e., purchasing Lorillard—as opposed to the pre-
vious “merger-of-equals” approach. Reynolds’s Board of Directors
began discussions with Lazard and Lorillard concerning this newly
structured approach to the Transaction. This Transaction was to
be funded by equity financing from British American, by which
British American would purchase Reynolds shares and maintain
its forty-two percent interest in the remaining company following
the acquisition.

On 17 June 2014, Jones Day—Ilegal counsel for Reynolds—received
a draft subscription and support agreement from British American
proposing the terms of equity financing for the new Transaction. In
the subscription and support agreement, British American pledged
to vote its shares in favor of the Transaction, regardless of whether
the Reynolds Board of Directors recommended proceeding
with the Transaction.

On 2 July 2014, Moore & Van Allen—independent legal counsel
for the Other Directors—reviewed the proposed subscription and
support agreement. Moore & Van Allen “requested that BAT’s draft
provision for an unconditional commitment to vote the shares of
RAI common stock it beneficially owned in favor of the transaction
(regardless of any change in recommendation of the RAI board of
directors) be deleted.”

On b5 July 2014, Representatives of Lorillard notified Jones Day

that Lorillard was insistent, as a condition of proceeding,
on having a commitment from BAT to vote the shares of
RAI common stock it beneficially owned in favor of the
transaction even if the RAI board of directors changed its
recommendation of the transaction. [BAT’s legal counsel]
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advised Jones Day that BAT would consider this demand
but would not give such a commitment over the objections
ofthe Other Directors. The Other Directors agreed to accept
that commitment.

The Proxy Statement does not provide any explanation regarding
how or why the Other Directors determined to depart from the
advice of their independent legal counsel in this respect.

e  On9 July 2014, “several news media speculated that BAT was seek-
ing to acquire the remaining outstanding shares of RAI common
stock that it did not currently own.”

e On 14 July 2014, the Reynolds Board of Directors unanimously
approved the Transaction.

The information summarized above is but a drop in the bucket of
the detailed financial and historical data included within the Proxy
Statement and endemic to corporate mergers and acquisitions. A mul-
titude of inferences can be drawn from this information. However, our
task is to consider whether the facts alleged allow for any reasonable
inference that can support Plaintiff’s claim.

When reviewing a 12(b)(6) motion, “the complaint must be liber-
ally construed and should not be dismissed for insufficiency unless it
appears to a certainty that the plaintiff is entitled to no relief under any
state of facts which could be proved in support of the claim.” Zenobile
v. McKecuen, 144 N.C. App. 104, 110, 548 S.E.2d 756, 760 (2001). Plaintiff’s
Amended Complaint alleged facts that support the reasonable inference
that British American exercised actual control over Reynolds’s Board
of Directors’ approval of the Transaction, despite the restrictions of the
Governance Agreement.

This is a close case, even under the liberal standard of notice plead-
ing. We acknowledge that one reasonable inference to be drawn from
the events and circumstances is that the Other Directors believed
that the Transaction was valuable enough to all shareholders that it
was worth proceeding even on terms that disproportionately enriched
British American. Another reasonable inference could be that the Other
Directors did not seek funding for the Transaction from any other source
because they had investigated prospects and determined that funding
on the same or better terms was not available elsewhere. It is also rea-
sonable to infer that British American earned the increased value of
the shares it purchased by incurring the financial risk inherent in the
Transaction, a risk not incurred by other shareholders. However, these
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possible inferences do not preclude other reasonable inferences that
support Plaintiff’s claim that British American was a controlling share-
holder with an accompanying fiduciary duty.

Defendants note that the strategic advantages British American
enjoyed, such as its role as equity financer of the Transaction, have been
dismissed by our courts as insufficient to establish a fiduciary duty.
Kaplan, 196 N.C. App. at 474-77, 675 S.E.2d at 137-39 (holding that the
plaintiff did not allege sufficient control of a limited liability company by
a forty-one percent owner who was the company’s sole source of financ-
ing). Defendants also argue that British American’s contractual rights
to prohibit the issuance of shares and transfer of intellectual property
necessary to complete the Transaction do not constitute control. See
Superior Vision Servs. v. ReliaStar Life Ins. Co., 2006 Del. Ch. LEXIS
160 *1, *19-20 (Del. Ch. Aug. 25, 2006) (holding the defendant’s exercise
of its contractual right to prevent the distribution of dividends did not ren-
der it a “controlling shareholder” with an accompanying fiduciary duty).
But unlike the facts alleged in any of the cases relied upon by Defendants,
Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint alleged a combination of facts which in
the aggregate support a reasonable inference of actual control.

Defendants urge us to follow the Delaware Chancery Court’s deci-
sion in Thermopylae Capital Partners, L.P. v. Simbol, Inc., 2016 Del. Ch.
LEXIS 15 *1 (Del. Ch. Jan. 29, 2016), which distinguished potential con-
trol from actual control and held that potential control is insufficient to
impose a fiduciary duty. In Thermopylae, the plaintiff’s complaint failed
to allege “the number of directors at the time of the transaction, their
identity, facts showing control by [the defendant], and details regarding
the terms of the transaction itself[.]” Id. at *44-45. In contrast, Plaintiff’s
Amended Complaint alleges detailed facts, which we hold allow for the
reasonable inference that British American exercised actual control
over the Transaction.

Defendants also contrast the circumstantial allegations in this case
with more explicit facts shown in cases upholding controlling share-
holder liability. For example, Plaintiff has not alleged that any director
designated by British American told other directors, “[yJou have to do
what we tell you.” Cf. Kahn, 638 A.2d at 1114. However, the lack of more
explicit facts at the pleading stage, before a plaintiff can obtain discov-
ery, is not fatal if less than explicit facts allow for a reasonable inference
of the essential elements of the claim.

Here, Plaintiff’s allegations allow for a reasonable inference that
the Other Directors agreed to the terms of the Transaction dictated by
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British American at the expense of other shareholders in order to avoid
the risk of a corporate takeover by British American. The Amended
Complaint alleged not only that British American conditioned its support
for the Transaction on terms disfavoring the other shareholders, but that
the Other Directors capitulated to British American’s terms against the
advice of their independent legal counsel. The aggregate of these alle-
gations along with the size of British American’s shareholding, British
American’s contractual rights under the Governance Agreement, the
impending expiration of the Standstill provision, and the lack of expla-
nation surrounding the Other Director’s decision to abandon advice by
their independent legal counsel allows for the reasonable inference of
actual control.

We conclude these allegations comprise a sufficient nexus of facts
from which it is reasonable to infer that British American exercised
actual control over the Transaction and the actions taken by the Other
Directors. Therefore, Plaintiff has sufficiently pleaded that British
American is a controlling shareholder with a concomitant fiduciary duty
owed to Plaintiff, as a non-British American minority shareholder.

Having established that the Amended Complaint alleged facts suf-
ficient to support the reasonable inference that British American owed
a fiduciary duty to Plaintiff, we next consider whether the Amended
Complaint includes allegations sufficient to establish, for the purposes
of withstanding a 12(b)(6) challenge, that British American breached
this duty and did not act in good faith with regard to Plaintiff’s interests.
We hold it does.

The relevant facts alleged include: conflicts of interests between
British American and the non-British American shareholders noted by
Reynolds’s Board of Directors, the Other Directors’ failure to obtain out-
side financial advice to resolve the conflicts, British American’s potential
pressuring of the Other Directors to act contrary to the interests of the
non-British American shareholders, and British American’s purchase of
Reynolds stock below the fair market value on the closing date of the
Transaction. These facts allow for a reasonable inference that British
American breached its fiduciary duty to the other shareholders by acting
contrary to their interest for its own pecuniary gain.

We conclude that Plaintiff alleged a nexus of facts that permits the
reasonable inference that British American controlled the conduct of
Reynolds for its pecuniary benefit to the detriment of the other share-
holders. We do not hold that Plaintiff has presented evidence sufficient
to prove that British American was a controlling shareholder, to prove
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that British American breached a fiduciary duty, or even sufficient to
raise disputed issues of fact in this regard. We simply hold the Amended
Complaint alleges facts sufficient, if proven true, to allow for the reason-
able inference that British American exercised actual control over the
Transaction and breached its fiduciary duty to the other shareholders.
Whether Plaintiff is able to produce evidence necessary to support his
claims is a question to be answered after discovery.

Accordingly, we reverse the trial court’s dismissal of Plaintiff’s claim
against British American pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6).

3. Standing

[2] The general rule in North Carolina is that a shareholder may not
bring suit against third parties except in a derivative action on behalf of
the corporation. Barger v. McCoy Hillard & Parks, 346 N.C. 650, 658,
488 S.E.2d 215, 219 (1997). There are two exceptions to this rule: when
a plaintiff can show either (1) the defendant owed the plaintiff a special
duty, or (2) the plaintiff suffered an injury separate and distinct from
other shareholders. Barger, 346 N.C. at 658-59, 488 S.E.2d at 219-20. A
fiduciary duty may constitute a “special duty” when owed directly to a
party. See id. at 658-59, 488 S.E.2d at 220.

Here, Plaintiff’s standing to bring a direct claim against British
American turns on whether Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint has alleged a
special duty and thus a claim for relief. Because the Amended Complaint
included allegations sufficient to support the conclusion that British
American owed a fiduciary duty, Plaintiff has standing to bring a direct
claim against British American.

C. Claims against Boards of Directors

[3] Plaintiff next contends the trial court erred by dismissing his claim
against Defendant-Directors for breach of fiduciary duty. The trial court
did not determine whether Plaintiff had standing to sue Defendant-
Directors, but instead dismissed Plaintiff’s claims on the merits. We hold
that Plaintiff does not have standing and therefore affirm the trial court’s
dismissal on this alternative ground.

“The well-established general rule is that shareholders cannot purse
individual causes of action against third parties for wrongs or injuries to
the corporation that result in the diminution or destruction of the value
of their stock.” Barger, 346 N.C. at 658, 488 S.E.2d at 219 (citations omit-
ted). Such third parties include the directors of a corporation. See Green
v. Freeman, 367 N.C. 136, 141, 749 S.E.2d 262, 268 (2013). “The General
Assembly has expressly indicated its intent ‘to avoid an interpretation
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[of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 55-8-30] . . . that would give shareholders a direct
right of action on claims that should be asserted derivatively’ and to
avoid giving creditors a generalized fiduciary claim.” Id. (quoting N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 55-8-30 N.C. cmt. (2011)). Two exceptions to this rule allow
shareholders to bring direct actions against either a third party or the
directors: (1) “if the shareholder can show that the wrongdoer owed
him a special duty or [(2)] that the injury suffered by the shareholder is
separate and distinct from the injury sustained by the other sharehold-
ers or the corporation itself.” Barger, 346 N.C. at 6568-59, 488 S.E.2d at
219 (citations omitted).

To establish the first exception, a plaintiff “must allege facts from
which it may be inferred that defendants owed plaintiffs a special
duty. The special duty may arise from contract or otherwise.” Id. at
659, 488 S.E.2d at 220 (citation omitted). The North Carolina Supreme
Court has recognized as illustrative of a special duty, “when a party
violate[s] its fiduciary duty to the shareholder.” Id. (citing FTD Corp.
v. Banker’s Trust Co., 954 F. Supp. 106, 109 (S.D.N.Y. 1997)). However,
North Carolina has established that a director’s fiduciary duty is owed
to the corporation itself and not to the shareholders individually. Estate
of Browne v. Thompson, 219 N.C. App. 637, 640-41, 727 S.E.2d 573, 576
(2012). Because the legislature intended shareholders to bring deriva-
tive actions, as opposed to direct actions, and a directors’ fiduciary duty
is to the corporation generally and not the shareholder individually, a
shareholder’s action against a director should be brought derivatively
unless he or she can allege facts that the director owed him or her a
special duty beyond that of the general fiduciary duty to the corpora-
tion. Barger, 346 N.C. at 660, 488 S.E.2d at 220 (“Plaintiffs have alleged
no facts from which it may be inferred that defendants owed plaintiffs
in their capacities as shareholders a duty that was personal to them and
distinct from the duty defendants owed the corporation.”).

Under the second exception, a plaintiff must “present evidence
that they suffered an injury peculiar or personal to themselves.” Green,
367 N.C. at 144, 749 S.E.2d at 269 (citing Barger, 346 N.C. at 661, 488
S.E.2d at 221). “An injury is peculiar or personal to the shareholder if ‘a
legal basis exists to support plaintiffs’ allegations of an individual loss,
separate and distinct from any damage suffered by the corporation.” ”
Barger, 346 N.C. at 6569, 488 S.E.2d at 220 (quoting Howell v. Fisher, 49
N.C. App. 488, 492, 272 S.E.2d 19, 23 (1980)). The general diminution of
stock value is not considered an injury “peculiar or personal” as it is felt
by the corporation itself. Green, 367 N.C. at 144, 749 S.E.2d at 269 (“The
loss of an investment is identical to the injury suffered by the corporate
entity as a whole.”) (internal quotations and citations omitted).
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Here, Plaintiff asserts standing to bring his claim against Defendant-
Directors under the second exception. Plaintiff frames his injuries
as the inadequate compensation for the stock sold to British American
and the dilution of voting power that resulted from this sale of shares to
British American. Plaintiff argues these injuries were suffered uniquely
by Plaintiff and the other non-British American shareholders, and thus
satisfies the “peculiar or personal” requirement. We disagree.

Plaintiff’s claimed injury from the inadequate compensation is the
exact loss contemplated by the legislature when it drafted the require-
ment that plaintiffs must assert derivative claims where the injury is felt
by the corporation itself. This injury does not satisfy the “peculiar or
personal” requirement, and therefore standing for Plaintiff’s direct claim
may not be based on this injury.

Plaintiff’s alternative framing for the injury, i.e., the dilution of vot-
ing power, requires further consideration, but ultimately is not sufficient
to satisfy the “peculiar or personal”’ requirement. Recognizing such
dilution as a basis for standing to sue directly could allow any minor-
ity shareholder who opposes an equity financing agreement to bring a
direct suit against the corporation’s directors. Such injury is at its core
a diminution of value of the stock held. While it is less directly felt by the
corporation itself; it is felt generally by the shareholders and is thus not
peculiar or personal to any one shareholder. Therefore, we hold that a
dilution of voting power, standing alone, is an insufficient injury to base
standing for a shareholder’s direct claim against a board of directors.

Because we hold that Plaintiff has failed to allege facts necessary to
establish either exception to the general rule requiring actions against
the directors to be brought derivatively, we affirm the trial court’s dis-
missal of Plaintiff’s claim.

D. Claims against Corporation

[4] Plaintiff’s final issue on appeal challenges the trial court’s dismissal
of his claim against Reynolds for aiding and abetting a breach of fidu-
ciary duty.

The validity of an aiding and abetting a breach of fiduciary duty
claim brought against a corporation for the actions of its directors is
unsettled in North Carolina. Bottom v. Bailey, 238 N.C. App. 202, 211-
12, 767 S.E.2d 883, 889 (2014). However, we need not address this issue
today, because Plaintiff lacks standing to bring the underlying breach
of fiduciary duty claim as against Defendant-Directors. See, e.g., Id. at
211, 767 S.E.2d at 889. Accordingly, we hold the trial court did not err in
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dismissing Plaintiff’s claim of aiding and abetting a breach of fiduciary
duty with respect to Reynolds.

Conclusion

Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint, taken as true, supports the conclu-
sion that British American acted as a “controlling shareholder,” and
therefore owed Plaintiff, as a minority shareholder, a fiduciary duty.
The Amended Complaint, however, failed to establish that Defendant-
Directors owed Plaintiff a special duty or that Plaintiff’s injury was
separate and distinct, and therefore Plaintiff failed to establish standing
to bring a direct claim against Defendant-Directors. Because the com-
plaint failed to plead the underlying fiduciary duty against Defendant-
Directors, Plaintiff’s claim against Reynolds for aiding and abetting a
breach of fiduciary duty must also fail. Accordingly, the trial court erred
in dismissing Plaintiff’s claim against British American but did not err in
dismissing Plaintiff’s claims against Defendant-Directors and Reynolds.
Therefore, we reverse and remand the trial court’s order dismissing
Plaintiff’s claim against British American and affirm the trial court’s
order dismissing Plaintiff’s claims against the Director Defendants
and Reynolds.

REVERSED AND REMANDED IN PART AND AFFIRMED IN PART.
Judges ELMORE and McCULLOUGH concur.
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DELVON R. GOODWIN, BY AND THROUGH HIS GUARDIAN AD LITEM,
MELISSA 1. HALES, PLAINTIFF
V.
FOUR COUNTY ELECTRIC CARE TRUST, INC, a/k/A FOUR COUNTY ELECTRIC
MEMBERSHIP CORPORATION, DEFENDANT

No. COA16-481
Filed 20 December 2016

1. Appeal and Error—appealability—denial of motion to
amend—intent inferred from notice of appeal

The Court of Appeals had jurisdiction to review the trial court’s
denial of plaintiff’s motion to amend along with the trial court’s grant
of the Non-Profit Trust’s motion to dismiss. Plaintiff’s intent could
be inferred from the notice of appeal and there was no indication
that the Non-Profit Trust had been misled by plaintiff’s inadvertent
omission of the motion to amend ruling from the notice of appeal.

2. Pleadings—motion to amend—wrong party—not a misnomer

The trial court did not err in a personal injury case by denying
plaintiff’s motion to amend and dismissing claims against the Non-
Profit Trust. There was no genuine issue of fact as to the Non-Profit
Trust’s lack of responsibility for plaintiff’s injuries. Plaintiff’s error
was not a misnomer, but instead, plaintiff sued the wrong party.

Judge HUNTER, JR., concurring in the result.

Appeal by Plaintiff from order entered 4 January 2016 by Judge
Charles H. Henry in Sampson County Superior Court. Heard in the Court
of Appeals 5 October 2016.

Hedrick Gardner Kincheloe & Garofalo, LLP, by Patricia P. Shields
and Joshua D. Neighbors, and Law Offices of Wade E. Byrd, PA.,
by Wade E. Byrd, for Plaintiff-Appellant.

Young Moore and Henderson, PA., by Dana H. Hoffman, for
Defendant-Appellee.

DILLON, Judge.

Plaintiff appeals from the trial court’s order denying his motion to
amend the summons and complaint and granting Four County Electric
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Care Trust, Inc.’s motion to dismiss the action. For the following rea-
sons, we affirm.

I. Background

The issues on appeal in this matter concern the North Carolina
Rules of Civil Procedure. The crux of this matter is whether Plaintiff
sued the right entity for injuries sustained on 30 October 2012 after he
came into contact with a power line regulator owned by “Four County
Electric Membership Corporation,” an electric membership cooperative
(the “Membership Co-Op”).

On 29 October 2015, almost three years after the accident, a
guardian ad litem was appointed for Plaintiff, who commenced this
action that same day.! In the body of the complaint, Plaintiff did not
allege that the regulator was owned by the Membership Co-Op; rather,
Plaintiff alleged that the regulator was owned by a different entity,
“Four County Electric Care Trust, Inc.” (the “Non-Profit Trust” or
“Defendant”). In the caption of the summons and the complaint,
Plaintiff designated the defendant as a single entity, using an assumed
name which incorporated the names of both the Membership Co-Op
and the Non-Profit Trust as follows: “Four County Electric Care Trust,
Inc. a/k/a Four County Electric Membership Corporation.”

Defendant, the Non-Profit Trust, moved to dismiss Plaintiff’s action
pursuant to Rule 12(b)(2), (4), (5), and (6) of the North Carolina Rules of
Civil Procedure, contending that it did not own the regulator, but rather
Membership Co-Op owned it. At the Rule 12 motions hearing, Plaintiff
orally moved to amend the complaint and summons to alter the assumed
name in the caption to “Four County Electric Membership Corporation,”
averring that the amendment constituted the correction of a misnomer,
not the addition of a new party. The Membership Co-Op never made an
appearance in this action.

By order entered 4 January 2016, the trial court granted the Non-
Profit Trust’s motion to dismiss and denied Plaintiff’s motion to amend
its complaint and summons. Plaintiff timely filed a notice of appeal.

II. Appellate Jurisdiction over Ruling Denying Oral Motion to Amend

Plaintiff contends on appeal that the trial court erred in its 4 January
2016 order by (1) granting the Non-Profit Trust’s motion to dismiss and
(2) denying Plaintiff’s motion to amend the summons and complaint.

1. The complaint alleged that Plaintiff was incompetent at the time of the accident.
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[1] Before addressing Plaintiff’s arguments on appeal, we must first
determine whether Plaintiff properly noticed an appeal from both por-
tions of the trial court’s order. Though Plaintiff states in his notice that
he was appealing the 4 January 2016 order, he only references that por-
tion granting Defendant’s motion to dismiss. The notice fails to reference
the portion denying Plaintiff’s motion to amend. Specifically, Plaintiff’s
notice of appeal states as follows:

[Plaintiff] hereby gives notice of appeal to the Court
of Appeals of North Carolina from the Order signed on
December 22; 2015 and file-stamped/entered on January 4,
2016 in the Superior Court of Sampson County, granting
Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss the above-captioned matter.

Accordingly, Defendant argues that we lack jurisdiction to consider
any issue concerning the denial of Plaintiff’s motion to amend. Guided
by our decision in Evans v. Evans, 169 N.C. App. 358, 610 S.E.2d 264
(2005), we conclude that both portions of the 4 January 2016 order are
properly before us.

Our Court has interpreted Rule 3 of our Rules of Appellate Procedure
to require that “an appellant . . . appeal from each part of the judgment
or order appealed from which appellant desires the appellate court to
consider.” Foreman v. Sholl, 113 N.C. App. 282, 291, 439 S.E.2d 169,
175 (1994) (internal quotation marks omitted). However, we have also
held that “a mistake in designating the judgment, or in designating the
part appealed from if only a part is designated, should not result in loss
of the appeal as long as the intent to appeal from a specific judgment
can be fairly inferred from the notice and the appellee is not mislead
[sic] by the mistake.” Smith v. Indep. Life Ins. Co., 43 N.C. App. 269,
274, 258 S.E.2d 864, 867 (1979) (emphasis added) (internal quotation
marks omitted).

Our Evans decision is remarkably similar to the present case. In
FEvans, the appellant gave notice of appeal from “the Order entered on
December 18, 2001 . . . denying Defendant’s claim for child custody and
child support.” Evans, 169 N.C. App. at 363, 610 S.E.2d at 269 (internal
quotation marks omitted). On appeal, the appellant also sought review
of the portion of the same order denying her request for post-separa-
tion support. Id. The appellee argued that we lacked jurisdiction to
consider the post-separation determination since the appellant’s notice
only referenced the child custody/support portion of the order. Id. We
held that, based on these facts, “it is readily apparent that [the appellant]
is appealing from the order dated 18 December 2001 which addresses
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not only child custody and support but also post-separation support.
. .. Therefore, this Court has jurisdiction to consider [the appellant’s]
appeal of these additional issues.” Id.

Here, we can infer from Plaintiff’s notice of appeal his intent to chal-
lenge the denial of his motion to amend the complaint and summons. His
notice of appeal specifically references the 4 January 2016 order which
addressed both the Non-Profit Trust’s motion to dismiss and Plaintiff’s
motion to amend. See id. There is no indication that the Non-Profit Trust
has been misled by Plaintiff’s inadvertent omission of the motion to
amend ruling from the notice of appeal. See Smith, 43 N.C. App. at 274,
258 S.E.2d at 867. Nor could there be as Plaintiff’s sole, viable ground for
appeal is that he should be allowed to amend the complaint and sum-
mons to include the defendant’s proper name. Accordingly, we conclude
that we have jurisdiction to review the trial court’s denial of Plaintiff’s
motion to amend along with the trial court’s grant of the Non-Profit
Trust’s motion to dismiss.

III. Analysis
A. Plaintiff’s Motion to Amend

[2] We first address whether the trial court erred in denying Plaintiff’s
oral motion to amend the summons and complaint to change the desig-
nation of the defendant in the caption from “Four County Electric Care
Trust, Inc. a/k/a Four County Electric Membership Corporation” to “Four
County Electric Membership Corporation.” Plaintiff argues that this erro-
neous designation is merely a misnomer of the Membership Co-Op.

The Non-Profit Trust essentially argues that the designation in the
caption, at best, identifies it as the sole defendant and that the summons
was directed at and served upon it alone, and not upon the Membership
Co-Op. Therefore, the Non-Profit Trust contends that the trial court was
correct in its ruling because the trial court could not obtain jurisdiction
over an entity that was not named or served (the Membership Co-Op)
merely by amending the moniker on the summons and complaint.
Indeed, both the summons and complaint identify and were served upon
a different entity (the Non-Profit Trust).

Our Supreme Court has stated that an amendment to the summons
and complaint may be allowed to correct a misnomer or mistake in the
name of the party, but that such motion to amend must be denied “where
the amendment amounts to a substitution or entire change in parties.”
Bailey v. McPherson, 233 N.C. 231, 235, 63 S.E.2d 559, 562 (1951). See
also Harris v. Maready, 311 N.C. 536, 546, 319 S.E.2d 912, 918 (1984)
(restating same general principle).
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Here, we hold that the amendment sought by Plaintiff amounted to
a substitution of parties. The summons was directed to the Non-Profit
Trust, not the Membership Co-Op; specifically, the summons contained
additional language which erroneously provided that the Non-Profit Trust
was also known as the “Four County Electric Membership Corporation.”
Further, the body of the complaint never alleges any facts concerning
the Membership Co-Op, but rather alleges that the power line regulator
was owned, operated, and maintained by the Non-Profit Trust. We con-
clude that there is no confusion that the summons and complaint were
directed to the Non-Profit Trust. Therefore, the trial court did not err in
denying Plaintiff’s motion to amend.

Our resolution of this issue is controlled by Crawford v. Aetna Cas.
& Sur. Co., 44 N.C. App. 368, 261 S.E.2d 25 (1979). In Crawford, the plain-
tiff sued “Michigan Tool Company, a Division of Ex-Cell-O Corporation”
under the erroneous belief that Michigan Tool Company was part of
Ex-Cell-O Corporation instead of a separate legal entity. Id. at 368, 261
S.E.2d at 26. After the statute of limitations had expired, the plaintiff
then learned that Michigan Tool Company was in fact a subsidiary of
Ex-Cell-O Corporation and that Ex-Cell-O Corporation and Michigan
Tool Company were in fact two separate entities. Id. at 369, 261 S.E.2d
at 26. The plaintiff then sought to amend the summons and complaint to
reflect that Ex-Cell-O Corporation was the proper defendant, contend-
ing that the designation in the original summons and complaint was a
mere misnomer. Id. However, this Court, relying on precedent from our
Supreme Court, held that the designation was not a misnomer and that
the amendment should not be allowed even if the summons and com-
plaint in fact reached the hands of someone at Ex-Cell-O Corporation:

In the case before us, we are dealing with two separate
legal entities, Michigan Tool Company and Ex-Cell-O
Corporation. Complaint and summons directed to a defen-
dant named as “MICHIGAN TOOL COMPANY, A Division
of Ex-Cell-O Corporation” is not service on the entity
Ex-Cell-O Corporation even if the complaint and summons
reach the hands of someone obligated to receive service in
behalf of Ex-Cell-O.

Id. at 370, 261 S.E.2d at 27 (alteration in original).

Much like the plaintiff in Crawford, Plaintiff believed that the Non-
Profit Trust was also known by the name of “Four County Electric
Membership Corporation,” when in fact the Non-Profit Trust and
the Membership Co-Op are two separate legal entities. Accordingly,
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based on our holding in Crawford, we conclude that the amendment
sought by Plaintiff would have had the effect of adding the Membership
Co-Op as a new party.

We are also persuaded by our Supreme Court’s decision in McLean
v. Matheny. 240 N.C. 785, 84 S.E.2d 190 (1954). In that case, the plaintiff
sued “W.B. Matheny, trading as Matheny Motor Company.” Id. at 785, 84
S.E.2d at 190. The plaintiff later moved to amend his complaint to add
“Matheny Motor Company, Inc.,” realizing that the Company was a legal
entity, separate and distinct from Mr. Matheny. Id. at 786, 84 S.E.2d at
191. The Supreme Court held that the plaintiff could not add the cor-
poration by merely amending the moniker used in the summons and
complaint since the proposed amendment would add a new party. Id. at
787, 84 S.E.2d at 191-92. In the same way, here, Plaintiff is not seeking to
correct a moniker, but rather is seeking to add a different entity.

In conclusion, Plaintiff sought to bring in the Membership Co-Op
as a defendant by amending the summons and complaint which were
issued and served on the Non-Profit Trust. Plaintiff’s motion to amend
was filed on the basis that the Membership Co-Op was already a named
party, and that any potential error in the designation of the defendant in
the summons and complaint was merely a misnomer. Plaintiff character-
ized his motion as such - rather than as a motion to add a new party —
presumably out of concern that the Membership Co-Op, as a new party,
would have a statute of limitations defense if the Membership Co-Op
challenged Plaintiff’s allegations of incompetency. Were the motion to
amend be on the basis of a misnomer, rather than the addition of a new
party, such motion would relate back to 29 October 2015, the date of fil-
ing for the original complaint. We make no determination as to whether
the statute of limitations has indeed run on Plaintiff’s claims against the
Membership Co-Op. We simply conclude that the Membership Co-Op
has not been sued in this action, nor has Plaintiff made any attempt to
add the Membership Co-Op through any motion to add it as a party.

B. Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss

The trial court granted the Non-Profit Trust’s motion to dismiss pur-
suant, in part, to Rule 12(b)(6) of our Rules of Civil Procedure. In grant-
ing the motion, the trial court not only considered the four corners of
Plaintiff’s complaint, but also two affidavits offered by the Non-Profit
Trust which established that (1) the Membership Co-Op and the Non-
Profit Trust are two separate, distinct legal entities and (2) the power
line regulator is owned, operated, and maintained by the Membership
Co-Op and not by the Non-Profit Trust.
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Rule 12 provides that if matters outside the pleading are presented
and considered by the court on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, “the motion shall
be treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of as provided
in Rule 56[.]” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 12(b). In the hearing below,
Plaintiff did not object to the introduction of the affidavits. We note that
the complaint alleging that the Non-Profit Trust owns the regulator was
not verified. Further, Plaintiff presented no evidence to contradict the
affidavits, but rather sought to amend his summons and complaint to
reflect that the Membership Co-Op was the correct entity. Moreover, on
appeal, Plaintiff concedes that the power line regulator is owned, oper-
ated, and maintained by the Membership Co-Op and that the Non-Profit
Trust was not the correct party. Therefore, the only evidence before the
trial court concerning the ownership of the power line regulator was in
the form of the affidavits offered by Defendant. Accordingly, the trial
court did not err in dismissing the claims against the Non-Profit Trust
as there was no genuine issue of fact as to the Non-Profit Trust’s lack of
responsibility for Plaintiff’s injuries.

IV. Conclusion

Plaintiff’s error was not a misnomer; rather, Plaintiff sued the wrong
party. The trial court properly denied Plaintiff’s motion to amend based
on amisnomer. Further, the trial court did not err in granting Defendant’s
motion to dismiss.

AFFIRMED.

Judge ELMORE concurs. Judge HUNTER, JR., concurs in the result
and writes separately.

HUNTER, JR., Robert N., Judge, concurring in the result.

When a litigant has been adjudged incompetent, he becomes a ward
of the court. Perry v. Jolly, 2569 N.C. 305, 314 130 S.E.2d 654, 661 (1963);
In re Estate of Armfield, 113 N.C. App. 467, 439 S.E.2d 216 (1994). Here,
it is alleged the plaintiff was mentally incompetent before the occur-
rence leading to his injury and was further catastrophically injured after
the accident. On this basis, the Clerk appointed a guardian ad litem for
him as “an Incompetent Person.” This finding is uncontroverted.

Plaintiff’s status as an incompetent commits his legal rights “to
the care of the court” as well as their attorneys. Elledge v. Welch, 238
N.C. 61, 68, 76 S.E.2d 340, 345 (1953). The duty to protect those who
have been adjudged incompetent extends beyond the trial courts to
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the appellate courts. See id. (exercising supervisory power to assume
jurisdiction without an appeal and review errors committed against an
incompetent defendant).

Because judges have an obligation to incompetents to ensure their
legal rights, so as to avoid additional needless litigation in the future, I
write separately to question why this case is before us.

Plaintiff does not dispute he named the wrong defendant in his
complaint. However, the parties and the trial court appear to have pro-
ceeded under the misimpression of law that the statute of limitations on
Plaintiff’s claim had expired, leaving Plaintiff unable to file a new com-
plaint against the proper defendant. Because the majority declines to
address the statute of limitations issue, not only does it leave Plaintiff’s
underlying negligence claim, like Schrodinger’s cat, in a state where it
may be alive or dead,! but it fails to disabuse all concerned of the notion
that an amendment to Plaintiff’s complaint would need to relate back
to the date of filing under North Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 15(c).

While the majority focuses on whether Plaintiff’s error constituted
a mere misnomer or a fatal defect, it elides the fact that this analysis
is appropriate only when the statute of limitations has expired. See
Franklin v. Winn Dixie Raleigh, 117 N.C. App. 28, 38, 450 S.E.2d 24,
31 (1994), aff’d per curiam, 342 N.C. 404, 464 S.E.2d 46 (1995). Thus, I
would like to make it clear the cat is alive; the statute of limitations has
not yet expired on Plaintiff’s negligence claim. As a result, the trial court
was free to exercise its discretion to grant Plaintiff’s motion to amend.
However, neither the trial court’s judgment nor our affirmance should
not bar future litigation on the merits of his claim.

Under the North Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, a party may
amend a pleading after the opposing party files a responsive pleading
“only by leave of court or by written consent of the adverse party; and
leave shall be freely given when justice so requires.” N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 1A-1, Rule 15(a) (2015). Motions to amend are addressed to the discre-
tion of the trial court. Henry v. Deen, 310 N.C. 75, 82, 310 S.E.2d 326, 331
(1984). In exercising its discretion, the trial court “should be liberal in
... allowance and application.” Roper v. Thomas, 60 N.C. App. 64, 68,
298 S.E.2d 424, 427 (1982). Generally, “[almendments should be freely
allowed unless some material prejudice to the other party is demon-
strated[.]” Mauney v. Morris, 316 N.C. 67, 72, 340 S.E.2d 397, 400 (1986).

1. See Ervin Schrodinger, Die gegenwiértige Situation in der Quantenmechanik, Die
Naturwissenschaften, Vol 23, Issue 48, pp. 807-812 (1935).
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Amendment to substitute a party is within the scope of the rule,
although doing so represents the creation of “a new and independent
[cause] of action and cannot be permitted when the statute of limita-
tions has run.” Callicut v. American Honda Motor Co., 37 N.C. App. 210,
212, 245 S.E.2d 558, 560 (1978) (quoting Kerner v. Rockmill, 111 F. Supp.
150, 151 (M.D. Pa. 1953)).

If the statute of limitations has expired in the interim between the
filing and the amendment, a plaintiff may preserve his claim only if
the amendment can be said to relate back to the date of the original
claim, under Rule 15(c):

A claim asserted in an amended pleading is deemed to
have been interposed at the time the claim in the original
pleading was interposed, unless the original pleading does
not give notice of the transactions, occurrences, or series
of transactions or occurrences, to be proved pursuant to
the amended pleading.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 15(c) (2015); Winn Dixie Raleigh, 117 N.C.
App. at 38, 450 S.E.2d 30. A complaint will relate back with respect to a
new defendant “if that new defendant had notice of the claim so as not
to be prejudiced by the untimely amendment.” Winn Dixie Raleigh, 117
N.C. App. at 39, 450 S.E.2d at 31 (citation omitted). Where the plaintiff
has merely made a “mistake in name; giving incorrect name to person
in accusation, indictment, pleading, deed or other instrument,” Liss
v. Seamark Foods, 147 N.C. App. 281, 285, 555 S.E.2d 365, 368 (2001),
we have found it is permissible to amend the complaint to correct such
a misnomer. Piland v. Hertford County Bd. of Comm’rs, 141 N.C. App.
293, 299, 539 S.E.2d 669, 673 (2000). Otherwise, the statute of limitations
will bar the new claim. Winn Dixie Raleigh, 117 N.C. App. at 39, 450
S.E.2d at 31. Thus, the question of whether the plaintiff’s error consti-
tutes a misnomer or a fatal error need be reached only if the statute of
limitations has expired.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-52(16) sets the statute of limitations at three years
for personal injury cases. No period of repose applies to personal injury
cases. See N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-15(c) (2015) (setting periods of repose for
certain malpractice cases).

State law tolls the statute of limitations for plaintiffs who were dis-
abled when the cause of action accrued:

A person entitled to commence an action who is under
a disability at the time the cause of action accrued may
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bring his or her action within the time limited in this
Subchapter, after the disability is removed, except in
an action for the recovery of real property, or to make an
entry or defense founded on the title to real property, or to
rents and services out of the real property, when the per-
son must commence his or her action, or make the entry,
within three years next after the removal of the disability,
and at no time thereafter.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-17(a) (2015). See also N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-20 (2015)
(“No person may avail himself of a disability except as authorized in G.S.
1-19, unless it existed when his right of action accrued.”)

A person is considered disabled if they meet one or more of the fol-
lowing conditions: (1) the person is within the age of 18 years; (2) the
person is insane; or (3) the person is incompetent as defined in N.C. Gen.
Stat. § 35A-1101(7) or (8). N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-17(a) (2015). An “incom-
petent adult” is one who “lacks sufficient capacity to manage the adult’s
own affairs or to make or communicate important decisions concern-
ing the adult’s person, family, or property whether the lack of capac-
ity is due to mental illness, mental retardation, epilepsy, cerebral palsy,
autism, inebriety, senility, disease, injury, or similar cause or condition.”
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 35A-1101(7) (2015).

If the statute of limitations has been tolled due to the plaintiff’s dis-
ability, it “begins to run upon the appointment of a guardian or upon the
removal of his disability as provided by G.S. 1-17, whichever shall occur
first.” First-Citizens Bank & Trust Co. v. Willis, 257 N.C. 59, 62, 125
S.E.2d 359, 361 (1962). See also Bryant v. Adams, 116 N.C. App. 448, 459,
448 S.E.2d 832, 837 (1994).

Here, according to his complaint, Plaintiff “was a deaf, mentally
incompetent individual without any other physical impairment” when
his action against Four County Electric Membership Corporation
accrued. The trial court must assume the facts in the pleading are true
when ruling on a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6). White v. White,
296 N.C. 661, 667, 252 S.E.2d 698, 702 (1979). Thus, “a statute of limita-
tion or repose may be the basis of a 12(b)(6) dismissal [only] if on its
face the complaint reveals the claim is barred.” Forsyth Memorial Hosp.
v. Armstrong World Indus., 336 N.C. 438, 442, 444 S.E.2d 423, 426 (1994).
As a result, when there is an evidentiary dispute, the statute of limita-
tions defense is not properly within the trial court’s scope of review on
a 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss. White, 296 N.C. at 667, 2562 S.E.2d at 702.
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Thus, because the trial court was required to assume that the stat-
ute of limitations was tolled in this case, it need not have considered
whether Plaintiff’s amendment related back to the date of filing. The
relevant inquiry was only whether Plaintiff’s amendment was proper
under Rule 15(a). Consequently, the trial court was free to exercise its
discretion to grant or deny Plaintiff’s motion to amend without deciding
whether the amendment related back to the original complaint.

Nevertheless, the trial court’s decision to deny the motion and dis-
miss the complaint against Four County Electric Care Trust with preju-
dice does not prevent Plaintiff from refiling his complaint against the
proper defendant. Under North Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 41(b),
dismissal with prejudice operates as an adjudication on the merits
unless otherwise specified by the trial court. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule
41(b) (2015). Moreover, “[d]ismissal with prejudice ends the lawsuit
and precludes subsequent litigation on the same controversy between
the parties under the doctrine of res judicata.” 2 G. Gray Wilson, North
Carolina Civil Procedure § 41-5 (3d ed. 2007). When a case is dismissed
with prejudice under Rule 41(b), the trial court must make findings
of fact and state conclusions of law so as to “make definite what was
decided for the purpose of res judicata and estoppel.” Helms v. Rea,, 282
N.C. 610, 619, 194 S.E.2d 1, 7 (1973). While the trial court’s order does
state findings of fact and conclusions of law, its language is incomplete
as to future litigation against the true property owner.

The doctrine of res judicata provides “a final judgment on the merits
in a prior action in a court of competent jurisdiction precludes a second
suit involving the same claim between the same parties or those in priv-
ity with them.” 2 G. Gray Wilson, North Carolina Civil Procedure § 88-1
(3d ed. 2007). In order to invoke res judicata as a defense, the proponent
must show: “(1) a final judgment on the merits in an earlier suit; (2) an
identity of the cause of action in both the earlier and the later suit; and
(3) an identity of parties or their privities in the two suits.” State ex rel.
Utilities Com. v. Thornburg, 325 N.C. 463, 468, 385 S.E.2d 451, 453-54
(1989) (citation omitted).

Thus, res judicata will only prevent “a second suit based on the
same cause of action between the same parties or those in privity with
them.” Thomas M. McInnis & Associales, Inc. v. Hall, 318 N.C. 421, 428,
349 S.E.2d 552, 556 (1986) (emphasis added). This Court has recently
held in the context of res judicata, “privity involves a person so identi-
fied in interest with another that he represents the same legal right.”
Williams v. Peabody, 217 N.C. App. 1, 8, 719 S.E.2d 88, 94 (2011). More
specifically, “privity denotes a mutual or successive relationship to the
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same rights of property.” Id. (quoting Whitacre P’Ship v. BioSignia,
Inc., 358 N.C. 1, 36, 591 S.E.2d 870, 893 (2004)).

In the instant case, although the trial court dismissed the suit with
prejudice, they did so precisely because the wrong defendant had been
sued, noting in its order “Four County Electric Care Trust, Inc. does not
own any property or electric equipment and the regulator identified in
Plaintiff’s complaint was owned, operated and maintained by a differ-
ent company.” As a result, the trial court’s order makes clear the Four
County Electric Care Trust and the Four County Electric Membership
Corporation are two separate entities who have no “mutual or suc-
cessive relationship” with regard to the equipment at hand. Thus, the
Corporation cannot invoke res judicata as a defense to a suit alleging the
same cause of action in this case.

Similar to res judicata, collateral estoppel “is designed to prevent
repetitious lawsuits over matters which have once been decided and
which have remained substantially static, factually and legally.” King
v. Grindstaff, 284 N.C. 348, 356, 200 S.E. 2d 799, 805 (1973). Thus, “the
determination of an issue in a prior judicial or administrative proceed-
ing precludes the relitigation of that issue in a later action, provided
the party against whom the estoppel is asserted enjoyed a full and fair
opportunity to litigate that issue in the earlier proceeding.” Whitacre
P’Ship v. BioSignia, Inc., 358 N.C. 1, 15, 591 S.E.2d 870, 880 (2004).

A party asserting collateral estoppel must show (1) the earlier suit
resulted in a final judgment on the merits; (2) the “issue in question was
identical to an issue actually litigated and necessary to the judgment;”
and (3) both parties or their privities were parties in the earlier suit.
State ex rel. Tucker v. Frinzi, 344 N.C. 411, 414, 474 S.E.2d 127, 128-29
(1996) (emphasis added) (citation omitted).

Traditionally, as with res judicata, collateral estoppel applied only
between the parties or those in privity with them. McInnis, 318 N.C. at
429, 349 S.E.2d at 557. However, for “defensive” uses of collateral estop-
pel, our courts have rejected the “mutuality” requirement that both par-
ties must be bound by the prior judgment. Id. at 434-35, 349 S.E.2d at
560. Thus, collateral estoppel may apply even where only the plaintiff is
bound by a prior judgment on the merits.

However, an issue is only “actually litigated, for purposes of collat-
eral estoppel or issue preclusion, if it is properly raised in the pleadings
or otherwise submitted for determination and [is] in fact determined.”
City of Asheville v. State, 192 N.C. App. 1, 17,665 S.E.2d 103, 117 (2008),
appeal dismissed, disc. review denied, 363 N.C. 123, 672 S.E.2d 685
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(2009). This determination requires “[a] very close examination of mat-
ters actually litigated . . . . If they are not identical, then the doctrine of
collateral estoppel does not apply.” Id.

In the instant case, although the dismissal of the suit against the
Trust operates as a decision on the merits, the trial court’s findings of
fact and conclusions of law pertain only to the identity of the defendant.
Thus, the court’s order is clear these two parties are not “in privity.” Had
they been, a different result would have obtained. Further, the language
of the order demonstrates the parties have not “actually litigated” the
substance of Plaintiff’s negligence claim. As a result, if Plaintiff were to
bring suit against the Corporation, rather than the Trust, the Corporation
could not use collateral estoppel to bar the suit, as the plaintiff’s negli-
gence claim has not yet been litigated.

KAREN HEAD, PLAINTIFF
V.
GOULD KILLIAN CPA GROUP, PA., G. EDWARD TOWSON, II, CPA, DEFENDANTS

No. COA16-525
Filed 20 December 2016

1. Appeal and Error—interlocutory orders and appeals—sub-
stantial right—common factual nexus—potential for incon-
sistent verdicts

Plaintiff’s appeal from an interlocutory order affected a sub-
stantial right and was immediately appealable. The present appeal
presented overlapping factual issues concerning plaintiff’s business
relationship with defendants. There was a potential for inconsistent
verdicts based upon a common factual nexus.

2. Statutes of Limitation and Repose—statute of repose—summary
judgment—dates and facts disputed—professional negligence
The trial court’s conclusions in a professional negligence case
that the statute of repose applied as a matter of law to affirm sum-
mary judgment under these facts was error when the dates and
facts constituting defendants’ last acts or omissions were in dispute.
Genuine issues of material fact existed as to whether defendants
were responsible for delivering, mailing, or providing plaintiff with
her tax returns, and whether and when they did so.
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3. Accountants and Accounting—professional negligence—tax
preparation and filing—summary judgment

Plaintiff sufficiently alleged and pled the elements of profes-
sional negligence to defeat defendants’ motion for summary judg-
ment. Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to plaintiff, a
reasonable fact finder could determine defendants negligently failed
to file, deliver, or provide plaintiff with her completed tax returns
for her to timely file, and their failure resulted in plaintiff’s inability
to claim a tax refund or credit.

4. Fraud—fraudulent concealment—sufficiency of evidence—
punitive damages
The trial court did not err by granting summary judgment in
defendants’ favor on the claim of fraudulent concealment. Plaintiff
failed to proffer evidence demonstrating that a pre-existing duty to
disclose existed and also failed to advance all of the elements of a
fraudulent concealment claim. The grant of summary judgment in
defendants’ favor on the punitive damages claim was also affirmed.

Judge ENOCHS concurring in part and dissenting in part.

Appeal by plaintiff from order entered 31 December 2015 by Judge
William H. Coward in Buncombe County Superior Court. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 17 October 2016.

Erwin, Bishop, Capitano & Moss, PA, by J. Daniel Bishop and
Matthew M. Holtgrewe, for plaintiff-appellant.

Sharpless & Stavola, PA., by Brenda S. McClearn, for defendants-
appellees.

TYSON, Judge.

Karen Head (“Plaintiff”) appeals from the trial court’s order grant-
ing Gould Killian CPA Group, PA.’s and G. Edward Towson, II, CPA’s
(“Towson™) (collectively “Defendants”) motion for partial summary
judgment and amended motion for partial summary judgment We affirm
in part, reverse in part, and remand for trial on Plaintiff’s professional
negligence claim.

I. Factual Background

Plaintiff hired Defendants to prepare her tax returns for the 2005 tax
year and subsequently employed them to prepare her taxes for tax years
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2006, 2007, 2008 and 2009 respectively. Upon Defendants’ completion of
the preparation of Plaintiff’s 2005 returns, Plaintiff came to Defendants’
office, met with Towson, reviewed and signed her returns, tendered a
check in the amount of taxes she owed, and requested that Towson mail
her taxes to the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) and several state tax
agencies for her. Towson agreed to do so as a courtesy to Plaintiff, and
deposited her completed returns in the mail.

For each of the ensuing four tax years, 2006 through 2009, Defendants
were engaged to prepare Plaintiff’s tax returns. However, these returns
were not timely filed, as neither Defendants nor Plaintiff submitted them
to or filed them with the IRS as required by the applicable deadlines.

On 4 November 2013, Plaintiff filed a complaint and alleged causes
of action against Defendants for professional negligence and fraudu-
lent concealment. Plaintiff also asserted a claim for punitive damages
in connection with her fraudulent concealment claim. Plaintiff’s com-
plaint asserted Defendants had willfully and wantonly deceived Plaintiff
by concealing from her the fact that they had failed to ensure her tax
returns for tax years 2006 through 2009 were timely filed. As a result, she
incurred tax penalties and interest.

Defendants filed a motion to dismiss and motion for attorneys’ fees
pursuant to Rules 9(b) and 12(b)(6) of the North Carolina Rules of Civil
Procedure. On 14 July 2014, the trial court entered an order denying
this motion.

On 23 November 2015, Defendants filed a motion for partial summary
judgment, and filed an amended motion for partial summary judgment
on 9 December 2015. Defendants’ amended motion sought summary
judgment on Plaintiff’s claims for professional negligence regarding her
2006 and 2007 tax returns, as well as her fraudulent concealment and
punitive damages claims. Defendants did not move for summary judg-
ment on Plaintiff’s professional malpractice claims relating to her 2008
and 2009 tax returns.

In support of their motion for partial summary judgment, Defendants
submitted the following for consideration by the trial court: (1) a brief
in support of their motion; (2) Plaintiff’s complaint; (3) a document enti-
tled “2006 Individual Income Tax Cover Sheet” along with an accom-
panying document entitled “Filing Instructions Individual Income Tax
Return Taxable Year Ended December 31, 2006” provided to Plaintiff
explaining the steps she needed to take in order to submit her prepared
tax returns to the IRS; (4) a document entitled “2007 Individual Income
Tax Cover Sheet” along with an accompanying document entitled
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“Filing Instructions Individual Income Tax Return Taxable Year Ended
December 31, 2007” similar in all material respects to the 2006 cover
sheet provided to Plaintiff for her 2007 prepared tax returns; (5) a depo-
sition of Plaintiff; (6) IRS documents detailing Plaintiff’s penalties and
interest incurred in connection with her returns; (7) excerpts from a
deposition of Defendants’ expert, Michael Gillis, explaining Defendants’
tax preparation procedures; and (8) a tolling agreement executed
in 2013. Defendants additionally submitted various cases and statutes in
support of their position.

Plaintiff, in response, submitted: (1) a briefin support of her position;
(2) a series of emails between Towson, Plaintiff, and her assistant; (3)
various correspondence and documents from the IRS; (4) Defendants’
responses to interrogatories; (5) the deposition of Edward Towson affir-
matively stating that Plaintiff’s prepared tax returns and accompanying
instructions had been provided to her along with instructions on how
to file them and the importance of doing so in a timely fashion; and (6)
the log of IRS Revenue Officer Rosa Shade indicating she had never had
certain discussions with Towson concerning Plaintiff’s taxes despite his
assertion to the contrary. Plaintiff additionally submitted various cases
and statutes in support of her position.

The “2006 Individual Income Tax Cover Sheet” and accompanying
“Filing Instructions Individual Income Tax Return Taxable Year Ended
December 31, 2006” document submitted to the trial court stated, in per-
tinent part, the following:

Sign and date the return on Page 2. Initial and date the
copy, and retain it for your records.

Mail the Form 1040 return by October 15, 2007 to:

Internal Revenue Service
Atlanta, GA 39901-0002

Your required federal estimated tax payments are shown
below. . . . Make each check payable to the United States
Treasury, write your social security number and “2007
Form 1040-ES” on the check.

Mail the Form 1040-ES payment voucher and check by the
due date indicated above to
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Internal Revenue Service
P.O. Box 105225
Atlanta, GA 30348-5225

At the bottom of the cover sheet after “How Delivered:” the follow-
ing was written: “By Hand to Karen.” The corresponding 2007 cover
sheet and instructions, in turn, also similarly state: “How Delivered:
Mailed to K. Head . . . Picked up on 12/12/08.”

On 31 December 2015, the trial court entered an order granting
Defendants’ motions. Plaintiff filed notice of appeal on 19 January 2016.

II. Issues

Plaintiff argues the trial court erred in granting Defendants’ motion
for summary judgment and amended motion for partial summary judg-
ment. She asserts genuine issues of material fact exist concerning her
professional negligence and fraudulent concealment claims regarding
her tax returns. We agree with Plaintiff that a genuine issue of material
fact exists as to her professional negligence claim, and disagree with
Plaintiff that the trial court erred in granting Defendants’ partial sum-
mary judgment motion concerning her fraudulent concealment and
punitive damages claims.

III. Appellate Jurisdiction

[1] Initially, we address whether this Court possesses jurisdiction over
the present appeal. It is undisputed the present appeal is interlocutory.
See Mecklenburg Cnty. v. Simply Fashion Stores, Ltd., 208 N.C. App.
664, 667, 704 S.E.2d 48, 51 (2010) (citations omitted) (“An order is inter-
locutory when it does not dispose of the entire case but instead, leaves
outstanding issues for further action at the trial level.”). Generally, there
is no right of immediate appeal from an interlocutory order. Goldston
v. Am. Motors Corp., 326 N.C. 723, 725, 392 S.E.2d 735, 736 (1990).

An interlocutory order may be appealed, however, if the
order implicates a substantial right of the appellant that
would be lost if the order was not reviewed prior to the
issuance of a final judgment. It is the appealing party’s bur-
den to establish that a substantial right would be jeopar-
dized unless an immediate appeal is allowed.

Radcliffe v. Avenel Homeowners Ass’n, Inc., __ N.C. App. __, _, 789
S.E.2d 893, 901 (2016) (internal citations, quotation marks, and foot-
note omitted).
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Itis well settled that a substantial right is affected “ ‘where a possibil-
ity of inconsistent verdicts exists if the case proceeds to trial.’ ” Heritage
Operating, L.P. v. N.C. Propane Exch., LLC, 219 N.C. App. 623, 627, 727
S.E.2d 311, 314 (2012) (quoting Country Club of Johnston Cnty., Inc.
v. U.S. Fidelity & Guar. Co., 135 N.C. App. 159, 167, 519 S.E.2d 540, 546
(1999), disc. review denied, 351 N.C. 352, 542 S.E.2d 207 (2000)).

To demonstrate that a second trial will affect a substantial
right, [the appellant] must show not only that one claim
has been finally determined and others remain which have
not yet been determined, but that (1) the same factual
issues would be present in both trials and (2) the possibil-
ity of inconsistent verdicts on those issues exists.

Id. at 627-28, 727 S.E.2d at 314-15 (citation, internal quotation marks,
and brackets omitted).

733

[S]o long as a claim has been finally determined, delaying the
appeal of that final determination will ordinarily affect a substantial
right ¢f there are overlapping factual issues between the claim deter-
mined and any claims which have not yet been determined.’ ” Carcano
v. JBSS, LLC, 200 N.C. App. 162, 168, 684 S.E.2d 41, 47 (2009) (quoting
Davidson v. Knauff Ins. Agency, 93 N.C. App. 20, 26, 376 S.E.2d 488,
492, disc. review denied, 324 N.C. 577, 381 S.E.2d 772 (1989)). “Issues
are the ‘same’ if the facts relevant to their resolution overlap in such
a way as to create a risk that separate litigation of those issues might
result in inconsistent verdicts.” Hamilton v. Mortg. Info. Servs., Inc.,
212N.C. App. 73,79, 711 S.E.2d 185, 190 (2011) (citing Davidson, 93 N.C.
App. at 25, 376 S.E.2d at 491).

The present appeal presents overlapping factual issues concerning
Plaintiff’s business relationship with Defendants, which speak directly
not only to her claims ruled upon by the trial court, but also her remain-
ing professional negligence claims concerning her 2008 and 2009 returns.
With the potential for inconsistent verdicts based upon a common fac-
tual nexus, we hold Plaintiff’s appeal of the trial court’s order affects a
substantial right and is properly before us.

IV. Standard of Review

Entry of summary judgment is proper if the pleadings, depositions,
answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the
affidavits, if any, show no genuine issue exists concerning any material
fact and that any party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 56(c). “When considering a motion for summary
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judgment, the [court] must view the presented evidence in a light most
favorable to the nonmoving party.” Dalton v. Camp, 353 N.C. 647, 651,
548 S.E.2d 704, 707 (2001) (citation omitted).

The party moving for summary judgment ultimately has
the burden of establishing the lack of any triable issue
of fact.

A defendant may show entitlement to summary judgment
by (1) proving that an essential element of the plaintiff’s
case is non-existent, or (2) showing through discovery that
the plaintiff cannot produce evidence to support an essen-
tial element of his or her claim, or (3) showing that the
plaintiff cannot surmount an affirmative defense. Summary
judgment is not appropriate where matters of credibility
and determining the weight of the evidence exist.

Once the party seeking summary judgment makes the
required showing, the burden shifts to the nonmoving
party to produce a forecast of evidence demonstrating
specific facts, as opposed to allegations, showing that he
can at least establish a prima facie case at trial.

We review an order allowing summary judgment de novo.
If the granting of summary judgment can be sustained on
any grounds, it should be affirmed on appeal.

Wilkins v. Safran, 185 N.C. App. 668, 672, 649 S.E.2d 658, 661 (2007)
(internal citations and quotations omitted).

“Summary judgment is a drastic measure and it should be used with
caution, especially in a negligence case in which a jury ordinarily applies
the reasonable person standard to the facts of each case.” Harrison
v. City of Sanford, 177 N.C. App. 116, 121, 627 S.E.2d 672, 676 (2006)
(citation omitted).

V. Statute of Repose

[2] Plaintiff argues the trial court erred in granting summary judgment
in favor of Defendants regarding professional negligence claims relating
to her 2006 and 2007 tax returns. The trial court based its determina-
tion on finding Plaintiff’s professional negligence claim is barred by N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 1-15(c), the applicable statute of repose.

“[IIn no event shall an action be commenced more than four years
from the last act of the defendant giving rise to the cause of action[.]”
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-15(c) (2015).
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Furthermore,

[u]nlike the statute of limitations, the statute of repose
serves as an unyielding and absolute barrier that pre-
vents a plaintiff’s right of action even before his cause
of action may accrue, which is generally recognized as
the point in time when the elements necessary for a legal
wrong coalesce.

In order to decide whether the statute of repose bars
plaintiffs’ claim we must determine when the last act of
alleged negligence took place. To determine when the
last act or omission occurred we look to factors such
as the contractual relationship between the parties, when
the contracted-for services were complete, and when the
alleged mistakes could no longer be remedied.

Carle v. Wyrick, Robbins, Yates & Ponton, LLP, 225 N.C. App. 656, 661,
738 S.E.2d 766, 770-71 (2013) (internal citations, quotation marks, and
footnote omitted).

In arguing Plaintiff’s professional negligence claim is barred by the
statute of repose, Defendants assert, as undisputed fact, the final act
taken by Defendants in regards to Plaintiff’s 2006 and 2007 tax returns
occurred on 12 December 2008, when Defendants purportedly hand
delivered Plaintiff her prepared 2007 returns. We disagree.

Defendants characterize the evidence, regarding if and when Plaintiff
received her tax returns from Defendants, as unrebutted fact. However,
when viewed in the light most favorable to Plaintiff, as the non-moving
party, the 2006 and 2007 Income Tax Cover Sheets and internal track-
ing presented by Defendants as evidence that Defendants provided and
delivered to Plaintiff her tax returns on the dates signified in those docu-
ments is challenged and rebutted by Plaintiff’s deposition testimony.

Reading Plaintiff’s testimony from her deposition in the light most
favorable to her as the non-moving party, she was unsure about even
being present in Defendants’ office in 2007 and 2008, when the returns
were purportedly hand delivered, but she emphatically denies receiving
either prepared returns or written instructions. This evidence directly
contradicts Defendants’ testimonial and documentary evidence pur-
porting Defendants hand delivered and Plaintiff received in Defendants’
office her 2006 returns on 8 October 2007 and 2007 returns on
12 December 2008.
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Viewing the Defendants’ evidence as conclusive fact Defendant
delivered and Plaintiff physically received her returns is error and does
not view all the record evidence, and every reasonable inference there-
from, in the light most favorable to Plaintiff as the non-moving party.
Dalton, 353 N.C. at 651, 548 S.E.2d at 707.

Genuine issues of material fact exist of whether Defendants were
responsible for filing, mailing, or providing Plaintiff with her completed
returns, and whether, if and when, Defendants did, in fact, provide
Plaintiff with her returns. Defendants contend that the preparation of
the returns were the Defendants’ last acts pertaining to Plaintiff’s 2006
and 2007 returns to accrue the statute of repose. However, Defendants’
assertions are rebutted by the testimony of an expert witness, Michael
Gillis, on the standard of care, which shows the delivery of the com-
pleted returns to the client, not completion of preparation, marks the
conclusion of a tax preparation engagement:

Q. So by your testimony, then, for each year, the engage-
ment of Gould Killian ended when they delivered a pre-
pared return to Karen Head?

A. Delivered, mailed, she picked up, whatever process it
was in which she received her returns, then it’s her respon-
sibility to sign and file at that point. (emphasis supplied).

Generally, the start of the running of the statute of repose for pro-
fessional negligence occurs when a prospective defendant has com-
pleted the transaction he was hired to complete, which concludes his
professional obligation to his client. See Carle, 225 N.C. App. at 665, 738
S.E. 2d at 772-73 (holding that defendants’ obligation to plaintiffs was
complete and statute of repose began to run when defendants struc-
tured the completed transaction of stock into employee stock owner-
ship plan); Hargett v. Holland, 337 N.C. 651, 654, 447 S.E.2d 784, 787
(1994) (holding that last act of defendants triggering the running of the
statute of repose was the preparation, delivery and supervised execu-
tion of a will); Babb v. Hoskins, 223 N.C. App. 103, 108, 733 S.E.2d 881,
885 (2012) (holding that the last act of defendants triggering the running
of the statute of repose was the preparation, delivery, and execution of
trust documents).

In this case, Plaintiff alleges a disputed issue of fact exists of whether
the tax returns were to be delivered to her or filed by Defendants. See
Wilkins, 185 N.C. App. at 672, 649 S.E.2d at 661. The facts are in dispute
whether Defendants were responsible for delivering or filing Plaintiff’s
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tax returns and whether they did, in fact, deliver or file Plaintiff’s com-
pleted tax returns. The resolution of this disputed fact is the basis to
determine when the last act by Defendants occurred to trigger and com-
mence the running of the statute of repose.

If the parties’ understanding was that Defendants were respon-
sible for delivering, filing, or mailing Plaintiff’s 2006 and 2007 returns,
and Defendants failed to do so as alleged by Plaintiff, then the last act
of Defendants for statute of repose purposes would be their failure
to provide Plaintiff with her returns at the times immediately prior to
the deadlines for which refunds could be claimed by Plaintiff on those
returns. Those points in time would be when “the alleged mistakes could
no longer be remedied.” Carle, 225 N.C. App. at 661, 738 S.E. 2d at 771.
The statute of repose would not have commenced to run until those
points in time for each return had passed. See id.

Genuine issues of material fact exist of whether Defendants were
responsible for delivering, mailing, or providing Plaintiff with her tax
returns, and whether and when they did so. These are classic issues of
fact reserved for the jury to resolve. The trial court’s conclusions that
the statute of repose applies as a matter of law to affirm summary judg-
ment under these facts is error, when the dates and facts constituting
Defendants’ last acts or omissions are in dispute.

VI. Professional Negligence

[3] Dueto thetrial court’s determination that Plaintiff’s professional neg-
ligence claim is barred by the applicable statute of repose, it declined to
address whether Plaintiff has sufficiently alleged and pled the elements
of professional negligence to defeat Defendants’ motion for summary
judgment. Our de novo review shows Plaintiff has alleged and shown
genuine issues of fact exist, which overcomes Defendants’ motion for
summary judgment on Plaintiff’s professional negligence claim.

“In order to establish a claim of professional negligence, a plain-
tiff must show: ‘(1) the nature of the defendant’s profession; (2) the
defendant’s duty to conform to a certain standard of conduct; and (3) a
breach of the duty proximately caused injury to the plaintiffs.” ” Michael
v. Huffman Oil Co., 190 N.C. App. 256, 271, 661 S.E.2d 1, 11 (2008)
(emphasis omitted) (quoting Assoctated Indus. Contr’rs, Inc. v. Fleming
Eng’g, Inc., 162 N.C. App. 405, 413, 590 S.E.2d 866, 872 (2004)).

“It is generally recognized that an accountant may be held liable for
damages naturally and proximately resulting from his failure to use that
degree of knowledge, skill and judgment usually possessed by members
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of the profession in a particular locality.” Snipes v. Jackson, 69 N.C.
App. 64, 73, 316 S.E.2d 657, 662, disc. rev. denied, 312 N.C. 85, 321 S.E.2d
899 (1984) (citation omitted).

Viewed in the light most favorable to Plaintiff, as the non-moving party,
the evidence tends to show genuine issues of material fact exist regarding
Defendants’ alleged professional negligence which precludes summary
judgment. Wilkins, 185 N.C. App. at 672, 649 S.E.2d at 661. Defendant,
Edward Towson, agrees in his testimony that he and his co-Defendant firm
owe a duty of care to Plaintiff.

The fact is undisputed that Defendants did timely submit, mail, and
file Plaintiff’s 2005 tax returns at her request. Even though the record
shows Plaintiff did not ask Defendants to mail her 2006 and 2007 tax
returns, a genuine issue of fact is raised by Plaintiff’s testimony about
her understanding regarding whether Defendants would file or mail her
tax returns for 2006 and 2007 based on their prior willingness to mail
her returns in 2005.

Whether Defendants should have made it clearer, and did make it
clear to Plaintiff that they allegedly did not intend to file or mail her
tax returns in those years is a factual dispute. Having filed her returns
the previous year, it would be reasonable for Plaintiff to presume and
expect Defendants would do the same in succeeding years, particularly
where federal and multiple state returns were required to be prepared,
signed, and filed.

Taking Plaintiff’s allegations and testimony as true, together with the
undisputed fact that Plaintiff’s 2005 tax returns were timely filed and her
2006 and 2007 returns were not filed when due, a genuine issue of mate-
rial fact exists for the jury to determine whether Defendants breached
their duty of care by not timely filing or by physically providing Plaintiff
with her completed tax returns.

On the matter of injury incurred, the record shows Plaintiff’s 2006
and 2007 returns were not filed within three years of their original due
date, which cost her the ability to claim a refund or tax credit for over-
payment. LR.C. § 6511(b)(2)(A) (2010). Plaintiff’s 2006 return reflected
an overpayment of $60,019 to be applied to the 2007 return. Based upon
LR.C. § 6511(b)(2)(A), Plaintiff could have claimed the overpayment
credit, if the 2006 return had been timely filed by October 15, 2007.

Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Plaintiff, a rea-
sonable fact-finder could determine Defendants negligently failed to file,
deliver, or provide Plaintiff with her completed tax returns for her to
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timely file, and their failure resulted in Plaintiff’s inability to claim a tax
refund or credit.

VII. Fraudulent Concealment

[4] Plaintiff next contends the trial court erred by granting summary
judgment in Defendants’ favor as to her claim for fraudulent conceal-
ment. We disagree.

Fraudulent concealment is generally asserted as a claim
for damages. It is a form of fraudulent misrepresentation
entitling the claimant to damages or rescission of [a] con-
tract. To assert a claim for fraudulent concealment, there
must be a showing that the opposing party knew a mate-
rial fact, and failed to fully disclose that fact in violation of
a pre-existing duty to disclose.

Friedland v. Gales, 131 N.C. App. 802, 807, 509 S.E.2d 793, 797 (1998)
(internal citations and quotation marks omitted).

Plaintiff cites to portions of her deposition testimony, as well as a
series of emails including emails between her, Towson, and her assistant,
and the log of Rosa Shade, beginning on or around 28 March 2012. She
asserts this evidence supports her position that a genuine issue of material
fact exists concerning her fraudulent concealment claim. Significantly,
however, these emails were exchanged after Plaintiff had already termi-
nated her employment of Defendants on 27 September 2011.

A cause of action for fraud is based on an affirmative mis-
representation of a material fact, or a failure to disclose
a material fact relating to a transaction which the parties
had a duty to disclose. . ..

A duty to disclose arises in three situations. The first
instance is where a fiduciary relationship exists between
the parties to the transaction. . . .

The two remaining situations in which a duty to disclose
exists arise outside a fiduciary relationship, when the par-
ties are negotiating at arm’s length. The first of these is
when a party has taken affirmative steps to conceal mate-
rial facts from the other. . . .

A duty to disclose in arm’s length negotiations also arises
where one party has knowledge of a latent defect in the
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subject matter of the negotiations about which the other
party is both ignorant and unable to discover through rea-
sonable diligence.

Harton v. Harton, 81 N.C. App. 295, 297-98, 344 S.E.2d 117, 119 (1986)
(internal citations omitted).

“We have found no case stating that the relationship between accoun-
tant and client is per se fiduciary in nature.” Harrold v. Dowd, 149 N.C.
App. 777, 784, 561 S.E.2d 914, 919 (2002); see also CommScope Credit
Union v. Butler & Burke, LLP, __ N.C. __, _ |, 790 S.E.2d 657, 660-61
(2016) (holding that there is no per se fiduciary relationship between an
independent auditor and its audit client). “For a breach of fiduciary duty
to exist, there must first be a fiduciary relationship between the parties.”
Dalton v. Camp, 353 N.C. at 651, 548 S.E.2d at 707 (citations omitted).

Consequently, Defendants owed no per se fiduciary duty to Plaintiff
at the time the emails were sent because Defendants had already been ter-
minated by Plaintiff and replaced by another accountant. Furthermore,
Defendants and Plaintiff were in no way “negotiating at arm’s length”
about “the subject matter of [a] negotiation” at the time the emails were
sent. Harton, 81 N.C. App. at 298, 344 S.E.2d at 119.

No relationship, fiduciary or otherwise, existed between the parties
at that point in time, as Plaintiff had already terminated her relationship
with Defendants, hired a new CPA, and was not attempting to hire or pay
Defendants for any new work engagement.

We hold that Plaintiff has failed to proffer evidence demonstrating
that a pre-existing duty to disclose existed. She has failed to advance
all of the elements of a fraudulent concealment claim and to rebut
Defendants’ evidence in support of their motions for summary judg-
ment and partial summary judgment. Plaintiff’s arguments on this issue
are overruled.

Because the trial court properly granted summary judgment in
Defendants’ favor on Plaintiff’s fraudulent concealment claim, we also
affirm its grant of summary judgment in Defendants’ favor on Plaintiff’s
claim for punitive damages. See Watson v. Dixon, 352 N.C. 343, 348, 532
S.E.2d 175, 178 (2000) (citations omitted) (“As a rule you cannot have a
cause of action for punitive damages by itself. If the complainant fails
to plead or prove his cause of action, then he is not allowed an award
of punitive damages because he must establish his cause of action as a
prerequisite for a punitive damage award.”).



94 IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

HEAD v. GOULD KILLIAN CPA GRP., PA.
[251 N.C. App. 81 (2016)]

VIII. Conclusion

The trial court’s order granting partial summary judgment to
Defendants on Plaintiff’s fraudulent concealment claim and punitive
damages claim is affirmed. The trial court’s order granting Defendant
partial summary judgment on the Plaintiff’'s professional negligence
claim is reversed. We remand for trial on Plaintiff’s professional negli-
gence claim. It is so ordered.

AFFIRMED IN PART, REVERSED IN PART, and REMANDED.
Chief Judge McGEE concurs.

Judge ENOCHS concurs in part and dissents in a separate opinion.
ENOCHS, Judge, concurring in part and dissenting in part.

Although I agree with my colleagues that the trial court properly
granted Defendants’ motion for partial summary judgment on Plaintiff’s
fraudulent concealment claim, I respectfully dissent from the majority’s
position that the trial court erroneously granted partial summary judg-
ment on Plaintiff’s professional negligence claims concerning her 2006
and 2007 tax returns. Because I believe that Plaintiff’s professional neg-
ligence claims were properly barred by the applicable statute of repose,
I would affirm the trial court’s grant of partial summary judgement on
these claims as well.

Plaintiff contends that the trial court erred in granting summary
judgement in favor of Defendants as to her professional negligence
claims relating to her 2006 and 2007 tax returns. “In order to establish a
claim of professional negligence, a plaintiff must show: ‘(1) the nature
of the defendant’s profession; (2) the defendant’s duty to conform to a
certain standard of conduct; and (3) a breach of the duty proximately
caused injury to the plaintiffs.” ” Michael v. Huffman O1il Co., 190 N.C.
App. 256, 271, 661 S.E.2d 1, 11 (2008) (emphasis omitted) (quoting
Associated Indus. Contr'rs, Inc. v. Fleming Eng’g, Inc., 162 N.C. App.
405, 413, 590 S.E.2d 866, 872 (2004)).

However, in the present case, the issue of whether Plaintiff success-
fully established the elements of a professional negligence claim need
not be reached as her professional negligence claims relating to her 2006
and 2007 tax returns are barred by the applicable statute of repose. N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 1-15(c) (2015) states, in pertinent part, that “in no event shall
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an action be commenced more than four years from the last act of the
defendant giving rise to the cause of action[.]”

It is well established that

statutes of repose are intended to mitigate the risk of inher-
ently uncertain and potentially limitless legal exposure.
Accordingly, such a statute’s limitation period is initiated
by the defendant’s last act or omission that at some later
point gives rise to the plaintiff’s cause of action. The time
of the occurrence or discovery of the plaintiff’s injury is
not a factor in the operation of a statute of repose.

Christie v. Hartley Constr., Inc., 367 N.C. 534, 539, 766 S.E.2d
283, 287 (2014) (internal citations and quotation marks omitted)
(emphasis added).

Moreover,

[ulnlike the statute of limitations, the statute of repose
serves as an unyielding and absolute barrier that prevents a
plaintiff’s right of action even before his cause of action may
accrue, which is generally recognized as the point in time
when the elements necessary for a legal wrong coalesce.

In order to decide whether the statute of repose bars
plaintiffs’ claim we must determine when the last act of
alleged negligence took place. To determine when the
last act or omission occurred we look to factors such
as the contractual relationship between the parties, when
the contracted-for services were complete, and when the
alleged mistakes could no longer be remedied.

Carle v. Wyrick, Robbins, Yates & Ponton, LLP, 225 N.C. App. 656, 661,
738 S.E.2d 766, 770-71 (2013) (internal citations, quotation marks, and
footnote omitted).

Here, the unrebutted evidence reveals that the final act taken by
Defendants in regard to Plaintiff’s 2006 and 2007 tax returns occurred on
12 December 2008, when Defendants hand delivered Plaintiff her 2007
prepared returns. Plaintiff filed her complaint asserting professional
negligence relating to the preparation of her 2006 and 2007 tax returns
on 4 November 2013 — nearly 11 months after the limitations period
imposed by N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-15(c) had expired as to the 2007 returns,
and well after the limitations period relating to her 2006 returns had run.
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It is important to note that Defendants’ preparation of Plaintiff’s
returns for each tax year were separate and distinct transactions for the
purposes of the statute of repose. Indeed, this is evidenced by Michael
Gillis’ unrebutted deposition testimony:

Q. So by your testimony, then, for each year, the
engagement of Gould Killian ended when they delivered a
prepared return to Karen Head?

A. Delivered, mailed, she picked up, whatever pro-
cess it was in which she received her returns, then it’s her
responsibility to sign and file at that point.

Moreover, the treatment of Plaintiff’s professional negligence claims by
the parties and the trial court below indicate that each prepared return
was considered to be a separate and distinct transaction. This is made
even more apparent by the fact that Plaintiff’s professional negligence
claims for tax years 2008 and 2009 — which were brought within the
four-year window for statute of repose purposes — were allowed by
the trial court to advance to trial. Consequently, preparation of each
of the tax returns for tax years 2006, 2007, 2008, and 2009 constitute
four separate completed transactions for which the four-year statute of
repose began to run at the time they were delivered — or were errone-
ously not delivered due to an omission by Defendants — to Plaintiff.

Plaintiff nevertheless contends on appeal, however, that Defendants’
final act was not the delivery of the 2006 and 2007 tax returns to her
— or Defendants’ omission in delivering them to her — but rather was
the failure on the part of Defendants to later cure any failure to file the
returns by subsequently alerting Plaintiff that she needed to file them
before the assessment of interest and penalties by the IRS. Significantly
though, “[t]he issue, however, is not whether defendants continued to
represent plaintiffs after the transaction . . . . The issue is when the last
act alleged to have caused plaintiffs harm occurred.” Carle, 225 N.C.
App. at 664, 738 S.E.2d at 772.

This Court addressed a similar situation in Carle, where we analyzed
what constituted a completed transaction triggering the start of the run-
ning of the statute of repose. In that case, the plaintiffs brought a profes-
sional negligence action against the law firm and attorney who created
an employee stock ownership trust for them in 2004. Id. at 656-57, 738
S.E.2d at 768. The transaction was supposed to be structured so that the
plaintiffs would be able to monetize their corporate stock while avoid-
ing the capital gains taxes normally associated with doing so. Id. at 657,
738 S.E.2d at 768. However, the defendants improperly structured the
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trust and the plaintiffs were later assessed with tax deficiencies by the
IRS on the basis that the plaintiffs did, in fact, owe capital gains taxes.
Id. at 657-58, 738 S.E.2d at 768.

Significantly, as in the present case, the defendants in Carle
continued to work with the plaintiffs towards resolving issues with the
transaction after its completion:

In August 2005, after the deal had closed, concerns
were raised regarding the transaction . . . which defen-
dants then investigated at plaintiffs’ request. Defendants
later helped prepare for plaintiffs’ 2007 IRS inquiry relat-
ing to the tax implications of this transaction. Thus, it
is clear that although they considered these matter[s]
separate and billed plaintiffs for each matter[] separately,
defendants continued to represent plaintiffs well after
10 June 2005 and to assist plaintiffs with matters aris-
ing from the transaction, even without any subsequent
engagement letter.

Id. at 663-64, 738 S.E.2d at 772.

The plaintiffs filed suit for, among other claims, professional negli-
gence on 25 January 2010. Id. at 658, 738 S.E.2d at 769. The defendants
moved for summary judgment asserting the statute of repose. Id. The
trial court granted the defendants’ motion and the plaintiffs appealed
arguing that the statute of repose did not apply as “their cause of action
did not accrue until the IRS proceedings were completed on or about
26 May 2010.” Id. at 659, 738 S.E.2d at 769.

On appeal, this Court affirmed the trial court’s grant of summary
judgment, holding that

[c]onsidering the evidence in the light most favor-
able to plaintiffs, the last act giving rise to plaintiffs’ claim
took place on 10 June 2005 because at that point defen-
dants’ role in the transaction was complete and nothing
could have been done to remedy the alleged omissions.
Plaintiffs commenced this action on 25 January 2010,
more than four years after the last act of defendants giv-
ing rise to plaintiff’s cause of action. Even if plaintiffs
are correct that their action did not accrue until the IRS
issued its final assessment, the action would still be barred
by the statute of repose. If the action is not brought within
the specified period, the plaintiff literally has no cause of
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action. Therefore, defendants are entitled to judgment as
a matter of law and we affirm the trial court’s order grant-
ing defendants’ motion for summary judgment.

Id. at 665, 738 S.E.2d at 772-73 (internal citations and quotation marks
omitted); see also Hargett v. Holland, 337 N.C. 651, 656, 447 S.E.2d 784,
788 (1994) (holding plaintiffs’ professional negligence claim barred by
statute of repose where plaintiffs’ claim brought more than four years
after defendant drafted will and “plaintiffs’ complaint allege[d] a con-
tractual relationship between defendant and testator to draft a will and
that defendant supervise[] execution of the will. After defendant com-
pleted these acts, he had performed his professional obligations; and
his professional duty to testator was at an end”); Babb v. Hoskins, 223
N.C. App. 103, 108, 733 S.E.2d 881, 885 (2012) (“Because the ‘nature of
the services he agreed to perform’ was solely limited to the drafting of
three [trust] documents, we conclude that [the defendant-attorney’s]
professional duty to [the plaintiffs] ended upon completion of the Trust
restatement on 9 October 2006, and, consistent with the above author-
ity, [the defendant-attorney] owed no continuing fiduciary duty beyond
that date[.] . . . Therefore, plaintiffs’ claim for breach of fiduciary duty
by [the defendant-attorney] for actions before 31 May 2007 was prop-
erly dismissed pursuant to N.C.G.S. § 1A-1, Rule 12(b)(6) because those
actions are beyond the four year statute of repose provision contained
in N.C.G.S. § 1-15(c).” (internal citation omitted)).

Therefore, whether Defendants delivered Plaintiff her 2006 and
2007 tax returns to file — as their evidence tends to show — or whether
Defendants never delivered Plaintiff’s 2006 and 2007 tax returns to her
after their preparation through an omission on their part — as Plaintiff
claims — the statute of repose would have begun to run in either sce-
nario on 12 December 2008 as to her 2007 returns and well before that
for her 2006 returns at the time these individual transactions were
deemed completed. It is immaterial that Towson later purported to help
Plaintiff to resolve issues surrounding her 2006 and 2007 tax returns in
light of Carle, as those transactions, based on the unrebutted evidence,
were already deemed to be completed.

Furthermore, even assuming arguendo as Plaintiff’s evidence tends
to show that Defendants had affirmatively agreed and represented to
Plaintiff that they would file her 2006 and 2007 tax returns for her on
her behalf and had failed to do so, this would, at the most, amount to an
omission by Defendants occurring — at the latest — on 12 December
2008 given that a statute of repose’s “limitation period is initiated by
the defendant’s last act or omission that at some later point gives rise
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to the plaintiff’s cause of action.” Christie, 367 N.C. at 539, 766 S.E.2d
at 287 (internal quotation marks omitted) (emphasis added). Therefore,
Plaintiff’s claims would be barred on statute of repose grounds on this
basis as well even when taking her evidence as true.

In sum, either Defendants (1) properly delivered Plaintiff’s 2006 and
2007 tax returns to her; or (2) omitted to do so despite their obligation to do
so. Either way the “statute’s limitation period is initiated by the defendant’s
last act or omission that at some later point gives rise to the plaintiff’s
cause of action. The time of the occurrence or discovery of the plaintiff’s
ingury is not a _factor in the operation of a statute of repose” Id. (internal
citations and quotation marks omitted) (emphasis added), and “[u]nlike
the statute of limitations, the statute of repose serves as an unyielding and
absolute barrier that prevents a plaintiff’s right of action even before his
cause of action may accrue|.]” Carle, 225 N.C. App. at 661, 738 S.E.2d at
770 (citation and quotation marks omitted) (emphasis added).

As a result, for all of the above reasons, I would affirm the trial
court’s grant of partial summary judgment on Plaintiff’s professional
negligence claims concerning her 2006 and 2007 tax returns based upon
the applicable statute of repose. I therefore respectfully dissent from the
majority’s opinion on this issue.

IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF JAMES JUNIOR PHILLIPS, DECEASED
MARY PHILLIPS, CAVEATOR & DIANE BOSWELL, PROPOUNDER

No. COA16-613
Filed 20 December 2016

1. Jurisdiction—standing—caveat to will
The trial court erred by ruling the caveator lacked standing to
bring the caveat to the 2007 Will. That portion of the trial court’s
order was reversed.

2. Pleadings—affidavits—timeliness—North Carolina Dead
Man’s Statute

The trial court abused its discretion by granting the propound-

er's motion to strike the caveator’s submitted affidavits made in

opposition to the propounder’s motion for summary judgment. The

affidavits were served by hand delivery before the two-day limit pro-

scribed by Rule 56(c). Further, North Carolina’s Dead Man’s Statute,
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N.C.G.S. § 8C-1, Rule 601(c), was not at issue since none of the
affiants were interested witnesses.

3. Wills—caveat proceeding—testamentary capacity—undue
influence and duress—proper execution of will

The trial court erred by granting summary judgment in favor of
the propounder. There were genuine issues of material fact regard-
ing decedent’s testamentary capacity, undue influence and duress,
and proper execution of the will.

Appeal by caveator from order entered 2 February 2016 by Judge
Eric C. Morgan in Alamance County Superior Court. Heard in the Court
of Appeals 17 November 2016.

Ronald Barbee for caveator-appellant.

Holt, Longest, Wall, Blaetz & Moseley, PLLC, by W. Phillip Moseley,
for propounder-appellee.

TYSON, Judge.

Mary Phillips (“caveator”) appeals from an order granting summary
judgment in favor of Diane Boswell (“propounder”). We reverse and
remand for trial.

I. Factual Background

James Junior Phillips (“decedent”) was born 20 September 1925 and
died 2 May 2007. The decedent was the father of two children from two
separate marriages, including the caveator. The decedent also fathered
other children out of wedlock, including the propounder. His death cer-
tificate lists the cause of his death as general malnutrition and dementia.
The death certificate lists the propounder as the informant.

Shortly after decedent’s death, the propounder submitted a paper
writing as the purported last will of the decedent signed on 3 April 2007
(“2007 Will”). The 2007 Will was signed less than a month prior to dece-
dent’s death and left all of his property to the propounder. The 2007
Will was admitted to probate and Letters Testamentary were issued to
the propounder.

On 3 February 2010, the caveator filed a caveat to the 2007 Will.
First, the caveator asserted at the time the decedent allegedly signed the
2007 Will, he suffered from dementia and lacked sufficient mental capac-
ity to execute the will or any other legal document. Second, she asserted
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the 2007 Will was procured by undue influence and duress over the dece-
dent by the propounder and possibly others. Finally, she asserted, upon
information and belief, that the 2007 Will was not properly executed as
required by law for a valid attested will.

On 29 October 2012, the propounder filed a response to the caveat
to the probate of the will. The response alleged an ongoing conflict
between the caveator and the decedent. The decedent was alleged to
have had little contact with the caveator for more than fifteen years
prior to his death. The propounder referenced and attached another will,
which the decedent had purportedly executed in 1993 (“1993 Will”). The
1993 Will left the majority of the decedent’s property to the propounder
and his nephew. The decedent also left a remaining vehicle to his girl-
friend at the time, as well as a life estate in a house, with the remainder
to the propounder and the decedent’s nephew. The 1993 Will specifically
made no bequest or devise to the caveator.

The propounder’s response to the caveat also notes the decedent
and attorney who executed the 2007 Will agreed to tear the 1993 Will
in order to revoke it, pursuant to the execution of the 2007 Will. The
caveator asserted neither the caveator nor her attorney had received a
copy of the response, along with the certificate of service and exhibits.
The trial court denied the caveator’s motion to strike the response from
being included in the record on appeal.

On 6 January 2016, the propounder filed a motion for summary judg-
ment with six affidavits and two depositions in support of her motion.
Two of the affidavits were from the two attorneys who had prepared the
1993 Will and 2007 Will. Each attorney separately stated the decedent
was competent to execute each respective will. The affidavit regarding
the 2007 Will asserts it was executed outside of the attorney’s office.

Two of the propounder’s other affidavits were submitted by a mar-
ried couple, Herman and Shirley Long, who were long-time friends of
the decedent. Their affidavits asserted Mrs. Long had suggested to the
decedent that he prepare a will due to his declining health. Their affi-
davits asserted decedent responded that he already had a will, but was
thinking of changing it to give the propounder all of his property. Mrs.
Long’s affidavit also stated she knew the caveator and noted the cave-
ator had an estranged relationship with the decedent.

The propounder’s final two affidavits were submitted by one of dece-
dent’s ex-wives and from a former girlfriend. Both women’s affidavits
stated they knew the propounder and caveator, and the propounder’s
and caveator’s respective relationships with their father. Both women
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noted the caveator had a contentious relationship with the decedent,
but that the decedent loved the propounder, and she had looked after
him during his illness. After visiting the decedent during the last year
of his life, both women believed him to be in good mental health and
aware of his property holdings. Overall, all six of the propounder’s affi-
davits asserted the decedent was competent to make a will, had a good
relationship with the propounder, and had a strained relationship with
the caveator.

On 21 January 2016, the caveator responded with four affidavits
made in opposition to the propounder’s motion. These affidavits were
sworn by blood relatives of the decedent, including his brother, two
nieces, and grandniece. None of these affiants were interested parties
in the estate.

These affidavits directly contradict the claims asserted in the pro-
pounder’s affidavits, asserting decedent was in good mental health and
that he wanted the propounder to inherit all his property. Three of the
affiants stated they had visited the decedent almost daily from March
2007 until his death; the fourth affiant visited him frequently during that
time frame. The affiants all assert decedent told them he did not trust
the propounder, thought she was trying to poison him, and that she had
stolen money from him. Three of the affiants assert that on one occa-
sion the propounder refused to let the caveator see her father and had
pushed her out of the house. These affiants also assert they had never
seen Herman or Shirley Long at decedent’s house.

The affiants allege the decedent stated, both before and after his
admission to the hospital, that the propounder “was trying to get him
to sign some papers that would give her all of his property” and he did
not want to leave her any of his property. Specifically upon his return
from the hospital, decedent told them he had refused to sign any papers
and did not want the propounder to have any of his property. The affi-
ants also assert they knew decedent’s signature, and the signature on the
2007 Will was not that of the decedent.

The propounder moved to strike these affidavits on the grounds
they (1) were not based upon personal knowledge, (2) contained hear-
say, (3) were barred by Rule 601 of the North Carolina Rules of Civil
Procedure, and (4) the statements regarding the decedent’s signature
raised issues not pled by the caveator. The trial court heard arguments
on the propounder’s motion to strike the affidavits and motion for sum-
mary judgment on 25 January 2016.
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The trial court granted the propounder’s motion to strike the cave-
ator’s affidavits and held the tendered affidavits were not timely served
pursuant to Rule 56(c) of the North Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure,
they violated Rule 802 of the North Carolina Rules of Evidence, and the
holding of In re Will of Ball, 225 N.C. 91, 33 S.E.2d 619 (1945). The trial
court also granted the propounder’s motion for summary judgment and
concluded the caveator did not have standing to bring the action. The trial
court further stated that even if the caveator did have standing, no genu-
ine issue concerning any material fact existed and the propounder was
entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law. The caveator appeals.

II. Jurisdiction

Jurisdiction lies in this Court pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 7TA-27(b)(1),
which provides for an appeal of right from any final judgment of a supe-
rior court. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 7A-27(b)(1) (2015).

III. Issues

The caveator contends the trial court erred by (1) granting the pro-
pounder’s motion to strike her submitted affidavits made in opposition
to the propounder’s motion for summary judgment, and (2) granting the
propounder’s motion for summary judgment.

IV. Standard of Review

A caveat is an in rem proceeding and operates as “an attack upon
the validity of the instrument purporting to be a will.” In re Will of Cox,
264 N.C. 90, 91, 118 S.E.2d 17, 18 (1961) (citation omitted). This Court
has noted:

When a caveat is filed the superior court acquires juris-
diction of the whole matter in controversy, including both
the question of probate and the issue of devisavit vel non.
Devisavit vel non requires a finding of whether or not the
decedent made a will and, if so, whether any of the scripts
before the court is that will. Thus, in a case such as this
one, where there are presented multiple scripts purport-
ing to be the decedent’s last will and testament, the issue
of devisavit vel non should be resolved in a single caveat
proceeding in which the jury may be required to answer
numerous sub-issues|.]

In re Will of Dunn, 129 N.C. App. 321, 325-26, 500 S.E.2d 99, 102 (1998)
(emphasis original) (citations and quotation marks omitted), disc.
review denied, 348 N.C. 693, 511 S.E.3d 645 (1998).
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Summary judgment may be entered in a caveat proceeding in factu-
ally appropriate cases. See, e.g., In re Will of Jones, 362 N.C. 569, 573-
74, 669 S.E.2d 572, 576-77 (2008) (analyzing the case under traditional
summary judgment standards to determine whether genuine issues of
material fact existed). While we review an order striking an affidavit in
support of or in opposition to summary judgment for abuse of discre-
tion, Blair Concrete Servs., Inc. v. Van-Allen Steel Co., 152 N.C. App.
215, 219, 566 S.E.2d 766, 768 (2002), we review the trial court’s ultimate
determination of the summary judgment motion de novo. In re Will of
Jones, 362 N.C. at 573, 669 S.E.2d at 576.

Summary judgment is only appropriate where “the pleadings, depo-
sitions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with
the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any mate-
rial fact and that any party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.”
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 56(c) (2015). When considering a motion for
summary judgment, the trial court views the evidence in a light most
favorable to the nonmoving party and resolves all inferences against the
moving party. In re Will of Jones, 362 N.C. at 573, 669 S.E.2d at 576.
“Nevertheless, if there is any question as to the weight of evidence sum-
mary judgment should be denied.” Id. at 573-74, 669 S.E.2d at 576 (cita-
tion, brackets, and quotation marks omitted).

Because of the factual nature of issues presented during caveat pro-
ceedings, “[sJummary judgment should be entered cautiously.” Seagraves
0. Seagraves, 206 N.C. App. 333, 338, 698 S.E.2d 155, 161 (2010); see In re
Will of Jones, 362 N.C. at 582-83, 669 S.E.2d at 582 (reversing summary
judgment on undue influence); In re Will of Priddy, 171 N.C. App. 395,
402, 614 S.E.2d 454, 460 (2005) (reversing summary judgment on testa-
mentary capacity, undue influence, and proper execution of the will).

V. Standing

[1] The propounder asserts the caveator, although an heir-at-law, did
not have standing to bring the caveat to the 2007 Will. The propounder
argues the caveator would not take under the 1993 Will, which the pro-
pounder submitted to the trial court for consideration in her response to
the caveat. We disagree.

“Standing to sue means simply that the party has a sufficient stake in
an otherwise justiciable controversy to obtain judicial resolution of that
controversy.” Town of Ayden v. Town of Winteruville, 143 N.C. App. 136,
140, 544 S.E.2d 821, 824 (2001) (citations and quotation marks omitted).
The parties in a caveat proceeding “are not parties in the usual sense
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but are limited classes of persons specified by the statute who are given
a right to participate in the determination of probate of testamentary
script.” In re Ashley, 23 N.C. App. 176, 181, 208 S.E.2d 398, 401, cert.
denied, 286 N.C. 335, 210 S.E.2d 56 (1974).

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 31-32 allows any person “interested in the estate”
to file such an action, which includes anyone “who has a direct pecuni-
ary interest in the estate of the alleged testator which will be defeated
or impaired if the instrument in question is held to be a valid will.” In
re Ashley, 23 N.C. App. at 180, 208 S.E.2d at 401 (citation and quotation
marks omitted).

North Carolina courts have determined that heirs-at-law, next of kin,
and persons claiming under a prior will are all considered as a person
“interested in the estate” under the statute. See e.g., Sigmund Sternberger
Foundation, Inc. v. Tannenbaum, 273 N.C. 6568, 674, 161 S.E.2d 116, 127
(1968) (persons claiming under a prior will); Brissie v. Craig, 232 N.C.
701, 705, 62 S.E.2d 330, 333 (1950) (heirs-at-law); Randolph v. Hughes,
89 N.C. 428, 431 (1883) (next of kin).

In In re Will of Barnes, 157 N.C. App. 144, 162, 579 S.E.2d 585, 597
(2003), rev’d per curiam for reasons stated in the dissent, 358 N.C. 143,
592 S.E.2d 688-89 (2004), beneficiaries under a prior will, who were not
heirs-at-law, filed a caveat to the probated will. While the jury found the
probated will had been procured by undue influence, it also found that
the prior will had been revoked by the testator. Id. at 146, 579 S.E.2d at 587.

The majority’s opinion held that, in managing the litigation of the
caveat to the probated will, the trial judge should have first ordered
the jury to determine whether the prior will had been revoked, prior to
deciding the validity of the probated will. Id. at 158-59, 579 S.E.2d at 594-
95. The majority reasoned that in order to determine whether the benefi-
ciaries of the prior will had standing to caveat the probated will, it was
first necessary to determine whether the prior will had been revoked. Id.
If the prior will had been revoked, then the caveators did not have stand-
ing and the trial court lacked jurisdiction over the matter. Id.

The dissenting judge, and subsequently the Supreme Court, dis-
agreed. Id. at 163, 579 S.E.2d at 597 (Hudson, J., concurring in part and
dissenting in part). The dissenting judge argued the caveators, as ben-
eficiaries under a previous will, had standing to bring the caveat against
the probated will, and such caveat properly invoked the jurisdiction
of the court. Id. Most significantly, the dissenting judge stated:
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because the will caveat is a proceeding in rem, I do not
believe that the jury’s ultimate determination that the [pre-
vious] will had been revoked should be held to erase the
subject matter jurisdiction of the superior court over
the entire proceeding ab initio. . . .

.. . Whenever persons claiming under a prior will insti-
tute a caveat, they are potential, not certain, beneficiaries
of the estate in question. Even if their claimed interest in
the estate ultimately is not upheld, they nonetheless have
standing to litigate the issues.

1d.

The dissent’s analysis, adopted by our Supreme Court, in In re Will
of Barnes is applicable here. While the propounder argues the caveator
lacks standing, because the caveator does not take under the 1993 Will,
our courts’ precedents indicate otherwise. In this case, the caveator is
a potential, but not certain, beneficiary of the estate in question as the
decedent’s heir-at-law. See id.; Brissie v. Craig, 232 N.C. at 705, 62 S.E.2d
at 333. As such, she had standing to bring the initial caveat against the
2007 Will. Upon bringing the caveat, the court obtained jurisdiction over
the whole controversy, which eventually included the 1993 Will submit-
ted by the propounder. See id.

One of the purposes of a caveat proceeding is for the jury to deter-
mine if “any of the scripts” before the court are, in fact, the decedent’s
will. In re Will of Dunn, 129 N.C. App. at 325, 500 S.E.2d at 102 (empha-
sis and citation omitted). Whether the caveator’s claimed interest is ulti-
mately upheld, as an heir-at-law she had standing to challenge the 2007
Will. See In re Will of Barnes, 1567 N.C. App. at 163, 579 S.E.2d at 597.
(Hudson, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part). The propounder’s
subsequent submission of the 1993 Will does not change her status as
such nor dissolve the court’s jurisdiction. Even if the 2007 Will is held
to be invalid and the 1993 Will upheld, because the caveator is an heir-
at-law, this determination would not deprive the trial court of jurisdic-
tion ab initio. See id. The trial court erred in ruling the caveator lacked
standing to bring the caveat to the 2007 Will. That portion of the trial
court’s order is reversed.

VI. Motion to Strike

[2] The caveator argues the trial court erred in granting the propound-
er’s motion to strike her submitted affidavits made in opposition to the
propounder’s motion for summary judgment. The trial court granted
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the motion to strike the affidavits pursuant to: (1) Rule 56 of the North
Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure; and, (2) Rule 802 of the North Carolina
Rules of Evidence, along with I'n re Will of Ball, 225 N.C. 91, 33 S.E.2d
619. We address both of these grounds.

1. Timing of the Affidavits

The trial court first determined the affidavits were not timely served
in accordance with Rule 56(c) of the North Carolina Rules of Civil
Procedure. We disagree.

In response to a motion for summary judgment, the adverse party
may submit opposing affidavits at least two days prior to the hearing.
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 56(c) (2015). Here, the caveator’s response to
the propounder’s motion for summary judgment and attached affidavits
were served 21 January 2016. The summary judgment hearing was held
on 25 January 2016, four days later. The affidavits were clearly served
by hand delivery before the two day limit proscribed by Rule 56(c). The
trial court abused its discretion by striking caveator’s four affidavits on
that ground. See id.

2. Substance of the Affidavits

The trial court found the caveator’s four tendered affidavits “do not
set forth such facts as would be admissible and contain hearsay and do
not address the issues of Undue Influence, Duress or proper execution
of the will.” Based upon this finding of fact, the trial court concluded the
propounder’s objection to and motion to strike the caveator’s affidavits
in opposition to summary judgment should be allowed pursuant to Rule
802 of the North Carolina Rules of Evidence and the holding of In re Will
of Ball. We disagree.

Affidavits submitted in opposition to a motion for summary judg-
ment must be: (1) made on personal knowledge; (2) set forth such facts
as would be admissible in evidence; and, (3) affirmatively show the affi-
ant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein. N.C. Gen. Stat.
§1A-1, Rule 56(e) (2015). The key issue in this case is whether the state-
ments in any or all of the caveator’s four affidavits “would be admissible
in evidence.” Id.

Our courts have long and consistently allowed a testator’s declara-
tions to be admitted into evidence for certain purposes during a caveat
proceeding. See In re Will of Brown, 194 N.C. 583, 595-96, 140 S.E. 192,
199 (1927); In re Will of Ball, 225 N.C. at 94-95, 33 S.E.2d at 621-22. For
example, the Supreme Court of North Carolina has stated:
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[i]t has been generally held that declarations, oral or writ-
ten, by the deceased may be shown in evidence upon the
trial of an issue involving his mental capacity, whether
such declarations were made before, at or after the
date on which it is contended that the deceased was of
unsound mind.

In re Will of Brown, 194 N.C. at 595, 140 S.E. at 199 (citation omitted).

Our Supreme Court has also allowed a testator’s declarations to be
admitted for the purpose of showing undue influence:

Evidence of declarations of the testator which disclose
his state of mind at the time of the execution of the paper
writing or the circumstances under which it was executed,
tending to show he did or did not act freely and voluntarily,
is competent as substantive proof of undue influence.
Other declarations, when relevant, may be admitted as
corroborative or supporting evidence, but alone they are
not sufficient to establish the fact at issue.

In re Will of Ball, 225 N.C. at 94-95, 33 S.E.2d at 622 (internal citation
omitted) (emphasis supplied).

Here, each of the affidavits in opposition to the propounder’s motion
for summary judgment include statements, which were allegedly made
by the decedent to the affiants between March and April 2007. The affi-
ants assert the decedent told them he did not trust the propounder,
thought she was trying to poison him, and that the propounder had sto-
len money from him.

The affiants also assert decedent told them, both before and after
his admission to the hospital, that the propounder was trying to get him
to sign some papers that would give her all of his property and decedent
did not want to leave the propounder any of his property.

The propounder asserts these statements were almost entirely
confined to those made after the execution of the will, and as such the
holding in In re Will of Ball prohibits them from being admitted into
evidence. We disagree.

First, based upon the record, it appears these statements were made
sometime between March 2007 and April 2007. The decedent’s 2007
Will was allegedly signed on 3 April 2007, which means some of these
statements were necessarily made prior to the purported execution of
the 2007 Will. Second, even if some of the statements were made after
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the execution of the will, nothing in In re Will of Ball requires their
exclusion. See In re Will of Ball, 225 N.C. at 94-95, 33 S.E.2d at 622.

The Court in In re Will of Ball specifically allows other declarations,
including those not made at the time of the execution of the will, or
which demonstrate the circumstances under which it was executed, to
be admitted into evidence, when relevant. Id.; see James B. McLaughlin,
Jr. and Richard T. Bowser, Wiggins Wills and Administration of Estates
in North Carolina § 6:3(b) (4th ed. 2005) (“North Carolina appears to
. . . admit the testator’s post-testamentary declarations as substantive
proof of undue influence.” (citing Caudill v. Smith, 117 N.C. App. 64, 450
S.E.2d 8 (1994); In re Will of Hall, 252 N.C. 70, 113 S.E.2d 1 (1960); In re
Will of Ball, 225 N.C. 91, 33 S.E.2d 619).

While these statements may not establish all the facts at issue, that
question was not before the court on the motion to strike the affidavits.
Rather, the question was whether these statements were admissible into
evidence. See N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 56(e). The decedent’s declara-
tions included in the affidavits are relevant to support the caveator’s argu-
ment that the propounder exerted undue influence over the decedent,
and, as such, are admissible into evidence, which defeats their exclusion.

Other information contained in the excluded affidavits outline the
decedent’s deteriorating health and memory based upon the times
the affiants spent with him in the two months prior to his death. They
also assert the propounder did not allow the caveator to see her father
on one occasion. These affidavits meet the requirements of N.C. Gen.
Stat. §1A-1, Rule 56(e) and do not violate Rule 802 or the case law out-
lined in In re Will of Ball. The trial court also erred by striking the affi-
davits on those grounds.

We note that North Carolina’s Dead Man’s Statute, N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 8C-1, Rule 601(c), is not at issue here; as none of the affiants are inter-
ested witnesses. See Taylor v. Abernethy, 174 N.C. App. 93, 96, 620
S.E.2d 242, 246 (2005) (noting that to be disqualified as a interested wit-
ness under the statute, the witness must have “a direct legal or pecu-
niary interest in the outcome of the litigation . . . a pecuniary interest
alone is insufficient to disqualify a witness under Rule 601.” (internal
quotation marks and citations omitted)), cert. denied, 360 N.C. 367, 630
S.E.2d 454 (2006).

VII. Summary Judgment

[3] After granting the motion to strike the caveator’s affidavits in oppo-
sition to summary judgment, the trial court found there was no standing
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for the caveator to bring the case and no genuine issue of material fact
existed. The court granted the propounder summary judgment as a mat-
ter of law. We disagree.

In her caveat, the caveator asserted the decedent lacked capac-
ity to execute the will, the will was procured by undue influence and
duress, and that “upon information and belief” the will was not executed
according to the legal requirements for a valid attested will. We address
each contention.

1. Testamentary Capacity

The presumption is that “every individual has the requisite capac-
ity to make a will, and those challenging the will bear the burden of
proving, by the greater weight of the evidence, that such capacity was
wanting.” In re Will of Sechrest, 140 N.C. App. 464, 473, 537 S.E.2d 511,
517 (2000). “A testator has testamentary capacity if he comprehends the
natural objects of his bounty; understands the kind, nature and extent
of his property; knows the manner in which he desires his act to take
effect; and realizes the effect his act will have upon his estate.” In re
Will of Buck, 130 N.C. App. 408, 412, 503 S.E.2d 126, 130 (1998), aff’d,
350 N.C. 621, 516 S.E.2d 858 (1999) (citing In re Will of Shute, 251 N.C.
697, 111 S.E.2d 851 (1960)).

To establish lack of testamentary capacity, s caveator need only
show that any one of the essential elements of testamentary capacity
is lacking. In re Will of Kemp, 234 N.C. 495, 499 (1951). A caveator can-
not “establish lack of testamentary capacity where there [is] no specific
evidence ‘relating to testator’s understanding of his property, to whom
he wished to give it, and the effect of his act in making a will at the time
the will was made.”” In re Estate of Whitaker, 144 N.C. App. 295, 298,
547 S.E.2d 853, 856 (quoting In re Will of Buck, 130 N.C. App. at 413, 503
S.E.2d at 130), disc. review denied, 354 N.C. 218, 555 S.E.2d 278 (2001).
It is not sufficient for a caveator to present “only general testimony con-
cerning testator’s deteriorating physical health and mental confusion in
the months preceding the execution of the will, upon which [a cave-
ator’s] witnesses based their opinions as to [the testator’s] mental capac-
ity.” In re Will of Buck, 130 N.C. App. at 412, 503 S.E.2d at 130.

Here, the caveator’s affidavits allege the decedent was suffering
from cancer and dementia, and was taking strong pain medications
in the months preceding his death and when he purportedly executed
the 2007 Will less than one month prior to his death. Although the pro-
pounder asserted in her response to the caveat that the decedent did
not have dementia, the decedent’s death certificate, submitted as an
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attachment to the caveat, lists “dementia” as a cause of death. The pro-
pounder is listed as the informant on the death certificate. As noted,
decedent executed the purported 2007 Will on 3 April 2007 and died
2 May 2007. Viewed in the light most favorable to the caveator, as the
nonmoving, genuine issue of material fact exists concerning decedent’s
testamentary capacity.

2. Undue Influence and Duress
In the context of a will caveat,

[ulndue influence is a fraudulent influence over the mind
and will of another to the extent that the professed action
is not freely done but is in truth the act of the one who
procures the result.

In re Estate of Loftin, 285 N.C. 717, 722, 208 S.E.2d 670, 674-75 (1974).

Our courts consider a number of factors to determine whether
undue influence was exerted on the testator:

1. Old age and physical and mental weakness;

2. That the person signing the paper is in the home of
the beneficiary and subject to his constant association
and supervision;

3. That others have little or no opportunity to see him;
4. That the will is different from and revokes a prior will;

5. That it is made in favor of one with whom there are no
ties of blood;

6. That it disinherits the natural objects of his bounty;
7. That the beneficiary has procured its execution.

In re Will of McNeil, 230 N.C. App 241, 245-46, 749 S.E.2d 499, 503 (2013)
(citation omitted).

Caveators are not required to demonstrate the existence of every
factor to prove undue influence, because “undue influence is generally
proved by a number of facts, each one of which standing alone may
be of little weight, but taken collectively may satisfy a rational mind of
its existence.” Id. (citation and quotation marks omitted). This Court
has further clarified, “[w]hether these or other factors exist and whether
executor unduly influenced decedent in the execution of the Will are
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material questions of fact.” In re Will of Smith, 158 N.C. App. 722, 727,
582 S.E.2d 356, 360, review denied, 357 N.C. 506, 588 S.E.2d 474 (2003).

While not synonymous, undue influence and duress are “related
wrongs, and to some degrees overlap.” Link v. Link, 278 N.C. 181, 191,
179 S.E.2d 697, 703 (1971). “Duress is the result of coercion and may be
described as the extreme of undue influence and may exist even when
the victim is aware of all facts material to his decision.” In re Estate of
Loftin, 285 N.C. at 722-23, 208 S.E.2d at 675. A caveator’s allegations
underlying her claims of undue influence and duress may be the same.
See In re Will of McNeil, 230 N.C. App at 249 n.5, 749 S.E.2d at 505.

The caveator’s affidavits, as submitted, create a genuine issue of
material fact of whether the purported 2007 Will was procured by undue
influence or duress. The affidavits assert the decedent’s physical and
mental weakness around the time of the 2007 Will’s purported execu-
tion; the propounder’s status as decedent’s primary caregiver, and her
refusal to allow the caveator to see the decedent on one occasion prior
to his death; and the decedent’s stated fear of the propounder and how
he did not trust her.

Viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, the affi-
davits also emphasize the propounder’s continued insistence that the
decedent sign papers to give her all of his property. The affidavits assert
that the decedent did not want to leave the propounder any of his prop-
erty, and actually refused to do so. Whether the factors pertaining to
undue influence exist and whether the propounder “unduly influenced
decedent in the execution of the [w]ill are material questions of fact.” See
In re Will of Smith, 158 N.C. App. at 727, 582 S.E.2d at 360. When viewed
in the light most favorable to the caveator, genuine issue of material fact
exists to preclude summary judgment on the issues of undue influence
and duress.

3. Proper Execution of the Will

For an attested written will to be valid, it must comply with the stat-
utory requirements as set forth in N.C. Gen. Stat. § 31-3. In re Will of
Priddy, 171 N.C. App. at 400, 614 S.E.2d at 458. “In a caveat proceeding,
the burden of proof is upon the propounder to prove that the instrument
in question was executed with the proper formalities required by law.”
In re Will of Coley, 53 N.C. App. 318, 320, 280 S.E.2d 770, 772 (1981). N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 31-3, as effective in the present case, required:
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(a) An attested written will is a written will signed by the
testator and attested by at least two competent witnesses
as provided by this section.

(b) The testator must, with intent to sign the will, do so by
signing the will himself or by having someone else in the
testator’s presence and at his direction sign the testator’s
name thereon.

(c) The testator must signify to the attesting witnesses
that the instrument is his instrument by signing it in their
presence or by acknowledging to them his signature previ-
ously affixed thereto, either of which may be done before
the attesting witnesses separately.

(d) The attesting witnesses must sign the will in the pres-
ence of the testator but need not sign in the presence of
each other.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 31-3 (2011) (subsequently amended by N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 31-3.3, effective 1 January 2012).

This Court has allowed caveators to challenge whether a will was
properly executed, even where self-proving affidavits accompanied the
notarized and signed will. In re Will of Priddy, 171 N.C. App. at 400-01,
614 S.E.2d at 458-59 (holding material issue of fact existed as to whether
the testator complied with the will formalities where caveator presented
evidence the testator did not sign in the presence of an attesting witness or
acknowledge his signature to that witness, and the attesting witness did
not sign in the presence of the testator).

Here, along with the allegations of lack of testamentary capacity,
undue influence, and duress, three of the caveator’s affidavits by blood
relatives, stated the affiant was familiar with the decedent’s signature,
and that the signature on the 2007 Will was not the decedent’s. Viewed in
the light most favorable to the caveator, as the nonmoving party, genuine
issue of material fact exists regarding whether the 2007 Will complied
with the statutorily required formalities of execution. Id.

VIII. Conclusion

The trial court erred in ruling the caveator lacked standing to bring
the caveat to the 2007 Will and by striking the caveator’s four affidavits.

Because of the factual nature of issues presented during caveat
proceedings, “[slummary judgment should be entered cautiously.”
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Seagraves, 206 N.C. App. at 338, 698 S.E.2d at 161. After our review and
consideration of all the affidavits and other evidence presented in the
record, and based upon our de novo review, genuine issues of material
fact exist to render summary judgment improper. The trial court’s order
is reversed and this cause is remanded for trial. It s so ordered.

REVERSED AND REMANDED.
Judges McCULLOUGH and DILLON concur.

IN THE MATTER OF J.A.M.

No. COA16-563
Filed 20 December 2016

Child Abuse, Dependency, and Neglect—child neglect—suffi-
ciency of findings of fact

The trial court erred by adjudicating a minor as a neglected
juvenile. The trial court’s findings of fact were not supported by
clear, cogent, and convincing evidence.

Appeal by respondent from order entered 30 March 2016 by Judge
Louis A. Trosch in Mecklenburg County District Court. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 5 December 2016.

Christopher C. Peace for petitioner-appellee Mecklenburg County
Department of Social Services, Youth and Family Services.

Richard Croutharmel for respondent-appellant.
Poyner Spruill LLP, by Caroline P. Mackie, for guardian ad litem.

TYSON, Judge.

Respondent-mother appeals from an order adjudicating her minor
child, J.A.M., to be a neglected juvenile. We reverse.

I. Factual Background

Respondent-mother has along history of prior involvements with the
Mecklenburg County Department of Social Services, Youth and Family
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Services Division (“YFS”) dating back to 2007. This history is primarily
related to reports of domestic violence with the fathers of six prior chil-
dren. YF'S filed juvenile petitions regarding Respondent-mother’s other
six children. Her parental rights to those children were terminated by
order entered in April 2014. Respondent-mother began a relationship
with J.A.M.’s father, which resulted in J.A.M.’s birth in late January 2016.
J.A.M.’s father also had a prior history with YFS due to domestic vio-
lence, which led to the removal of a child from his custody in 2012.

YFS received a report of J.A.M.’s birth on 24 February 2016. A social
worker went to Respondent-mother’s home. The social worker found
Respondent-mother’s home to be appropriate for J.A.M. and that J.A.M.
seemed to be healthy and well cared for. The social worker subsequently
learned that police had not been called to the home.

Based solely upon the parents’ prior histories with YFS, the social
worker developed a Safety Assessment in an attempt to determine
whether their previous issues had been addressed. Respondent-mother
and J.A.M.’s father refused to sign the Safety Assessment. Respondent-
mother asserted that they did not need involvement of services from YF'S,
because J.A.M. was being properly cared for and there were no on-going
acts of domestic violence. Respondent-mother also declined to attend a
meeting at YF'S to determine how YF'S would proceed on the report.

Despite the results of the home visit and investigation, YF'S subse-
quently took nonsecure custody of J.A.M. and, on 29 February 2016, filed
a petition alleging J.A.M. was a neglected juvenile. YFS alleged J.A.M.
was not safe in the care of her parents based solely upon their prior his-
tories. After a hearing on 30 March 2016, the trial court entered an order
adjudicating J.A.M. to be a neglected juvenile. At the time of the hearing,
Respondent-mother and J.A.M.’s father were no longer living together or
involved in a relationship. The court continued custody of J.A.M. with YF'S,
ordered the parents to “address the issues that led their prior kids and
this child [being removed from their] custody,” granted the parents twice-
weekly supervised visitation with J.A.M., ceased reunification efforts with
Respondent-mother due to the termination of her parental rights to her
prior children, and set the primary plan of care for J.A.M. as reunifica-
tion with the father with a secondary plan of guardianship or adoption.
Respondent-mother filed timely notice of appeal from the court’s order.

II. Jurisdiction

Jurisdiction lies in this Court of right by timely appeal from final
judgment of the court in a juvenile matter pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 7B-1001 (2015).
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III. Issue

Respondent-mother argues the trial court erred in adjudicating
J.A.M. to be a neglected juvenile, because the court’s conclusions of law
are not supported by findings of fact that are supported by clear, cogent
and convincing evidence. We agree.

IV. Standard of Review

This Court reviews a trial court’s adjudication of a child to be a
neglected juvenile to determine “(1) whether the findings of fact are
supported by clear and convincing evidence, and (2) whether the legal
conclusions are supported by the findings of fact.” In re Gleisner, 141
N.C. App. 475, 480, 539 S.E.2d 362, 365 (2000) (citations and quotation
marks omitted). “The trial court’s conclusions of law are reviewable de
novo on appeal.” In re K.J.D., 203 N.C. App. 653, 657, 692 S.E.2d 437, 441
(2010) (citation and quotation marks omitted).

V. _Analysis
A neglected juvenile is defined in relevant part as:

A juvenile . . . who lives in an environment injurious to the
juvenile’s welfare . . . . In determining whether a juvenile is
a neglected juvenile, it is relevant whether that juvenile
lives in a home where . . . another juvenile has been sub-
jected to abuse or neglect by an adult who regularly lives
in the home.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 7B-101(15) (2015).

To support an adjudication of neglect, the trial court’s findings of
fact must show “some physical, mental, or emotional impairment of the
juvenile or a substantial risk of such impairment as a consequence of
the failure to provide proper care, supervision, or discipline.” In re
Stumbo, 357 N.C. 279, 283, 582 S.E.2d 255, 258 (2003) (citation and quo-
tation marks omitted).

A. Findings of Fact

The trial court made the following findings of fact in its order:

Clear and convincing evidence juv. [sic] is neglected.
[Respondent-mother]’s testimony was telling today.
Additionally, parents failed to make any substantive
progress in their prior cases which resulted in TPR for
[Respondent-mother] and [Father]’s child was placed in
the custody of that child’s mother. Dept. [sic] attempted
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to engage parents when it received a referral and both par-
ents declined to work [with] Dept. and reported not need-
ing any services. [Respondent-mother] testified. MGM and
SW Sup. West [sic] all testified. Previously [Respondent-
mother]’s children were returned to her care and ended up
back in [YFS’] custody due to the abuse of one of the juve-
niles and it appeared [Respondent-mother] was not dem-
onstrating skills learned by service providers. [Father]
did not dispute allegations in the petition. [Respondent-
mother] has a [history] of dating violent men and [Father]
in this case has been found guilty at least twice for assault
on a female. [Respondent-mother] acknowledged being
aware [Father] had been charged [with] assaulting his sis-
ter but [Respondent-mother] said she never asked [Father]
if he assaulted his sister despite testifying about the “red
flags” she learned in DV servs. [Respondent-mother] testi-
fied to having a child [with] the man who abused one of
her kids. Dept. [sic] received a total of 12 referrals regard-
ing the [Respondent-mother] and at least 11 referrals
pertained to domestic violence. Ct. [sic] took into con-
sideration all the exhibits (1-4) submitted by YFS when
making its decision. To date, [Respondent-mother] failed
to acknowledge her role in the juvs. [sic] entering custody
and her rights subsequently being terminated.

The referenced exhibits attached were a certified copy of the father’s
criminal record, adjudication orders from 2012 and 2013 involving each
parent’s prior children, and the 2014 order terminating Respondent-
mother’s parental rights to her prior children.

Based on these findings, the court concluded:

The child(ren) is/are neglected in that Juv. [sic] resides
in an environment in which both parents have a [history]
of domestic violence/assault and each parent had a child
enter [YFS] custody that was deemed abused while in
the care of each parent. All of juveniles’ siblings were
adjudicated neglected. No evidence the parents have
remedied the injurious environment they created for the
other children.

The last two sentences of this paragraph are conclusions instead of find-
ings of fact and will be treated as such. In re M.R.D.C., 166 N.C. App.
693, 697, 603 S.E.2d 890, 892-93 (citations and quotation marks omitted),
disc. review denied 359 N.C. 321, 611 S.E.2d 413 (2004) (holding where



118 IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

IN RE J.A.M.
[251 N.C. App. 114 (2016)]

a finding of fact is essentially a conclusion of law, it will be treated as a
conclusion of law which is reviewable de novo on appeal).

The court’s “findings,” which are more akin to abbreviated trial
notes than actual findings, do not support its conclusion that J.A.M. is
a neglected juvenile. The court’s first finding, “[c]lear and convincing
evidence juv. [sic] is neglected” is a conclusion of law, and the second
finding, “[Respondent-mother]’s testimony was telling today” is mean-
ingless, in that the court does not explain how Respondent-mother’s
testimony was “telling.” Several of the court’s other findings are simply
procedural statements that cannot support any legal conclusion, includ-
ing: “[Respondent-mother] testified. MGM and SW Sup. West [sic] all
testified,” “[Father] did not dispute the allegations in the petition,” and
“Ct. [sic] took into consideration all the exhibits (1-4) submitted by YFS
when making its decision.”

The trial court made three findings regarding J.A.M.’s current living
situation: (1) YFS conducted a home visit, visited with J.A.M.’s parents,
and that Respondent-mother and father stated they did not need ser-
vices and declined to work with YF'S; (2) although Respondent-mother
knew J.A.M.’s father had been charged with assaulting his sister, she
had never asked him about the assault; and, (3) Respondent-mother had
never acknowledged her role in the termination of her parental rights to
her prior children.

Respondent-mother does not challenge the first two findings, but
contends the trial court’s finding that she never acknowledged her role
in the prior termination of her parental rights is unsupported by the evi-
dence. We agree. While Respondent-mother testified that she was not
personally involved in the physical abuse of one of her prior children,
because she was upstairs asleep at the time, she admitted the termina-
tion of her parental rights to her prior children involved poor decisions
and choices she made, and she was not trying to defend those past deci-
sions and choices. This evidence directly contradicts the finding and
there is no evidence in the record to the contrary. This finding cannot
support the trial court’s conclusion that J.A.M. is a neglected juvenile.

Other than the finding involving Respondent-mother’s failure to ask
J.A.M.’s father about his alleged assault on his sister, the only findings of
fact made by the trial court which tend to support its conclusion J.A.M.
is a neglected juvenile all pertain to the parents’ history with their prior
children. These findings include: (1) J.A.M.’s siblings were adjudicated
neglected; (2) Respondent-mother and J.A.M.’s father did not make any
substantive progress in their prior cases, leading to the termination
of Respondent-mother’s parental rights and the permanent placement
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of the father’s child with her mother; (3) Respondent-mother’s prior
children were returned to her care during the previous case, but subse-
quently removed due to the abuse of one child and Respondent-mother’s
failure to make progress on her case; (4) Respondent-mother has a his-
tory of dating violent men; (5) J.A.M.’s father has two prior convictions
for assault on a female; (6) 11 of 12 referrals to YF'S in Respondent-
mother’s previous juvenile case involved domestic violence; and,
(7) Respondent-mother had a child with a man who had abused one of
her children.

B. Lack of Evidence or Findings

The trial court failed to make any findings of fact regarding any cur-
rent domestic violence. No evidence was presented of any instances of
domestic violence between Respondent-mother and J.A.M.’s father or
that either parent had engaged in domestic violence while in J.A.M.’s
presence. Moreover, the father’s last proven incident of domestic vio-
lence occurred more than 42 months prior to J.A.M.’s birth.

Similarly, Respondent-mother’s most recent documented instance
of domestic violence occurred in June 2012, more than 43 months prior
to J.A.M.’s birth. Respondent-mother and J.A.M.’s father maintained an
appropriate home, and both denied they needed services to alleviate
concerns YFS had regarding their home. YFS presented no evidence
such services were needed. No evidence supports the lack of suitability
of J.A.M.’s current home environment.

The court’s findings of fact are also notably silent regarding whether,
in the intervening years since the conclusion of the parents’ prior juve-
nile cases, the parents have remedied the injurious environments of
their prior children.

The court found no evidence had been presented that the parents
had remedied the issues that caused the prior injurious environments.
Nevertheless, the burden of proof rests upon YFS to prove its allega-
tions by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence. In re K.J.D., 203 N.C.
App. at 657, 692 S.E.2d at 441. The absence of evidence cannot support
usurpation of parental rights. YF'S must introduce relevant clear, cogent,
and convincing evidence supporting any allegation of neglect, or any
other dereliction of parental responsibility which it failed to do. See N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 7B-805 (2015) (“The allegations in a petition alleging that
a juvenile is abused, neglected, or dependent shall be proved by clear
and convincing evidence.”). Additionally, the court’s findings do not
show J.A.M. suffered from or is at a substantial risk to suffer from any
physical, mental, or emotional impairment as a consequence of living in
Respondent-mother’s home.
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Due to the intervening years between the prior cases and the facts
before us, we conclude the parents’ past histories, coupled only with
Respondent-mother’s failure to inquire about an alleged incident of prior
domestic violence by J.A.M.’s father, do not support a legal conclusion
that J.A.M. is a neglected juvenile. See In re A.K., 178 N.C. App. 727, 732,
637 S.E.2d 227, 230 (2006) (holding the trial court erred in relying solely
on nine- and fifteen-month-old orders concluding a juvenile’s sibling was
neglected to support a conclusion that the juvenile was also neglected).
No evidence supports the trial court’s findings of fact. The findings do
not support its conclusion that J.A.M. is a neglected juvenile because
she lives in an environment injurious to her welfare.

VI. Conclusion

The trial court’s findings of fact are not supported by clear, cogent,
and convincing evidence. These findings do not support the trial court’s
conclusion that J.A.M. was neglected. The order appealed from is
reversed. It is so ordered.

REVERSED.
Judges BRYANT and McCULLOUGH concur.

IN THE MATTER OF M.Z.M., T.Q.N.C.

No. COA16-705
Filed 20 December 2016

Constitutional Law—effective assistance of counsel—trial tactics

Respondent mother received effective assistance of counsel in
a termination of parental rights case. While counsel’s choice of tac-
tics was “troublesome,” respondent-mother failed to show prejudice
or that counsel’s conduct undermined the fundamental fairness of
the proceeding.

Appeal by respondent from order entered 18 April 2016 by Judge
Keith Gregory in Wake County District Court. Heard in the Court of
Appeals 5 December 2016.

Wake County Attorney’s Office, by Deputy County Attorney Roger
A. Askew and Senior Assistant County Attorney Allison Pope
Cooper, for petitioner-appellee Wake County Human Services.
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Cranfill Sumner & Hartzog LLP, by Katherine Barber-Jones, for
guardian ad litem.

TYSON, Judge.

Respondent-mother appeals from an order terminating her parental
rights as to the minor children “M.Z.M.” and “T.Q.N.C.” We affirm the
trial court’s order.

I. Factual Background

On 25 March 2014, Wake County Human Services (“WCHS”) filed
a juvenile petition alleging that two-year-old M.Z.M. was abused and
neglected and six-year-old T.Q.N.C. was neglected. Both children lived
with Respondent-mother until WCHS took them into nonsecure custody
on 25 March 2014. At the time the petition was filed, Respondent-mother
was under arrest and detained in Wake County Detention Center on a
charge of felonious child abuse. M.Z.M.’s biological father was alleged to
be incarcerated in Pitt County, North Carolina, and the whereabouts of
T.Q.N.C.’s putative father were unknown.

Pursuant to a stipulation of facts entered by Respondent-mother
and WCHS,; the trial court adjudicated M.Z.M. and T.Q.N.C. as abused
and neglected juveniles as defined by N.C. Gen. Stat. § 101(1) and (15)
(2015). While inconsequential to Respondent-mother’s appeal of the
termination of her parental rights, we note the trial court adjudicated
T.Q.N.C. abused and neglected where WCHS’s petition alleged T.Q.N.C.
was neglected and did not allege abuse of T.Q.N.C. The court found:

5. [T.Q.N.C.] is of school age and has not been regularly
enrolled in school by the parents.

6. The mother was living in a hotel for the four months
prior to the filing of the petition while working and look-
ing for permanent housing but otherwise the parents have
not provided stable housing for the children and have had
insufficient income to meet the needs of the children.

7. The children have been exposed to domestic vio-
lence in the home between the mother and her boyfriend,
Carlos [A].

8. On or about March 19, 2014 [M.Z.M.] was seriously
burned on his thigh, ear and buttocks and was in need
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of medical treatment for second degree burns that were
causing pain and discomfort for the child. The mother is
alleged to have caused these burns intentionally and has
been charged with child abuse regarding these burns.

9. A serious physical injury was inflicted on [M.Z.M.] by
other than accidental means while in the mother’s home
with Carlos [A]. There was a substantial risk of serious
physical injury to [T.Q.N.C.] by other than accidental means.

10. The mother does not admit to intentionally causing
these injuries but would stipulate that there is sufficient
evidence from which the Court could find by clear and
convincing evidence that the burns were not as a result
of excusable neglect, happened while the children were
in her care and that the mother did not seek medical treat-
ment for the child as a result of being fearful of Carlos [A.]
who was in the home when the injuries occurred. . . .

12. The mother remains in custody for the pending charges
related to [M.Z.M.’s] abuse and neither putative father has
stepped forward at this time to submit to be considered
for placement of the children.

18. [M.Z.M. and T.Q.N.C.] do not receive proper care,
supervision, or discipline from their parents and live in an
injurious environment.

The trial court suspended Respondent-mother’s visitation with
the children while she remained incarcerated. It ordered Respondent-
mother to enter into an Out of Home Services Agreement with WCHS
to include a visitation plan and the following additional requirements:
(1) obtain and maintain housing and income sufficient for herself and
the children; (2) obtain a psychological evaluation and substance abuse
assessment and follow any treatment recommendations; (3) abstain
from drug use and submit to random drug screens; (4) complete a par-
enting class and “demonstrate skills learned;” and (5) maintain regular
contact with her WCHS social worker.

Respondent-mother remained incarcerated pending trial at the time
of the ninety-day review hearing on 14 July 2014. In its resulting order
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entered 1 August 2014, the court noted that M.Z.M. “has been able to
point to his burn and without prompting state that his mother’s boyfriend
Carlos did it.” The court reiterated the requirements of Respondent-
mother’s case plan.

On 29 July 2014, Respondent pled guilty to felonious child abuse
by grossly negligent omission, which resulted in serious bodily injury
to M.Z.M. She received a suspended prison sentence and was released
onto probation.

At a hearing on 12 January 2015, Respondent-mother did not
appear and the trial court established a permanent plan of adoption for
M.Z.M. and T.Q.N.C. The court found that Respondent-mother’s where-
abouts were unknown, she had failed to contact WCHS;, and that WCHS
had been unable to contact her. It further found that Respondent-mother
had “failed to comply with her treatment plan and has made no progress
in correcting the conditions that brought the children into foster care.”
The court relieved WCHS of further reunification efforts and directed
Respondent-mother to comply with the conditions of her case plan “if
she is interested in reunification.”

WCHS filed a motion to terminate Respondent-mother’s parental
rights on 2 June 2015. Respondent-mother was arrested in September
2015 on new criminal charges of felonious obtaining property under
false pretenses and possession of a counterfeit instrument, misde-
meanor resisting a pubic officer, and for violating her probation. On
16 December 2015, the superior court revoked Respondent-mother’s
probation. The superior court activated her minimum 25 months to
maximum 42 months sentence for felonious child abuse.

After a termination of parental rights hearing, and the court ter-
minated Respondent-mother’s parental rights on 18 April 2016. As
grounds for termination, the court found that Respondent-mother had
(1) “abused and neglected the children . . . and it is probable that there
would be a repetition of the neglect if the children were returned to the
care of the mother,” (2) “willfully left the children in foster care for more
than twelve (12) months without showing to the satisfaction of the court
reasonable progress . . . in correcting the conditions which led to the
removal of the children,” and (3) “willfully abandoned the children for
at least six months immediately preceding” WCHS’s filing of the motion
to terminate her parental rights. See N.C. Gen. Stat. § 7B-1111(a)(1), (2)
and (7) (2015). The court further found that termination of Respondent-
mother’s parental rights to be in M.Z.M. and T.Q.N.C.’s best interests.
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II. Jurisdiction

Jurisdiction lies in this Court of right by timely appeal from final
judgment of the court in a juvenile matter pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 7B-1001 (2015).

III. Issue

On appeal, Respondent-mother claims she received ineffective
assistance of counsel (“IAC”) at the termination hearing.

IV. Standard of Review

“The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be
whether counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the
adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced
a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 80 L. Ed. 2d
674, 692-93 (1984).

Pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 7B-1101.1 and 7B-1109(b) (2015),
“[p]arents have a statutory right to counsel in all proceedings dedicated
to the termination of parental rights. This statutory right includes the
right to effective assistance of counsel.” In re Dj.L., 184 N.C. App. 76,
84, 646 S.E.2d 134, 140 (2007) (citations and quotation marks omitted).

IV. Analysis

A. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

“A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel requires the respondent
to show that counsel’s performance was deficient and the deficiency
was so serious as to deprive the represented party of a fair hearing.”
In re Oghenekevebe, 123 N.C. App. 434, 436, 473 S.E.2d 393, 396 (1996).
Where an TAC claim is based on an allegation of defective performance
by counsel, the respondent must show she was prejudiced by counsel’s
supposed deficiencies. See In re L.C., 181 N.C. App. 278, 283, 638 S.E.2d
638, 641, disc. review denied, 361 N.C. 354, 646 S.E.2d 114 (2007); see
also In re Bishop, 92 N.C. App. 662, 665-66, 375 S.E.2d 676, 679 (1989).

“The fact that counsel made an error, even an unreasonable error,
does not warrant reversal of a conviction unless there is a reasonable
probability that, but for counsel’s errors, there would have been a dif-
ferent result in the proceedings.” State v. Braswell, 312 N.C. 553, 563,
324 S.E.2d 241, 248 (1985). “A reasonable probability is a probability suf-
ficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at
694, 80 L. Ed. 2d at 698.
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Respondent-mother faults counsel for failing to present any
evidence or argument during the adjudicatory phase of the termination
hearing. She asserts counsel’s failure to advocate in any way whatsoever
during the grounds phase of the termination proceeding denied her a
fair hearing.

B. Phases of Hearing

A hearing to terminate parental rights includes an adjudicatory
phase and, if necessary, a dispositional phase. See N.C. Gen. Stat.
§§ 7B-1109, -1110(a), (¢) (2015). In the adjudicatory phase, the trial court
determines whether the petitioner has met its burden to show by “clear
and convincing” evidence that grounds authorizing the termination of
parental rights exist. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 7B-1111(b) (2015). “If the trial
court concludes that the petitioner has met its burden of proving at least
one ground for termination, the trial court proceeds to the dispositional
phase and decides whether termination is in the best interests of the
child.” In re L.A.B., 178 N.C. App. 295, 299, 631 S.E.2d 61, 64 (2006).
“Under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 7B-1111(a), the trial court need only find that
one statutory ground for termination exists in order to proceed to the
dispositional phase and decide if termination is in the child’s best inter-
ests.” Id. at 298-99, 631 S.E.2d at 64.

C. Testimony

WCHS called two witnesses during adjudication: Respondent-mother
and WHCS social worker Jeanette Johnson, who had been assigned to
Respondent-mother’s case since September 2014. Respondent-mother
testified at length regarding the fathers’ lack of involvement with M.Z.M.
and T.Q.N.C.; her own conduct after absconding probation in July 2014;
and her subsequent decisions to avail herself of substance abuse treat-
ment, mental health services, and GED and parenting classes following
her incarceration in September 2015. Ms. Johnson described the circum-
stances that led to M.Z.M. and T.Q.N.C.’s adjudications as abused and
neglected juveniles in 2014; the requirements of Respondent-mother’s
court-ordered case plan; and her failure to contact WCHS, to visit or
inquire about her children, or to work on her case plan. Ms. Johnson
testified she had no contact with Respondent-mother prior to November
2015, when she learned through the Department of Public Safety and
from Respondent-mother’s mother that Respondent-mother was
arrested and jailed in Edgecombe County.

Respondent-mother correctly asserts her counsel asked no ques-
tions of WCHS’s witnesses, nor presented any evidence or argument
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during adjudication, and told the trial court that he did not “wish to be
heard.” At disposition, however, counsel called Respondent-mother to
testify and argued to the court that terminating her parental rights would
be contrary to M.Z.M. and T.Q.N.C.’s best interests.

In its adjudicatory findings, the trial court recounted M.Z.M. and
T.Q.N.C’s prior adjudications as abused and neglected juveniles
and listed the requirements of Respondent’s case plan. In support of its
conclusion that grounds exist to terminate Respondent’s parental rights
pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 7B-1111(a)(1), (2), and (7), the court made
the following additional findings:

16. The mother pled guilty to felony child abuse for the
injuries [M.Z.M.] suffered. She was given probation and
released from incarceration. The mother absconded from
probation almost immediately upon her release from
incarceration and she did not participate in case services
or visits with the children.

17. The mother absconded from probation to use mari-
juana, cocaine, and alcohol and did not visit with the chil-
dren for fear of being arrested at a visit. The mother was
not regularly employed and lived from place to place with-
out appropriate housing. She did not call to inquire into
the well being of the children and did not provide gifts,
letters, or financial support for the children.

18. The mother remained an absconder from probation
until September 2015 when she was arrested on new
charges. The mother did not contact the social worker
when she was arrested. The social worker found that
mother was incarcerated and sought the mother out.

19. The mother’s probation was revoked and she is now
serving an active sentence and has a projected release
date of June 2017.

20. The mother has not visited with either child since they
were removed from her care in March 2014. The mother
has not had housing or income since March 2014. The
mother never submitted to a psychological evaluation,
never participated in parenting education, never had a
Substance Abuse Assessment, and had no contact with
the social worker.
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Respondent-mother does not contest any of these adjudicatory findings.
They are binding on appeal. In re S.N., 194 N.C. App. 142, 147,669 S.E.2d
55, 59 (2008), aff’d per curiam, 363 N.C. 368, 677 S.E.2d 455 (2009).

With regard to counsel’s lack of advocacy during the adjudicatory
phase, Respondent-mother specifically cites counsel’s failure to ques-
tion her about the services she had accessed and utilized in prison, her
“changed perspective on life” since September 2015, and the “likely” fact
that she “was no longer in a relationship with” Carlos A. Respondent-
mother suggests counsel should have “prepared [her]| to testify” on
these issues prior to the hearing. She further faults counsel for failing
to subpoena her prison case manager to testify about the services she
had accessed or to obtain a printout of her accomplishments from the
case manager.

Regarding counsel’s failure to cross-examine Ms. Johnson,
Respondent-mother argues counsel could have asked the social worker
about the services Respondent-mother had obtained while in prison and
about M.Z.M.’s statements attributing his burns to Carlos A. Respondent-
mother contends counsel should have argued that she was unlikely to
repeat her prior neglect of her children, she had shown reasonable prog-
ress in correcting the conditions that led to their removal from the home,
and her lack of involvement with the children or WCHS was not willful
but the result of “unwise choices” caused by stress and depression. See
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 7B-1111(a)(1), (2), and (7).

“It is well established that attorneys have a responsibility to advo-
cate on the behalf of their clients.” In re S.N.W., 204 N.C. App. 556, 560,
698 S.E.2d 76, 79 (2010). It is also true “[i]Jneffective assistance of coun-
sel claims are not intended to promote judicial second-guessing on ques-
tions of strategy and trial tactics.” State v. Brindle, 66 N.C. App. 716,
718, 311 S.E.2d 692, 693-94 (1984). The reviewing “ ‘court must indulge
a strong presumption that counsel’s conduct falls within the wide range
of reasonable professional assistance.’” State v. Roache, 358 N.C. 243,
280, 595 S.E.2d 381, 406 (2004) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689, 80
L. Ed. 2d at 694). Furthermore, “if a reviewing court can determine at
the outset that there is no reasonable probability that in the absence of
counsel’s alleged errors the result of the proceeding would have been dif-
ferent, then the court need not determine whether counsel’s performance
was actually deficient.” Braswell, 312 N.C. at 563, 324 S.E.2d at 249.

In State v. Taylor, 79 N.C. App. 635, 636-37, 339 S.E.2d 859, 860-61,
disc. review denied, 317 N.C. 340, 346 S.E.2d 146 (1986), the defendant’s
counsel remained silent during the defendant’s sentencing hearing,



128 IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

IN RE M.Z.M.
[251 N.C. App. 120 (2016)]

a critical stage of criminal proceedings to which the right to effective
assistance of counsel applies. While this Court found an “absence of
positive advocacy” by counsel at sentencing, we concluded this conduct
did not “constitute[ | deficient performance prejudicial to the defen-
dant.” Id. Based upon the record, we found no reason to conclude that
counsel’s decision to remain silent was anything other than “strategy
and trial tactics.” Id. at 638, 339 S.E.2d at 861.

We reviewed the transcript of Respondent-mother’s termination
hearing in its entirety. It appears counsel’s decision to essentially con-
cede the existence of grounds for termination under N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 7B-1111(a) was a tactical concession similar to counsel’s silence in
Taylor. The existence of these grounds had been previously stipulated
to by Respondent-mother. While counsel’s choice of tactics was “trou-
blesome,” Respondent-mother has failed to show prejudice or that coun-
sel’s conduct undermined the fundamental fairness of the proceeding.
Taylor, 79 N.C. App. at 637, 339 S.E.2d at 861.

Among the statutory grounds for termination alleged by WCHS
was that Respondent had “willfully abandoned the juvenile[s] for at
least six consecutive months immediately preceding the filing of the
... motion[.]” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 7B-1111(a)(7). The following standard
applies when assessing the existence of grounds for termination under
subdivision (a)(7):

Abandonment implies conduct on the part of the par-
ent which manifests a willful determination to forego
all parental duties and relinquish all parental claims to
the child. The word “willful” encompasses more than
an intention to do a thing; there must also be purpose
and deliberation.

In re Adoption of Searle, 82 N.C. App. 273, 275, 346 S.E.2d 511, 514
(1986) (citations omitted). “Whether a biological parent has a willful
intent to abandon his child is a question of fact to be determined from
the evidence.” Id. at 276, 346 S.E.2d at 514.

WCHS filed its motion to terminate Respondent-mother’s parental
rights on 2 June 2015, making the period between 2 December 2014 and
2 June 2015 the determinative six months for purposes of N.C. Gen.
Stat. § 7B-1111(a)(7). During her testimony at the termination hearing,
Respondent-mother acknowledged: (1) she did no work on her case
plan, (2) absconded and did not contact her WCHS social worker, and
(3) never visited either M.Z.M. or T.Q.N.C. while she was free on proba-
tion, from 29 July 2014 to 20 September 2015.
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Respondent-mother claimed, without supporting documentation,
that she was employed during the first half of 2015. By her own admis-
sion, Respondent-mother chose not to visit her children or contact her
social worker, for fear of being arrested. In light of her actions during
the relevant six-month period, Respondent-mother has failed to show
any reasonable probability the trial court’s adjudication of grounds
to terminate her parental rights under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 7B-1111(a)(7)
would have been avoided, if counsel had proffered additional evidence
or argument regarding Respondent-mother’s access to services after
being imprisoned in September 2015. See, e.g., In re B.S.0., 234 N.C.
App. 706, 713, 760 S.E.2d 59, 65 (2014) (finding of fact that respondent-
father willfully abandoned the children was not error where he made
only one phone call to respondent-mother and his children during the six
months immediately preceding the filing of the petition to terminate his
parental rights); In re Hendren, 156 N.C. App. 364, 368, 576 S.E.2d 372,
376 (2003) (holding an incarcerated parent “will not be excused from
showing interest in the child’s welfare by whatever means available”).

M.Z.M.’s attribution of his injuries to Respondent-mother’s boy-
friend was subordinate to her subsequent wholesale abandonment of
her two children. The trial court’s 1 August 2014 review order includes a
finding that M.Z.M. had identified Carlos A. as the person who inflicted
his burns. However, Respondent-mother pled guilty to felonious child
abuse, she deliberately failed to disclose M.Z.M.’s injuries to her family,
or to seek medical care for her seriously burned toddler.

Respondent-mother argues counsel acted unreasonably by with-
holding evidence and argument until the dispositional phase of the hear-
ing. Counsel elicited testimony from Respondent-mother regarding her
efforts to “better [her]self as a person and as a mother” by seeking out
services while in prison, her plan to live with her parents following her
release, and her desire to re-establish her relationship with M.Z.M. and
T.Q.N.C. and “be the mother that [she] need[s] to be.”

Counsel presented a thoughtful and reasoned argument in opposi-
tion to terminating Respondent-mother’s parental rights during dispo-
sition. Describing Respondent-mother as on the cusp of a “profound
change,” counsel reviewed in detail each of the educational, substance
abuse, and mental health services Respondent-mother had obtained dur-
ing her most current incarceration. Counsel asked the court to allow
M.Z.M. and T.Q.N.C. an “opportunity get to know that mother that they
don’t have today.” To deny these children their “mother figure,” he
asserted, would deny them the “foundation” of knowing “who they came
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from,” how they came to live in foster care, and why “that’s the best
place for them” at this time.

Counsel recognized Respondent-mother was not prepared to take
custody of her sons, but argued their best interests would be served by
allowing them to develop a relationship with their mother, while “living
in a safe stable positive foster family.” At the conclusion of counsel’s
argument, the trial court commended counsel for an “excellent job” in
representing Respondent-mother.

Respondent-mother allows that counsel’s argument may have been
“creative.” She assertsthe evidence presented by counselhadnorelevance
to the dispositional phase of a termination hearing. We disagree. “After
an adjudication that one or more grounds for terminating a parent’s
rights exist, the court shall determine whether terminating the parent’s
rights is in the juvenile’s best interest.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 7B-1110(a).
The court enjoys broad discretion in assessing a child’s interests, see
In re LM.T., 367 N.C. 165, 171, 752 S.E.2d 453, 457 (2013), and “may
consider any evidence . . . that the court finds to be relevant, reliable,
and necessary to determine the best interests of the juvenile.” N.C. Gen.
Stat. § 7B-1110(a). Moreover, the statutory criteria to be considered
by the court include “[a]ny relevant consideration.” N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 7B-1110(2)(6).

The potential value to M.Z.M. and T.Q.N.C. of maintaining a relation-
ship with Respondent-mother, as well as Respondent-mother’s efforts
and desire to remain a part of her children’s lives, were thus plainly “rel-
evant” to the court’s dispositional determination under N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 7B-1110(a). Although grounds may be found to exist at adjudication to
support termination of parental rights, the trial court is not compelled
to do so at disposition, if the “best interests” of the children would be
served by continuing reunification efforts. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 7B-1110(b)
(2015). The record shows the trial court thoughtfully weighed all factors
in its order.

V. Conclusion

Respondent-mother’s IAC claim is without merit and is overruled.
The trial court’s order is affirmed. It is so ordered.

AFFIRMED.

Judges BRYANT and McCULLOUGH concur.
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IN THE MATTER OF S.A.A.L 2

No. COA16-540
Filed 20 December 2016

Juveniles—delinquency—sexual battery—simple assault

A juvenile’s adjudication of delinquency based on sexual bat-
tery was vacated and remanded for entry of a new disposition order.
The State failed to introduce sufficient evidence that the juvenile
touched the tops of the girls’ breasts for a sexual purpose. The sim-
ple assault charge was affirmed.

Appeal by Juvenile from orders entered 22 July 2015 by Judge
Beverly Scarlett in Orange County District Court and order entered
22 October 2015 by Judge Kathryn W. Overby in Alamance County
District Court. Heard in the Court of Appeals 1 November 2016.

Attorney General Roy Cooper, by Assistant Attorney General
Janelle E. Varley, for the State.

Appellate Defender Glenn Gerding, by Assistant Appellate Defender
David W. Andrews, for Juvenile.

STEPHENS, Judge.

This appeal arises from Juvenile’s adjudication as delinquent based
upon petitions alleging he committed two counts each of simple assault
and sexual battery against two female schoolmates by draping his arms
around the girls’ shoulders in order to smear a glowing liquid on them
during an evening of Halloween trick-or-treating. Because the State
failed to introduce sufficient evidence that Juvenile touched the tops
of the girls’ breasts for a sexual purpose, we vacate the adjudication of
sexual battery and remand the case for entry of a new disposition order.

1. As noted infra, this matter originated in Orange County District Court, where the
adjudication order was entered, but was transferred to Alamance County District Court in
August 2015 where the disposition order was entered.

2. Pursuant to North Carolina Rule of Appellate Procedure 3.1(a), we use initials or
pseudonyms to refer to all juveniles discussed in this opinion.
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Factual and Procedural Background

On 20 April and 26 May 2015, the State filed petitions against Juvenile
S.A.A. (“Scott”), alleging that he had committed two counts each of
sexual battery and simple assault. On 21 July 2015, Scott appeared in
Orange County Juvenile Court for an adjudication hearing before the
Honorable Beverly Scarlett, Judge presiding. Evidence at the adjudi-
cation hearing tended to show the following: The petitions arose from
events that took place on Friday, 31 October 2014, in Chapel Hill. On that
Halloween evening, Scott, then a 13-year-old student at Culbreth Middle
School, and three of his male friends went to the Southern Village neigh-
borhood where many other Culbreth students were walking around,
trick-or-treating, trying to scare each other, and acting “crazy.” Scott was
wearing a “crazy” costume, including a black body suit, “LED light teeth,”
and “glow gloves.” After one of his gloves “busted,” Scott began wiping
glowing green liquid from the glove3 on trees, signs, and “tons” of people.

Sixth-grade Culbreth students “Lauren” and “Melissa,” both then age
eleven, were trick-or-treating in Southern Village when they saw Scott
walking with some other boys. Melissa testified that Scott asked the
girls if they wanted drugs. As Lauren and Melissa walked away, Scott
followed, coming up between the girls and draping an arm over each
girl’s shoulder. Lauren testified that Scott “rubbed this green glow stick
stuff on” her, leaving glowing liquid on her shirt near her collar bone.
Melissa testified that Scott reached his arm around her shoulder and
“put this weird green glowing stuff” on her arm and back, also touching
her “boobs” over her sweatshirt.

After the incident, Lauren and Melissa ran to the nearby home of
Joe Rice, a friend of their parents. Lauren was upset that the glowing
liquid was on her clothes, and Rice used wet paper towels to wipe off
the material. Rice believed that “the glow stick was the primary way that
[the girls] had been harassed.” Lauren and Melissa then “trick or treated
some more,” returning to Lauren’s house between 8:30 and 9:00 p.m.

When Melissa’s father picked her up at about 10:00 p.m., she reported
that a boy with glow paint on his hands had tried to grab her “chest
or boobs.” That night, Lauren told her mother that something had hap-
pened, but did not provide many details until the next morning, when
she reported that a boy had “grabbed her from behind with glow stick
material . . . on his hand and touched her.” Neither Lauren’s nor Melissa’s
parents contacted the police over the weekend.

3. Some witnesses referred to the liquid as coming from Scott’s glove, while others
referred to it as coming from a “glow stick.”
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However, when Lauren and Melissa returned to school the fol-
lowing Monday, they reported the incident to school resource officer
Stan Newsome of the Chapel Hill Police Department. Newsome called
Lauren’s mother, explained that he would prepare an incident report,
and discussed possible charges against Scott. About a month later when
Newsome told Scott he was investigating an incident on Halloween, Scott
responded, “Oh, the thing with the glow in the dark stuff.” Newsome
testified that Scott admitted wiping the glowing liquid on Melissa’s and
Lauren’s shoulders, but denied touching their breasts.

At the adjudication hearing, Scott admitted putting the glow glove
liquid on trees, signs, and some people. When asked why he did so,
Scott replied, “Because it was Halloween.” Scott testified that he did
not remember seeing Lauren and Melissa on Halloween night. However,
Scott’s friend “Brandon,” who had been trick-or-treating with Scott, tes-
tified that Scott touched a girl’s shoulder with his leaking glow glove,
and the girl asked Scott to get away from her. According to Brandon, in
response, Scott apologized and walked away.

At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Scarlett adjudicated Scott
delinquent on all charges. In August 2015, Judge Scarlett transferred the
case to Alamance County where Scott and his family had moved. On
10 September 2015, Scott appeared in Alamance County District Court
for a dispositional hearing before the Honorable Kathryn W. Overby,
Judge presiding. Judge Overby imposed a Level 1 sentence and ordered
Scott to be placed on probation for 12 months. The disposition order
was based upon the most serious offense before the district court, to
wit, sexual battery. Scott gave notice of appeal at the hearing.

Discussion

On appeal, Scott argues that the district court erred by (1) denying
his motion to dismiss the sexual battery petitions, (2) adjudicating him
delinquent on a theory of sexual battery not stated in the petitions, (3)
failing to make findings of fact in support of its dispositional order, and
(4) imposing probation and drug and alcohol screenings. We vacate the
court’s adjudication of sexual battery as based on insufficient evidence,
affirm the district court’s adjudication of simple assault, and remand the
case for entry of a new disposition order.

1. Motion to dismiss sexual battery petitions

Scott first contends that the district court should have allowed his
motion to dismiss the sexual battery petitions because the State failed
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to prove that Scott touched the breasts of Lauren and Melissa for the
purpose of sexual arousal or sexual gratification. We agree.

As an initial matter, we address the State’s contention that Scott
failed to preserve this issue for appellate review. As Scott concedes, at
the adjudication hearing, his attorney moved to dismiss the sexual bat-
tery petitions at the close of the State’s evidence, but failed to renew the
motion after Scott presented his case. To preserve an argument of error
in a trial court’s denial of his motion to dismiss, a juvenile must move to
dismiss the petitions against him at the close of the State’s evidence and
again at the close of all the evidence. In re Hodge, 153 N.C. App. 102, 107,
568 S.E.2d 878, 881 (2002) (“[If a [juvenile] fails to move to dismiss the
action. .. at the close of all the evidence, he may not challenge on appeal
the sufficiency of the evidence to prove the crime charged.” (citation
and internal quotation marks omitted)).

We may suspend th[e] prohibition under [Appellate] Rule
2, however, to prevent manifest injustice to a party. When
this Court firmly concludes, as it has here, that the evi-
dence is insufficient to sustain a criminal conviction . . . it
will not hesitate to reverse the conviction, sua sponte, in
order to prevent manifest injustice to a party.

In re K.C., 226 N.C. App. 452, 455, 742 S.E.2d 239, 242 (citations and
internal quotation marks omitted), disc. review denied, 367 N.C. 218, 747
S.E.2d 530 (2013). We exercise our discretion under Rule 2 to review the
merits of Scott’s appeal in order to prevent manifest injustice because
we conclude that the evidence against Scott is insufficient to support an
adjudication of delinquency as to sexual battery.

We review a court’s denial of a juvenile’s motion to dismiss
de novo. Where the juvenile moves to dismiss, the court
must determine whether there is substantial evidence
(1) of each essential element of the offense charged, and
(2) of the juvenile’s being the perpetrator of such offense.
The evidence must be such that, when it is viewed in the
light most favorable to the State, it is sufficient to raise more
than a suspicion or possibility of the respondent’s guilt.

Id. (citations, internal quotation marks, ellipses, and brackets omit-
ted). However, if the evidence raises only a suspicion that the juvenile
committed the offense, the motion to dismiss should be granted. In re
R.N., 206 N.C. App. 537, 540, 696 S.E.2d 898, 901 (2010). “This is true
even though the suspicion so aroused by the evidence is strong.” In re
Vinson, 298 N.C. 640, 657, 260 S.E.2d 591, 602 (1979) (citation omitted).
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The elements of sexual battery are met if a juvenile, (1) for the pur-
pose of sexual arousal, sexual gratification, or sexual abuse, (2) engages
in sexual contact with another (3) by force and against the will of the
other person. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-27.5A(a) (2013).4 In criminal cases
involving adult defendants, the element of acting for the purpose of sex-
ual arousal, sexual gratification, or sexual abuse may be inferred “from
the very act itself[.]” In re T.S., 133 N.C. App. 272, 275, 515 S.E.2d 230,
232 (citations omitted), disc. review denied, 351 N.C. 105, 540 S.E.2d
751 (1999). “However, . . . intent to arouse or gratify sexual desires may
[not] be inferred in children under the same standard used to infer sex-
ual purpose to adults.” Id. at 276, 515 S.E.2d at 233. Rather, this Court
has held that a sexual

purpose does not exist without some evidence of the
child’s maturity, intent, experience, or other factor indi-
cating his purpose in acting. Otherwise, sexual ambitions
must not be assigned to a child’s actions. The element of
purpose may not be inferred solely from the act itself. . . .
The mere act of touching is not enough to show purpose.

Inre K.C., 226 N.C. App. at 457, 742 S.E.2d at 242-43 (citations and inter-
nal quotation marks omitted).

In In re T.C.S., an almost-twelve-year-old juvenile was seen com-
ing out of the woods holding hands with the five-year-old victim who
“looked ‘roughed up’ with twigs and branches in her hair, barefoot,
clothes on backwards, and tags hanging out[,]” and a witness saw the
juvenile “appear|] to put his hands on his private parts while [the victim]
was taking off her clothes.” 148 N.C. App. 297, 302-03, 558 S.E.2d 251,
254 (2002). In addition, when another witness confronted the juvenile
about what he was doing, the juvenile “smarted off” and told the adult
witness his actions with the victim were “none of [her] business.” Id. at
303, 558 S.E.2d at 254. This Court held that

[t]he age disparity, the control by the juvenile, the location
and secretive nature of their actions, and the attitude of
the juvenile is evidence of the maturity and intent of the
juvenile. Taking all of the circumstances in the light most
favorable to the State, there is sufficient evidence of matu-
rity and intent to show the required element of “for the
purpose of arousing or gratifying sexual desire.”

4. Section 14-27.5A was recodified as N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-27.33 by Session Laws
2015-181, s. 15, effective 1 December 2015, and applicable to offenses committed on or
after that date.
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Id. In contrast, in In re K.C., this Court considered an adjudication of
delinquency on the basis of sexual battery where the fifteen-year-old
juvenile, “Keith,” was alleged to have touched and squeezed the buttocks
of a fifteen-year-old classmate, “Karen,” during school. 226 N.C. App. at
454, 742 S.E.2d at 241. Karen reported that, on a day when a substitute
teacher was present, Keith had seated himself, not in his assigned place,
but at a desk near a classroom bookshelf. Id. When Karen stood near
Keith and bent over to re-shelve a book, “Keith ‘touched and grabbed
her.’” Karen reacted by informing Keith: ‘Don’t do that.” Keith did not
respond.” Id. (brackets omitted). The evidence about Keith’s intent and
purpose in touching Karen’s buttocks was conflicting:

... Keith . . . admitted to touching Karen on the buttocks,
“but he said it was an accident.”

Testifying in his own defense, Keith largely corroborated
Karen’s testimony leading up to the moment of contact.
He explained that he had been sitting in his seat and “I had
dropped my pencil and when I picked my pencil up, I acci-
dentally hit [Karen’s] butt, but I didn’t squeeze it.” Keith
stated that he was seated during the entire event, having
come into contact with Karen during the process of lean-
ing down to get his pencil.

When Karen was asked why she believed the contact
was intentional, she responded: “You can’t touch and
grab someone and not be accident [sic] and especially if
you're a boy.” She also testified that Keith had said cer-
tain “nasty stuff” to her at the beginning of the school year.
Specifically, Karen described an instance in which Keith
purportedly asked her, “When are you going to let me
hit?,” which Karen took to mean, “When are you going to
let me have sex with you?” When Keith was asked if he had
ever “talked to Karen about anything in a sexual nature,”
he avowed that he had not.

Id. at 454, 457, 742 S.E.2d at 241, 243 (some brackets omitted). In hold-
ing this evidence insufficient “to raise more than a suspicion or possibil-
ity that Keith committed sexual battery[,]” we noted that

Keith and Karen [were] the same age and there [was] no
evidence that Keith exercised any particular control over
the situation. The incident occurred in a public school
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room during the school day. Keith contends that the
touching was accidental and also made a statement to that
effect directly after the event. Further, Keith’s alleged
request to “hit” was made months before the moment
of contact between him and Karen, with no evidence of
any contact of any sort between the two of them from the
beginning of the school year, presumably in late August,
through late February.

Id. at 457-58, 742 S.E.2d at 243.

Here, we conclude that the evidence supporting an inference that
Scott acted with “the purpose of arousing or gratifying sexual desire”
when he touched Melissa’s and Lauren’s breasts is far weaker than that
in In re T.C.S. and falls short even of the evidence held insufficient in
In re K.C. At the time of the incident, Scott was 13 years old and the
girls 11 years old, and all three were students at the same middle school.
Scott consistently denied touching either girls’ breast, instead contend-
ing that he had only put his hands around their shoulders. This account
was supported by testimony from one of Scott’s male friends who wit-
nessed the incident and described Scott touching a girl’s shoulder but
not her breast. Neither the location nor the alleged manner of the touch-
ing was secretive in nature. Rather, Scott and the girls were on a public
street with numerous other juveniles who were trick-or-treating, and
many other young people were acting “crazy,” running around, and gen-
erally behaving as children and young teens might be expected to do
on Halloween night. The evidence was undisputed that Scott had been
wiping the green glowing liquid from his glove on trees, signs, and other
young people during the night—annoying, possibly even distressing and
obnoxious, behavior—but not an obviously sexual act. Similarly, noth-
ing about Scott’s attitude suggested a sexual motivation in rubbing the
glowing liquid on the girls. Neither girl testified that Scott made any sex-
ual remarks to them, either on Halloween night or in any previous inter-
actions with him. Further, according to Brandon, when another young
girl—apparently neither Lauren nor Melissa—told Scott to stop putting
the liquid on her on Halloween night, Scott stopped, apologized, and
walked away. Finally, when the girls ran away after Scott touched them,
Scott did not pursue or try to stop them, or attempt to exert control over
them in any way. This evidence, even taken in the light most favorable
to the State, does not support an inference that Scott touched Lauren’s
and Melissa’s breasts for “the purpose of arousing or gratifying sexual
desire.” Accordingly, we vacate the adjudication of sexual battery, affirm
the adjudication of simple assault, and remand for a new dispositional
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order, the previous disposition having been based upon sexual battery as
the most serious offense before the district court. In light of this result,
we do not address Scott’s additional arguments.

VACATED IN PART AND REMANDED.
Judges BRYANT and CALABRIA concur.

IN THE MATTER OF MARY ELLEN BRANNON THOMPSON

No. COA15-1380
Filed 20 December 2016

Abatement—incompetency proceeding—death of respondent

The trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction in an incom-
petency proceeding to enter the Hinnant order and any other sub-
stantive orders after respondent’s death because the matter abated
upon respondent’s death on 2 October 2014. The orders entered
after respondent’s death were vacated.

Appeal by guardian from order entered 20 April 2015 by Judge
Patrice A. Hinnant in Forsyth County Superior Court. Heard in the Court
of Appeals 11 August 2016.

Reginald D. Alston for appellee.

Sharpless & Stavola, PA., by Molly A. Whitlatch, Frederick K.
Sharpless, and Pamela S. Duffy, for appellant.

McCULLOUGH, Judge.

Bryan C. Thompson (appellant) appeals from an order entered
in the incompetency proceedings of Mary Ellen Brannon Thompson
(respondent) following respondent’s death. For the following reasons,
we vacate the orders entered after respondent’s death.

I. Background

The history of this case includes a prior appeal to this Court which
set out the background of this case up to that appeal. See In re Thompson,
232 N.C. App. 224, 754 S.E.2d 168 (2014). Those facts are as follows:
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On4 April 2007, a Petition for Adjudication of Incompetence
and Application for Appointment of Guardian or Limited
Guardian was filed by Leslie Poe Parker [(petitioner)] in
Forsyth County Superior Court. The petition alleged that
respondent lacked the capacity to manage her own affairs
or to make important decisions concerning her “per-
son, family [sic] or property[.]” The same day, a notice
of “Hearing on Incompetence and Order Appointing
Guardian Ad Litem” was filed. A hearing was conducted
on 26 April 2007 by Theresa Hinshaw, assistant clerk
of Forsyth County Superior Court (clerk Hinshaw).
Numerous individuals were present at the hearing, includ-
ing [Calvin Brannon (Brannon)], who is the brother of
respondent. After the hearing, clerk Hinshaw announced
in open court that she found respondent to be incompe-
tent, and she orally appointed [appellant] as guardian of
the estate. On 3 May 2007, clerk Hinshaw signed and dated
an order (incompetency order) finding “by clear, cogent,
and convincing evidence that the respondent [was] incom-
petent.” Additionally, clerk Hinshaw signed and dated an
order authorizing issuance of letters appointing [appel-
lant] guardian of the estate.

Thereafter, [Brannon] filed a “Petition for Removal of
Guardianship of the Person” and a “Motion to Set Aside
the Adjudication of Incompetence Order and Ask For a
Rehearing[.]” Lawrence G. Gordon, Jr., Forsyth County
Superior Court Clerk (clerk Gordon), signed and dated an
order on 8 December 2009 denying the motions and con-
cluded that the matters were time barred because appel-
lant failed to timely appeal clerk Hinshaw’s incompetency
order. [Brannon] then appealed clerk Gordon’s order to
superior court. In an order entered 6 April 2010, Forsyth
County Superior Court Judge James M. Webb (Judge
Webb) dismissed both motions with prejudice.

On 27 March 2012, [Brannon] filed four motions giving rise
to [the first] appeal. These motions were:

(a) for relief in the cause from a guardianship granted to
[appellant] dated May 1, 2007;

(b) to declare that [petitioner] did not have the capacity
to represent respondent in the filings of motions and
petitions on April 4, 2007,

139
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(c) to declare that [appellant] was not appointed the
guardian of respondent after an adjudication of incom-
petence under G.S. 35A[-]1112(e) and G.S. 35A-1120[;]

(d) to declare [appellant’s] act of filing a voluntary bank-
ruptcy petition under 11 U.S.C. 301 as a state court
guardian of the estate of respondent invalid.

These motions were heard before Susan Frye (clerk Frye),
Forsyth Superior Court Clerk, and she entered an order on
4 May 2012 denying [Brannon’s] motions. She also granted
[appellant’s] motion for sanctions. In her order, clerk Frye
denied motions (a), (b), and (c) because clerk Gordon and
Judge Webb had previously “clearly ruled” on [Brannon’s]
motions, “no appeals were ever entered[,]” “no new evi-
dence was presented[,]” and “[t]he pleadings filed . . .
[were] repetitious[.]” Clerk Frye declined to rule on motion
(d) because she “[did] not have jurisdiction to hear this
matter as the jurisdiction is presently under the Federal
Bankruptcy Court.” [Brannon] appealed clerk Frye’s order
to Forsyth County Superior Court. For the same reasons
decreed by clerk Frye, Judge [Anderson D.] Cromer [(Judge
Cromer)] entered an order on 20 November 2012 denying
and dismissing with prejudice [Brannon’s] motions (a),
(b), and (c). Judge Cromer denied [Brannon’s] motion (d)
with prejudice because it was “baseless.” He also granted
[appellant’s] motion for sanctions.

Id. at 225-26, 754 S.E.2d at 169-70. Brannon appealed the superior court
order to this Court on 14 December 2012.

This Court heard the appeal on 20 November 2013 and issued its
opinion on 4 February 2014 reversing and remanding to the superior
court. In re Thompson, 232 N.C. App. 224, 7564 S.E.2d 168 (2014). This
Court agreed with Brannon’s argument that “the incompetency order
was invalid because judgment was never entered, and therefore the
trial court erred in concluding that the incompetency order was the law
of the case.” Id. at 226, 7564 S.E.2d at 170. Specifically, this Court held
that the incompetency order was invalid because, although reduced to
writing and signed, there was nothing in the record to indicate the order
was filed with the clerk of court as required by N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1,
Rule 58, and therefore it was not entered. Id. at 228, 754 S.E.2d at 171.
“Accordingly, the time period to file notice of appeal of clerk Hinshaw’s
order has not yet commenced. Furthermore, because clerk Hinshaw’s
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incompetency order is effective only after its entry, the order cannot be
the law of the case.” Id. (internal citation omitted). This Court then held
that because the incompetency order was never entered, clerk Hinshaw
had no jurisdiction to appoint Thompson as guardian of the estate
because “[o]nly once the order is entered shall ‘a guardian or guardians
... be appointed[.]’ ” Id. at 228-29, 754 S.E.2d at 172 (quoting N.C. Gen.
Stat. § 35A-1120). The sanctions on Brannon were also reversed. Id. at
232,754 S.E.2d at 174.

After further remand of the matter to the clerk of superior court,
Brannon filed a motion and supporting affidavit seeking an order that
appellant’s actions on behalf of the estate were without legal author-
ity and to prevent appellant from taking further action on behalf of the
estate. Brannon also asserted allegations of fraud by Thompson and
the clerk’s office, specifically clerk Hinshaw and clerk Frye.

A notice of hearing to be held on 10 April 2014 “to address the issu-
ance of orders of incompetency and appointment of guardians” was filed
on 3 April 2014 by clerk Frye. A guardian ad litem was appointed to
represent respondent on 8 April 2014. On 8 April 2014, appellant filed a
motion for continuance and a motion for the recusal of clerk Frye. Prior
to the scheduled hearing, on 9 April 2014, clerk Frye entered an order
(the Frye Order) that ordered as follows:

1.  Order On Petition For Adjudication of Incompetence,
dated and originally signed May 3, 2007, and attached
hereto is entered nunc pro tunc effective May 3, 2007.

2. Order On Application for Appointment of Guardian
[o]f [t]he Person, Joe Raymond, Director for the
Forsyth County Department of Social Services dated
and originally signed May 3, 2007, and attached hereto
is entered nunc pro tunc effective May 3, 2007.

3. Order Authorizing Issuance of Letters To Bryan C.
Thompson, dated and originally signed May 1, 2007,
and attached hereto is entered nunc pro tunc effec-
tive May 3, 2007.

On the same day, petitioner filed a notice of voluntary dismissal. The
notice of voluntary dismissal, however, was filed after the Frye Order. In
an affidavit filed by petitioner on 15 April 2014, petitioner averred that
she attempted to file the notice earlier but it was initially refused by the
clerk’s office. Petitioner contends the clerk’s office refused her notice so
that clerk Frye could file the Frye Order before the notice.
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On 21 April 2014, Brannon filed two separate notices of appeal and
requests for stay—the first from the Frye Order and the second from the
individual orders that the Frye Order entered nunc pro tunc. Brannon’s
appeal came on for hearing in Forsyth County before the Honorable
William Z. Wood, Jr. (Judge Wood), on 18 August 2014. After the hear-
ing, but before Judge Wood entered a written order, respondent died
on 2 October 2014. Judge Wood then entered a written order (the Wood
Order) on 24 October 2014. In the Wood Order, Judge Wood found proce-
dural deficiencies in the Frye Order and in Brannon’s notices of appeal
and requests for stay. Consequently, Judge Wood ordered that “the mat-
ter should be remanded to the Clerk of Superior Court to hear evidence
and to make appropriate findings as to [respondent’s] medical state,
both now and if possible, from the medical records as they presently
exist in April, 2007.”

In a memo to clerk Frye dated 14 November 2014 and filed
17 November 2014, Brannon asserted there was no basis for any further
hearings in the matter because guardianship terminated upon the death
of respondent. Without mention of Brannon’s memo, on 20 November
2014, clerk Frye ordered that Rockingham County Clerk of Superior
Court J. Mark Pegram (clerk Pegram) conduct the hearing ordered by
Judge Wood in Forsyth County Superior Court on 18 December 2014.
Notice of the hearing was given and a guardian ad litem appointed. An
amended notice of hearing and order for hearing signed by both clerk
Frye and Judge Wood were entered prior to the matter coming on for
hearing before clerk Pegram on 18 December 2014. During the hear-
ing, clerk Pegram heard testimony of what witnesses recalled from the
26 April 2007 incompetency hearing. Based on the testimony, clerk Pegram
entered an order on 5 February 2015 (the Pegram Order) in which he con-
cluded “that as of April 26, 2007, [respondent], was in fact incompetent.”

Brannon filed notice of appeal from the Pegram Order on
12 February 2015 and the appeal came on for hearing in Forsyth County
Superior Court before the Honorable Patrice A. Hinnant (Judge Hinnant)
on 19 March 2015. On 20 April 2015, Judge Hinnant entered an order (the
Hinnant Order) that the Pegram Order “is stricken and has no force or
effect[]” and, “[a]s a result of the abatement and lack of a filed stamped
order of incompetence, the matter remains at the status determined by
the Court of Appeals in its Opinion dated February 4, 2014, and all mat-
ters before the Court are dismissed.” The Hinnant Order was based on
the following findings:

1. All parties stipulated in open Court that Mary Ellen
Brannon Thompson died on October 2, 2014;
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2. On February 4, 2014, the North Carolina Court of
Appeals Opinion was entered in this matter wherein
the Court of Appeals decision determined that the
Order of Incompetency dated May 3, 2007 was not
effective or enforceable because it was never entered
and therefore it could not be the law of the case. (See
COA Feb 4, 2014 Opinion pp 8-9);

3. On April 9, 2015, the Honorable Susan Frye entered
an Order that was subsequently overturned on appeal
in a hearing on August 18, 2014, by the Honorable
William Z. Wood, Jr.;

4. Judge Wood announced his decision in open court on
the record and it was entered on October 24, 2014;

5. As stipulated above, Mary Ellen Brannon Thompson
died on October 2, 2014;

6. This matter abated on October 2, 2014;

7. The Order pertaining to this matter entered on February
5, 2015 by the Honorable J. Mark Pegram, Rockingham
County Clerk of Superior Court, is moot pursuant to
N.C. Gen. Stat. Section 35A-1295 which states: (a)
Every guardianship shall be terminated and all powers
and duties of the guardian provided in Article 9 of this
Chapter shall cease when the ward: (3) Dies. (See also:
In re Higgins 160 N.C. App. 704 (2003)).

8. In accordance with the Court of Appeals February 4,
2014 decision, the May 3, 2007 Order of Incompetency
is not the law of the case because it was not entered
pursuant to the Court of Appeals decision or prior to
the matter abating on October 2, 2014.

Following the entry of the Hinnant Order, on 21 April 2015, Brannon
filed a “Notice of Claim on Bond for Bryan Thompson” with the clerk’s
office. The notice asserted that appellant “was never authorized to act
as guardian of [respondent’s] estate[,]” notified the clerk’s office that the
estate was seeking payment for the unbonded balance of the estate, and
indicated the estate was willing to discuss resolution prior to suit.

On 20 May 2015, appellant filed notice of appeal from the
Hinnant Order.
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II. Discussion

Now on appeal, appellant challenges the orders entered after
respondent died on 2 October 2014. Specifically, appellant argues that
the trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to enter the Hinnant
Order, and any other substantive orders, after respondent’s death
because the matter abated upon respondent’s death on 2 October 2014.
We agree and note that even the Hinnant Order, whether or not proper,
ordered the Pegram Order “stricken” based on findings that the Pegram
Order, entered 5 February 2015, was moot because the matter abated on
2 October 2014. In the Hinnant Order, the trial court cited N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 35A-1295, which provides, in pertinent part, that “[e]very guardianship
shall be terminated and all powers and duties of the guardian provided
in Article 9 of this Chapter shall cease when the ward . . . [d]ies.” N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 35A-1295 (2015).

In addition to the mandate in N.C. Gen. Stat. § 35A-1295, this Court
has addressed the abatement of incompetency proceedings in both In e
Higgins, 160 N.C. App. 704, 587 S.E.2d 77 (2003), and In re Nebenzahl,
193 N.C. App. 752, 671 S.E.2d 71 (2008) (unpublished), available at 2008
WL 4911269.

In Higgins, the petitioner sought to have the respondent, her
brother, declared incompetent. 160 N.C. App. at 705, 587 S.E.2d at 77.
The petition for adjudication of incompetence, however, was dismissed
by both the clerk and the superior court and the petitioner appealed to
this Court. Id. Yet, during the pendency of the appeal, the respondent
died. Id. at 706, 587 S.E.2d at 78. Instead of addressing the petitioner’s
arguments, this Court found “the dispositive issue [was] whether, when
the trial court dismisses a petition for adjudication of incompetence, the
action abates upon the death of the respondent during the pendency of
the petitioner’s appeal.” Id. We held that the action did not survive. Id.
In so holding, this Court first noted that “ ‘[n]o action abates by reason
of the death of a party while an appeal may be taken or is pending, if
the cause of action survives.” ” Id. (quoting N.C. R. App. P. 38(a)). This
Court then looked to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 28A-18-1 to determine whether the
cause of action survived the respondent’s death. Id. That statute, which
remains the same in all material respects, now provides as follows:

(a) Upon the death of any person, all demands whatso-
ever, and rights to prosecute or defend any action or
special proceeding, existing in favor of or against such
person, except as provided in subsection (b) hereof,
shall survive to and against the personal representa-
tive or collector of the person’s estate.
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(b) The following rights of action in favor of a decedent
do not survive:

(1) Causes of action for libel and for slander, except
slander of title;

(2) Causes of action for false imprisonment;

(3) Causes of action where the relief sought could
not be enjoyed, or granting it would be nugatory
after death.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 28A-18-1 (2015). After deciding the third exception in
subsection (b) was the only applicable exception, this Court looked to
the purpose of incompetency proceedings to determine whether the
relief could not be enjoyed, or granting it would be nugatory after death.
Higgins, 160 N.C. App. at 706-707, 587 S.E.2d at 78. Recognizing that
the purpose of incompetency proceedings is to adjudicate an individual
incompetent and to appoint a guardian to help the incompetent individ-
ual exercise their rights, this Court determined “the result that the peti-
tion seeks to accomplish is no longer necessary after a respondent dies.”
Id. at 707, 587 S.E.2d at 79. Thus, this Court held “a petition to declare
a respondent incompetent does not survive the death of the respondent
under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 28A-18-1. Thus, the appeal [in Higgins] abated
upon the . . . death of the respondent . . . [and] has become moot and
[was] accordingly dismissed.” Id.

Similarly, in Nebenzahl, the petitioner sought to have the respon-
dent, her husband, declared incompetent. 2008 WL 4911269, at *1. After
the respondent’s son’s motion to dismiss the petition was stricken
by the clerk, the respondent was determined to be incompetent. Id.
The son’s appeal to superior court was dismissed and the son appealed
again to this Court. Id. Yet, the respondent died during the pendency
of the appeal. Id. In dismissing the appeal as moot, this court relied on
Higgins, but also addressed the son’s argument “that either (1) vacat-
ing the order adjudicating [the r]espondent incompetent and appointing
[the pletitioner as guardian or (2) reversing the order dismissing [the
son’s] appeal would render the appointment of the guardian void ab initio,
as if the guardianship never existed[,]” and “would subject any action
taken by [the p]etitioner while acting as [the r]espondent’s guardian to
legal challenge.” Id., at *3. This Court, however, found no support for
the son’s arguments and “conclude[d], as [it] held in Higgins, that [the
son’s] appeal of the order adjudicating [the r]espondent incompetent
abated with [the r]espondent’s death.” Id., at *3. Although Nebenzahl is
unpublished, we find it persuasive in the present case where it appears
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respondent’s estate seeks to recover for the actions of appellant while
acting as guardian of the estate.

What is clear from the holdings of Higgins and Nebenzahl is that the
incompetency proceedings abate upon the death of respondent because
the proceedings no longer serve the purpose of protecting respondent’s
rights and are moot. See Cumberland Cnty. Hosp. Sys., Inc. v. N.C.
Dept. of Health and Human Servs., __ N.C. App. __, __, 776 S.E.2d 329,
333 (2015) (“A case is moot when a determination is sought on a matter
which, when rendered, cannot have any practical effect on the existing
controversy.”) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Thus, in
the present case, the incompetency proceedings abated upon respon-
dent’s death on 2 October 2015 when the matter became moot. The trial
court did not retain subject matter jurisdiction over the moot proceed-
ings after that time. See Id. (“[A] moot claim is not justiciable, and a trial
court does not have subject matter jurisdiction over a non-justiciable
claim[.] Moreover, [i]f the issues before the court become moot at any
time during the course of the proceedings, the usual response is to dis-
miss the action for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.”) (internal quota-
tion marks and citations omitted).

The last order entered before respondent died and the matter
abated was the Frye Order entered 9 April 2014. Although the hearing
before Judge Wood occurred prior to respondent’s death, applying this
Court’s analysis from the prior appeal in this case, it is clear the Wood
Order was not entered until it was signed, dated, and filed with the clerk
on 24 October 2014, after the matter abated. Thompson, 232 N.C. App.
at 228, 7564 S.E.2d at 171 (discussing the requirements of N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 1A-1, Rule 58). Because the trial court lacked jurisdiction following
the abatement of the incompetency proceedings, all orders entered
after respondent’s death—the Wood Order, the Pegram Order, and the
Hinnant Order—are invalid and of no consequence.

Brannon does not argue that the matter did not abate, or that the
trial court had jurisdiction, in response to appellant’s argument that
the trial court lacked jurisdiction to enter orders in the incompetency
proceedings following respondent’s death. Instead, Brannon asserts that
this Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction and the appeal should be dis-
missed because appellant lacks standing to challenge the Hinnant Order.
See Neuse River Found., Inc. v. Smithfield Foods, Inc., 1565 N.C. App.
110, 113, 574 S.E.2d 48, 51 (2002) (“Standing is a necessary prerequisite
to a court’s proper exercise of subject matter jurisdiction.”) (internal
quotation marks and citation omitted). Brannon contends appellant
lacks standing because this Court’s 4 February 2014 opinion in the prior
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appeal in this case determined that appellant’s appointment as guard-
ian of the estate was without legal authority because the incompetency
order dated 3 May 2007 was never entered and, therefore, not the law
of the case.

Brannon’s initial argument, however, ignores the Frye Order that
re-entered the incompetency and guardianship orders nunc pro tunc
3 May 2007 after this Court’s 4 February 2014 opinion. This is because
Brannon further asserts that the Frye Order is invalid ab initio. In sup-
port of his assertion, Brannon alleges the clerk’s office acted with bias
and in dereliction of its duties to perpetuate fraud. However, Brannon’s
allegations of fraud were not litigated below and will not be decided for
the first time on appeal.

Both parties recognize that the trial court has the inherent author-
ity to correct clerical errors in the record to make it “speak the truth.”
State v. Dixon, 139 N.C. App. 332, 337-38, 533 S.E.2d 297, 302 (2000).
Furthermore, both parties include the following statement of the law,
verbatim, in their appellate briefs:

In any case where a judgment has been actually rendered,
or decree signed, but not entered on the record, in conse-
quence of accident or mistake or the neglect of the clerk,
the court has power to order that the judgment be entered
nunc pro tunc, provided the fact of its rendition is satisfac-
torily established and no intervening rights are prejudiced.
State v. Trust Co. v. Toms, 244 N.C. 645, 650, 94 S.E.2d 806,
810 (1956) (internal citations omitted); Elmore v. Elmore,
67 N.C. App. 661, 665, 313 S.E.2d 904, 908 (1984); In re
Watson, 70 N.C. App. 120, 318 S.E.2d 544 (1984) (describ-
ing Clerk’s authority under G.S. § 7A-103(9) as a “broad
grant” of power which necessarily includes entry of orders
nunc pro tunc.).

Brannon, however, contends that the error in the case is legal in nature
and not clerical because this Court previously held the incompetency
order dated 3 May 2007 was not the law of the case and, therefore, the
clerk lacked jurisdiction to appoint appellant as guardian of the estate.

While Brannon is correct that we held the clerk lacked jurisdiction
to appoint appellant as guardian of the estate, Thompson, 232 N.C. App.
at 228-29, 754 S.E.2d at 172, that determination was solely the result of
this Court’s holding that the incompetency order was not the law of the
case. But this Court’s decision that the incompetency order was not
the law of the case was based solely on the fact that the incompetency
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order was never filed and, therefore, never properly entered. Id. at 228,
754 S.E.2d at 171. We hold that failing to properly enter the incompe-
tency order is a clerical error that the clerk has the authority to cor-
rect, nunc pro tunc. Thus, the clerk did not err, or act contrary to this
Court’s 4 February 2014 opinion, when it entered the Frye Order on
9 April 2014. See In re English, 83 N.C. App. 359, 363, 350 S.E.2d 379, 382
(1986) (“[T]he [c]lerk is authorized by statute to [o]pen, vacate, modify,
set aside, or enter as of a former time, decrees or orders of his court.
This broad grant includes the power to correct orders entered errone-
ously, whenever the [c]lerk’s attention is directed to the error by motion
or by other means.”) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).
Once the incompetency order is properly filed and entered, jurisdiction
to appoint a guardian certainly follows.

Because the Frye Order re-entered the incompetency and guardian-
ship orders, appellant was guardian of the estate and had standing to
appeal the Hinnant Order.

Appellant also raises substantive issues with the Hinnant Order
on appeal. Yet, because we have held that the Hinnant Order is invalid
because the matter abated upon respondent’s death, we need not
address the merits of appellant’s other arguments. We simply take this
opportunity to reiterate that the Wood Order, the Pegram Order, and
the Hinnant Order were all entered after the incompetency proceedings
became moot and abated. Consequently, the trial court lacked jurisdic-
tion to enter the orders and the orders must be vacated.

III. Conclusion

For the reasons discussed above, all orders entered after the matter
abated upon the death of respondent on 2 October 2014 are vacated. The
last valid order is the Frye Order, which entered the incompetency and
guardianship orders, nunc pro tunc 3 May 2007, on 9 April 2014.

VACATED.
Judges STEPHENS and ZACHARY concur.
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STASIE KANELLOS, PLAINTIFF
.
IOANNIS JOHN KANELLOS, DEFENDANT

No. COA16-416
Filed 20 December 2016

1. Appeal and Error—interlocutory orders and appeals—final
child custody and visitation order

Plaintiff’s appeal from an interlocutory child custody order was
immediately appealable under N.C.G.S. § 50-19.1. The child custody
order was permanent since all issues relating to child custody and
visitation had been resolved.

2. Child Custody and Support—order compelling mother to live
in specific county and house—abuse of discretion
The trial court abused its discretion in a child custody case by
requiring plaintiff mother to relocate to the former marital residence
in Union County. The order was vacated to the extent it purported
to compel plaintiff to reside in a specific county and house, because
those matters fell outside the scope of authority granted to the dis-
trict court in a child custody action.

Appeal by Plaintiff from order entered 2 February 2016 by Judge
Joseph Williams in Union County District Court. Heard in the Court of
Appeals 4 October 2016.

J. Clark Fischer for Plaintiff.
John T. Burns for Defendant.

STEPHENS, Judge.

Plaintiff appeals from an interlocutory order making an initial per-
manent child custody determination, contending that the district court
erred in ordering Plaintiff and the parties’ children to move back to the
county where the parties lived before their separation, and to reside
there in the former marital residence. We vacate the challenged order to
the extent it purports to compel Plaintiff to reside in a specific county
and house, because those matters fall outside the scope of authority
granted to the district court in a child custody action.
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Factual and Procedural Background

On 1 July 2014, Plaintiff Stasie Kanellos filed a complaint for child
custody, child support, postseparation support, alimony, equitable distri-
bution, and attorney’s fees against Defendant Ioannis “John” Kanellos.
The parties were married on 27 March 2007, and the union produced two
children, a boy and a girl. On 25 June 2014, John moved out of the resi-
dence. The child custody matter came on for hearing on 23 September
2015, in Union County District Court, the Honorable Joseph Williams,
Judge presiding. On 2 February 2016, the district court entered its child
custody order.

Before the marriage, John owned a restaurant in Monroe and a
house located at 8220 Sunset Hill Road in Waxhaw. Both towns are
located in Union County. Following their marriage in May 2007, the par-
ties resided in the Sunset Hill Road residence. Following the birth of her
children, Stasie did not work outside of the home, and, although Stasie’s
mother would travel from her home in Lewisville to assist with child
care, attend doctor’s appointments, and clean the home, Stasie provided
“90% of the child care for the two children.” The evidence indicated that
a frequent daily routine was for John to arrive home after work, take a
short nap, spend one hour with the children, and then leave to go work
out at the gym. Stasie also regularly took the children to Lewisville for
several days at a time. During the course of the marriage, John was dis-
covered to be having an extra-marital relationship, and, after first trying
to repair the marriage though counseling, Stasie asked John to leave
the marital residence. The parties agreed that John could spend time
with the children on Wednesdays and alternating weekends, Fridays to
Sundays. Still, the parties’ relationship was strained: Stasie texted John
that “the kids do not give a sh*t about you and are dead to you,” told
John that he did not deserve the kids, and told the eldest child that his
father did not want to talk to him and that John was not his father. At the
time of the 23 September 2015 hearing, Stasie and the children lived with
Stasie’s mother in Lewisville, the children were enrolled in school there,
and Stasie had obtained employment in nearby Winston-Salem. Prior to
relocating to Lewisville, Stasie had discussed the move with John, who
objected. John asked Stasie to allow the children to stay with him every
other week during the summer, but Stasie refused. Stasie also rejected
John’s request for additional visitation time for beach weekends. At
some point after the parties’ separation, John also relocated, moving
from Waxhaw, in Union County, to Charlotte, in Mecklenburg County.!

1. At the hearing, John testified that he and the children would live in the former
marital residence if he gained primary custody, but in his brief to this Court, John’s
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John testified that the three-hour travel time to the Lewisville area made
it difficult for John to attend his son’s 8:30 a.m. Saturday soccer games.

In its 2 February 2016 order, the district court concluded that both
parties were fit and proper persons to have custody of the children, and
thus, awarded the parties joint legal custody, with Stasie having primary
physical custody and John enjoying visitation on alternating weekends.
The court further determined that it was in the best interest of the chil-
dren that they reside in Union County. Accordingly, the court ordered
that Stasie and the children move back to Union County and live in the
former marital residence, and that John continue to pay the mortgage
and utilities for the home. From the custody order, Stasie appeals, argu-
ing that the trial court abused its discretion by requiring that she relocate
to the former marital residence in Union County. Stasie emphasizes that,
at the time of the custody hearing, neither she nor John had resided in
Union County for over a year, and contends that, where the children were
settled in Forsyth County, the move would be highly disruptive to them.

Grounds for Appellate Review

[1] Initially, we must consider whether this interlocutory appeal is
properly before us. Our review of the record in this matter and pertinent
case law indicates that the 2 February 2016 order from which Stasie
appeals is a permanent or “final” order as to child custody, and, thus,
immediately appealable under our General Statutes.

“An interlocutory order is one made during the pendency of an
action, which does not dispose of the case, but leaves it for further
action by the trial court in order to settle and determine the entire con-
troversy.” Veazey v. City of Durham, 231 N.C. 357, 362, 57 S.E.2d 377,
381 (citation omitted), reh’g denied, 232 N.C. 744, 59 S.E.2d 429 (1950).
“Generally, there is no right to appeal from an interlocutory order.” Flitt
v. Flitt, 149 N.C. App. 475,477,561 S.E.2d 511, 513 (2002) (citations omit-
ted). However, in 2013, our General Assembly enacted section 50-19.1,
which provides:

Notwithstanding any other pending claims filed in
the same action, a party may appeal from an order or
Judgment adjudicating a claim for absolute divorce,
divorce from bed and board, child custody, child support,
alimony, or equitable distribution if the order or judgment

appellate counsel states that John lived with his own parents in Charlotte at the time of
the hearing.
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would otherwise be a final order or judgment within the
meaning of [section] 1A-1, Rule 54(b), but for the other
pending claims in the same action.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 50-19.1 (2015). In turn, under Rule 54(b) of our Rules
of Civil Procedure, “[w]hen more than one claim for relief is presented
in an action, . . . the court may enter a final judgment as to one or more
but fewer than all of the claims . . . only if there is no just reason for
delay and it is so determined in the judgment.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1,
Rule 54(b) (2015). A judgment with a Rule 54(b) certification from the
trial court is then immediately appealable. Id. The initial question for
this Court is thus whether the order from which Stasie appeals is a final
order as to child custody.

In one sense, all child custody orders are temporary:
they are subject to modification, and they terminate once
the child reaches the age of majority. Yet a distinction is
drawn in our statutes and in our case law between tem-
porary or interim custody orders and permanent or final
custody orders.

A permanent custody order establishes a party’s present
right to custody of a child and that party’s right to retain
custody indefinitely. Permanent custody orders arise in
one of two ways. If the necessary parties have entered into
an agreement for permanent custody, and the trial court
enters a consent decree which contains that agreement,
the consent decree is a permanent custody order. In all
other cases, permanent custody orders are those orders
that resolve a contested claim for permanent custody of
a child by granting permanent custody to one of the par-
ties. They are issued after a hearing of which all parties so
entitled are notified and at which all parties so entitled are
given an opportunity to be heard.

In contrast, temporary custody orders establish a party’s
right to custody of a child pending the resolution of a
claim for permanent custody—that is, pending the issu-
ance of a permanent custody order.

Regan v. Smith, 131 N.C. App. 851, 852-53, 509 S.E.2d 452, 454 (1998)
(citations and internal quotation marks omitted).

“There is no absolute test for determining whether a custody order
is temporary or final. A temporary order is not designed to remain in
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effect for extensive periods of time or indefinitely.” Miller v. Miller, 201
N.C. App. 577, 579, 686 S.E.2d 909, 911 (2009) (citations, internal quota-
tion marks, and ellipses omitted). Generally, a child custody “order is
temporary if either (1) it is entered without prejudice to either party, (2)
it states a clear and specific reconvening time in the order and the time
interval between the two hearings was reasonably brief; or (3) the order
does not determine all the issues.” Senner v. Senner, 161 N.C. App. 78,
81, 587 S.E.2d 675, 677 (2003) (citations omitted). “If the order does not
meet any of these criteria, it is permanent.” Peters v. Pennington, 210
N.C. App. 1, 14, 707 S.E.2d 724, 734 (2011) (citation omitted). Further, it
is the satisfaction of these criteria, or lack thereof, and not any designa-
tion by a district court of an order as temporary or permanent which
controls. See Brewer v. Brewer, 139 N.C. App. 222, 228, 533 S.E.2d 541,
546 (2000); see also Woodring v. Woodring, 227 N.C. App 638, 643, 745
S.E.2d 13, 18 (2013) (“A trial court’s designation of an order as ‘tempo-
rary’ or ‘permanent’ is neither dispositive nor binding on an appellate
court.”) (citation omitted).

Where this Court has determined that a child custody order is tempo-
rary because it did not “determine all the issues[,]” the remaining, unde-
cided issues were child custody matters such as legal custody, ongoing
holiday schedules, and the scope of visitation for the noncustodial par-
ent. See, e.g., id. at 644, 745 S.E.2d at 18 (“[The] order [appealed from]
did not address [the] father’s ongoing visitation, but rather provided
[the] father with only three specific instances of visitation in 2010. Nor
did the . . . order explicitly address legal custody. Thus, the order [did]
not determine all the issues and was a temporary order.” (citation and
internal quotation marks omitted; emphasis added); Sood v. Sood, 222
N.C. App. 807, 809, 732 S.E.2d 603, 606 (holding a custody order was tem-
porary and did not determine all the issues because “it did not resolve
holidays for the indefinite future”) (emphasis added), cert. denied, disc.
review denied, and appeal dismissed, 366 N.C. 417, 735 S.E.2d 336
(2012); Simmons v. Arriola, 160 N.C. App. 671, 675, 586 S.E.2d 809, 811
(2003) (“The initial order in the present case does not specify visitation
periods and, therefore, is incomplete and cannot be considered final.”
(emphasis added)); see also Anzures v. Walbecq, 781 S.E.2d 531 (2016)
(unpublished), available at 2016 N.C. App. LEXIS 26 (holding a cus-
tody order was temporary because it did not resolve holiday schedules
indefinitely and covered visitation only for a brief period). On the other
hand, the Court has concluded that a custody order was permanent if all
issues relating to child custody had been resolved, even if other matters
remained pending. See, e.g., Brewer, 139 N.C. App. at 228, 533 S.E.2d
at 546 (holding that an order was permanent because, inter alia, “the
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court resolved every issue dealing with custody”™). Likewise, the plain
language of section 50-19.1 permits immediate appeal where an order
“would otherwise be a final order . . . , but for the other pending claims
in the same action.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 50-19.1. Thus, the clear intent of
our General Assembly in enacting the statute was to permit immedi-
ate appeal of, inter alia, permanent child custody orders despite the
existence of still-pending claims in the matter not related to custody.

The order here resolves all issues related to child custody, provid-
ing for the parties to share joint custody, with primary physical custody
to Stasie, and sets out a detailed schedule for visitation and holidays that
covers the indefinite future:

A. The parties are awarded Joint Custody and [the chil-
dren] shall reside primarily with the Plaintiff/Mother.

B. The Defendant/Father shall have visitation on alternat-
ing weekends from Friday when school is out until Monday
when school takes back in and on each Wednesday eve-
ning from the time school let[s] out until 8:00pm.

C. The Defendant/Father shall have four non-consecutive
weeks summer visitation and select his weeks by February
1 of each year.

D. The Defendant/Father is to have the children in odd
numbered years from 2pm Christmas [D]ay to 2pm New
Year’s [D]ay; the Plaintiff/Mother is to have the children
for a like time period in the odd numbered years and
Defendant/Father shall have the children in even num-
bered years from the time school is out for the Christmas
break until 2pm Christmas Day; the Plaintiff/Mother is to
have the children for a like period of time in the odd num-
bered years.

E. The Defendant/Father is to have the children on Union
County Spring/Easter school break during even numbered
years and odd years the fall break for [the] Union County
school system.

F. The children are to be with the Plaintiff/Mother
Thanksgiving from [the] time school is out until 3pm
Friday and the remainder of the Thanksgiving weekend
with the Defendant/Father.
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G. The Defendant/Father shall in addition have the
following:

Visitation in odd years

1. Martin Luther King, Jr. Holiday from Friday-Monday; to
begin at school recess on Friday and continue until 6pm
on Monday.

2. Memorial Day from school recess on Friday before holi-
day until 6pm of Memorial Day.

3. Independence Day/4th of July school recess (if school
is in session) until 6pm of night before school is back
in session]. ]

4. Minor child’s birthday from school recess (if school is
in session) until 8:30pm.

Visitation in even years

1. Easter break from school recess until 6pm of the night
before school resumes.

2. Labor Day from school recess until 6pm the night before
school resumes.

H. Mother’s Day to the Mother in all years from 10am until
6pm to supersede any other Visitation. Father’s Day to the
Father in all years from 10am until 6pm to supersede any
other Visitation.

Because the order resolves all issues regarding custody and visita-
tion, was not “entered without prejudice to either party[,]” and does not
“state[] a clear and specific reconvening time[,]” see Senner, 161 N.C.
App. at 81, 587 S.E.2d at 677, it is a permanent order and therefore imme-
diately appealable under section 50-19.1. Accordingly, Stasie’s appeal is
properly before this Court on the merits.

Merits of Stasie’s Appeal

[2] On appeal, Stasie argues that the district “court abused its discretion
by requiring [Stasie] to relocate to the former marital residence in Union
County, when the undisputed evidence was that neither party had lived
in Union County for over a year and the move would be highly disruptive
to the children who were settled in Forsyth County with [Stasie] and her
family.” We agree that the portion of the district court’s order purporting
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to order Stasie to reside in Union County in the former marital residence
must be set aside.

Following the custody, visitation, and holiday provisions quoted
above, the court ordered:

I. Until the remaining issues are heard on the merits, the
children are to live in Union County, North Carolina and
the Defendant/Father is to continue to pay the mortgage
and utilities at the former marital residence. The Plaintiff
shall return to live with the children on or before March
1, 2016.

By its plain language, this portion of the order purports to order Stasie
and the children to move back to Union County from their current home
in Forsyth County.2 Although the issue of whether our district courts
can order a party in a child custody proceeding to relocate to a specific
location is a matter of first impression in this State, the pertinent statu-
tory and case law leads us to conclude that the district court here acted
in excess of its powers. Accordingly, we vacate paragraph I of the order.

Resolution of this appeal requires disentanglement of two closely
related, yet distinct matters: the authority of a court in a child custody
case (1) to award primary custody of a child and order visitation and (2)
to control where a parent involved in a child custody matter may live.
While the former is within the court’s discretion, the latter is beyond the
scope of the district court’s authority.

Chapter 50 of our General Statutes provides: “An order for custody
of a minor child entered pursuant to this section shall award the cus-
tody of such child to such person, agency, organization or institution as
will best promote the interest and welfare of the child.” N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 50-13.2(a) (2015). In fulfilling this directive, a district court retains sig-
nificant discretion:

The statute expresses the policy of the State that the best
interest and welfare of the child is the paramount and con-
trolling factor to guide the judge in determining the cus-
tody of a child. . . .

In upholding the order of the [district] court we recognize
that custody cases generally involve difficult decisions.

2. Asnoted supra, at the time the order was entered, no party lived in Union County:
the children resided with Stasie in Forsyth County and John resided in Mecklenburg County.
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The [district court] judge has the opportunity to see the
parties in person and to hear the witnesses. It is manda-
tory, in such a situation, that the [district court] judge be
given a wide discretion in making his determination, and
it is clear that his decision ought not to be upset on appeal
absent a clear showing of abuse of discretion.

In re Stancil, 10 N.C. App. 545, 548, 179 S.E.2d 844, 847 (1971) (citation
and internal quotation marks omitted).

However, while

[i]tis well established that [district court] judges are vested
with wide discretion in determining matters concerning
child custody[,] . . . . [t]he . . . judge’s discretion . . . can
extend no further than the bounds of the authority vested
in the . .. judge. In proceedings involving the custody . . .
of a minor child, the . . . judge is authorized to determine
the party or parties to whom custody of the child shall
be awarded, whether and to what extent a noncustodial
person shall be allowed wvisitation privileges,
whether an order for child custody or support shall be
modified or vacated based on a change in circumstances,
and certain other related matters. In addition, . . . judges
have authority to enforce orders concerning child custody
... by the methods set forth in [our General Statutes].

Appert v. Appert, 80 N.C. App. 27, 34, 341 S.E.2d 342, 346 (1986) (cita-
tions omitted; emphasis added) (holding that “trial judges in this State
do not have authority to condition the receipt or payment of child sup-
port upon compliance with court-ordered visitation”). In other words,
in child custody cases, the General Assembly has granted our district
courts broad discretion and authority to (1) award custody of a child
(and enforce such awards), (2) order visitation for the noncustodial par-
ent,3 and (3) resolve “certain other related matters.” Id.; see also N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 50-13.2(b) (“Any order for custody shall include such terms,
including visitation, as will best promote the interest and welfare of
the child.”).

Here, the district court determined, in its discretion, that the best
interest of the children was served by awarding primary physical

3. Chapter 50 also contains provisions for custody and visitation for nonparent par-
ties, such as grandparents, in certain circumstances, but because those provisions are
neither relevant nor informative in this matter, we do not discuss them herein.
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custody to Stasie, with significant visitation provided to John. That deci-
sion is not contested by either party. The question before this Court is
whether ordering Stasie and the children to relocate to Union County
is the type of “related matter” or “term” that forms the third major prong
of a district court’s authority in resolving a child custody dispute.

Certainly, child custody orders may include directives that facilitate
an ordered custody and visitation plan. See, e.g., Meadows v. Meadows,
__N.C. App. _, _, 782 S.E.2d 561, 569 (2016) (approving term that
a parent’s visits be supervised and take place at a specific location to
facilitate that supervision); Burger v. Smith, __ N.C. App. __, __, 776
S.E.2d 886, 894 (2015) (approving a trial court’s ruling that, during peri-
ods of scheduled visitation, the noncustodial parent could travel with
the child to Malawi where he worked as a missionary); Gerhauser v. Van
Bourgondien, 238 N.C. App. 275, 277, 767 S.E.2d 378, 381 (2014) (noting
in passing that a custody order “included provisions regarding payment
for the children’s travel expenses for visitation”); Anderson v. Lackey,
166 N.C. App. 279, 603 S.E.2d 168 (2004) (unpublished), available at
2004 N.C. App. LEXIS 1711 (reviewing an order of contempt where a
custodial parent allegedly violated terms of a custody order requiring,
inter alia, that she deliver the child to the other parent for visits and
discuss those visits in a positive manner with the child). Further, district
court judges regularly resolve disputes that directly implicate a child’s
relationship with each parent or academic and other activities. See, e.g.,
Cunningham v. Cunningham, 171 N.C. App. 550, 561, 615 S.E.2d 675,
683 (2005) (approving a restriction barring the mother from using a spe-
cific babysitter who had been “interfering” with the children’s relation-
ship with their father); Elrod v. Elrod, 125 N.C. App. 407, 411, 481 S.E.2d
108, 111 (1997) (holding that a district “court in a child custody proceed-
ing is not precluded from prohibiting in some circumstances, as a condi-
tion of the custody grant, the home schooling of the children”) (citations
omitted); MacLagan v. Klein, 123 N.C. App. 557, 565, 473 S.E.2d 778,
787 (1996) (affirming the district court’s ruling regarding disputes over a
child’s religious training), disc. review denied, 345 N.C. 343, 483 S.E.2d
170 (1997). However, we have found no case in this State wherein a dis-
trict court judge purported to order a custodial parent and the minor chil-
dren to move from one county to another and to live in a specific house.

To be sure, our courts regularly consider the relocation (or pro-
posed relocation) of custodial parents when deciding whether to modify
existing child custody orders.4

4. Modification of child custody awards is a two-step process. “A court order for
custody of a minor child may be modified. . . . [if] the moving party shows there has been a
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In these . . . instances the question arises whether the per-
son having custody of a child or to whom custody would
otherwise be granted is to be tied down permanently to
the state which awards custody. . . . The . . . court must
make a comparison between the two applicants consider-
ing all factors that indicate which of the two is best-fitted
to give the child the home-life, care, and supervision that
will be most conducive to its well-being.

In evaluating the best interests of a child in a proposed
relocation, the . . . court may appropriately consider sev-
eral factors including: The advantages of the relocation
in terms of its capacity to improve the life of the child;
the motives of the custodial parent in seeking the move;
the likelihood that the custodial parent will comply with
visitation orders when he or she is no longer subject to the
jurisdiction of the courts of North Carolina; the integrity
of the noncustodial parent in resisting the relocation; and
the likelihood that a realistic visitation schedule can be
arranged which will preserve and foster the parental rela-
tionship with the noncustodial parent.

Evans v. Evans, 138 N.C. App. 135, 141-42, 530 S.E.2d 576, 580 (2000)
(citation and internal quotation marks omitted). As reflected in this
language from Evans, where a custodial parent has moved or plans to
do so and the noncustodial parent objects, our district courts have the
authority to consider the factors quoted above and make an award of
custody accordingly. That is, a court may determine either (1) that cus-
tody should remain with a parent who has relocated or (2) that it is in
the child’s best interest to switch custody to the parent who has not relo-
cated. See, e.g., Green v. Kelischek, 234 N.C. App. 1, 17, 759 S.E.2d 106,
116 (2014) (finding no abuse of discretion in a district “court’s decision
to modify the existing custody order such that [the former noncustodial
parent] is entitled to school year custody of [the child] if [the former
custodial parent] moves to Oregon”); O’Connor v. Zelinske, 193 N.C.
App. 683, 691, 668 S.E.2d 615, 620 (2008) (finding no abuse of discretion
in declining to change primary custody while allowing the custodial par-
ent “the option to relocate to Minnesota. . . . [where] the advantages to

substantial change in circumstances affecting the welfare of the minor child. . .. Once. ..
asubstantial change in circumstances [is shown] . . ., the ... court must determine whether
a change in custody is in the best interest of the child.” Browning v. Helff, 136 N.C. App.
420, 423-24, 524 S.E.2d 95, 98 (2000) (citations, internal quotation marks, some ellipses,
and some brackets omitted).
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the children outweigh the disadvantages”); Cunningham, 171 N.C. App.
at 561-62, 615 S.E.2d at 684 (finding no abuse of discretion in declining
to change primary custody where the custodial parent planned a pos-
sible move out of state in the future). Thus, if a court with jurisdiction
in a child custody matter believes that a parent’s relocation is not in
the child’s best interest, its recourse is to award primary custody to the
other parent, as did the court in Green. 234 N.C. App. at 17, 759 S.E.2d
at 116. However, district courts do not have authority to order that a
parent relocate (or refrain from doing so).

Our district courts may consider where each parent lives, along
with any other pertinent circumstances, in determining which parent
should be awarded primary custody to facilitate the child’s best interest.
See Blackley v. Blackley, 285 N.C. 358, 362, 204 S.E.2d 678, 681 (1974)
(noting that the district court “judge’s concern is to place the child in
an environment which will best promote the full development of his
physical, mental, moral and spiritual faculties”) (citations omitted). Put
simply, a district court must consider the pros and cons of ordering pri-
mary custody with each parent, contemplating the two options as they
exist, and then choose which is in the child’s best interest. See Stanback
v. Stanback, 266 N.C. 72, 76, 145 S.E.2d 332, 335 (1965) (“A judgment
awarding custody is based upon the conditions found to exist at the
time it is entered.”) (emphasis added). However, a court cannot order a
parent to relocate in order to create a “new and improved” third option,
even if the district court sincerely believes it would be in the child’s
best interest.

In sum, the district court here was free to make findings of fact
regarding the relative benefits to the children of living with John in
Mecklenburg County or with Stasie in Forsyth County, and to rely on
those factual findings in deciding which parent should have primary
physical custody. If the court believed Stasie’s residence in Forsyth
County rendered her the less beneficial choice to have primary custody
of the children, it had the discretion to award primary custody to John.
However, the court acted outside the scope of its authority in purport-
ing to compel Stasie and the children to move back to Union County
and reside in the former marital residence. Accordingly, we vacate para-
graph I of the order.

VACATED IN PART.
Judge CALABRIA concurs.

Judge BRYANT concurs in result only.
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FREDERICK SAMUEL LOPP, PLAINTIFF
V.

JOEL ANDERSON, INDIVIDUALLY AND IN HIS OFFICIAL CapaciTy; KENT WINSTEAD, SHERIFF
OF FRANKLIN COUNTY, v nis OrriciAL Caracity; FRANKLIN COUNTY; GARRETT
STANLEY, INpIvVIDUALLY AND IN HIS OFFICIAL CAPACITY; ANDY CASTANEDA, INDIVIDUALLY AND
IN HIS OFFICIAL CaPAcITY; SHERRI BRINKLEY, INDIVIDUALLY AND IN HER OFFICIAL CAPACITY;
LOUISBURG POLICE DEPARTMENT; anxo THE TOWN OF LOUISBURG, DEFENDANTS

Nos. COA16-111 and COA16-112
Filed 20 December 2016

1. Appeal and Error—preservation of issues—failure to argue—
sovereign immunity
Because plaintiffs failed to properly argue that relevant insur-
ance policies served to waive sovereign immunity with respect to
defendants Franklin County, Town of Louisburg, Louisburg Police
Department, or defendants Joel Anderson, Garrett Stanly, Andy
Castaneda, Sherri Brinkley, and Kent Winstead, acting in their offi-
cial capacities, any such arguments were abandoned.

2. Appeal and Error—preservation of issues—failure to argue

Plaintiffs abandoned additional arguments including that
Franklin County can be held liable for the acts of its elected sheriff
or his deputies and any issues regarding defendant Louisburg Police
Department based on failure to argue.

3. Police Officers—individual capacity claims—malice—public
official immunity
The trial court erred by granting summary judgment in favor of
defendant officers Garrett Stanly, Andy Castaneda, Sherri Brinkley,
and Joel Anderson, in their individual capacities. The evidence raised
an issue of material fact concerning whether defendant officers
acted with malice in regard to Roddie’s claims. However, the trial
court did not err by granting summary judgment in favor of defen-
dant officers Brinkley and Castaneda, in their individual capacities,
based upon public official immunity, for Frederick’s claims.

4. Police Officers—individual capacity claims—assault—bat-
tery—false imprisonment—malicious prosecution—sufficiency
of evidence

The trial court erred by granting summary judgment in favor of
all defendant officers. There was sufficient evidence, when viewed in
the light most favorable to plaintiffs, to survive defendants’ motions
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for summary judgment on the individual capacity claims of assault
and battery, false imprisonment, and malicious prosecution against
all defendant officers in Roddie’s action, and against Officer Stanly
and Deputy Anderson in Frederick’s action.

Appeal by Plaintiffs from orders entered 3 November 2015 by Judge
Robert H. Hobgood in Superior Court, Franklin County. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 22 August 2016.

Stainback, Satterwhite & Zollicoffer, PLLC, by Paul J. Stainback,
for Plaintiffs-Appellants.

Womble Carlyle Sandridge & Rice, LLP, by Christopher J. Geis, for
Defendants-Appellees Joel Anderson, Sheriff Kent Winstead, and
Franklin County.

Pinto Coates Kyre & Bowers, PLLC, by Richard L. Pinto and
Andrew G. Pinto, for Defendants-Appellees Garrett Stanley, Andy
Castaneda, Sherri Brinkley, Louisburg Police Department, and
Town of Louisburg.

McGEE, Chief Judge.

1. Facts

The events relevant to this appeal occurred on 28 June 2009. On
that date, Roddie McKinley Lopp (“Roddie”) lived with his parents, Mary
Lopp and Frederick Samuel Lopp (“Frederick”) (Frederick together with
Roddie, “Plaintiffs”) in Louisburg. Roddie had two young children (“the
children”), whose mother was Jodie Braddy (“Jodie”). Roddie and Jodie
never married, and Jodie subsequently married Doug Braddy (“Doug”).
On 28 June 2009, Roddie and Jodie shared custody of the children under
the terms of a custody order. Pursuant to this custody order, Roddie was
to deliver the children to Jodie by 6:00 p.m. on 28 June 2009. Deviation
from established transfer times could only be made by the “mutual con-
sent” of Roddie and Jodie. Roddie contends his attorney spoke with
Jodie’s attorney prior to 28 June 2009, and an agreement was reached
whereby Roddie would keep the children past 28 June 2009 to make up
for times when Jodie had kept the children during Roddie’s custodial
periods. The record includes nothing beyond Roddie’s testimony and
affidavit supporting the existence of this agreement.
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According to Jodie, after Roddie failed to appear by 6:00 p.m. on
28 June 2009, Jodie decided to drive to the Louisburg Police Department
for assistance in retrieving the children. Jodie brought the custody order
with her, which she showed to police officers. Jodi asked for assistance
from the officers because she was worried that Roddie “could possibly
get violent because [she and Roddie] had had such a physical history.”
Jodie also informed the officers that Roddie kept firearms in his house.
After speaking with the on-duty magistrate, an officer informed Jodie
that the Louisburg police would assist her.

Officers Garrett Stanly! (“Officer Stanly”), Andy Castaneda (“Officer
Castaneda”), and Sherri Brinkley (“Officer Brinkley”) were in the park-
ing lot of the police station preparing to leave for Plaintiffs’ house when
Deputy Joel Anderson (“Deputy Anderson”) of the Franklin County
Sheriff’s Department (Deputy Anderson, along with the above three
officers “Defendant Officers”), passed by and agreed to join them.
Defendant Officers headed to Plaintiffs’ house, and Jodie and Doug fol-
lowed in their own automobile.

The following is Roddie’s account of the events that occurred at his
home on 28 June 2009. Defendant Officers approached Roddie in his
yard and “proceeded to confront him and insisted upon the return of
the children to Jodi[e.]” Roddie told Defendant Officers that he wanted
to call his attorney so his attorney could explain that an agreement had
been reached allowing Roddie to keep the children for some extra period
of time. According to Roddie’s deposition testimony, he told Defendant
Officers: “ ‘Well, I'm going to go in and call . . . my attorney and then get a
copy of the consent order and show you.” ” Roddie testified: “There was
[sic] no words after that. All four of them took me down, beat me, kicked
me, assaulted me.” Roddie testified that he had done nothing to provoke
Defendant Officers, and that all four Defendant Officers “assaulted” him.
Roddie testified that all four Defendant Officers punched and kicked
him as he was lying on the ground and already handcuffed. Roddie fur-
ther testified that he believed Deputy Anderson attempted to shock him
with a stun gun as Roddie was “getting into the [police] car[,]” even
though he was not resisting. According to Roddie, Deputy Anderson
placed his stun gun on him, and he felt a small “jolt,” but “not like what

1. Although his name is written as “Garrett Stanley” on the complaint, orders grant-
ing summary judgment, and on notices of appeal, in his affidavit Officer Stanly struck
out the spelling of “Stanley,” and hand-wrote “Stanly,” underneath his signature. We will
use the spelling “Stanly” throughout the body of this opinion.
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I'm used to seeing on TV[.]” Roddie believed the stun gun didn’t “work(]
completely right.”

Concerning the treatment of Frederick, Roddie testified that, after
he had been helped off the ground, he “looked back and [Frederick] was
down” on the ground. Roddie testified that Officer Stanly and Deputy
Anderson “were roughing [Frederick] up and cuffing him.” Roddie fur-
ther testified that by “roughing up” he meant Officer Stanly and Deputy
Anderson were punching Frederick in the face and upper body. In an
affidavit, Roddie stated:

[A]s I was led away and taken to the police vehicle I saw
my father, Frederick Lopp, who was then 83 years of age,
thrown to the ground and assaulted in much the same
manner as me, and he [had] to be taken to the hospital
later that same night.

In his verified complaint, Frederick alleged that when he “saw his son
. . . being wrongfully harmed and assaulted by” Defendant Officers,
he asked Defendant Officers if they had a warrant and told Defendant
Officers they had no right to be there. Frederick then walked toward
Roddie and Defendant Officers, “but [Frederick] was thereafter thrown
to the ground by [Defendant Officers]” and “beaten, handcuffed and gen-
erally assaulted[.]” Defendants have included in the record testimony
and affidavits contradicting Plaintiffs’ recitation of the events.

Plaintiffs filed complaints on 22 April 2014 alleging assault and bat-
tery, false imprisonment, and malicious prosecution against Defendant
Officers, in both their official and individual capacities; and against
Defendants Franklin County, the Town of Louisburg, the Louisburg
Police Department, and Jerry Jones, as Sheriff of Franklin County,
in both his official and individual capacity. By consent order entered
1 June 2015, Jerry Jones was dismissed as a Defendant in this matter,
and Kent Winstead was substituted as a Defendant for Jerry Jones,
solely in his official capacity as Sheriff of Franklin County. Defendants
moved for summary judgment by motions filed 14 September 2015 and
16 September 2015.

Defendants argued that Defendant Officers, acting in their individual
capacities, were entitled to public official immunity; and that the munic-
ipal Defendants, along with the individual Defendants acting in their
official capacities, were protected from suit by governmental immunity.
The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of all Defendants by
orders entered 3 November 2015. Plaintiffs appeal.
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II. Analysis

In Plaintiffs’ sole arguments on appeal they contend that the trial
court erred in allowing Defendants’ motions for summary judgment
“based upon issues of sovereign immunity and public officer immunity.”
We agree in part and disagree in part.

“Our standard of review of a trial court’s order granting or deny-
ing summary judgment is de novo. Under a de novo review, the [C]ourt
considers the matter anew and freely substitutes its own judgment for
that of the lower tribunal.” Bryson v. Coastal Plain League, LLC, 221
N.C. App. 654, 656, 729 S.E.2d 107, 109 (2012) (citations and quotation
marks omitted).

“On appeal from summary judgment, the applicable stan-
dard of review is whether there is any genuine issue of
material fact and whether the moving party is entitled to a
judgment as a matter of law.” Summary judgment is appro-
priate “if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interroga-
tories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits,
if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any mate-
rial fact and that any party is entitled to judgment as a mat-
ter of law.” If there is any evidence of a genuine issue of
material fact, a motion for summary judgment should be
denied. “[W]e review the record in a light most favorable
to the party against whom the order has been entered to
determine whether there exists a genuine issue as to any
material fact.”

Smith v. Harris, 181 N.C. App. 585, 587, 640 S.E.2d 436, 438 (2007) (cita-
tions omitted). However, this Court will only consider those arguments
properly set forth in an appellant’s brief. Bryson, 221 N.C. App. at 655,
729 S.E.2d at 108.

A. Sovereign Immunity

[1] The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of the munici-
pal Defendants and the individual Defendants in their official capacities
based upon sovereign immunity. The trial court based its orders granting
summary judgment on the following:2

2. The orders granting summary judgment in Roddie’s case and Frederick’s case are
identical in every relevant way, though there are some minor wording differences.
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1. Defendants Joel Anderson, Sheriff Kent Winstead,
Garrett Stanley, Andy Castaneda, and Sherri a/k/a Shari
Brinkley, in their official capacities, by reason of sover-
eign and/or governmental immunity, because there was no
liability insurance providing indemnity coverage because
the only policy of insurance for Franklin County and the
only policy of insurance for the Town of Louisburg for
the time in question did not provide liability coverage
for the alleged actions of Defendants Anderson, Winstead,
Stanley, Castaneda, and Brinkley against Plaintiff.

2. Franklin County and the Town of Louisburg are enti-
tled to sovereign and/or governmental immunity because
the only policy of insurance for Franklin County and the
only policy of insurance for the Town of Louisburg for
the time in question preserves sovereign and/or govern-
mental immunity for Plaintiff’s claims, and, additionally,
under North Carolina Law, a county may not be liable for
the acts or omissions of a sheriff or his deputies.

3. Defendants Joel Anderson, Garrett Stanley, Andy
Castaneda, and Sherri a/k/a Shari Brinkley, in their indi-
vidual capacities, are entitled to public officer immunity
in that said defendants did not act with malice, were not
corrupt, and were not acting outside of or beyond the
scope of their duties. Furthermore, Defendants Stanley,
Castaneda, and Brinkley conducted the arrest of Plaintiff
based on probable cause for acts committed in their pres-
ence which would induce a reasonable police officer to
arrest Plaintiff. Additionally, because there was probable
cause for the arrest of Plaintiff, none of the Plaintiff’s
North Carolina State Constitutional Rights have been vio-
lated as Defendants Anderson, Stanley, Castaneda, and
Brinkley used the minimum amount of force necessary to
safely arrest Plaintiff.

4. Defendant Louisburg Police Department is not a public
entity that can be sued.

Concerning the issue of sovereign immunity, Plaintiffs make identi-
cal arguments. Their entire arguments are as follows:

The Defendants have all asserted governmental immunity,
and contend that they are entitled to immunity unless it
is waived through the purchase of insurance. It is clear
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that both Franklin County and the City of Louisburg had
acquired insurance, but the Defendants all contend that
the acquisition of this insurance purportedly did not waive
as a defense the defense of governmental immunity, and
therefore the County and City are still entitled to that
defense. That is absurd, in that it is a fallacy and con-
trary to public policy. Why would you purchase insurance
which had a provision in it that it would allow the County
to not waive governmental immunity as a defense? If that
is the case, the County and City are spending money for
feckless reasons.

Plaintiffs’ arguments consist of declaratory statements unsupported by
any citation to authority. Plaintiffs do not discuss the provisions of the
insurance policies and, subsequently, Plaintiffs also fail to make any
argument concerning the specific provisions of the policies that they
contend served to waive sovereign immunity. Plaintiffs further fail to
cite to any authority in support of any contention that the relevant
insurance policies served to waive sovereign immunity. Plaintiffs’ argu-
ments violate Rule 28(b)(6) of the North Carolina Rules of Appellate
Procedure, and these arguments are therefore abandoned. McKinnon
v. CV Indus., Inc., 228 N.C. App. 190, 196, 745 S.E.2d 343, 348 (2013)
(citation omitted) (“Although plaintiff makes a passing reference to
these statutes in his brief, he makes no specific argument that the trial
court erred in denying his motion for attorney’s fees under them. We
therefore deem these issues abandoned. N.C.R. App. P. 28(b)(6) (‘Issues
not presented in a party’s brief, or in support of which no reason or
argument is stated, will be taken as abandoned.”)”); N.C. Farm Bureau
Mut. Ins. Co. v. Smith, 227 N.C. App. 288, 292, 743 S.E.2d 647, 649 (2013)
(“[Appellant] fail[s] to cite any controlling authority in support of this
contention or otherwise explain why it has merit, and we accordingly
deem the issue abandoned. See N.C.R. App. P. 28(b)(6) (2013) (providing
that an appellant’s argument ‘shall contain citations of the authorities
upon which the appellant relies’).”).

Because Plaintiffs fail to properly argue that relevant insurance pol-
icies served to waive sovereign immunity with respect to Defendants
Franklin County, Town of Louisburg, Louisburg Police Department,
or Defendants Joel Anderson, Garrett Stanly, Andy Castaneda, Sherri
Brinkley, and Kent Winstead, acting in their official capacities, any such
arguments are abandoned. McKinnon, 228 N.C. App. at 196, 745 S.E.2d
at 348. We affirm the grant of summary judgment in favor of the munici-
pal Defendants, and the individual Defendants in their official capacities.
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Because Plaintiffs agreed, by consent order, to pursue Defendant Kent
Winstead in his official capacity only, no claims remain against Defendant
Kent Winstead.

B. Additional Abandoned Arguments

[2] Further, Plaintiffs do not argue on appeal that Franklin County can
be held liable for the acts of its elected Sheriff or his deputies, so any
such arguments are also abandoned. Id. In addition, Plaintiffs make
no arguments in their briefs concerning Defendant Louisburg Police
Department. Plaintiffs have therefore abandoned any arguments that
the trial court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Defendant
Louisburg Police Department. Id.

C. Public Official Immunity

[3] Plaintiffs also contend the trial court erred in granting summary
judgment in favor of Defendant Officers Garrett Stanly, Andy Castaneda,
Sherri Brinkley, and Joel Anderson, in their individual capacities.

Defendants contend that, because the individual Defendants were
public officials conducting their public duties, their actions were pro-
tected by public official immunity. Police officers engaged in performing
their duties are public officials for the purposes of public official immu-
nity: “a police officer is a public official who enjoys absolute immunity
from personal liability for discretionary acts done without corruption or
malice.” Campbell v. Anderson, 156 N.C. App. 371, 376, 576 S.E.2d 726,
730 (2003) (citations omitted).

The North Carolina rule is that a public official engaged
in the performance of governmental duties involving the
exercise of judgment and discretion may not be held liable
unless it is alleged and proved that his act, or failure to act,
was corrupt or malicious, or that he acted outside of and
beyond the scope of his duties.

Showalter v. N.C. Dep’t of Crime Control & Pub. Safety, 183 N.C. App.
132, 136, 643 S.E.2d 649, 652 (2007) (citation omitted). Plaintiffs have
specifically alleged that Defendant Officers acted with malice.

“A defendant acts with malice when he wantonly does that
which a man of reasonable intelligence would know to be
contrary to his duty and which he intends to be prejudicial
or injurious to another.” As the moving party, defendants
had “the burden of showing that no material issues of fact
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exist, such as by demonstrating through discovery that
the opposing party cannot produce evidence to support
an essential element of his claim or defense.”

Id. (citations omitted).
1. Roddie McKinley Lopp

As discussed in greater detail above, Roddie testified and averred
that all four Defendant Officers participated in taking him to the ground
and punching and kicking him even though he was not resisting. Roddie
further testified he was treated in that manner simply because he stated
he was going to call his attorney to help clear up a misunderstanding
about the custody agreement and his right to keep the children on
28 June 2009. There are multiple accounts from other witnesses who
contradict Roddie’s description of the events surrounding his arrest,
but we must view the evidence in the light most favorable to Plaintiffs,
since they are the non-moving parties. Smith, 181 N.C. App. at 587, 640
S.E.2d at 438. This Court previously addressed a similar fact situation in
Showalter, where this Court held that denial of the police officer defen-
dant, Trooper Emmons’, motion for summary judgment was proper
based upon the following evidence:

In support of their motion for summary judgment, defen-
dants offered the deposition testimony of plaintiff and
his wife, and the affidavit of Trooper Emmons. Although
Trooper Emmons averred in his affidavit that he did not
act maliciously or with reckless indifference toward
plaintiff, and that all of his actions were “based on prob-
able cause,” plaintiff testified in his deposition that the
officer was angry, was “very loud and spitting,” and that
when he opened his car door in response to the officer’s
command, Trooper Emmons “maced” him, with some of
the spray going inside plaintiff’s car and contacting his
wife. Plaintiff also testified that he told the officer that he
needed his crutches, but the officer jerked him out of the
car and handcuffed him, notwithstanding plaintiff’s wife
telling the trooper that plaintiff was disabled. The court
must consider the evidence “in a light most favorable to
the nonmoving party,” and “[a]ll inferences of fact must be
drawn against the movant and in favor of the nonmovant.”
When so considered, the foregoing evidentiary materials
are sufficient to create a genuine issue of fact, material
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to the issue of immunity, as to whether Trooper Emmons
actions were done with malice.

Showalter, 183 N.C. App. at 136, 643 S.E.2d at 652 (citations omitted).

In the present case, Roddie’s deposition testimony was as follows:
Defendant Officers came to his home and informed him that they were
going to take his children from him and arrest him. Roddie tried to
explain that his attorney and Jodie’s attorney had reached an agreement
whereby Roddie would keep the children for a few days beyond 28 June
2009, to make up for extra time Jodie had kept the children in the past.
Defendant Officers were not interested in listening to Roddie, so Roddie
said he was going to go inside and call his attorney so his attorney could
explain the situation to Defendant Officers. At that moment, according to
Roddie: “They took me down and assaulted me.” Roddie testified that all
four Defendant Officers “took him down” and then punched and kicked
him in front of his children. Roddie was handcuffed and placed in the
back of a police vehicle. Roddie testified that a stun gun was deployed
for no reason while Defendant Officers were attempting to place him in
the vehicle, but he did not think the stun gun functioned properly.

Although there is both affidavit and deposition testimony challeng-
ing Roddie’s recitation of events, we must look at the evidence in the
light most favorable to Roddie, as the non-moving party. We hold that,
similar to the facts in Showalter, the record evidence raises an issue of
material fact concerning whether Defendant Officers acted with malice.
See also Thompson v. Town of Dallas, 142 N.C. App. 651, 666-57, 543
S.E.2d 901, 905-06 (2001) (unnecessarily rough treatment of the plaintiff
by defendant officer, as forecast in the plaintiff’s complaint, sufficient
to survive summary judgment even though defendant forecast evidence
to the contrary). Therefore, relevant to Roddie’s complaint, it was error
for the trial court to grant Defendants’ motion for summary judgment in
favor of Defendant Officers, acting in their individual capacities, based
upon public official immunity.3

3. We also note that much of Roddie’s argument in his brief before this court focuses
on his contention that the officers had no legal authority to assist Jodie in retrieving the
children according to the custody order, so the officers were acting “outside of and beyond
the scope of [their] duties” simply by entering his property to assist Jodie in retrieving the
children. The forecast of evidence does not show that the officers were acting outside or
beyond the scope of their duties simply by assisting Jodie according to an existing custody
order; it shows only that the officers may have used inappropriate force in dealing with
Roddie and Frederick.
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2. Prederick Samuel Lopp

Defendants tried to depose Frederick on two occasions —
15 January 2015 and 8 September 2015. Unfortunately, Frederick, who
turned eighty-nine years old on 26 June 2015, was unable to answer
coherently the questions asked of him on either occasion. Therefore,
the only evidence in support of Frederick’s claims consists of his veri-
fied complaint, and the deposition testimony and affidavit of Roddie.

Although Frederick could not participate in his attempted depo-
sitions, Frederick’s verified complaint alleges that he was “thrown to
the ground[,]” then “beaten, handcuffed and generally assaulted|.]”
Frederick’s complaint alleges that he suffered “severe injuries” includ-
ing “lacerations to his face, head, back, knees, legs and wrists” that
required medical attention. Further, Roddie’s testimony and affidavit
include testimony that Roddie witnessed Frederick being assaulted by
Deputy Anderson and Officer Stanly and, more specifically, that these
two officers were punching Frederick in the head and upper body as he
was subdued on the ground.

For the same reasons discussed above concerning Roddie, we
hold that, because there is a material conflict in the evidence asserted
by Plaintiffs and Defendants, summary judgment in favor of Deputy
Anderson and Officer Stanly based upon public official immunity relat-
ing to Frederick’s complaint, was error. We further hold, however,
that Frederick failed to present the trial court sufficient facts to sup-
port a finding of malice on the part of Officers Brinkley and Castaneda.
Roddie’s deposition testimony only implicated Deputy Anderson and
Officer Stanly in the alleged mistreatment of Frederick, and Frederick
was unable to give any testimony at all. We affirm the trial court’s grant
of summary judgment in favor of Officers Brinkley and Castaneda, in
their individual capacities, based upon public official immunity, for
Frederick’s claims.

D. Specific Individual Capacity Claims

[4] We must now consider whether summary judgment should have
been granted in favor of the individual Defendants for any of the specific
claims Plaintiffs filed against them. Shore v. Brown, 324 N.C. 427, 428,
378 S.E.2d 778, 779 (1989) (citation omitted) (“If the granting of sum-
mary judgment can be sustained on any grounds, it should be affirmed
on appeal. If the correct result has been reached, the judgment will
not be disturbed even though the trial court may not have assigned
the correct reason for the judgment entered.”). We reiterate that none
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of the following analysis applies to Officers Castaneda or Brinkley for
Frederick’s individual capacity claims because, as held above, they were
protected by public official immunity from Frederick’s individual capac-
ity claims.

1. Assault and Battery

A law enforcement officer may be held liable for assault and battery
in the course of an arrest if he or she uses excessive force in the course
of that arrest.

[A] civil action for damages for assault and battery is avail-
able at common law against one who, for the accomplish-
ment of alegitimate purpose, such as justifiable arrest, uses
force which is excessive under the given circumstances.

Under the common law, a law enforcement officer has
the right, in making an arrest and securing control of an
offender, to use only such force as may be reasonably nec-
essary to overcome any resistance and properly discharge
his duties. “[H]e may not act maliciously in the wanton
abuse of his authority or use unnecessary and excessive
force.” Although the officer has discretion, within reason-
able limits, to judge the degree of force required under
the circumstances, “when there is substantial evidence of
unusual force, it is for the jury to decide whether the offi-
cer acted as a reasonable and prudent person or whether
he acted arbitrarily and maliciously.” Further, an assault
and battery need not necessarily be perpetuated with mali-
ciousness, willfulness or wantonness, and actual physical
injury need not be shown in order to recover.

Muyrick v. Cooley, 91 N.C. App. 209, 215, 371 S.E.2d 492, 496 (1988) (cita-
tions omitted). There are questions of material fact concerning whether
Defendant Officers used excessive force, such as punching or kick-
ing Plaintiffs, or deploying a stun gun, while facilitating the arrest of
Plaintiffs. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment in favor
of all Defendant Officers in their individual capacities for Roddie’s
assault and battery claims, and further erred in granting summary judg-
ment in favor of Deputy Anderson and Officer Stanly in their individual
capacities for Frederick’s assault and battery claims.

2. False Imprisonment

Defendant Officers did not have a warrant to arrest Plaintiffs and,
according to Defendants’ evidence, they were not intending to arrest
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Plaintiffs when they arrived at Plaintiffs’ residence. Defendants’ evi-
dence suggests that Roddie “aggressively initiated contact with the
[individual Defendants.]” However, Roddie’s evidence, if believed,
suggests that immediately after Roddie indicated that he wanted
to call his attorney in order to clear up the custody issue, Defendant
Officers “surrounded [Roddie], threw him to the ground, handcuffed
him, [and] arrested him[.]” Roddie claims he did not initiate contact
with Defendant Officers. Roddie further claims that he was beaten by
Defendant Officers. Frederick, in his verified complaint, contended that,
when he saw Defendant Officers assaulting Roddie, he “asked the said
Defendants if they had a warrant and stated they had no right to be at
said premises without a warrant.” “Thereupon [Frederick] turned to
walk toward the location within his yard where all of said persons were
located, but [Frederick] was thereafter thrown to the ground by the indi-
vidual Defendants[,]” and then “assaulted.”

False imprisonment is the illegal restraint of a person
against his will. A restraint is illegal if not lawful or con-
sented to. A false arrest is an arrest without legal authority
and is one means of committing a false imprisonment. The
existence of legal justification for a deprivation of liberty is
determined in accordance with the law of arrest, which
is set forth in Chapter 15A of the General Statutes.

N.C.G.S. § 156A-401(b)(1) (Cum. Supp. 1994) provides that
an officer may arrest a person without a warrant if the officer
has probable cause to believe that the person has commit-
ted a criminal offense in the officer’s presence. A warrant-
less arrest without probable cause is unlawful. Thus, the
dispositive issue is whether defendant had probable cause
to believe that plaintiffs had committed assaults upon him.

The existence or nonexistence of probable cause is a
mixed question of law and fact. If the facts are admitted or
established, it is a question of law for the court. However,
if the facts are in dispute, the question of probable cause
is one of fact for the jury. In this case, the material facts
surrounding the incident are in dispute, and therefore the
existence or nonexistence of probable cause is for the jury
to determine. Accordingly, defendant was not entitled to
summary judgment on this ground.

Marlowe v. Piner, 119 N.C. App. 125, 129, 458 S.E.2d 220, 223 (1995)
(citations omitted). As in Marlowe, in the present case the facts are
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in dispute concerning probable cause to arrest Plaintiffs on 28 June
2009. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of
all Defendant Officers in their individual capacities for Roddie’s false
imprisonment claims, and further erred in granting summary judgment
in favor of Deputy Anderson and Officer Stanly in their individual capac-

ities for Frederick’s false imprisonment claims.

3. Malicious Prosecution

As this Court explained in Moore v. Evans, 124 N.C. App. 35, 476

S.E.2d 415 (1996):

In order to maintain an action for malicious prosecution,
the plaintiff must demonstrate that the defendant “(1)
instituted, procured or participated in the criminal pro-
ceeding against [the] plaintiff; (2) without probable cause;
(3) with malice; and (4) the prior proceeding terminated
in favor of [the] plaintiff.” “[M]alice can be inferred from
the want of probable cause alone.” As it is undisputed
that defendant Evans initiated the criminal prosecution
against Mr. Moore and that the prosecution ended with a
dismissal of the charges against him, the only issue as to
Mr. Moore’s claim for malicious prosecution is whether
defendant Evans had probable cause to initiate the crimi-
nal prosecution against him. Hence, a common element of
each of the state claims alleged (false imprisonment and
malicious prosecution) is the absence of probable cause.

The test for whether probable cause exists is an objective
one—whether the facts and circumstances, known at the
time, were such as to induce a reasonable police officer to
arrest, imprison, and/or prosecute another. In Pitts, our
Supreme Court stated:

The existence or nonexistence of probable cause is
a mixed question of law and fact. If the facts are admit-
ted or established it is a question of law for the court.
Conversely, when the facts are in dispute the question of
probable cause is one of fact for the jury.

Id. at 4243, 476 S.E.2d at 421-22 (citations omitted). Defendants do not
dispute that the criminal proceedings were subsequently terminated in
Plaintiffs’ favor. We hold there is sufficient evidence to survive summary

judgment on the fourth element of malicious prosecution.
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Concerning the first element, Officers Stanly, Castaneda, and
Brinkley do not dispute that they were involved in instituting the crimi-
nal proceedings. Deputy Anderson argues that he did not “institute”
the criminal proceedings because neither he nor the Franklin County
Sheriff’s Office brought charges against Plaintiffs. However, it is not
necessary that an individual be directly involved in charging a person,
or filing civil claims against that person, in order to have participated
sufficiently in “institut[ing], procur[ing] or participat[ing] in the criminal
proceeding against [the] plaintiff[.]” Id. at 42, 476 S.E.2d at 421. “[W]here
‘it is unlikely there would have been a criminal prosecution of [a] plain-
tiff’ except for the efforts of a defendant, this Court has held a genuine
issue of fact existed and the jury should consider the facts comprising
the first element of malicious prosecution.” Becker v. Pierce, 168 N.C.
App. 671, 675, 608 S.E.2d 825, 829 (2005) (citation omitted). Because
Deputy Anderson is identified by Plaintiffs as having participated in the
subduing and arrests of both Roddie and Frederick, we hold there is
sufficient evidence to survive summary judgment that Deputy Anderson
instituted, procured or participated in the criminal charges brought
against Plaintiffs.

Concerning the third element — probable cause:

Our Supreme Court has defined probable cause with
respect to malicious prosecution as:

“the existence of such facts and circumstances, known
to [the defendant] at the time, as would induce a
reasonable man to commence a prosecution.” Whether
probable cause exists is a mixed question of law and
fact, but where the facts are admitted or established, the
existence of probable cause is a question of law for
the court.

“

The test for determining probable cause is “ ‘wWhether a
man of ordinary prudence and intelligence under the cir-
cumstances would have known that the charge had no rea-
sonable foundation.” ”

Id. at 677, 608 S.E.2d at 829-30 (citations omitted). When we take the
evidence in the light most favorable to Plaintiffs, as we must, Smith, 181
N.C. App. at 587, 640 S.E.2d at 438, we hold there is sufficient evidence,
as set out above, for a trier of fact to determine that the charges against
Plaintiffs “had no reasonable foundation.” Becker, 168 N.C. App. at 677,
608 S.E.2d at 830.
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Concerning the second element, Defendants argue there was insuf-
ficient evidence of malice to survive summary judgment. “ ‘Malice’ in a
malicious prosecution claim may be shown by offering evidence that
defendant ‘was motivated by personal spite and a desire for revenge’
or that defendant acted with ‘reckless and wanton disregard’ for plain-
tiffs’ rights.” Id. at 676, 608 S.E.2d at 829 (citations and quotation marks
omitted). If Plaintiffs’ allegations are taken as true, Defendant Officers’
actions could be found to have been done with “ ‘reckless and wanton
disregard’ for plaintiffs’ rights.” Id.

We hold there was sufficient evidence, when viewed in the light most
favorable to Plaintiffs, to survive Defendants’ motions for summary
judgment on the individual capacity claims of assault and battery, false
imprisonment, and malicious prosecution against all Defendant Officers
in Roddie’s action, and against Officer Stanly and Deputy Anderson in
Frederick’s action. We stress that our holdings should not be taken as
the opinion of this Court concerning the relative strength of Plaintiffs’
evidence as compared to the evidence supporting Defendant Officers.
We simply hold that Plaintiffs have sufficiently forecast evidence creat-
ing issues of material fact, which must be decided by the trier of fact.
We remand for further action on Plaintiffs’ individual capacity claims
against Defendant Officers, excepting Frederick’s individual capacity
claims against Officers Castaneda and Brinkley, which were properly
disposed of on summary judgment.

AFFIRMED IN PART; REVERSED AND REMANDED IN PART.
Judges STROUD and INMAN concur.
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NOLAN RUDOLPH MAUNEY, JR., PLAINTIFF
V.
STEPHANIE BROWN CARROLL, DEFENDANT

No. COA16-594
Filed 20 December 2016

1. Motor Vehicles—car accident—diminution of value—leased
vehicle
The trial court did not err by granting summary judgment in
favor of defendant on the “diminution in value” claim. Plaintiff failed
to present competent evidence concerning the diminution in value
of his lease interest in the Porsche.

2. Motor Vehicles—car accident—loss of use
The trial court erred by granting summary judgment in favor of
defendant on the “loss of use” claim. Plaintiff presented evidence
sufficient to create a material issue of fact.

Appeal by Plaintiff from order entered 28 March 2016 by Judge
Yvonne Mims-Evans in Burke County Superior Court. Heard in the Court
of Appeals 2 November 2016.

Law Offices of Jason E. Taylor, PC, by Lawrence B. Serbin and
Jason E. Taylor, for the Plaintiff-Appellant.

Ball Barden & Cury, PA., by Ervin L. Ball Jr., and Alexandra
Cury, for the Defendant-Appellee.

DILLON, Judge.

Nolan Mauney, Jr., (“Plaintiff”) appeals from the trial court’s order
of partial summary judgment in his suit against Stephanie Carroll
(“Defendant”) arising from a traffic accident which caused damages to a
car Plaintiff was leasing.

I. Background

In March 2013, Plaintiff leased a new 2013 Porsche Boxter S from
a dealership (“Lessor”) for a period of 27 months. In October 2013,
Plaintiff and Defendant were involved in a traffic accident. The acci-
dent caused damage to the Porsche. After the accident, Plaintiff had the
Porsche repaired. The repairs were completed in November 2013, a little
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over five weeks after the accident. Thereafter, Plaintiff continued driv-
ing the Porsche for approximately fifteen (15) months before trading it
in to the Lessor for a newer Porsche model.

Plaintiff filed this action against Defendant seeking (1) “repair cost”
damages, (2) “loss of use” damages for the time the Porsche was being
repaired, and (3) damages for the “diminution in value” of the Porsche
as aresult of the accident.

Defendant moved for summary judgment. Following a hearing on
the matter, the trial court granted Defendant partial summary judgment
on Plaintiff’s claim for (1) “loss of use” damages and (2) “diminution in
value” damages.! Plaintiff timely appealed.

II. Analysis

On appeal, we review a trial court’s grant of a motion for summary
judgment de novo. In re Will of Jones, 362 N.C. 569, 573, 669 S.E.2d
572, 576 (2008). Summary judgment is appropriate when, viewed in a
light most favorable to the non-moving party, the evidence presents “no
genuine issue of material fact” and it is clear that “any party is entitled to
a judgment as a matter of law.” Id.; see also N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule
56(c) (2015).

Here, Plaintiff challenges the trial court’s grant of summary judg-
ment for Defendant on Plaintiff’s claims for “diminution in value” dam-
ages and “loss of use” damages. We conclude that Plaintiff failed to
present competent evidence concerning the diminution in value of his
lease interest in the Porsche; therefore, we affirm the trial court’s grant
of summary judgment in favor of Defendant on Plaintiff’s “diminution in
value” claim. However, Plaintiff did present evidence sufficient to create
a material issue of fact regarding his entitlement to “loss of use” dam-
ages; therefore, we reverse the trial court’s grant of summary judgment
with respect to Plaintiff’s “loss of use” claim and remand the matter for
action consistent with this opinion. We address our resolution of each
claim below.

1. Although Plaintiff appeals from an order for partial summary judgment, this
appeal is not interlocutory. The record shows that Plaintiff subsequently took a voluntary
dismissal with prejudice of his remaining claim. See Goodman v. Holmes & McLaurin
Attorneys at Law, 192 N.C. App. 467, 471, 665 S.E.2d 526, 530 (2008) (holding that a plain-
tiff’s voluntary dismissal of “[a] remaining claim . . . has the effect of making the trial
court’s grant of partial summary judgment a final order”).
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A. Diminution of Value Claim

[1] In the action, Plaintiff seeks “diminution in value” damages, that is,
the difference in the fair market value of the Porsche before the accident
and the fair market value of the Porsche after the accident. On appeal,
Plaintiff argues that the trial court erred in granting Defendant’s motion
for summary judgment on this claim. We disagree.

It was Plaintiff’s burden at the summary judgment hearing to pres-
ent sufficient evidence to establish his claim for diminution in value
damages. Plaintiff argues that although he is not the title owner of the
Porsche, he is entitled to recover the diminution of value of the Porsche.
As a lessee, Plaintiff does not have standing to seek damages for the
diminution in value of the full ownership interest in the Porsche, as
damages for this loss would be properly asserted by Lessor. See Aubin
v. Susi, 149 N.C. App. 320, 324, 560 S.E.2d 875, 878 (2002) (noting that
standing is a “necessary prerequisite to a court’s proper exercise of sub-
ject matter jurisdiction”). Further, Plaintiff admitted at his deposition
that Lessor did not charge him for any diminution of value when Plaintiff
traded in the Porsche.

Plaintiff also argues that he is entitled to recover for diminution in
value of his leasehold interest. Even assuming that Plaintiff had a valid
claim for diminution in value of his lease interest, Plaintiff failed to
present competent evidence of the diminution in value of this interest.
Rather, Plaintiff only offered evidence showing a diminution in value of
the full ownership interest in the Porsche. Specifically, he offered the
opinion of Collision Safety Consultants (“CSC”), a self-described “dimin-
ished value and post collision repair inspector,” that the Porsche’s total
value was $68,000 before the accident and $60,000 after the accident.

Therefore, we conclude that the trial court properly granted sum-
mary judgment on Plaintiff’s “diminution in value” claim.

B. Loss of Use Damages

[2] Plaintiff also seeks “loss of use” damages, contending that he is enti-
tled to damages for the time he was deprived of use of the Porsche dur-
ing the 37 days it was being repaired. We conclude that there was enough
evidence to create a genuine issue of fact on this issue. Accordingly, we
reverse the grant of summary judgment on this claim and remand the
matter for further proceedings consistent with this opinion.

Our Supreme Court has held that the owner of a vehicle damaged
by the negligence of another may recover damages for loss of use of
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a vehicle during the time it is being repaired. Roberts v. Pilot Freight
Carriers, Inc., 273 N.C. 600, 606, 160 S.E.2d 712, 717 (1968). Specifically,
in Roberts the Court held that if the damaged vehicle “can be repaired
at a reasonable cost and within a reasonable time,” the owner of the
vehicle is “entitled to recover such special damages as he has properly
pleaded and proven for the loss of its use during the time he was nec-
essarily deprived of it.” Id. The Court also held that the cost of rent-
ing a substitute vehicle “during the time reasonably necessary to . . .
repair the [damaged vehicle] is the measure of [loss of use] damage even
though no other vehicle was [actually] rented.” Id. at 607, 160 S.E.2d at
718 (emphasis added). Roberts involved damages to a business vehicle.
Our Court has held that this same rule applies to personal and pleasure
vehicles, stating that an owner is entitled to “loss of use” damages of
a personal vehicle even if he did not actually rent a substitute vehicle
while the damaged vehicle was being repaired:

A loss of use recovery is generally allowed as to pleasure
vehicles as well as business vehicles. Even though loss
of use is allowed for pleasure vehicles, some courts have
denied recovery unless an actual substitute is obtained.
We decline to hold that plaintiffs must actually rent a
substitute to recover for loss of use of a pleasure vehicle.

Martin v. Hare, 78 N.C. App. 358, 364-65, 337 S.E.2d 632, 636 (1985)
(citations omitted) (emphasis added).

In the present case, Plaintiff is not the title owner of the Porsche.
Plaintiff admitted this fact in his deposition testimony and by failing to
respond to a request for admission which established that he was not
the owner. Defendant therefore argues that Plaintiff lacks standing to
seek “loss of use” damages. We disagree.

While Plaintiff is not the title owner, he did own a lease interest
in the Porsche. Thus, it was Plaintiff who was deprived of his right to
use the Porsche while it was being repaired. Lessor, the title owner, did
not suffer any loss of use damage during this period because it had no
right to use the Porsche for the duration of Plaintiff’s lease.

We conclude that there was sufficient evidence before the trial
court to create a genuine issue of material fact as to whether Plaintiff
is entitled to “loss of use” damages based on whether the Porsche was
repaired at a reasonable cost and within a reasonable time. See Roberts,
273 N.C. at 607, 160 S.E.2d at 718. Specifically, there was evidence that
the Porsche was repaired in 38 days after the accident and that the
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repairs cost $6,311.00. It is for a jury to determine whether the repair
time and costs were reasonable.

We further conclude that there is a genuine issue of material fact
regarding the amount of Plaintiff’s “loss of use” damages. For exam-
ple, Plaintiff offered a report showing that it would have cost him $400
per day to lease the identical make and model car, evidence which our
Supreme Court held in Roberts is competent to measure “loss of use”
damages. Further, the lease contract between Plaintiff and Lessor —
which shows that Plaintiff had agreed to lease the Porsche for twenty-
seven (27) months for a total cost of approximately $33,000, or about
$40 per day — is some evidence of the cost to rent a replacement car.
See Sprinkle v. N.C. Wildlife Res. Comm’n, 165 N.C. App. 721, 728-29,
600 S.E.2d 473, 478 (2004) (concluding that evidence of monthly finance
payments made by the owner of a boat was appropriate to consider in
measuring loss of use damages).

This is not to say that Plaintiff has established as a matter of law that
he is, in fact, entitled to “loss of use” damages. For instance, Plaintiff
has a duty to mitigate his damages, and there is evidence that Plaintiff
refused offers from the insurance companies involved to provide a
rental car while the Porsche was being repaired. Further, there was evi-
dence that Plaintiff actually used another vehicle available to him while
the Porsche was being repaired, evidence which a jury could consider
in calculating “loss of use” damages. It is for a jury to wade through this
evidence and other competent evidence that might be introduced at trial
to determine what amount, if any, Plaintiff is entitled to recover for “loss
of use” damages.

AFFIRMED IN PART, REVERSED AND REMANDED IN PART.
Judges ELMORE and HUNTER, JR., concur.
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SUE MILLS, PETITIONER
V.
NORTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES, RESPONDENT

No. COA16-487
Filed 20 December 2016

1. Appeal and Error—Medicaid disability—agency decision—
insufficiently detailed for review

In a case involving Medicaid disability benefits, the decision by
the Department of Health and Human Services to deny benefits was
remanded because the decision lacked the detailed analysis neces-
sary for meaningful appellate review.

2. Public Assistance—Medicaid disability—provider’s opinions
—Social Security disability hearing

In a Medicaid disability benefit case in which benefits were
denied and the case was remanded, the Department of Health and
Human Services was directed to clarify the specific providers’ opin-
ions from the Social Security hearing that it relied upon and the
weight which it gave the those opinions. While it would have been
proper for the State Hearing Officer to consider the medical and psy-
chological testimony produced during the Social Security hearing,
it was error to make the blanket assertion that it was relying on the
Social Security decision as a whole.

3. Public Assistance—Medicaid disability—nonexertional
impairments
In a Medicaid disability benefits case in which disability was
denied and the case was remanded, the Department of Health and
Human Services was directed to evaluate petitioner’s nonexer-
tional impairments as compared to her exertional impairments. If
her nonexertional impairments diminished her capacity to perform
a full range of light work beyond the diminishment caused by her
exertional impairments, vocational expert testimony would be used
to determine whether jobs existed in significant numbers in the
national economy that petitioner could do.

Appeal by petitioner from order entered 4 January 2016 by Judge
Bradley B. Letts in Haywood County Superior Court. Heard in the Court
of Appeals 19 October 2016.

Hyler & Lopez, PA., by Robert J. Lopez, for petitioner-appellant.
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Roy Cooper, Attorney General, by Brenda FEaddy, Assistant
Attorney General, for respondent-appellee.

DAVIS, Judge.

This appeal requires us to address the analysis that must be under-
taken in evaluating a claimant’s application for Medicaid disability bene-
fits. Sue Mills (“Petitioner”) appeals from the trial court’s order affirming
a determination by the North Carolina Department of Health and Human
Services (“DHHS”) that she was not disabled and, therefore, not entitled
to such benefits. After careful review, we vacate the trial court’s order
and direct the court to remand this case to DHHS for further proceed-
ings consistent with this opinion.

Factual Background

Petitioner is a 54-year-old woman who has a history of illnesses and
symptoms that began in the 1990s. During her thirties, she was employed
as a housekeeper, resulting in “some deterioration” in her lower back.
During her early forties, her lower back pain worsened, and she expe-
rienced anxiety, nerves, and depression. By the time she turned fifty,
Petitioner was suffering from migraine headaches, continued anxiety
and depression, pain in her lower back, problems using her hands, strain
on her neck and shoulders, weakness in her legs, and a variety of other
health-related issues.

Petitioner applied to the Social Security Administration (“SSA”) for
Social Security disability benefits in 2013. An administrative law judge
(the “ALJ”) conducted a disability hearing, and on 24 October 2013, the
ALlJ issued a decision (the “Social Security Decision”) determining that
Petitioner was not disabled. Petitioner appealed the Social Security
Decision, and her appeal is currently pending in federal court.

Approximately eight months after the Social Security Decision was
issued, Petitioner applied to the Haywood County Department of Social
Services (the “DSS”) for Medicaid disability benefits. On 23 July 2014,
her application was denied. Petitioner appealed the decision to DHHS,
and a hearing was held before State Hearing Officer Linda Eckert (the
“SHO”) on 8 October 2014.

On 16 October 2014, the SHO issued a Notice of Decision (the
“Agency Decision”), which determined that: (1) Petitioner was 51 years
of age and had obtained a GED; (2) she was not presently working and
had not worked since May 2014; (3) Petitioner had no “relevant past
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work”; (4) she had “a medical history of chronic pain, degenerative disc
disease, thoracic compression fracture, vitamin D deficiency, chronic
obstructive pulmonary disease, migraine headaches, esophageal reflux,
hyperlipidemia, lumbar radiculopathy, lumbar spondylosis, osteopenia,
varicose veins, carpal tunnel syndrome, [and] anxiety and depression”;
and (5) “[b]y May 2015, the [Petitioner] will retain the ability to engage
in light work . ...”

The SHO then summarized Petitioner’s medical history and made
the following pertinent findings of fact:

6. In an October 2013 decision, the [SSA] Administrative
Law Judge opined that the Appellant has the residual func-
tional capacity to perform light work with occasional pos-
turals; no climbing of ladders, ropes or scaffolds; frequent
bilateral fingering; and avoidance of concentrated expo-
sure to hazards. Appellant was also limited to simple, rou-
tine, repetitive work with occasional public contact. This
opinion is given great weight as it is consistent with and
supported by the objective evidence.

7. The Appellant’s medically determinable impairments
are at least theoretically capable of producing at least
some of the general subjective symptoms alleged by the
Appellant. However, the Appellant’s testimony as to
the specific intensity, persistence, and limiting effects
of the pain and other subjective symptoms is not per-
suasive in view of the inconsistencies with the medical
evidence. For example, the Appellant testified she experi-
ences migraine headaches twice a month which are at a
pain level of 20/10; however, the medical evidence does
not reflect that the Appellant reported to the treating or
examining physicians that she experiences such extreme
symptoms. It is not credible that the Appellant could expe-
rience such extreme symptoms but fail to report them to
the treating physicians.

Based on these findings of fact, the SHO made the following
conclusions:

1. Appellant is not engaging in Substantial Gainful
Activity as defined in 20 CFR 416.910.

2. Appellant’s impairments of chronic pain, degenerative
disc disease, vitamin D deficiency, chronic obstructive
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pulmonary disease, migraine headaches, esophageal
reflux, hyperlipidemia, lumbar radiculopathy, lumbar
spondylosis, osteopenia, varicose veins, carpal tunnel syn-
drome, anxiety and depression are severe but do not meet
or equal the level of severity specific in 20CFR [sic] Part
404, Appendix 1 to Subpart P (Listing of Impairments).
Appellant’s impairment of thoracic compression fracture
is currently at a disabling severity, but is not expected to
meet the duration requirement of remaining at a disabling
severity for a period of twelve continuous months as spec-
ified in 20 CFR 416.909.

3. Considering the combination of all impairments and
related symptoms, by May 2015 the Appellant will have
the residual functional capacity . . . to engage in light work
with occasional stooping and crouching; no climbing of
ladders, ropes or scaffolds; frequent but not constant fin-
gering; avoidance of concentrated exposure to heights
and hazards; avoidance of concentrated exposure to dust
and fumes; and to work that is low stress, nonproduction
in nature and does not require extensive interaction with
the general public. The effects of pain have been evalu-
ated under 20 C.F.R. 404.1529 and Fourth Circuit law as set
forth in Hyatt v. Sullivan, 899 F. 2d 329 (4th Cir. 1990)].]

4. The Appellant’s non-exertional limitations of occa-
sional stooping and crouching; no climbing of ladders,
ropes and scaffolds; frequent but not constant fingering;
avoidance of concentrated exposure to heights and haz-
ards; avoidance of concentrated exposure to dust and
fumes; and to work that is low stress, nonproduction in
nature and does not require extensive interaction with
the general public do not significantly reduce the occupa-
tional base of light work available in the economy . . . .
Considering the Appellant’s age, education, work experi-
ence, and residual functional capacity, there are jobs that
exist in significant numbers in the national economy as
specified in 20 CFR 416.966 that the Appellant can per-
form as Vocational Rule 202.13 being used as a framework
directs a finding of “not disabled”. . ..

5. Appellant does not meet the disability requirement
specified in 20 CFR 416.920(g) and therefore is not found
disabled or eligible for Medicaid.

185
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As a result of these findings and conclusions, the SHO determined
that the DSS had properly denied Petitioner’s application for disability
benefits. The Agency Decision became final on 16 October 2014 pursu-
ant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 108A-79(b).

On 19 November 2014, Petitioner filed a petition for judicial
review in Haywood County Superior Court pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 108A-79(k). On 19 December 2014, DHHS filed a response along with
a motion to dismiss the petition. Petitioner filed an amended petition on
29 July 2015.

On 2 November 2015, a hearing was held before the Honorable
Bradley B. Letts. The trial court entered an order on 4 January 2016 con-
taining the following findings of fact:

1. The issue before the administrative agency was
whether petitioner qualified for Medicaid for the Disabled.

2. [DHHS] applied the Supplemental Security Income
Standard found in the Social Security Act in order to deter-
mine whether Petitioner was qualified for Medicaid for
the Disabled.

3. [DHHS] reviewed and analyzed the medical records
contained in the official record before making its final
decision. Petitioner has several chronic medical condi-
tions, some of which [DHHS] recognized as severe.

4. [DHHS] reviewed and gave some weight to the func-
tional capacity test result reported in the Social Security
Administration Office of Disability Adjudication and
Review decision of October 24, 2013. This decision found
Petitioner was not under a disability and had the ability
to work.

5. Based on evidence in the record, [DHHS] deter-
mined that Petitioner did not qualify for Medicaid for
the Disabled.

6. This Court was informed in open court that Petitioner
would not present additional testimony at the judicial
review hearing.

7. Petitioner’s additional evidence consists of medi-
cal records of physician appointments that Petitioner
attended after her hearing before [DHHS]'s Hearing
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Officer. These medical records contain the same or similar
review of systems, assessments, diagnosis and/or progno-
sis as the medical records contained in the official record.
As such, this additional evidence is merely cumulative of
the medical records contained in the official record.

8. Petitioner has not established that any evidence pre-
sented to the hearing officer at the time of the hearing had
been excluded.

The court then made the following conclusions of law:

1. This matter is properly before this court pursuant to
N.C. Gen. Stat. §108A-79(k).

2. North Carolina Medicaid for the Disabled qualification
standards are found in the federal Social Security Act.
N.C. Gen. Stat. §108A-56.

3. This Court’s standard of review for questions of law
are de novo. The standard of review where petitioner has
alleged the final decision was arbitrary, capricious, or
unsupported by substantial evidence is the whole record
standard of review. N.C. Gen. Stat. §150B-51.

4. [DHHS] correctly applied the five step sequential
evaluation in its assessment of Petitioner’s application for
Medicaid for the Disabled. 20 CFR Part 416 et seq.

5. Substantial evidence exist[ing] in the official record
show[s] that while some of Petitioner’s illnesses are
chronic and severe, a review of Petitioner’s medical, social,
vocational, and functional capacity evidence does not
establish that she qualifies for Medicaid for the Disabled.
[DHHS]’s determination of such does not indicate a lack of
careful consideration.

6. A matter may be remanded back to the administra-
tive agency if additional evidence is presented to the
judicial review court that is material to the issues, not
merely cumulative, and could not reasonably have been
presented at the administrative hearing. In this matter the
additional evidence was merely cumulative. Thus, remand
to the agency for review of those records is not required.
N.C. Gen. Stat. §150B-49.



188 IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

MILLS v. N.C. DEP’T OF HEALTH & HUMAN SERVS.
[251 N.C. App. 182 (2016)]

7. The hearing officer did not exclude any evidence
presented by Petitioner at the hearing. N.C. Gen. Stat.
§108A-79(Kk).

Based on these findings and conclusions, the trial court affirmed
the Agency Decision. Petitioner filed written notice of appeal on
2 February 2016.

Analysis
I. Standard of Review

Chapter 108A of the North Carolina General Statutes provides a
claimant with the right to appeal an initial decision by a local depart-
ment of social services denying her application for Medicaid disability
benefits. See N.C. Gen. Stat. § 108A-79(a) (2015). Pursuant to the statute,
the director (or the director’s designated representative) is required to
forward the claimant’s request for an appeal to DHHS, which must then
designate a hearing officer to conduct a de novo administrative hear-
ing in accordance with Chapter 150B of the North Carolina General
Statutes. See N.C. Gen. Stat. § 108A-79(d). If the claimant is dissatisfied
with DHHS'’s final decision upon the agency’s review of her claim, she
may file a petition for judicial review in the superior court of the county
in which the claim arose. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 108A-79(k).

Chapter 150B of the North Carolina General Statutes provides, in
pertinent part, as follows:

The court reviewing a final decision may affirm the deci-
sion or remand the case for further proceedings. It may
also reverse or modify the decision if the substantial rights
of the petitioners may have been prejudiced because the
findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are:

(1) Inviolation of constitutional provisions;

(2) In excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction
of the agency or administrative law judge;

(3) Made upon unlawful procedure;
(4) Affected by other error of law;

(5) Unsupported by substantial evidence admissible
under G.S. 150B-29(a), 150B-30, or 150B-31 in view
of the entire record as submitted; or
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(6) Arbitrary, capricious, or an abuse of discretion.
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 150B-51(b) (2015).

“The standard of review for an appellate court upon an appeal from
an order of the superior court affirming or reversing an administrative
agency decision is the same standard of review as that employed by the
superior court.” Dorsey v. UNC-Wilmington, 122 N.C. App. 58, 62-63, 468
S.E.2d 557, 560 (1996) (citation omitted). In reviewing an agency deci-
sion, this Court applies the “whole record” test. Fehrenbacher v. City
of Durham, 239 N.C. App. 141, 146, 768 S.E.2d 186, 191 (2015) (citation
omitted). “The whole record test requires the reviewing court to exam-
ine all competent evidence (the whole record) in order to determine
whether the agency decision is supported by substantial evidence.” Id.
(citation and quotation marks omitted). This “test does not allow the
reviewing court to replace the [agency’s] judgment as between two rea-
sonably conflicting views, even though the court could justifiably have
reached a different result had the matter been before it de novo.” Id.
(citation and quotation marks omitted).

II. Medicaid Disability Benefits

Medicaid, established by Congressional enactment of Title
XIX of the Social Security Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1396 et seq.,
is a cooperative federal-state program providing medical
assistance and other services to certain classes of needy
persons. States which adopt the program and admin-
ister it in conformity with federal laws and regulations
receive federal funds which defray a substantial portion of
the program costs. Participation by a state in the Medicaid
program is entirely optional. However, once an elec-
tion is made to participate, the state must comply with
the requirements of federal law. North Carolina adopted
the Medicaid program through the enactment of Part 5,
Article 2, Chapter 108 of the General Statutes, amended
and recodified effective 1 October 1981 at Part 6, Article
2, Chapter 108A.

Lackey v. N.C. Dep’t of Human Resources, 306 N.C. 231, 235, 293 S.E.2d
171, 175 (1982) (internal citations omitted).!

1. In addressing Petitioner’s arguments on appeal, we therefore look for guidance
to federal Social Security regulations and decisions by federal courts interpreting those
regulations. See Henderson v. N.C. Dep’t of Human Resources, 91 N.C. App. 527, 531-32,
372 S.E.2d 887, 890 (1988) (“Although federal court decisions interpreting the applicable
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[1] In order to qualify for both Medicaid and Social Security disability
benefits, a claimant must show that she is “unable to engage in any sub-
stantial gainful activity by reason of any medically determinable physi-
cal or mental impairment which can be expected to result in death or
which has lasted or can be expected to last for a continuous period of
not less than twelve months.” 42 U.S.C. § 1382¢c(2)(3)(A) (2012).

[A]n individual shall be determined to be under a disability
only if his physical or mental impairment or impairments
are of such severity that he is not only unable to do his
previous work but cannot, considering his age, education,
and work experience, engage in any other kind of substan-
tial gainful work which exists in the national economy,
regardless of whether such work exists in the immediate
area in which he lives, or whether a specific job vacancy
exists for him, or whether he would be hired if he applied
for work. For purposes of the preceding sentence (with
respect to any individual), “work which exists in the
national economy” means work which exists in significant
numbers either in the region where such individual lives
or in several regions of the country.

42 U.S.C. § 1382¢(2)(3)(B).

The following five-step sequential evaluation process is used to
determine whether a claimant is disabled:

If we can find that you are disabled or not disabled at a
step, we make our determination or decision and we do
not go on to the next step. If we cannot find that you are
disabled or not disabled at a step, we go on to the next
step. Before we go from step three to step four, we assess
your residual functional capacity. . . . We use this resid-
ual functional capacity assessment at both step four and
at step five when we evaluate your claim at these steps.
These are the five steps we follow:

(i) At the first step, we consider your work activity, if
any. If you are doing substantial gainful activity,
we will find that you are not disabled. . ..

statutes and regulations are not binding on North Carolina courts . . . we deem the well-
reasoned federal decisions discussed herein to be persuasive authority.” (internal citation
omitted)); see also Lackey, 306 N.C. at 236, 293 S.E.2d at 175 (“These federal decisions.. . .
are not necessarily controlling on this court. However, we do deem them to be persuasive
authority on the relevant issues.” (internal citations omitted)).



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 191

MILLS v. N.C. DEP’T OF HEALTH & HUMAN SERVS.
[251 N.C. App. 182 (2016)]

(ii) Atthe second step, we consider the medical sever-
ity of your impairment(s). If you do not have a
severe medically determinable physical or mental
impairment that meets the duration requirement
in § 416.909, or a combination of impairments that
is severe and meets the duration requirement, we
will find that you are not disabled. . ..

(iii) At the third step, we also consider the medical
severity of your impairment(s). If you have an
impairment(s) that meets or equals one of our list-
ings in appendix 1 to subpart P of part 404 of this
chapter and meets the duration requirement, we
will find that you are disabled. . . .

(iv) At the fourth step, we consider our assessment of
your residual functional capacity and your past rel-
evant work. If you can still do your past relevant
work, we will find that you are not disabled. . . .

(v) At the fifth and last step, we consider our assess-
ment of your residual functional capacity and
your age, education, and work experience to see
if you can make an adjustment to other work. If
you can make an adjustment to other work, we
will find that you are not disabled. If you cannot
make an adjustment to other work, we will find
that you are disabled. . . .

20 C.FR. § 416.920(2)(4) (2016).

This Court has previously summarized this evaluation process
as follows:

(1) Is the individual engaged in substantial gainful activ-
ity? (2) If not, does the individual suffer from a severe
impairment, i.e., an impairment that significantly limits his
ability to engage in the basic work activities outlined in
20 C.FR. Sec. 416.921? (3) Assuming the individual meets
this threshold severity requirement, is the impairment so
severe as to render the individual disabled without inquiry
into vocational factors such as age, education, and work
experience, i.e., does the impairment meet or equal those
listed in 20 C.F.R. Part 404, Subpart P, Appendix 1?7 (4) If
the severe impairment does not meet or equal those listed
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in Appendix 1, does it prevent the individual from doing
past relevant work in light of his “residual functional
capacity?” and, (5) If the severe impairment does prevent
the individual from doing past relevant work, can the indi-
vidual do other work, given his age, education, residual
functional capacity, and past work experience?

Lowe v. N.C. Dep’t of Human Resources, 72 N.C. App. 44, 48, 323 S.E.2d
454, 457 (1984).

“If the first three steps do not lead to a conclusive determination,
the ALJ then [moves on to Step 4 to] assess[ | the claimant’s residual
functional capacity, which is the most the claimant can still do despite
physical and mental limitations that affect her ability to work.” Mascio
v. Colvin, 780 F.3d 632, 635 (4th Cir. 2015) (citation and quotation marks
omitted). Once the claimant meets either Step 3 or Step 4, “[t]he burden
then shifts to the agency to show that the claimant can perform alterna-
tive work existing in the national economy under [Step 5].” Henderson,
91 N.C. App. at 533, 372 S.E.2d at 891, see also Mascio, 780 F.3d at 635.

“[A] necessary predicate to engaging in substantial evidence review
is a record of the basis for the [agency’s] ruling.” Radford v. Colvin,
734 F.3d 288, 295 (4th Cir. 2013) (citation omitted). This record “should
include a discussion of which evidence the [agency] found credible and
why, and specific application of the pertinent legal requirements to the
record evidence.” Id. (citation omitted). The agency’s decision must
“include a narrative discussion describing how the evidence supports
each conclusion[.]” Monroe v. Colvin, 826 F.3d 176, 190 (4th Cir. 2016)
(citation and quotation marks omitted). Moreover, the decision must
“pbuild an accurate and logical bridge from the evidence to [its] conclu-
sion.” Id. at 189.

In the present case, Petitioner contends that the SHO did not pro-
vide any “meaningful explanation” in how it reached its conclusion.
Specifically, Petitioner argues that the Agency Decision lacked (1) a
“function by function narrative discussion” to explain “how [her] residual
functional capacity was established[;]” (2) a “discussion related to [the
SHO'’s] evaluation of the effects of pain[;]” (3) a valid basis for attach-
ing significant weight to the Social Security Decision; and (4) the use
of vocational expert testimony to aid the SHO in determining whether
Petitioner could find substantial gainful work in the national economy.
As discussed more fully below, we agree with Petitioner that the Agency
Decision is deficient in several material respects and that this case must
be remanded for further proceedings.
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A. Function-by-Function Narrative Discussion

Petitioner contends that the SHO was required to conduct a func-
tion-by-function narrative discussion to establish her residual functional
capacity. We find instructive on this issue the Fourth Circuit’s decision
in Mascio. In that case, an agency decision denying a claimant’s applica-
tion for Social Security benefits determined at Step 4 that the claimant
could no longer perform her past work based on her residual functional
capacity. Mascio, 780 F.3d at 635-36. However, at Step 5 of the evaluation
process, the agency determined that the claimant could perform other
work and therefore was not disabled. Id. at 640.

On appeal, the claimant argued that during Step 4 of the evaluation
process, the ALJ had erred in failing to conduct a function-by-function
analysis in determining her residual functional capacity. She asserted that
federal SSA regulations required such a “narrative discussion describing
how the evidence supports each conclusion, citing specific medical facts
(e.g., laboratory findings) and nonmedical evidence (e.g., daily activities,
observations).” Id. at 636 (citation and quotation marks omitted).

While declining to adopt a per se rule that a function-by-function
analysis is necessary in every case, the Fourth Circuit held that “remand
may be appropriate where an ALJ fails to assess a claimant’s capac-
ity to perform relevant functions, despite contradictory evidence in
the record, or where other inadequacies in the ALJ’s analysis frustrate
meaningful review.” Id. at 636 (citation, quotation marks, brackets, and
ellipsis omitted). The court stated the following:

Here, the ALJ has determined what functions he believes
[the claimant] can perform, but his opinion is sorely lack-
ing in the analysis needed for us to review meaningfully
those conclusions. In particular, although the ALJ con-
cluded that [the claimant] can perform certain functions,
he said nothing about [her] ability to perform them for a
full workday. The missing analysis is especially troubling
because the record contains conflicting evidence as to
[the claimant’s] residual functional capacity—evidence
that the ALJ did not address.

Id. at 636-37.

For these reasons, the court observed that it was “left to guess about
how the ALJ arrived at his conclusions” regarding the claimant’s abil-
ity to perform “relevant functions” and that it “remain[ed] uncertain as
to what the ALJ intended][.]” Id. at 637. Thus, the court concluded that
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remand was necessary to cure these deficiencies in the agency’s deci-
sion. Id.

While the facts of the present case are not identical to those in
Mascio, the Fourth Circuit’s opinion nevertheless demonstrates why the
SHO'’s analysis here was inadequate. In conducting what was apparently
intended to be Step 4 of the sequential evaluation process,? the SHO
stated as follows:

3. Considering the combination of all impairments and
related symptoms, by May 2015 the Appellant will have
the residual functional capacity . . . to engage in light work
with occasional stooping and crouching; no climbing of
ladders, ropes or scaffolds; frequent but not constant fin-
gering; avoidance of concentrated exposure to heights
and hazards; avoidance of concentrated exposure to dust
and fumes; and to work that is low stress, nonproduction
in nature and does not require extensive interaction with
the general public. The effects of pain have been evalu-
ated under 20 C.F.R. 404.1529 and Fourth Circuit law as set
forth in Hyatt v. Sullivan, 899 F. 2d 329 (4th Cir. 1990)][.]

In reaching this conclusion, however, the SHO did not explain with
any degree of specificity at all the processes it used to conclude that
Petitioner was able to engage in light work.? Thus, we believe that — as
in Mascio — this is a case where “inadequacies in the [agency]’s analysis

2. It is not entirely clear from the Agency Decision whether the SHO found that
Petitioner had met Steps 1 through 4. However, because the SHO proceeded to Step 5, we
assume that the SHO first determined that Step 4 had been satisfied. We note that in its
brief DHHS states that “the [SHO] found Petitioner had met her burden at step four.” On
remand, we direct DHHS to clearly articulate its application of each step of the sequential
evaluation process.

3. 20 C.FR. § 404.1567(b) provides the following definition of “light work”:

Light work involves lifting no more than 20 pounds at a time with frequent
lifting or carrying of objects weighing up to 10 pounds. Even though the
weight lifted may be very little, a job is in this category when it requires a
good deal of walking or standing, or when it involves sitting most of the
time with some pushing and pulling of arm or leg controls. To be consid-
ered capable of performing a full or wide range of light work, you must
have the ability to do substantially all of these activities. If someone can
do light work, we determine that he or she can also do sedentary work,
unless there are additional limiting factors such as loss of fine dexterity
or inability to sit for long periods of time.

20 C.FR. § 404.1567(b) (2016).
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frustrate meaningful review.” See Mascio, 780 F.3d at 636 (citation and
quotation marks omitted). Because the Agency Decision lacks the sort
of detailed analysis necessary for meaningful appellate review, we
direct DHHS on remand to provide a narrative discussion of whether
Petitioner’s limitations will prevent her from performing the full range
of light work.

B. Evaluation of Credibility of Petitioner’s Testimony as to
Severity of Her Symptoms

[2] Petitioner next argues that the Agency Decision lacks a discussion
of how the SHO weighed the credibility of Petitioner’s testimony as
to the intensity, persistence, and limiting effects of her symptoms. In
Mascio, the claimant also asserted that the ALJ failed to properly ana-
lyze the credibility of her testimony as to the intensity, persistence, and
limiting effects of her pain. Id. at 639. The claimant argued that the only
grounds set out in the agency decision for rejecting her statements as
to her pain were findings that she “(1) had not complied with follow-up
mental health treatment; (2) had lied to her doctor about using mari-
juana; and (3) had been convicted for selling her prescription pain medi-
cation.” Id.

The Fourth Circuit found that this lack of analysis as to the claim-
ant’s credibility constituted an additional error warranting remand. The
court stated that “[nJowhere . . . does the ALJ explain how he decided
which of [the claimant’s] statements to believe and which to discredit,
other than the vague (and circular) boilerplate statement that he did not
believe any claims of limitations beyond what he found when consider-
ing [the claimant’s] residual functional capacity.” Id. at 640.

Here, the sole finding of fact in the Agency Decision regarding
Petitioner’s credibility was the following:

7. The Appellant’s medically determinable impair-
ments are at least theoretically capable of producing at
least some of the general subjective symptoms alleged
by the Appellant. However, the Appellant’s testimony as to
the specific intensity, persistence, and limiting effects
of the pain and other subjective symptoms is not per-
suasive in view of the inconsistencies with the medical
evidence. For example, the Appellant testified she experi-
ences migraine headaches twice a month which are at a
pain level of 20/10; however, the medical evidence does
not reflect that the Appellant reported to the treating or
examining physicians that she experiences such extreme



196 IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

MILLS v. N.C. DEP’T OF HEALTH & HUMAN SERVS.
[251 N.C. App. 182 (2016)]

symptoms. It is not credible that the Appellant could expe-
rience such extreme symptoms but fail to report them to
the treating physicians.

This finding indicates that the SHO found Petitioner’s testimony
regarding her symptoms “not persuasive” because there were “incon-
sistencies with the medical evidence.” However, the record reveals that
Petitioner testified as to a number of other symptoms besides migraine
headaches, including — without limitation — severe lower back pain,
weakness in her legs, anxiety, and depression. Yet Finding No. 7 solely
discusses Petitioner’s testimony regarding her migraine headaches.
Therefore, to the extent the Agency Decision attempted to impute the
lack of credibility it attached to her testimony regarding the migraine
headaches to her testimony regarding all of her remaining impairments,
the agency erred.

C. Reliance on the Social Security Decision

Petitioner also challenges the degree of reliance the SHO placed on
the Social Security Decision. Finding No. 6 of the Agency Decision states
as follows:

6. In an October 2013 decision, the [SSA] Administrative
Law Judge opined that the Appellant has the residual func-
tional capacity to perform light work with occasional pos-
turals; no climbing of ladders, ropes or scaffolds; frequent
bilateral fingering; and avoidance of concentrated expo-
sure to hazards. Appellant was also limited to simple, rou-
tine, repetitive work with occasional public contact. This
opinion is given great weight as it is consistent with and
supported by the objective evidence.

SSA regulations provide that “[a]dministrative law judges . . . are
not bound by findings made by State agency or other program physi-
cians and psychologists, but they may not ignore these opinions and
must explain the weight given to the opinions in their decisions.” SSR
96-6p, 1996 SSR LEXIS 3, 1996 WL 374180 (July 2, 1996). Thus, while it
would have been proper for the SHO to consider the medical and psy-
chological testimony produced during Petitioner’s Social Security hear-
ing, it was error for the SHO to simply make the blanket assertion that
it was relying on the Social Security Decision as a whole as opposed to
(1) identifying opinions from specific providers that were obtained dur-
ing the Social Security hearing; and (2) explaining why it was according
weight to those opinions. Therefore, we direct DHHS on remand to clar-
ify which specific providers’ opinions from the Social Security hearing
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that it is relying upon — if any — and to explain the weight it is giving
those opinions.

D. Vocational Expert Testimony

[3] Finally, Petitioner argues that DHHS erred in failing to produce
vocational expert testimony at the 8 October 2014 hearing. She asserts
that because she suffered from nonexertional impairments, such expert
testimony was required and that the SHO erred in instead relying solely
on the medical-vocational guidelines (commonly known as the “grids”).4

20 C.F.R. § 404.1560 provides that “[w]e may use the services of
vocational experts or vocational specialists, or other resources . . . to
obtain evidence we need to help us determine whether you can do your
past relevant work, given your residual functional capacity.” 20 C.F.R.
§ 404.1560 (2016) (emphasis added). A review of federal caselaw apply-
ing 20 C.F.R. § 404.1560 reveals that vocational expert testimony is nec-
essary only in certain circumstances during Step 5 of the evaluation
process. See, e.g., Boylan v. Astrue, 32 F.Supp.3d 238, 2561-562 (N.D.N.Y.
2012) (“If the claimant has nonexertional impairments, the ALJ must
determine whether those impairments ‘significantly’ diminish the claim-
ant’s work capacity beyond that caused by his or her exertional limita-
tions. . . . [and if so], then the use of the Grids may be an inappropriate
method of determining a claimant’s residual functional capacity and the
ALJ may be required to consult a vocational expert.” (citations omitted
and emphasis added)); Sherby v. Astrue, 767 F.Supp.2d 592, 595 (D.S.C.
2010) (“While not every nonexertional limitation or malady rises to the
level of a nonexertional impairment, so as to preclude reliance on the
grids, the proper inquiry is whether the nonexertional condition affects
an individual’s residual functional capacity to perform work of which he
is exertionally capable.” (citation, quotation marks, and ellipsis omitted)).

On remand, we direct DHHS to evaluate Petitioner’s nonexertional
impairments as compared to her exertional impairments. If it deter-
mines that Petitioner’s nonexertional impairments significantly diminish
her capacity to perform the full range of light work beyond the degree
caused by her exertional impairments, DHHS shall use vocational

4. The “grids” are the Medical-Vocational Guidelines located in Appendix 2
of 20 C.FR. § 404, subpart P. Appendix 2 provides information from the Dictionary of
Occupational Titles regarding jobs that exist in the national economy that are classified
by exertional and skill requirements. See 20 C.F.R. § 404.1569 (2016). Appendix 2 pro-
vides rules that determine whether a person is engaged in substantial gainful activity and
whether the person is prevented by a severe medically determinable impairment from
doing vocationally “relevant past work.” Id.
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expert testimony in order to determine whether jobs exist in significant
numbers in the national economy that Petitioner can perform given her
residual functional capacity.®

Conclusion

For the reasons stated above, we vacate the trial court’s 4 January
2016 order and direct the court to remand this matter to DHHS for addi-
tional proceedings consistent with this opinion.

VACATED AND REMANDED.
Judges INMAN and ENOCHS concur.

KENNETH I. MOCH, PrLAINTIFF
V.
A.M. PAPPAS & ASSOCIATES, LLC, ART M. PAPPAS, axD

FORD S. WORTHY, DEFENDANTS

No. COA16-642
Filed 20 December 2016

1. Unfair Trade Practices—communications from an attorney—
not covered by Act

The trial court did not err by dismissing plaintiff’s claim for
unfair or deceptive trade practices for failure to state a claim where
there were underlying claims by defendants of libel but the actions
complained of by plaintiff were taken by defendants’ attorneys.
N.C.G.S. § 75-1.1(b) does not include professional services within
its purview; plaintiff may not bring a claim based upon letters sent
by defendants’ counsel.

2. Appeal and Error—preservation of issues—issue not raised
below

Plaintiff was not entitled to relief on appeal on the basis of an

abuse of process claim where the alleged abuse consisted of the

5. While DHHS argues that Petitioner was, in fact, examined by a vocational expert
in connection with the Social Security hearing, the Agency Decision — as noted above
— merely references the Social Security Decision as a whole rather than referring to any
specific expert testimony elicited during that hearing. Moreover, we note that the Social
Security hearing took place in 2013.
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letters sent by counsel and subpoenas. Plaintiff did not make this
argument below; moreover, plaintiff did not articulate on appeal
how the facts would support a claim for abuse of process.

Appeal by plaintiff from order entered 25 February 2016 by Judge
James E. Hardin, Jr. in Orange County Superior Court. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 15 November 2016.

Spilman Thomas & Battle, PLLC, by Jeffrey D. Patton, Nathan B.
Atkinson, and Erin Jones Adams, for plaintiff-appellant.

Smith, Anderson, Blount, Dorsett, Mitchell & Jernigan, L.L.P,
by Michael W. Mitchell, Christopher G. Smith, and Clifton L.
Brinson, and Tharrington Smith, LLP, by Wade M. Smith, for
defendants-appellees.

ZACHARY, Judge.

Kenneth I. Moch (plaintiff) appeals from an order dismissing his
claims against A.M. Pappas & Associates, LLC, Art M. Pappas, and Ford
S. Worthy (defendants) for abuse of process and unfair or deceptive
trade practices. Plaintiff’s complaint was dismissed pursuant to N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 12(b)(6), for failure to state a claim upon which
relief can be granted. On appeal plaintiff argues that the trial court erred
and that his complaint included factual allegations that established all
of the elements of both claims. We conclude that the trial court’s order
should be affirmed.

1. Factual and Procedural History

Defendant A.M. Pappas & Associates, LLC, is a company that man-
ages investment funds and specializes in investments in the life sciences
sector. Defendant Art M. Pappas is the company’s managing partner,
and defendant Ford S. Worthy is the company’s chief financial officer.
Beginning in 2011, defendants managed funds that included investments
in Chimerix, Inc., a corporation involved in the development of anti-viral
medical treatments. Plaintiff was the president and CEO of Chimerix,
Inc. from April 2010 until April 2014, when he left Chimerix.

On 22 October 2014, plaintiff sent an anonymous email to the North
Carolina State Treasurer, using an email account that plaintiff had cre-
ated under the name “pappasventureswhistleblower@gmail.com.” The
email stated the following:
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To whom it may concern:

I am writing this because of my concerns about the activi-
ties of Arthur Pappas at Pappas Ventures. I want to bring
3 things to your attention:

1. Potential misuse and misappropriation of funds. I have
reason to believe that Mr. Pappas has diverted somewhere
around $2 million of funds over the course of time, via
expenses and payments to others. Mr. Worthy may know
of this and be involved. I believe this would require an
audit of the Pappas Ventures financials, as Mr. Pappas is
skilled in hiding this misuse.

2. High employee turnover at Pappas Ventures. This is due
to the instability and unpredictability of Mr. Pappas. There
has been a very high turnover of personnel - partners and
investment professionals, more than other venture funds.
People leave this fund and do not trust him.

3. Perhaps not relevant, but there have been whispers of
issues of domestic violence/hitting women. This would
further damage the viability of the fund. I do not wish to
be a gossip, but this is relevant to Mr. Pappas’s moral code.

Since there is no whistleblower hotline, I felt an obliga-
tion to contact people involved with Pappas Ventures and
A.M. Pappas. [ have now done all that I can to bring these
issues to light, and my conscience is clear. What those of
you copied on this email do individually or collectively is
up to you.

Plaintiff later exchanged follow-up emails with an employee of the
Department of State Treasurer and forwarded his email to others whom
plaintiff describes as “investors in or collaborators with the funds man-
aged by” defendants.

On 4 June 2015, defendants filed suit against the sender of the anon-
ymous emails, whom defendants identified as “John Doe or Jane Doe,”
seeking damages for libel per se and libel per quod. On 12 October 2015,
the law firm of Smith, Anderson, Blount, Dorsett, Mitchell & Jernigan,
L.L.P. (hereafter “Smith Anderson”) sent a letter to plaintiff on the law
firm’s letterhead. The letter bore the heading “CONFIDENTIAL” and
“FOR PURPOSES OF SETTLEMENT ONLY.” (use of all capital letters
and underlining in original). The letter stated the following:
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Re: A M. Pappas & Associates, LLC, et al. v. John Doe or
Jane Doe

In the Superior Court of Durham County, North County;
15 CVS 3383

Dear Mr. Moch:

This law firm represents Pappas Capital, LLC (f/k/a A.
M. Pappas & Associates, LLC), its affiliates, Arthur Pappas
and Ford Worthy. We obtained evidence demonstrating
that you are responsible for the defamatory and malicious
emails from the previously anonymous email account:
pappasventureswhistleblower@gmail.com, as described
in the “Doe” lawsuit that we filed June 4 in Durham County
Superior Court. A copy of that lawsuit is enclosed.

We will amend the “Doe” Complaint and name you as
a defendant and immediately commence public litigation
against you unless you agree to the following material
settlement terms in principle by Friday, October 16, 2015:

[1.] A written retraction and apology;

[2.] Payment of $10 million, which is a figure discounted
for settlement purposes of the net present value of the
economic harm done to our clients. At trial, we will seek
at least $25 million;

[3.] Complete disclosure and sharing of information that
identifies anyone else involved with you in the defamatory
emails. Based on the nature and quality of this informa-
tion, we may be willing to compromise the financial settle-
ment demand; and

[4.] Our clients will refrain from reporting you to law
enforcement authorities or regulatory agencies for viola-
tion of [N.C. Gen. Stat. §] 14-196.3 and all other potential
criminal violations, including federal violations.

Also enclosed with this letter is a document subpoena to
you. That subpoena requires you to produce certain mate-
rials to us at our offices on October 20, 2015. You may not
destroy or alter any evidence identified in the subpoena
or that is relevant to this matter. You are obligated by law
to preserve all relevant evidence. Failure to comply with

201
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this obligation is a criminal offense. You are on notice
of this duty by virtue of receipt of this correspondence.
We are, however, willing to work with you on the timing,
scope, and method of production to ensure that the sub-
poena does not impose any undue burden and to protect
the confidentiality of your personal information.

Also enclosed is a testimony subpoena requiring you to
appear at our offices on Saturday, October 24, 2015 to give
your testimony in the lawsuit under oath.

Separately, we are serving your spouse with a document
subpoena for any relevant electronic and documentary
evidence she may possess.

This is a very serious matter.

The defamatory, baseless accusations have caused serious
damage to our clients and their business partners and they
will be made whole.

I urge you or your counsel to contact me immediately
to begin the process of addressing this matter. My office
number is on the letterhead. My cellphone is [omitted].

(emphasis in original).

On 19 October 2015, the law firm of Nelson Mullins Riley &
Scarborough LLP (hereafter “Nelson Mullins”) sent a letter to a Smith
Anderson attorney, stating that the Nelson Mullins firm represented
plaintiff, and objecting to the subpoenas issued by defendants on vari-
ous grounds, including attorney-client privilege, spousal privilege, and
an assertion that the subpoenas’ production requests were unduly
burdensome. On 6 November 2015, defendants filed a motion to com-
pel plaintiff’s production of the documents sought in their subpoenas.
On the same day, Smith Anderson sent a letter to an attorney with
the law firm Spilman Thomas & Battle, PLLC.! The letter was headed
“SETTLEMENT CONFIDENTIAL” and “FOR YOUR EYES AND YOUR
CLIENTS’ EYES ONLY” and stated that:

Re: A.M. Pappas & Associates, LLC, et al. v. John Doe or
Jane Doe

Durham County - 15 CVS 3383

1. The contents of the letter indicate that on 6 November 2015 plaintiff was repre-
sented by this law firm.
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Dear Jeff:

Thank you for our conversation Wednesday after-
noon. Our clients are very frustrated at the pace and the
missed expectations and were prepared to take decisive
action prior to your last minute phone call. But you pro-
vided meaningful information which has altered our tra-
jectory in a way that preserves for a very short period the
possibility of keeping the horse in the barn. In particular,
you confirmed that Mr. Moch is the malicious emailer and
that he will acknowledge that.

From here, there are two possible paths forward.
The first is the settlement path which to be successful
must be completed by November 30%. We are willing to
meet November 17 and the incentive to Mr. Moch and
Ms. Stolzman is that our clients will negotiate a signifi-
cant reduced cap on damages - including potentially a
minimal settlement amount -- if you will provide the infor-
mation that I mentioned to you on the phone. The docu-
ment that I previously mentioned when we first spoke is
Exhibit C to the complaint filed in the business court. You
will want to look at paragraph 11. You and I can arrive at
a method to ensure that your clients will receive the value
for the information if it is disclosed and that they will not
be in the position of giving information without receiving
any promised value, nor us giving value for information
that is not valuable.

That is the basic path to settlement. What follows is
the immediate litigation alternative.

We have noticed your motion to quash the Google
subpoena before Judge Hudson in Durham Superior Court
on Monday, November 16. That notice is enclosed. That
notice makes no reference to your client. Upon receiving
your motion, we reviewed the Tolling Agreement to see
if your action constituted a breach and concluded as you
must have that the Tolling Agreement has no effect what-
soever on the Doe litigation.

Accordingly, we also enclose with this letter our
motions to compel on the subpoenas to Mr. Moch and
Ms. Stolzman, which do reference your clients. We have
not filed these with the Court, but if we do not receive a
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satisfactory response from your clients by close of busi-
ness Wednesday of next week, we will file them with the
Court and bring these on for hearing also.

At the hearing on the 16th, we will definitively iden-
tify Mr. Moch as the malicious emailer using cyber-finger-
prints that definitively place him at the FedEx Kinko’s at
114 West [Franklin Street,] Chapel Hill[,] on January 23
and accessing the Gmail account from that location, as
well as the bevy of AT&T geolocation data placing Mr.
Moch’s cellphone in The Siena Hotel and the Durham
South Regional Library when he conducted his malicious
email activities from those locations.

We are pursuing every option and will exhaust
them all. I also include the subpoena for video surveil-
lance of the Public Storage self-storage facility at 515
S. Greensboro Road visited by Ms. Stolzman the day after
she and her husband received their subpoenas, and the
day before one of their vehicles went to Eubanks Road,
the location of the Chapel Hill dump. I previously raised
a concern about document preservation with your cli-
ents’ prior counsel. If there is an issue, we will pursue
every remedy.

We will also report Mr. Moch to the appropriate law
enforcement authorities for cyberstalking. As we've dis-
cussed, Mr. Moch’s email campaign, which was intended
to harass and embarrass Mr. Pappas and Mr. Worthy, con-
stitutes criminal cyberstalking in violation of N.C. Gen.
Stat. 14-196.3. Mr. Pappas and Mr. Worthy have thus far
refrained from reporting Mr. Moch to law enforcement.
And, consistent with 2008 Formal Ethics Opinion 15, Mr.
Pappas and Mr. Worthy are prepared as part of a settle-
ment permanently to refrain from reporting Mr. Moch to
law enforcement. If, however, we are unable to agree on
the next steps in the settlement process as set forth in this
letter, Mr. Moch’s conduct will immediately be reported to
the proper authorities.

In addition to all of the foregoing, by at latest
November 30 we will have no choice but to file a com-
plaint publicly identifying Mr. Moch as the anonymous
emailer and describing in detail his malicious intent and
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his failed attempts to hide his tracks. At that point, we will
bring this matter to the attention of Chimerix for indem-
nity to which Mr. Pappas is entitled, and Mr. Moch is con-
tractually obligated to respond to Chimerix’ requests for
information. So we will be able to get by right through the
Court or potentially Chimerix all information for which
we presently are willing to give your clients significant
value in order to avoid full litigation.

We will stand down on all these immediate litigation
issues for the Tolling Period and withdraw our notice of
hearing for November 16 on all issues if we can follow
the roadmap that we initially discussed, i.e., (i) you pro-
vide fulsome document production as we have discussed
before our November 17 meeting, which includes third
party involvement (indicating and fully disclosing whether
you have the Linsley information we are requesting, but
not producing the information yet); (ii) we simultane-
ously give [you] our detailed damages disclosure; (iii) we
meet November 17 and discuss a method to ensure value
is received for third-party information to be provided by
Mr. Moch by both Mr. Moch and us, and we address the
required acknowledgement.

All of this would be settlement confidential disclo-
sures and discussions.

On 18 November 2015, defendants filed an amended complaint
naming plaintiff as the defendant instead of “John Doe or Jane Doe.”
On the same date, plaintiff filed suit against defendants, asserting
claims for abuse of process and unfair or deceptive trade practices. On
30 November 2015, defendants filed a motion to dismiss plaintiff’s com-
plaint pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1 Rule 12(b)(6). Plaintiff filed an
amended complaint on 7 January 2016 and defendants filed an amended
motion for dismissal on 8 January 2016. Following a hearing conducted
on 13 January 2016, the trial court entered an order on 25 February 2016,
granting defendants’ motion and dismissing plaintiff’s claims with preju-
dice. Plaintiff noted a timely appeal to this Court.

II. Standard of Review

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 12(b)(6) (2015) allows a party to move
for dismissal of a claim or claims based on the complaint’s “[f]ailure
to state a claim upon which relief can be granted[.]” “The motion to
dismiss under N.C. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) tests the legal sufficiency of the
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complaint. In ruling on the motion the allegations of the complaint must
be viewed as admitted, and on that basis the court must determine as
a matter of law whether the allegations state a claim for which relief
may be granted.” Stanback v. Stanback, 297 N.C. 181, 185, 254 S.E.2d
611, 615 (1979) (citations omitted). “[T]he well-pleaded material allega-
tions of the complaint are taken as admitted; but conclusions of law
or unwarranted deductions of fact are not admitted.” Sutton v. Duke,
277 N.C. 94, 98, 176 S.E.2d 161, 163 (1970) (internal quotation omitted).
“When the complaint on its face reveals that no law supports the claim,
reveals an absence of facts sufficient to make a valid claim, or discloses
facts that necessarily defeat the claim, dismissal is proper.” Arnesen
v. Rivers Edge Golf Club & Plantation, Inc., 368 N.C. 440, 448, 781
S.E.2d 1, 7-8 (2015) (citing Wood v. Guilford Cty., 355 N.C. 161, 166,
558 S.E.2d 490, 494 (2002) (other citation omitted)). “This Court must
conduct a de novo review of the pleadings to determine their legal suffi-
ciency and to determine whether the trial court’s ruling on the motion to
dismiss was correct.” Leary v. N.C. Forest Prods., Inc., 157 N.C. App. 396,
400, 580 S.E.2d 1, 4, aff’d per curiam, 357 N.C. 567, 597 S.E.2d 673 (2003).

“When documents are attached to and incorporated into a com-
plaint, they become part of the complaint and may be considered in con-
nection with a Rule 12(b) (6) motion without converting it into a motion
for summary judgment.” Schlieper v. Johnson, 195 N.C. App. 257, 261,
672 S.E.2d 548, 551 (2009). Moreover:

Although it is true that the allegations of [the plaintiff’s]
complaint are liberally construed and generally treated
as true, the trial court can reject allegations that are
contradicted by the documents attached, specifically
referred to, or incorporated by reference in the complaint.
Furthermore, the trial court is “not required . . . to accept
as true allegations that are merely conclusory, unwar-
ranted deductions of fact, or unreasonable inferences.”

Laster v. Francis, 199 N.C. App. 572, 577, 681 S.E.2d 858, 862 (2009)
(citing Schlieper and quoting Strickland v. Hedrick, 194 N.C. App. 1,
20, 669 S.E.2d 61, 73 (2008)). “When reviewing pleadings with documen-
tary attachments on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, the actual content of the
documents controls, not the allegations contained in the pleadings|.]”
Schlieper at 265, 672 S.E.2d at 552 (citing Oberlin Capital, L.P. v. Slavin,
147 N.C. App. 52, 60, 5564 S.E.2d 840, 847 (2001)).

[I. Plaintiff’s UDTPA Claim
[1] N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-1.1 (2015) provides in relevant part that:
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(a) Unfair methods of competition in or affecting com-
merce, and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or
affecting commerce, are declared unlawful.

(b) For purposes of this section, “commerce” includes all
business activities, however denominated, but does not
include professional services rendered by a member of a
learned profession.

“In order to establish a prima facie claim for unfair trade practices,
a plaintiff must show: (1) [the] defendant committed an unfair or decep-
tive act or practice, (2) the action in question was in or affecting com-
merce, and (3) the act proximately caused injury to the plaintiff.” Dalton
v. Camp, 353 N.C. 647, 656, 548 S.E.2d 704, 711 (2001) (citation omitted).
In the present case, we conclude that plaintiff’s complaint discloses on
its face that the acts upon which plaintiff rests his claim were not “in or
affecting commerce.”

As noted above, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-1.1(b) provides that, for pur-
poses of the statute, “commerce” “does not include professional ser-
vices rendered by a member of a learned profession.” “[T]he practice of
law has traditionally been considered a learned profession, as indeed it
is. Furthermore, this Court has . . . applied the exemption in the context
of a law firm. Thus, we conclude that . . . a law firm and its attorneys
... are members of a learned profession.” Reid v. Ayers, 138 N.C. App.
261, 266, 531 S.E.2d 231, 235 (2000) (citing Sharp v. Gailor, 132 N.C.
App. 213,217,510 S.E.2d 702, 704 (1999). “Although no bright line exists,
we think that the exemption applies anytime an attorney or law firm is
acting within the scope of the traditional attorney-client role.” Reid, 138
N.C. App. at 267, 531 S.E.2d at 236.

We have carefully examined the allegations of plaintiff’s complaint
and have accepted as true the factual allegations in the complaint. We
have, however, disregarded conclusory allegations that state legal con-
clusions or unwarranted inferences of fact, such as plaintiff’s assertion
that defendants acted “in retaliation for [plaintiff’s] exercising his First
Amendment rights[.]” We have also disregarded allegations with no
obvious relevance to the issue of whether plaintiff’s complaint states a
claim for unfair or deceptive trade practices. For example, the complaint
contains a number of allegations that appear to be included in order to
establish matters such as (1) the basis for plaintiff’s alleged concerns
about defendants’ business practices; (2) the fact that the policies of the
North Carolina State Treasurer support transparency and accountabil-
ity; (3) the sufficiency of an audit conducted by defendants in response
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to plaintiff’s anonymous emails; (4) plaintiff’s speculations as to the
amount of damages that defendants incurred as a result of the emails;
and (5) whether defendants’ counsel acted in violation of the Code of
Professional Responsibility. Allegations addressed to these issues or to
similarly peripheral matters do not contribute to the determination of
whether the material factual allegations of plaintiff’s complaint state a
claim for relief.

Moreover, we have disregarded allegations that are directly
contradicted by the documents attached to or referenced in plaintiff’s
complaint. For example, plaintiff’'s complaint alleges that the letters
from defendants’ counsel regarding settlement negotiations “falsely
threaten[ed]” plaintiff that failure to obey their subpoenas would “be
a criminal offense.” In fact, the letters do not state that “failure to
obey” a subpoena is a criminal offense, but only that the destruction of
evidence that had been subpoenaed is a violation of criminal law. Having
conducted a detailed review of plaintiff’s complaint, accepting its well-
pleaded factual allegations as true while disregarding other allegations
as discussed above, we conclude that plaintiff’s claim for unfair or
deceptive acts rests entirely upon the contents of the two letters sent
from defendants’ counsel to plaintiff or plaintiff’s counsel.

This Court has held that a party may not bring a claim for unfair
or deceptive practices based upon the actions of the defendant’s coun-
sel. In Davis Lake Community Ass’n v. Feldmann, 138 N.C. App. 292,
530 S.E.2d 865 (2000), the plaintiff, the homeowners’ association of a
planned development community, sued residents of the community
to recover delinquent homeowners’ assessments. The homeowners
filed a counterclaim against the plaintiff for unfair debt collection and
later sought to amend their counterclaim to join plaintiff’s counsel as
a required party. The Davis Lake opinion reviewed Reid v. Ayers, in
which this Court held that in order to state a claim for unfair debt collec-
tion, a complaint must not only allege facts stating a violation of the spe-
cific regulations applicable to debt collection but must also satisfy “the
more generalized requirements of all unfair or deceptive trade practice
claims,” which exclude from the definition of “commerce” the “profes-
sional services rendered by a member of a learned profession.” Davis
Lake, 138 N.C. App. at 296, 530 S.E.2d at 868-69. The Davis Lake Court
held that the exception for learned professions stated in N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 75-1.1 precluded the defendants from joining plaintiff’s counsel in their
counterclaim. We then held that:

We again emphasize that defendants only have a valid
claim against plaintiff, not its counsel. Thus, in proceeding
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with their claim, defendants must focus on those alleged
unfair debt collection practices employed exclusively by
plaintiff. Any acts engaged in by plaintiff’s counsel, even
if cloaked in terms of a principal-agent relationship, fall
within the learned profession exemption and thus outside
the purview of the NCDCA.

Davis Lake, 138 N.C. App. at 297, 530 S.E.2d at 869 (emphasis added).
We conclude that Davis Lake is controlling on the issue of whether
plaintiff can bring a claim against defendants based upon letters sent by
defendants’ counsel, and that plaintiff may not do so.

In arguing for a different result, plaintiff does not cite controlling
authority to the contrary. Plaintiff makes the conclusory assertion that
the holding of Davis Lake “was not unbridled or without limits,” but
fails to articulate how the present case exceeds the “limits” of that case.
Plaintiff also identifies factual differences between the alleged actions
of the counsel in Dawvis Lake and those of counsel in the present case,
without proffering a basis upon which these factual differences would
change our legal analysis. In addition, plaintiff cites Huff v. Gallagher,
521 B.R. 107 (Bankr. E.D.N.C. 2014), in support of his position. “We note
initially that a decision of the Bankruptcy Court is not binding on this
Court.” In re Foreclosure of Bass, 217 N.C. App. 244, 254, 720 S.E.2d 18,
26 (2011), rev’d on other grounds, 366 N.C. 464, 738 S.E.2d 173 (2013).
Furthermore, the opinion in Huff fails to acknowledge our holding in
Davis Lake, or to distinguish it. As a result, Huff is neither controlling
nor persuasive authority.

Moreover, plaintiff fails to identify any specific acts alleged in his
complaint that (1) were undertaken by defendants alone and not by
defendants’ counsel, and (2) could support a claim for unfair or decep-
tive practices. In his reply brief, plaintiff states that his complaint
“asserted various acts undertaken directly by Defendants that under-
lie his claims,” citing paragraphs Nos. 1, 26, 38, 41, 45, 46, 59, 72, 81,
82, and 86. We have examined these allegations and conclude that they
consist of general background information, the discussion of irrelevant
matters such as plaintiff’s speculation on the extent of the damages suf-
fered by defendants, conclusory assertions that are not supported by
factual allegations, and the merits of the terms of settlement that were
offered by defendants’ counsel in their letters. We hold that plaintiff’s
complaint failed to allege facts that, if true, would establish that the acts
complained of were “in commerce” as the term is defined in N.C. Gen.
Stat. § 75-1.1(b), and that the trial court did not err by dismissing this
claim. As a result, we need not address the parties’ arguments regarding
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whether plaintiff’s complaint stated facts supporting the other elements
of a claim for unfair or deceptive trade practices.

IV. Plaintiff’s Claim for Abuse of Process

[2] “Abuse of process is the misapplication of civil or criminal process
to accomplish some purpose not warranted or commanded by the pro-
cess.” Pinewood Homes, Inc. v. Harris, 184 N.C. App. 597, 602, 646
S.E.2d 826, 831 (2007) (internal quotation omitted). “Two elements must
be proved to find abuse of process: (1) that the defendant had an ulterior
motive to achieve a collateral purpose not within the normal scope of
the process used, and (2) that the defendant committed some act that is
a ‘malicious misuse or misapplication of that process after issuance to
accomplish some purpose not warranted or commanded by the writ.” ”
Id. (quoting Stanback, 297 N.C. at 200, 254 S.E.2d at 624) (emphasis in
original). However, “[t]here is no abuse of process where it is confined
to its regular and legitimate function in relation to the cause of action
stated in the complaint.” Stanback at 201, 254 S.E.2d at 624.

On appeal, plaintiff makes a number of arguments to support his
contention that the letters sent by defendants’ counsel and defendants’
issuance of subpoenas constitute “abuse of process in violation of North
Carolina law.” Plaintiff asserts that defendants should not have issued
subpoenas in connection with their “John Doe” lawsuit, given that
defendants had information indicating that plaintiff was the person who
had sent the emails; that the subpoenas were issued with the “ulterior
motive” of “forc[ing plaintiff] to the negotiating table,” or, alternatively,
were issued with the “ulterior purpose” of pressuring plaintiff to provide
testimony for defendants in another civil case. However, at the hearing
on this matter, plaintiff’s counsel made the following argument regard-
ing plaintiff’s claim for abuse of process:

PLAINTIFF’'S COUNSEL: To touch on the abuse of pro-
cess very quickly: The defendants want to characterize it
as amere issuance of a subpoena. That’s not the im- that’s
not the abuse of the process. It’s the totality of the cir-
cumstances and the idea that you have to appear within
-- appear on a Saturday for a deposition, produce some 55
subsets of documents and, oh, yeah, by the way, this is all
coming under the context of a letter which will demand
money again as we have alleged that you're not entitled to.
That'’s the abuse of the process.

“Our appellate courts have ‘long held that where a theory argued on
appeal was not raised before the trial court, the law does not permit
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parties to swap horses between courts in order to get a better mount [on
appeal].’” State v. Portillo, __ N.C. App.__,__, 787 S.E.2d 822, 832 (2016)
(quoting State v. Sharpe, 344 N.C. 190, 194, 473 S.E.2d 3, 5 (1996) (inter-
nal quotation omitted)). Before the trial court, plaintiff argued that the
“totality of the circumstances” of the issuance of subpoenas constituted
an abuse of process, based on the facts that the subpoenas required the
taking of a deposition on a Saturday, the subpoenas requested the pro-
duction of numerous documents, and the subpoenas were attached to
a letter that conditioned an offer to settle upon plaintiff’s payment of
money to defendants. Having relied upon this argument at trial, plaintiff
may not raise new arguments on appeal, to which defendants had no
chance to respond at trial and on which the trial court had no opportu-
nity to rule. On appeal, plaintiff fails to articulate how the facts noted
above would support a claim for abuse of process, and we conclude that
plaintiff is not entitled to relief on the basis of this argument.

For the reasons discussed above, we conclude that the trial court did
not err by dismissing plaintiff’s complaint, and that its order should be

AFFIRMED.
Judges CALABRIA and INMAN concur.

THE NEWS AND OBSERVER PUBLISHING COMPANY, ET AL., PLAINTIFFS
V.
PAT McCRORY, As GOVERNOR OF NORTH CAROLINA, ET AL., DEFENDANTS

No. COA16-725
Filed 20 December 2016

Appeal and Error—preservation of issue—sovereign immunity

An appeal in a public record case was dismissed as interlocu-
tory where defendants contended that the trial court order involved
sovereign immunity but did not properly plead, raise, or argue the
affirmative defense. Sovereign immunity was raised only obliquely,
at best, in a hearing on a motion for partial summary judgment. The
record on appeal made clear that plaintiffs were taken completely
by surprise when the order resulting from the hearing included an
ambiguous reference to the issue.
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Appeal by Defendants from order entered 29 April 2016 by Judge
John O. Craig, III in Wake County Superior Court. Heard in the Court of
Appeals 1 November 2016.

Southern Environmental Law Center, by Kimberley Hunter and
Douglas William Hendrick, Stevens Martin Vaughn & Tadych,
PLLC, by Hugh Stevens, C. Amanda Martin, and Michael J.
Tadych; and North Carolina Justice Center, by Carlene McNulty,
Sfor Plaintiffs.

Robinson, Bradshaw & Hinson, PA., by David C. Wright, III and
Erik R. Zimmerman; and Robert F. Orr, for Defendants; Office
of General Counsel, by General Counsel Robert C. Stephens, Jr.,
Deputy General Counsel Jonathan R. Harris, and Deputy General
Counsel Lindsey E. Wakeley, for Defendant McCrory.

STEPHENS, Judge.

This appeal arises from a partial grant of judgment on the plead-
ings in favor of Plaintiffs. Defendants argue that Plaintiffs’ claims are
barred by the doctrine of sovereign immunity, or, in the alternative, that
Plaintiffs’ claims are either precluded under the principles of declara-
tory and mandamus relief in this State, or are moot. In light of our well-
established precedent regarding interlocutory appeals, only Defendants’
sovereign immunity contentions could provide them a path to immedi-
ate appellate review. However, because the record in this matter reveals
that Defendants did not properly plead or argue sovereign immunity in
the trial court, we dismiss this appeal as not properly before us.

Factual and Procedural Background

Although we do not reach the merits of this interlocutory appeal,
a brief review of the origins of the case provides helpful context in
understanding this matter of significant public import. Defendants Pat
McCrory, as Governor of North Carolina; John E. Skvarla, II, as Secretary
of the North Carolina Department of Commerce; Donald R. van der
Vaart, as Secretary of the North Carolina Department of Environment
and Natural Resources; Dr. Aldona Z. Wos, as Secretary of the North
Carolina Department of Health and Human Services; Frank L. Perry, as
Secretary of the North Carolina Department of Public Safety; William
G. Daughtridge, Jr., as Secretary of the North Carolina Department of
Administration; Anthony J. Tata, as Secretary of the North Carolina
Department of Transportation; Susan W. Kluttz, as Secretary of the
North Carolina Department of Cultural Resources; and Lyons Gray, as
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Secretary of the North Carolina Department of Revenue (collectively,
“the Administration”) are our State’s governor and his appointees, either
currently or formerly! serving as the heads of various State agencies.
Plaintiffs The News and Observer Publishing Company (“N&O”); The
Charlotte Observer Publishing Company (“The Observer”); Capitol
Broadcasting Company, Incorporated (“WRAL”); Boney Publishers d/b/a
The Alamance News; ZM INDY, Inc. d/b/a Indy Week (“Indy”); and Media
General Operations, Inc., are media entities that provide news services
to the citizens of our State via print and online newspapers, broadcast
television stations, and online news websites. Plaintiffs The Southern
Environmental Law Center (“SELC”) and The North Carolina Justice
Center d/b/a NC Policy Watch are not-for-profit corporations chartered
in our State that, inter alia, seek to inform the public about various mat-
ters of public concern and to advocate for policies that they believe will
benefit the people and environment of North Carolina.

As part of their regular activities, Plaintiffs frequently make requests
for access to and copies of government documents, records, and other
information pursuant to our State’s Public Records Act (“the Act”). See
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 132-1(b) (2015) (providing that, because “public records
and public information compiled by the agencies of [our] government. . .
are the property of the people[,] .. .. it is the policy of this State that the
people may obtain copies of their public records and public information
free or at minimal cost unless otherwise specifically provided by law”).
Each Defendant, in his or her official capacity, is a public “agency” as
defined in the Act and a custodian of public records under the Act. See
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 132-1(a). The essence of Plaintiffs’ claims is that, since
Defendant McCrory took office in January 2013, the Administration has
implemented policies and procedures in order to frustrate the purpose
of the Act by (1) intentionally delaying or wrongfully denying access
to public records so that Plaintiffs cannot provide timely and thorough
information to the public about the Administration’s decisions, actions,
and policies, and (2) imposing or requesting unreasonable and unjusti-
fied fees and charges in connection with requests made under the Act.

1. Some of the named Defendants have left the Administration since the commence-
ment of this lawsuit. As of the date this opinion is filed, McCrory, Skvarla, van der Vaart, Perry,
and Kluttz are still serving in their positions, while Vos, Daughtridge, Tata, and Gray have
been replaced. Rick Brajer is the current Secretary of the Department of Health and Human
Services, Kathryn Johnston is the current Secretary of the Department of Administration,
Nick Tennyson is the current Secretary of the Department of Transportation, and Jeff
Epstein is the current Secretary of the North Carolina Department of Revenue.
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Plaintiffs allege several examples of the Administration’s delaying
tactics, including, inter alia:

e That Indy requested copies of Defendant McCrory’s
travel records on 8 November 2013, spent the next 17
months narrowing and refining the scope of its request,
engaged an attorney to pursue the request, and yet still
received no records until 13 March 2015, when redacted
records were turned over with no explanation then or now
regarding the redactions.

e That WRAL requested travel records from Defendant
McCrory in February 2015, but had not received the
records as of July 2015.

e That N&O requested certain correspondence between
members of the Administration regarding the State’s sale
of the Dorothea Dix property to the City of Raleigh in July
2014, but received no records until 9 June 2015. N&O'’s
subsequent request for additional records connected to
the Dix sale has resulted in no records being turned over.
WRAL requested similar records in October 2014 but also
received no records until 9 June 2015.

e That SELC requested records from the Department of
Transportation about a possible expansion of Interstate 77
to include High Occupancy Toll (“HOT”) lanes in January
2014 and did not receive records until May 2015—
after a contract to construct the HOT lanes had already
been signed.

e That WRAL requested email from Defendant McCrory’s
office related to the proposed move of the State Bureau
of Investigation from the Office of the Attorney General
in May 2014, but the request was not fulfilled until
June 2015, after WRAL threatened litigation over the
Administration’s nonresponse.

e That NC Policy Watch submitted a public records request
in August 2013 to the North Carolina Department of Health
and Human Services (“HHS”) for records related to a
departmental salary freeze and certain subsequent salary
increases, but these records have never been provided.

e That The Observer requested a database from the
Office of the State Medical Examiner (“OSME”)—part of
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HHS—that included information compiled by the OSME
about every death investigated by medical examiners
since 2001, and, in response, HHS provided inaccurate and
incomplete data, only turning over the complete database
after a one-year delay and threats of legal action.

e That The Alamance News requested records from the
Department of Commerce on 11 July 2014 related to certain
economic development projects in Alamance and Orange
counties, but no records were received as of July 2015.

On 21 July 2015, Plaintiffs commenced this action by the filing
of a complaint and issuance of summonses in Wake County Superior
Court. Plaintiffs filed an amended complaint (“the Complaint”) on
22 July 2015. The Complaint seeks entry of orders (1) “in the nature of
a writ of mandamus requiring [the Administration] to comply” with the
Act; (2) compelling the Administration to provide any public records
requested under the Act, but not yet provided; (3) declaring that cer-
tain of the Administration’s policies and procedures violate the Act; (4)
declaring that, under the Act, the Administration may not collect fees for
inspection of public records absent a request for copies of the records;
and (5) awarding reasonable attorney fees as permitted under the Act.
The Administration filed its answer on 25 September 2015, and, on
17 February 2016, moved for partial judgment on the pleadings pursuant
to Rule of Civil Procedure 12(c). See N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 12(c)
(2015). On 26 February 2016, Plaintiffs moved for partial judgment on
the pleadings and to compel discovery. The motions came on for hear-
ing at the 23 March 2016 session of Wake County Superior Court, the
Honorable John O. Craig, III, Judge presiding.

By order entered 29 April 2016 (“the order”), the trial court denied
in part and granted in part the Administration’s motion for partial judg-
ment on the pleadings, granted in part Plaintiffs’ motion to compel dis-
covery, and postponed ruling on Plaintiffs’ motion for partial judgment
on the pleadings. Specifically, the trial court dismissed Plaintiffs’ claims
“pertaining to any public records requests made by any persons other
than Plaintiffs . . . to Defendants named” in the complaint, but denied
the Administration’s motion to dismiss Plaintiffs’ claims for declaratory
relief under the Act, and relief in the nature of a writ of mandamus with
regard to public records requests “that have not yet been acted upon in
whole or in part”—that is, where the Administration has not yet produced
requested publi